

Assessing grassland response to drought using satellite image time series

Donald A. Luna

► To cite this version:

Donald A. Luna. Assessing grassland response to drought using satellite image time series. Ecology, environment. Université Clermont Auvergne, 2023. English. NNT: 2023UCFA0054. tel-04418953v2

HAL Id: tel-04418953 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04418953v2

Submitted on 26 Jan 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Université Clermont-Auvergne École doctorale des Sciences de la vie, Santé, Agronomie & Environnement



THÈSE



Pour l'obtention du grade de

DOCTEUR D'UNIVERSITÉ

Spécialité : Gestion de l'environnement

Présenté par Donald A. LUNA

Évaluation de la réponse des prairies à la sécheresse grâce à des séries chronologiques d'images satellites

Assessing grassland response to drought using satellite image time series

Soutenue le 20 juin 2023, devant le jury composé de :

Jean-Louis JULIEN : Professeur Université Clermont Auvergne, UMR Physique et Physiologie Intégrative de l'Arbre en environnement Fluctuant (PIAF), Clermont-Ferrand	Président du jury
Philippe CHOLER, Directeur de recherche Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique (CNRS), Laboratoire d'Ecologie Alpine (LECA), Grenoble	Rapporteur
Laurence HUBERT-MOY, Professeur Université Rennes 2, UMR Littoral, Environnement, Télédétection, Géomatique (LETG), Rennes	Rapporteure
Clélia SIRAMI, Directrice de recherche INRAE, UMR Dynamiques et Écologie des Paysages Agriforestiers (DYNAFOR), Toulouse	Examinatrice
Jean-Baptiste FÉRET, Chargé de recherche INRAE, UMR Territoires, Environnement, Télédétection et Information Spatiale (TETIS), Montpellier	Examinateur
Ireneo LIT, Jr., Professeur University of the Philippines Los Baños (UPLB), Laguna (Philippines)	Membre invité
Catherine PICON-COCHARD, Directrice de recherche INRAE, UMR Ecosystème Prairial (UREP), Clermont-Ferrand	Directrice de thèse
Julien POTTIER, Chargé de recherche INRAE, UMR Ecosystème Prairial (UREP), Clermont-Ferrand	Co-encadrant (Membre invité)

INRAE - Unité Mixte de Recherche sur l'Ecosystème prairial (UMR874), Clermont-Ferrand





Sommaire Exécutif

La sécheresse est un phénomène naturel associé à des pénuries extrêmes de précipitations entraînant des déficits hydriques. La diminution de la quantité d'eau présente dans le sol a un impact sur l'approvisionnement en eau des plantes. Elle a des conséquences diverses et complexes sur les écosystèmes et menace la qualité et la durabilité de leurs services écosystémiques. Les sécheresses ont des conséquences graves pour les agroécosystèmes, y compris les prairies gérées. En effet, le déficit en eau met en péril la capacité des agroécosystèmes et des prairies gérées à assurer la sécurité alimentaire (Jiang and Wang, 2022 ; O'Mara, 2012 ; Soussana et al., 2013). Les prairies sont des écosystèmes dominés par les graminées, avec une couverture limitée d'arbustes et de plantes pérennes ligneuses dépassant 5 mètres de hauteur (Suttie et al., 2005). Elles fournissent des services écosystémiques, tels que la production de lait et de viande pour nourrir les animaux (Jiang and Wang, 2022 ; O'Mara, 2012) et le piégeage du carbone (Bai et Cotrufo, 2022 ; Bardgett et al., 2021 ; Jones and Donnelly, 2004), qui contribuent à l'atténuation du changement climatique et à l'habitat de la biodiversité pour la faune et la flore (Binder et al., 2018; van Oijen et al., 2018). Une meilleure compréhension des facteurs qui influencent la sensibilité, la résistance et la résilience à la sécheresse des prairies gérées permettra d'orienter les mesures d'atténuation.

De nombreuses études ont mené des expériences de sécheresse en conditions plus ou moins contrôlées, i.e. en pots, en mésocosmes ou sur le terrain afin de mieux comprendre les processus associés aux réponses des prairies à la sécheresse (Ogbaga et al., 2020). Par exemple, les organes des tissus végétaux et les plantes présentent un stress lié au déficit hydrique sous la forme de changements anormaux dans leurs propriétés physiologiques (Volaire, 2018). Les impacts négatifs sont visibles dans le développement des feuilles et des racines (Volaire, 2018). Les plantes présentent une diminution des activités photosynthétiques et révèlent des taux de sénescence plus rapides. Les changements dans les processus physiologiques dus à la sécheresse varient en fonction des capacités et des stratégies de croissance des plantes (Volaire et al., 2009). L'importance des propriétés du sol a été mise en évidence sur différentes espèces de graminées et dans différents milieux pédologiques (Buttler et al., 2019). Les interactions entre les populations végétales mettent en évidence l'influence des diversités taxonomiques et fonctionnelles (Schnabel et al., 2021) et de la composition des communautés végétales (Fry et al., 2021) sur la réponse à la sécheresse. Les pratiques de gestion influencent également la réponse des prairies à la sécheresse. Par exemple, il a été constaté que la fertilisation azotée atténue l'impact de la sécheresse dans une expérience en mésocosme avec des sols riches en argile à Münster, en Allemagne (Klaus et al., 2020). Cependant, la fertilisation azotée a des effets néfastes sur les communautés de prairies si elle est excessive en période de sécheresse (Klaus et al., 2020). Zwicke et al. (2013), dans une expérience menée avec des espèces typiques des prairies tempérées françaises de moyenne montagne, ont montré que des coupes fréquentes peuvent renforcer l'impact négatif de la sécheresse, mais Deléglise et al. (2015) ont constaté que le pâturage augmente davantage l'impact de la sécheresse que la fauche dans les prairies montagneuses de Suisse. Malgré les contributions significatives de ces études sur les effets de la sécheresse sur les prairies, les approches expérimentales en conditions contrôlées et sur le terrain sont encore limitées dans leur couverture spatiale et temporelle. De plus, comme elles sont assez déconnectées des conditions réelles, en raison de certaines limitations de leurs configurations, il a été démontré que les expériences sous-estiment l'impact de la sécheresse sur les prairies (Kröel-Dulay et al. 2022). D'autres approches sont donc nécessaires pour mieux évaluer les réactions de la végétation aux déficits hydriques.

Le développement de produits et de techniques de télédétection (RS) ouvre des voies prometteuses pour la recherche sur les écosystèmes. Les informations sur la réflectance recueillies par les capteurs optiques des satellites permettent d'estimer les propriétés de la végétation sur la base de la théorie du transfert radiatif (Drusch and Crewell, 2006 ; Turner et al., 2003). Les surfaces terrestres, telles que la

végétation, absorbent ou réfléchissent une certaine quantité d'énergie électromagnétique provenant du soleil ou de sources artificielles. Les capteurs embarqués à bord des satellites détectent différents niveaux d'énergie réfléchie en fonction de l'état de la végétation. Une feuille saine absorbe le rouge et le bleu et réfléchit le vert et le proche infrarouge, tandis qu'une feuille stressée absorbe davantage le proche infrarouge et réfléchit le rouge et le bleu. De même, une feuille très humide absorbe davantage dans l'infrarouge court, entre 1 500 et 2 300 nanomètres (nm), et réfléchit le signal lorsque la feuille devient sèche (Summy et al., 2003).

En complément des expériences traditionnelles de déficit hydrique et des observations sur le terrain, cette thèse de doctorat visait principalement à tirer parti du potentiel des séries temporelles d'images satellite pour améliorer les connaissances sur la réponse des prairies gérées à la sécheresse dans des conditions réelles. Elle a d'abord passé en revue les approches méthodologiques actuelles pour l'évaluation de la réponse des prairies à la sécheresse à l'aide de la RS et a analysé les intrants, les applications, les avantages et les inconvénients de chaque approche (chapitre 1). Il a ensuite été évalué la variabilité et les facteurs de la sensibilité des prairies à la sécheresse à l'échelle régionale (Massif central) à l'aide d'une approche d'inférence statistique (chapitre 2). Elle a déterminé l'influence du pédoclimat, des prairies à travers cinq échelles de temps d'intégration de la sécheresse. Enfin, cette thèse a analysé les différences de résistance et de résilience des prairies à la sécheresse en cas de fauche ou de pâturage à l'aide d'un modèle basé sur les processus qui assimile les données de réflectance satellitaire (chapitre 3).

L'examen de l'état de l'art des études sur la réaction des prairies à l'évaluation de la sécheresse à l'aide de la télédétection (chapitre 1) a débuté par une recherche d'articles dans le Web of Science le 31 janvier 2022. Les mots-clés utilisés ont permis de trouver 304 articles, puis un processus de sélection a mis en évidence l'utilisation de la télédétection pour quantifier les propriétés des prairies et identifier ou évaluer les épisodes de sécheresse. Après le processus de sélection, la collection d'articles a été réduite à 64 articles.

L'évaluation des impacts de la sécheresse sur les prairies, basée sur les RS, a révélé l'existence de cinq approches méthodologiques. Avec des complexités et des apports croissants, ces approches ont été classées comme suit : seuil de l'indice de végétation (VI), comparaison des années, analyse des séries temporelles, inférences statistiques et modélisation mécaniste. L'approche de loin la plus courante est l'inférence statistique, qui consiste à déduire l'impact de la sécheresse à partir de la relation statistique entre la réflectance de la végétation obtenue par les satellites et les indices météorologiques de sécheresse en utilisant des ensembles de séries temporelles météorologiques à long terme.

Les résultats de cette analyse bibliographique ont révélé l'utilisation générique du terme "réponse" dans les études d'évaluation, la distribution mondiale inégale des études de RS évaluant la réponse des prairies à la sécheresse et les différences de réponse des prairies par rapport à d'autres écosystèmes et entre les différents types de prairies. La réponse est un terme qui peut faire référence à la résistance, à la résilience ou à la récupération. Seuls certains contextes dans les discussions de l'article examiné ont permis de déterminer l'utilisation spécifique du terme "réponse". En conséquence, cette thèse a suivi les définitions proposées et l'utilisation des concepts de stabilité et de résilience par Van Meerbeek et al. (2021). Les défis identifiés dans la revue se sont concentrés sur le décalage entre les échelles spatiales et temporelles de la réflectance de la végétation et les indicateurs ou indices de sécheresse ; la gamme temporelle limitée ; et les impacts mixtes de la sécheresse et d'autres impacts de perturbation. Les possibilités présentées ont mis en évidence la nécessité de comparer les études entre les types de prairies et les régions biogéographiques, d'utiliser des produits et des techniques de RS nouveaux et existants, et d'évaluer la réponse en fonction d'autres propriétés des prairies. En fin de compte, l'utilisation d'une terminologie commune pour la "réponse" et la normalisation plus poussée des paramètres d'évaluation permettront d'améliorer les comparaisons mondiales des réponses des prairies.

En conclusion, l'examen de l'état des connaissances a révélé les approches méthodologiques existantes pour l'évaluation de la réponse des prairies à la sécheresse à l'aide de la télédétection et a mis en évidence des biais et des lacunes dans la distribution mondiale des études. Elle a appelé à l'identification de l'utilisation spécifique de la "réponse" afin de normaliser et de comparer les études d'évaluation. Enfin, le chapitre 1 a présenté les possibilités offertes par les données et les techniques de télédétection en constante évolution.

Le chapitre 2 a deux objectifs principaux, à savoir quantifier la sensibilité des prairies gérées à la sécheresse à cinq échelles de temps d'intégration de la sécheresse, et évaluer l'influence du pédoclimat, des pratiques de gestion agricole et de la diversité de la végétation sur cette sensibilité.

De nombreuses études basées sur la télédétection et portant sur la sensibilité de la végétation à la sécheresse ont révélé l'importance de la capacité de rétention d'eau du sol (Ji et Peters, 2003), de la topographie (Cartwright, 2020), de la gestion agricole (Burrell et al., 2020) et de la diversité de la végétation (De Keersmaecker et al., 2015). Toutefois, l'influence relative des différents facteurs moteurs (c'est-à-dire la diversité pédoclimatique, la gestion et la végétation) n'a pas encore été évaluée simultanément.

Le chapitre 2 a une couverture à l'échelle régionale et nécessite des informations sur les conditions hétérogènes des prairies. Les données de terrain sur la caractérisation des parcelles de prairies proviennent de trois projets menés dans la région du Massif central entre 2008 et 2019 (Galliot et al., 2020). La gravité de la sécheresse a été évaluée à l'aide d'un indice standardisé modifié de précipitations et d'évapotranspiration (SPEI). Ensuite, les anomalies des indices de végétation (VI), dérivées d'images Landsat multitemporelles, ont été soumises au même processus d'extraction et de normalisation que l'indice SPEI modifié. Les images Landsat ont été sélectionnées en raison de leur longue couverture temporelle.

Dans cette étude, nous avons d'abord évalué les sensibilités de toutes les parcelles de prairies à l'aide d'une approche d'inférence statistique. Les sensibilités des prairies ont été basées sur la relation linéaire entre les anomalies normalisées de la VI et l'indice SPEI. Environ 24 VI ont été testés dans la dérivation de la sensibilité à la sécheresse. Ensuite, nous avons utilisé une procédure de sélection de modèles pour déterminer les facteurs les plus significatifs de la sensibilité des prairies à la sécheresse à partir de trois catégories de facteurs pédoclimatiques, de gestion et de diversité de la végétation. Une répartition de la variance des facteurs les plus significatifs, à partir du modèle final, a permis de rendre compte de l'influence globale de chaque facteur sur la sensibilité des prairies à la sécheresse.

Les résultats du premier objectif ont révélé un coefficient de variation moyen de 27 % pour les cinq échelles temporelles. Ensuite, la VI a été la source la plus importante de variation des sensibilités estimées par rapport à l'échelle de calcul de la sécheresse et à la variabilité géographique.

Les sensibilités dérivées de l'indice de différence normalisé de l'eau (NDWI) et de l'indice global d'humidité de la végétation (GVMI) ont présenté les pentes les plus élevées et la meilleure adéquation entre les anomalies VI normalisées et l'indice SPEI modifié. Cependant, malgré la forte réactivité des anomalies de ces deux indices basés sur l'humidité avec l'indice SPEI modifié, leurs valeurs R2 maximales n'ont pas dépassé 0,35.

Conformément aux attentes, les facteurs pédoclimatiques, comme la capacité de rétention d'eau du sol, ont été les principaux facteurs d'atténuation de la sensibilité à la sécheresse. Toutefois, ce qui est nouveau, c'est que ces facteurs n'exercent une grande influence que sur des périodes courtes, inférieures ou égales à 30 jours. Ensuite, les facteurs de gestion ont été significatifs sur toutes les échelles de temps. L'influence la plus forte a été observée à partir de la date de la première utilisation de la prairie par le pâturage, une utilisation tardive augmentant la sensibilité à la sécheresse. Enfin, les facteurs liés à la diversité de la végétation et à la structure des communautés ont atténué l'impact de la sécheresse à long terme, mais les effets étaient faibles à modérés. Les résultats de la répartition de la

variance suggèrent des effets en cascade complexes entre les pratiques de gestion et la diversité de la végétation et la structure des communautés, qui doivent encore être étudiés.

En conclusion, le chapitre 2 a révélé la grande variabilité de la sensibilité des prairies à la sécheresse dans la région du Massif central grâce à la télédétection. Il a souligné l'importance de l'échelle de temps d'intégration de la sécheresse lors de l'évaluation de l'influence des facteurs déterminants de la sensibilité à la sécheresse. Outre les effets en cascade, le chapitre 2 a également soulevé des questions essentielles sur l'importance de la date de première utilisation de la prairie par le pâturage, peu étudiée à toutes les échelles temporelles, et de la moyenne pondérée par la communauté de la masse des graines à des échelles temporelles courtes.

Certaines limites de l'évaluation régionale étaient liées à la relation bruitée entre les anomalies VI normalisées et l'indice SPEI modifié, et à l'incapacité de l'approche d'inférence statistique à distinguer les composantes de résistance et de résilience de la réponse ou de la sensibilité des prairies à la sécheresse.

Le chapitre 3 de cette thèse a fourni une évaluation plus complète des réponses des prairies. Il visait à comparer la résistance et la résilience à la sécheresse des parcelles de prairies fauchées et pâturées. Pour ce faire, cette étude d'évaluation locale a créé et utilisé un modèle simple et parcimonieux de la dynamique de l'indice de surface foliaire verte (LAI). Ce modèle simple est basé sur trois composantes : la croissance de la végétation, la sénescence et l'impact du prélèvement de l'herbe par la gestion agricole. Les paramètres du modèle reflètent l'augmentation maximale quotidienne de l'indice foliaire (gmax), l'eau maximale disponible pour les plantes (wmax), le taux de sénescence (smax) et le pic de floraison. Un modèle à une couche, basé sur les précipitations et l'évapotranspiration, a été considéré pour la disponibilité de l'eau. Les entrées du modèle ont été limitées à trois facteurs climatiques et deux facteurs de gestion. La gestion a été incorporée dans le modèle sur la base des résultats du chapitre 2.

Le chapitre 3 a été réalisé à l'échelle d'une exploitation ou l'échelle locale et nécessitait des facteurs environnementaux homogènes. Les données détaillées sur la gestion des prairies utilisées pour cette étude proviennent du projet Systèmes d'élevage ALlaitants herbagers : Adapter le type génétique et MIXer les espèces pour renforcer leur durabilité (SALAMIX), qui s'est déroulé de 2015 à 2020 (Prache et al., sous presse). Le SPEI modifié a été utilisé pour évaluer et identifier les événements de sécheresse à partir d'une station météorologique de terrain sur le site. Leurs sévérités respectives (sans unité) ont été basées sur l'aire sous la courbe à partir du seuil de sécheresse. Le modèle PROSAIL et la méthode d'inversion par table de recherche, ainsi que les données Sentinel 2, ont été utilisés pour estimer la dynamique observée de l'indice LAI.

Les valeurs LAI dérivées du satellite ont été assimilées dans le modèle simple pendant la phase d'étalonnage. Deux approches de calibration des paramètres ont également été testées pour le modèle. La première était l'approche d'étalonnage des paramètres fixes, qui utilisait une valeur pour les quatre paramètres pendant toute la période de simulation (2016 à 2020). La seconde est l'approche de calibration des paramètres variables dans le temps, qui tente de reproduire les changements possibles de la capacité de croissance (gmax) qui peuvent être dus à des changements dans la composition de la végétation et/ou dans le stockage des ressources.

Une procédure de validation interne et externe du modèle a permis de déterminer le meilleur modèle sur la base des deux approches d'étalonnage. A partir de là, nous avons simulé avec le meilleur modèle le LAI de prairies gérées dans deux conditions, à savoir : les conditions ambiantes (avec la présence de sécheresse), et les conditions sans stress hydrique. Les deux simulations ont permis de déterminer le rapport logarithmique de réponse à la sécheresse. L'étude a estimé la résistance et la résilience des prairies gérées selon la formule de Van Meerbeek et al. (2021).

L'approche d'étalonnage de gmax variable dans le temps a donné de meilleurs résultats que l'étalonnage de paramètres fixes dans la validation interne du modèle. Cependant, aucune distinction

claire n'a été trouvée dans la validation externe du modèle. En conséquence, les conditions de stress hydrique ambiant et sans stress hydrique ont été simulées à l'aide du modèle d'étalonnage gmax variable dans le temps.

La relation négative entre la résistance des prairies gérées et la gravité de la sécheresse était celle attendue. Cependant, la présence d'un seuil de sécheresse qui a entraîné une relation négative non linéaire est une nouveauté. Le seuil de gravité de la sécheresse de 80 peut correspondre soit à des sécheresses d'une durée supérieure à 40 jours avec une valeur SPEI modifiée constante de -2,0 (extrêmement sec), soit à des sécheresses d'une durée de 80 jours avec une valeur SPEI constante de -1,0 (modérément sec). La résistance des prairies fauchées et des prairies pâturées n'était pas significativement différente. En ce qui concerne la résilience et la sévérité de la sécheresse, une diminution de la résilience a été observée après le seuil de 80 jours de sécheresse. Ici et en accord avec les expériences de terrain de Deléglise et al. (2015) et de Bütof et al. (2012), le pâturage était légèrement plus résilient que la fauche.

En conclusion, de bons ajustements ont été obtenus avec le modèle parcimonieux basé sur les processus du LAI vert assimilé avec Sentinel 2 dans le cadre de la validation interne du modèle. Le modèle a démontré la valeur de l'approche d'étalonnage des paramètres variables dans le temps, qui nécessite des modèles plus complexes. Cependant, l'absence de différence significative entre le pâturage et la fauche était inattendue.

Enfin, le chapitre 3 doit être considéré comme des résultats préliminaires en raison du nombre limité d'enclos de prairies (6 sur 33) considérés dans l'analyse. Une autre limite a été l'hypothèse forte selon laquelle les pratiques de gestion sont restées inchangées pour les conditions de stress hydrique ambiant et sans stress hydrique. Dans ces dernières, la production élevée de biomasse, due à l'absence de sécheresse, devrait encourager une utilisation plus fréquente de l'herbe.

En résumé, cette thèse de doctorat a réalisé des études évaluant la réponse des prairies à la sécheresse à l'aide de la télédétection, ce qui a mis en évidence les approches méthodologiques existantes, les lacunes et les opportunités. Elle a mené deux études complémentaires sur la réponse des prairies à la sécheresse, à savoir : les évaluations à l'échelle régionale et locale en utilisant des modèles linéaires et un modèle simple basé sur le processus assimilé avec les données Sentinel 2, respectivement. Le chapitre 2 ou l'évaluation régionale a révélé l'importance des échelles temporelles de la sécheresse dans l'évaluation de la sensibilité des prairies à la sécheresse. Il a mis en évidence l'influence significative des pratiques de gestion à toutes les échelles temporelles et a appelé à une étude plus approfondie sur les facteurs de gestion et de diversité de la végétation. Le chapitre 3, ou l'évaluation à l'échelle locale à l'aide d'un modèle simple basé sur des processus et assimilé à des données satellitaires, s'appuie sur les résultats et les limites de l'évaluation régionale. Le chapitre 3 a abordé la relation bruitée en utilisant le rapport de réponse logarithmique à la sécheresse sur la base de trajectoires simulées avec le modèle. La réponse logarithmique a permis de déterminer les composantes de résistance et de résilience de la réponse des prairies à la sécheresse selon la formule de Van Meerbeek et al. (2021). Les résultats préliminaires du chapitre 3 mettent en évidence la bonne adéquation des modèles parcimonieux basés sur les processus. Il reste nécessaire d'inclure des dynamiques écologiques plus réalistes dans le modèle. Aucune différence significative n'a été trouvée dans la résistance et la résilience des prairies fauchées et pâturées. Cependant, les prairies pâturées ont révélé une résilience à la sécheresse légèrement supérieure à celle des prairies fauchées, ce qui est cohérent avec les expériences menées sur le terrain.

Dans l'ensemble, le modèle linéaire du chapitre 2 et le modèle basé sur les processus du chapitre 3 peuvent être interchangés si l'on dispose respectivement de données sur les caractéristiques des prairies et les informations détaillées de gestions agricoles. La prise en compte d'autres facteurs plus liés à la réponse à la sécheresse, tels que la longueur des racines, la surface spécifique des racines et d'autres caractéristiques des plantes, pourrait améliorer les évaluations. Le chapitre 2 peut également prendre

en compte les conditions microclimatiques générées par la couverture végétale environnante. Le chapitre 3 peut envisager deux directions de développement en incorporant des processus écophysiologiques plus détaillés ou en reflétant l'influence de la dynamique des communautés végétales sur la productivité et la réaction à la sécheresse des prairies gérées.

Executive Summary

Drought is a natural phenomenon associated with extreme precipitation shortages leading to water deficits. The decrease in the amount of water is exhibited in the soil and impacts the water supply for plants. It causes various and complex consequences on ecosystems and threatens the quality and sustainability of their ecosystem services. Droughts have serious implications for agroecosystems, including managed grasslands. Indeed, the deficit in available water for agroecosystems and managed grasslands endangers their ability to address food security (Jiang and Wang, 2022; O'Mara, 2012; Soussana et al., 2013). Grasslands are graminoid-dominated ecosystems with limited shrubs and woody perennial covers exceeding 5 meters in height (Suttie et al., 2005). They provide ecosystem services, such as the production of milk and meat as feed to animals (Jiang and Wang, 2022; O'Mara, 2012), and carbon sequestration (Bai and Cotrufo, 2022; Bardgett et al., 2021; Jones and Donnelly, 2004) supporting the mitigation of Climate Change and biodiversity habitat for fauna and flora (Binder et al., 2018; van Oijen et al., 2018). A better understanding of factors that influence the sensitivity, resistance, and resilience to drought of managed grasslands will help guide mitigation measures.

Many studies have conducted controlled pot, mesocosm, or field drought experiments to better understand the processes associated with grassland responses to drought (Ogbaga et al., 2020). For example, plant tissue organs and individual plants exhibit water deficit stress as anomaly changes in their physiological properties (Volaire, 2018). The negative impacts are visible in the development of leaves and roots (Volaire, 2018). Plants exhibit a decrease in photosynthetic activities and reveal faster plant senescence rates. Changes in the physiological processes due to drought vary based on plant capabilities and growth strategies (Volaire et al., 2009). The importance of soil properties is highlighted with the comparison of the growth of prominent grass species in different soil mediums (Buttler et al., 2019). The interactions among plant populations demonstrate the influence of taxonomic and functional diversities (Schnabel et al., 2021) and vegetation community composition (Fry et al., 2021) on the response to drought. Management practices also influence the response of grasslands to drought. For example, it has been found that Nitrogen fertilization mitigates drought impact in a mesocosm experiment with clay-rich soils in Münster, Germany (Klaus et al., 2020). However, Nitrogen fertilization causes detrimental effects on grassland communities if done excessively during drought (Klaus et al., 2020). Zwicke et al. (2013) in an experiment conducted with species typical of French temperate grasslands showed that frequent cuts may enhance drought impact, but Deléglise et al. (2015) found that grazing increases drought impact more than mowing in the mountainous grasslands of Switzerland. Despite the significant contributions of these grassland-drought studies, controlled and field water deficit experimental approaches are restricted still in their spatial and temporal coverages. Moreover, as they are disconnected from real-life conditions, due to some limitations of their setups, it has been shown that experiments underestimate the impact of drought on grasslands (Kröel-Dulay et al. 2022). Thus, additional approaches are needed to provide a better assessment of vegetation responses to water deficits.

The development of remote sensing (RS) products and techniques opens promising avenues for ecosystem research. The reflectance information collected by optical satellite sensors allows the estimation of vegetation properties based on the radiative transfer theory (Drusch and Crewell, 2006; Turner et al., 2003). Surfaces on the Earth, such as vegetation, either absorb or reflect a certain amount of electromagnetic energy from the sun or artificial sources. Sensors, onboard the satellites, detect different levels of reflected energy depending on the vegetation condition. A healthy leaf absorbs red and blue, and reflects green and near-infrared reflectance, while a stressed leaf absorbs more near-infrared and reflects the visible red and blue. Similarly, high leaf moisture absorbs more shortwave-infrared reflectance, between 1,500 and 2,300 nanometers (nm), and reflects the signal as the leaf turns dry (Summy et al., 2003).

Complementary to traditional water deficit experiments and field observations, this Ph.D. thesis primarily aimed to take advantage of the potential of satellite image time series for improving knowledge on the response of managed grasslands to drought in real-life conditions. It first reviewed the current methodological approaches for the assessment of grassland response to drought using RS and analyzed the inputs, applications, advantages, and disadvantages of each approach (Chapter 1). Then it assessed the variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought at a regional scale (the Massif central region) using a statistical inference approach (Chapter 2). It determined the influence of pedoclimate, management practices, and vegetation diversity and community structures on grassland sensitivity across five drought integration timescales. Finally, this thesis analyzed differences in grassland resistance and resilience to drought under mowing or grazing using a process-based model that assimilates satellite reflectance data (Chapter 3).

The state-of-the-art review of studies on grassland response to drought assessment using remote sensing (Chapter 1) was initiated with an article search in the Web of Science on 31 January 2022. The implemented keywords resulted in 304 articles, then a screening process highlighted the use of RS in quantifying grassland properties and identifying or assessing drought events. After the screening process, the article collection was reduced to 64 preliminary articles.

The RS-based assessment of drought impacts on grasslands revealed the existence of five methodological approaches. With increasing complexities and inputs, these approaches were classified as vegetation index (VI) threshold, year comparison, time series analysis, statistical inferences, and mechanistic modelling. By far, the most common approach is statistical inference, which consists of inferring the impact of drought from the statistical relationship between vegetation satellite reflectance and meteorological drought indices using long-term time series datasets.

The findings of this bibliographic analysis revealed the generic use of "response" in the assessment studies; the uneven global distribution of RS studies assessing grassland response to drought; and the differences in responses of grasslands compared to other ecosystems and among different grassland types. Response is a term that can refer to either resistance, resilience, or recovery. Only certain contexts in the discussions of the reviewed article allowed the determination of the specific use of "response". Accordingly, this thesis followed the proposed definitions and use of stability and resilience concepts by Van Meerbeek et al. (2021). The identified challenges in the review focused on the mismatch between the spatial and temporal scales of the vegetation reflectance and drought indicators or indices; the limited temporal range; and the mixed impacts of drought and other disturbance impacts. The presented opportunities highlighted the need for study comparisons among grassland types and biogeographic regions; the utilization of new and existing RS products and techniques; and the assessment of response" and the further standardization of assessment parameters will lead to better global comparisons of grassland responses.

In conclusion, the state-of-the-art review revealed the existing methodological approaches for the assessment of grassland response to drought using remote sensing and found biases and gaps in the global distribution of studies. It called for the identification of the specific use of "response" to standardize and compare assessment studies. Finally, Chapter 1 presented opportunities from the continuously developing RS data and techniques.

Chapter 2 has two main objectives, namely, to quantify the sensitivity of managed grassland to drought at five drought integration timescales, and to assess the influence of the pedoclimate, agricultural management practices, and vegetation diversity on said sensitivity.

Multiple remote sensing-based studies on vegetation sensitivity to drought revealed the importance of soil water holding capacity (Ji and Peters, 2003), topography (Cartwright, 2020), agricultural management (Burrell et al., 2020), and vegetation diversity (De Keersmaecker et al., 2015). However,

the relative influence of different driving factors (i.e., pedoclimatic, management, and vegetation diversity) has yet to be assessed at the same time.

Chapter 2 has regional coverage and requires information on heterogeneous grassland conditions. The input field data on grassland parcel characterizations were from three conducted programs and projects in the Massif central region from 2008 to 2019 (Galliot et al., 2020). Drought severity was assessed using a modified Standardized Precipitation and Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI). Then the anomalies of vegetation indices (VI), derived from multi-temporal Landsat images, underwent the same extraction and standardization process of the modified SPEI. Landsat images were selected because of their long temporal coverage.

In this study, we first assessed the sensitivities of all grassland plots using a statistical inference approach. Grassland sensitivities were based on the linear relationship of standardized VI anomalies and drought severity index. About 24 VI were tested in the derivation of sensitivity to drought. Then, we used a model selection procedure to determine the most significant drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought from three categories of pedoclimate, management, and vegetation diversity factors. A variance partitioning of the significant driving factors, from the final model, accounted for the overall influence of each category on grassland sensitivity to drought.

The results of the first objective revealed a 27% mean coefficient of variation across the five timescales. Then VI was the most important source of variation of the estimated sensitivities compared to drought timescale of computation, and geographic variability.

The Normalized Difference Water Index (NDWI) and the Global Vegetation Moisture Index (GVMI) derived sensitivities exhibited the highest slopes and goodness-of-fit between the standardized VI anomalies and modified SPEI. However, despite the high responsiveness of the anomalies of these two moisture-based indices with the modified SPEI, their maximum R2 values did not exceed 0.35.

Within expectation, pedoclimatic factors, like the soil water holding capacity, were key mitigating drivers of sensitivity to drought. However, something new is its high influence only in short timescales equal to and less than 30 days. Then, management factors were significant across all timescales. The highest influence was from the date of first use, where late use increased drought sensitivity. Finally, vegetation diversity and community structure factors mitigated drought impact at long timescales, but the effects were weak to moderate. The findings of the variance partitioning suggest complex cascading effects between management practices and vegetation diversity and community structure that still need to be addressed.

In conclusion, Chapter 2 revealed the high variability of grassland sensitivity to drought in the Massif central region using remote sensing. It underscored the importance of drought integration timescale when assessing the influence of driving factors of sensitivity to drought. Apart from the cascading effects, Chapter 2 also raised key questions on the importance of the understudied date of first use across all timescales and the community weighted mean of seed mass at short timescales.

Some limitations of the regional assessment were related to the noisy relationship between the standardized VI anomalies and modified SPEI, and the inability of the statistical inference approach to distinguish the resistance and resilience components of the grassland response or sensitivity to drought.

Chapter 3 of this thesis provided a more comprehensive assessment of grassland responses. It aimed to compare the resistance and resilience to drought of mowed and grazed grassland paddocks. To do so, this local assessment study created and used a simple and parsimonious process-based model of the dynamics of the green leaf area index (LAI). The simple process-based model is based on three components including vegetation growth, senescence, and impact of herbage uptake. The model parameters reflected the daily maximum increase in LAI (gmax), maximum available water for plants (wmax), rate of senescence (smax), and the peak of flowering. A one-layer bucket model, based on

precipitation and evapotranspiration, was considered for the water availability. Model inputs were limited to three climatic and two management factors. Management was incorporated into the model based on the results of Chapter 2.

Chapter 3 was conducted on a farm or local scale and required homogeneous environmental factors. The detailed grassland management data for this study was from the Systèmes d'élevage ALlaitants herbagers : Adapter le type génétique et MIXer les espèces pour renforcer leur durabilité (SALAMIX) project, which was conducted from 2015 to 2020 (Prache et al., in press). The modified SPEI was used to assess and identify drought events based on a field meteorological station on the site. Their respective drought severities (unitless) were based on the area under the curve from the drought threshold. The PROSAIL model and look-up table inversion method, together with Sentinel 2 data, were used to estimate the observed dynamics of LAI.

The satellite-derived LAI values were assimilated in the simple model during the calibration phase. Two parameter calibration approaches were also tested for the model. First was the fixed parameter calibration approach, which used one value for all four parameters during the entire period of simulation (2016 to 2020). The second was the time-varying parameter calibration approach, which attempts to replicate the possible changes in growth capacity (gmax) that may be due to changes in vegetation composition and/or resource storage.

An internal and external model validation procedure determined the better model based on the two calibration approaches. From here, we simulated with the better model the LAI of managed grasslands under two conditions, namely: the ambient (with the presence of drought), and the without water stress conditions. The two simulations allowed the determination of the logarithmic drought response ratio. The study estimated the resistance and resilience of managed grasslands according to the formula in Van Meerbeek et al. (2021).

The time-varying gmax calibration approach performed better than the fixed parameter calibration in the internal model validation. However, no clear distinction was found in the external model validation. Accordingly, the ambient and without water stress conditions were simulated using the time-varying gmax calibration model.

The negative relationship between the resistance of the managed grasslands and drought severity was within expectation. However, something new was the presence of a drought threshold that resulted in a non-linear negative relationship. The drought severity threshold of 80 can either be droughts with durations longer than 40 days with a constant modified SPEI value of -2.0 (extremely dry) or durations of 80 days with a constant -1.0 SPEI value (moderately dry). Then, the resistance between mowed and grazed grasslands was not significantly different. While for resilience and drought severity, a decrease in resilience was observed after the 80 drought threshold. Here and consistent with the field experiments in Deléglise et al. (2015) and in Bütof et al. (2012), grazing was slightly more resilient than mowing.

In conclusion, good fits were obtained with the parsimonious process-based model of green LAI assimilated with Sentinel 2 under the internal model validation. The model demonstrated the value of the time-varying parameter calibration approach, which calls for more complex models. However, the lack of a significant difference between grazing and mowing was unexpected.

Finally, Chapter 3 should be considered as preliminary results due to the limited number of grassland paddocks (6 of 33) in the analysis. Another limitation was the strong assumption that management practices remained unchanged for both the ambient and without water stress conditions. During the latter, the high production of biomass, due to the absence of drought, is expected to encourage more frequent herbage use.

In summary, this Ph.D. thesis conducted a review of studies assessing grassland response to drought using remote sensing, which highlighted existing methodological approaches, gaps, and opportunities.

It conducted two complementary studies on grassland response to drought, namely: the regional and local scale assessments using linear models and a simple process-based model assimilated with Sentinel 2 data, respectively. Chapter 2 or the regional assessment revealed the importance of drought timescales in grassland sensitivity to drought assessment. It highlighted the significant influence of management practices across all the timescales and called for further investigation into the partition of explained variance shared by management and vegetation diversity drivers. Chapter 3, or the local scale assessment using a simple process-based model assimilated with satellite data was built on the results and limitations of the regional assessment. Chapter 3 addressed the noisy relationship using the logarithmic response ratio to drought based on simulated trajectories with the model. The log response ratio allowed the determination of the resistance and resilience components of the grassland response to drought according to the formula by Van Meerbeek et al. (2021). Chapter 3 preliminary results highlight the good fit of parsimonious process-based models. There remains the need to include more realistic ecological dynamics in the model. No significant differences were found in the resistance and resilience of mowed and grazed grasslands. However, grazed grasslands revealed slightly higher resilience to drought than mowed ones which is consistent with field-conducted experiments.

Overall, the linear model of Chapter 2 and the process-based model of Chapter 3 can be interchanged if data on grassland characteristics and detailed management records, respectively, are available. Consideration of other drivers more related to the response to drought, such as root length, specific root area, and other plant traits, may improve the assessments. Chapter 2 may also account for microclimate conditions generated by surrounding vegetation cover. Chapter 3 may consider two directions for development by incorporating either more detailed eco-physiological processes or reflecting the influence of vegetation community dynamics on the productivity and response to drought of managed grasslands.

For the love of science...

Résumé

Les sécheresses deviennent plus fréquentes et intenses avec le changement climatique, ce qui menace la durabilité des services écosystémiques fournis par de nombreux agroécosystèmes, y compris les prairies gérées, dans de nombreuses régions du monde. L'anticipation et l'atténuation des effets de la sécheresse ont motivé les recherches scientifiques en agronomie, écophysiologie et écologie. Pour mieux comprendre les processus associés à la réponse des prairies aux sécheresses, de nombreuses études ont mené des expérimentations en pot, en mésocosme ou sur le terrain. Malgré leur rôle primordial dans l'élaboration de nos connaissances actuelles, ces approches font face à des limitations cruciales comme leur étendue spatio-temporelle restreinte et leur disjonction des conditions réelles. Le développement de produits et de techniques de télédétection ouvre des pistes prometteuses pour le suivi des écosystèmes terrestres et leur réponse aux diverses sources de perturbations. En complément des expérimentations plus classiques sur la sécheresse et des observations sur le terrain, cette thèse a pour objectif de tirer parti des données de télédétection satellitaires à long terme pour évaluer la variabilité et les déterminants de la réponse des prairies à la sécheresse dans les systèmes agricoles du Massif central. Pour ce faire, cette thèse examine d'abord les approches méthodologiques actuelles pour l'évaluation de la réponse des prairies à la sécheresse par télédétection. Elle révise ensuite à déterminer la variabilité et les facteurs de sensibilité des prairies à la sécheresse à l'échelle régionale. Enfin, elle approfondit l'analyse de ces réponses en s'affrichissant de facteurs confondants, grâce à l'assimilation de données de télédétection à un modèle simple de croissance des prairies permanentes gérées.

La revue bibliographique des analyses par télédétection des effets de la sécheresse sur les prairies a révélé l'existence de cinq approches méthodologiques alternatives. De loin, l'approche méthodologique la plus courante appelée ici « inférence statistique » consiste à inférer l'impact de la sécheresse à partir de la relation statistique entre la réflectance de la végétation et les indices météorologiques de sécheresse à l'aide de données chronologiques à long terme. Cette analyse bibliographique a également montré que la plupart des recherches ont été menées dans les Grandes Plaines (Amérique du Nord) et le Plateau mongol (Asie centrale) laissant de nombreux vides biogéographiques, en particulier dans les régions tempérées de l'Europe occidentale.

La deuxième partie de cette thèse souligne la forte variabilité de la réponse des prairies gérées tempérées dans une région montagneuse hétérogène (le Massif central en France). Plus important encore, cette variabilité pourrait s'expliquer par un ensemble de facteurs pédoclimatiques, la diversité végétale et les pratiques de gestion. Conformément à l'attendu, certains facteurs pédologiques et topographiques, comme la capacité de rétention en eau du sol, ont été identifiés comme des facteurs d'atténuation clés des effets de la sécheresse. En outre, nos résultats ont montré une sensibilité plus faible des prairies préférentiellement fauchées plutôt que pâturées et avecune utilisation précoce. Pour les sécheresses longues et peu fréquentes, la diversité végétale a eu d'importants effets atténuants, mais nos conclusions suggèrent des effets en cascade complexes entre les pratiques de gestion et la structure des communautés végétales qui doivent encore être examinés.

Enfin, la dernière partie de cette thèse a fourni une évaluation plus complète des réponses des prairies à la sécheresse en décomposant ses composantes de résistance et de résilience et en isolant l'impact de la sécheresse des influences confondantes des événements de gestion (coupe ou rotations de pâturage) et la phénologie de la végétation. Pour ce faire, l'information sur la réflectance du satellite Sentinel 2 a été assimilée dans la phase de calibrage d'un modèle simple basé sur un processus simulant la dynamique de l'indice de surface foliaire vert. Avec des pratiques de gestion détaillées et des données météorologiques comme variables d'entrée, les simulations des pâturages et des prairies fauchées dans des conditions normales et avec un approvisionnement en eau illimité ont permis d'extraire les composantes de résistance et de résilience de la réponse des prairies à des événements de

sécheresse de gravité variable entre 2016 et 2020. Les pâturages et les prairies fauchées ne présentaient pas de différences significatives en termes de résistance à la sécheresse. Cependant, les pâturages ont montré une résilience légèrement supérieure à celle des prairies fauchées.

En conclusion, cette thèse appuie l'avantage des séries chronologiques d'images satellites pour évaluer la réponse des prairies aménagées à la sécheresse comme approche complémentaire aux expérimentations en conditions contrôlées et aux observations sur le terrain. Les résultats ont confirmé une plus grande sensibilité à la sécheresse des pâturages que des prairies fauchées et le rôle atténuant de la diversité végétale dans des conditions réelles en utilisant l'approche de l'inférence statistique. Cependant, la grande variabilité de la sensibilité des prairies à la sécheresse dans l'espace et dans le temps suggère des interactions complexes entre les facteurs déterminants et la nécessité de séparer les effets de la sécheresse des autres sources de perturbation des signaux de télédétection. L'assimilation des données de télédétection à un simple modèle de prairies offre une nouvelle perspective à cet égard. En priorité, les développements de futurs modèles devraient se concentrer sur l'intégration du rôle de la diversité végétale et de sa dynamique dans la modulation des impacts de la sécheresse sur les stades de végétation.

Mots-clés : résilience, télédétection, SPEI, modèle mécaniste, échelles de temps, sécheresse météorologique

Abstract

Drought events are becoming more frequent and severe with climate change, threatening the sustainability of ecosystem services provided by many agroecosystems, including managed grasslands in many regions of the world. The anticipation and mitigation of drought impacts have motivated scientific researches in agronomy, ecophysiology, and ecology. To better understand the processes associated with grassland responses to drought, many studies have conducted controlled pot, mesocosm, or field experiments. Despite their crucial role in building our current knowledge, these approaches face critical limitations such as their restricted spatio-temporal coverage and their disconnection from real-life conditions. The development of remote sensing (RS) products and techniques opens promising avenues for monitoring terrestrial ecosystems and their response to various sources of disturbances. As a complement to more traditional drought experiments and field observations, this Ph.D. thesis aimed at taking advantage of long-term satellite RS data, together with climate and field data, to assess the variability and drivers of grassland response to drought in agricultural systems in the Massif central. To do so, this thesis first reviewed the current methodological approaches for the assessment of grassland response to drought using RS. It addresses the central objective of determining the variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought at the regional scale. Finally, it sought to comprehensively analyze the impact of drought, amidst the confounding factors, by assimilation of RS data with a simple model of grassland growth.

The review of RS-based analyses of drought impacts on grasslands revealed the existence of five alternative methodological approaches. By far, the most common one called here as the "statistical inference" approach consists of inferring the impact of drought from the statistical relationship between vegetation reflectance and meteorological drought indices using long time series datasets. This bibliographic analysis also showed that most of the researches were conducted in the Great Plains (North America) and Mongolian Plateau (Central Asia) leaving many biogeographic gaps, particularly in the temperate regions of Western Europe.

The second part of this thesis emphasized the strong variability of the response of temperate managed grasslands across a heterogeneous mountainous region (the Massif central, France). Most importantly, such variability could be explained by a set of pedoclimatic factors, vegetation diversity, and management practices. As expected, some soil and topographic factors, like the soil water holding capacity, were identified as key mitigating factors of drought impacts. In addition, our results showed lower sensitivity of grasslands predominantly mown rather than grazed and with early herbage uptake. For long and infrequent drought events, vegetation diversity had significant mitigating effects, but our findings suggest complex cascading effects between management practices and plant community structure that still need to be addressed.

Finally, the last part of this thesis provided a more comprehensive assessment of grassland responses to drought by decomposing its resistance and resilience components and by isolating the impact of drought from the confounding influences of management events (cutting or grazing rotations) and vegetation phenology. To do so, Sentinel 2 satellite reflectance information was assimilated in the calibration phase of a simple process-based model simulating the dynamics of the green Leaf Area Index. With detailed management practices and meteorological data as input variables, the simulations of pastures and meadows under normal conditions and unlimited water supply allowed the extraction of the resistance and resilience components of grassland response to drought events of varying severity between 2016 and 2020. Pastures and meadows were insignificantly different in terms of resistance to drought. However, pastures showed slightly higher resilience than meadows.

In conclusion, this thesis supports the benefit of satellite image time series for assessing the response of managed grasslands to drought as a complementary approach to controlled experiments and field observations. The results detected higher sensitivity to drought of pastures than meadows and the mitigating role of vegetation diversity in real-life conditions using the statistical inference approach. However, the high variability of grassland sensitivity to drought in space and time suggests complex interactions between the driving factors and the need to separate drought effects from other sources of disturbance in RS signals. The assimilation of RS data with a simple grassland model offers a new perspective in this respect. In priority, future model developments should focus on incorporating the role of vegetation diversity and its dynamics in modulating drought impacts on vegetation states.

Keywords: resilience, remote sensing, SPEI, mechanistic model, time scales, meteorological drought

Acknowledgment

First, I express my gratitude to my supervisors Catherine Picon-Cochard and Julien Pottier for their advice, unique mentoring styles, and utmost kindness. I can only repay them by being a productive researcher in the future and by sharing their lessons.

Second, I am grateful to the organizations that granted me the financial and administrative support needed to pursue my Ph.D. degree. The French Embassy in the Philippines and Micronesia, Campus France Manille and Paris for the PhilFrance scholarship, and the Agreenium consortium and University of the Philippines Los Baños administration for their endorsements that made this experience possible.

I give special appreciation to my thesis committee members, Mathieu Fauvel, Sandra Luque, Eric Ceschia, Priscilla Note, and Katja Klumpp. Your insights and suggestions regarding my study and student life were always reassuring.

I thank all the people who are part of UREP. Despite our limited interactions due to the COVID-19 pandemic, everyone provided a welcoming environment. If possible, I do hope to keep in touch and spend more time in bars and collaborate on future projects.

I thank my friends and fellow Filipinos, who have shared their time during my stay in Clermont-Ferrand and those who have welcomed me outside of France. The evening drinks and dinners near the campus always reminded me that I am a student. The picnics and celebrations allowed me to escape the moments of homesickness and provided me with the feeling of being back home. I also thank the Earth Systems Research Team (EART Lab) from my home university for the online seminars and presentations during the quarantine periods.

I thank the École Doctorale des Sciences de la Vie, Santé, Agronomie, Environnement administration for their efficient assistance to a non-francophone.

For this acknowledgment, I intentionally refrained from mentioning everyone's name to keep this part short. Rest assured that you are all appreciated.

I express my gratitude to my mother, siblings, and niece for their unconditional support and patience. I offer my achievement to my late father who was unable to wait for my return. I thank my mother-in-law and family for taking care of my wife daily in my absence and during her two surgeries. The distance and time difference were too grand to ignore.

Most of all, to my wife, Irene Joy W. Madrid-Luna, who pushed me to grab this opportunity, I will forever be grateful. Despite being married for about four years now, we have only lived together for less than six months. The distance has been a big struggle and test. All that I have learned and accomplished are for you. I am coming home.

After three years and approximately three months, the end of my Ph.D. comes to an end. My stay here in France was a humbling experience both personally and professionally, especially with the multitude of disturbances. Looking back, learning about the resistance and resilience of grasslands to drought seems to be an appropriate topic for me. It made me appreciate my environment and the people around me better.

Table of Contents

Sommaire Exécutif	I
Executive Summary	VII
Résumé	XIII
Abstract	XV
Acknowledgment	XVII
Table of Contents	XVIII
List of Tables	XXI
List of Figures	XXII
List of Abbreviations	XXIV
General introduction	
A. Under the context of climate change and drought	
1. Managed grasslands	
2. Drought assessment	
3. Grassland responses	
B. The potential of remote sensing for studying drought impacts on grasslar	nds35
1. Drought experiments of different scales	35
2. Shortfalls of grassland-drought experiments and field observations	40
3. Satellite remote sensing data and techniques	41
C. Thesis objectives and plan	47
General data and methods	
D. Study areas	
1. The Massif central region	
2. The Herbipôle experimental site	54
E. Field measurements of managed grasslands	55
1. Data for regional assessment of drought sensitivity drivers	55
2. Data for grassland productivity modelling under drought conditions	57
F. Climate data and drought severity	
1. Climate data records	
2. Drought severity assessment	60
G. Satellite image time series	62
1. Optical satellite images for the study	63
2. Comparative assessment of satellite data sources	64
3. Vegetation properties from reflectance bands	72
H. Summary of selected data	74

Chapter 1. Asse	essment of drought impact on grasslands using remote sensing techniques. A r	eview
		78
1.1. Int	troduction	79
1.2. Cl	assification of the assessment approaches	82
1.2.1.	Vegetation index threshold	83
1.2.2.	Year comparison	83
1.2.3.	Time series analysis	84
1.2.4.	Statistical inference	85
1.2.5.	Mechanistic modelling	87
1.3. Ke	ey findings from grassland response to drought assessments	88
1.3.1.	How grassland "response" to drought is used?	89
1.3.2.	Unequal geographical distribution of study sites	90
1.3.3.	Varied responses of grasslands to drought	91
1.4. Ch	nallenges and opportunities	93
1.4.1.	Challenges	93
1.4.2.	Opportunities	96
1.5. Co	onclusion	99
References	5	100
Chapter 2. Varia	ability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought at different timescales	using

Chapter 2. V	ariability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought at different times	scales using
satellit	e image time series	113
2.1.	Introduction	115
2.2.	Material and methods	118
2.2.1	1. Study area	118
2.2.2	2. Data	118
2.2.3	3. Statistical analyses	123
2.3.	Results	127
2.3.1	1. Variations of grassland sensitivity to drought	127
2.3.2	2. Drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought	129
2.4.	Discussion	132
2.4.1	1. Quantifying geographic variations of grassland sensitivity to drought	132
2.4.2	2. The strong pedoclimatic influence prevails at short timescales	134
2.4.3	3. On the importance of herbage use	135
2.4.4	4. The joint influence of vegetation diversity and agricultural management	135
2.5.	Conclusions	137
Append	dices	138
Referen	nces	144

Chapter 3. Analy	yzing drought impacts on temperate managed grasslands by assimilation of Sent	tinel 2
images wi	th a parsimonious model of vegetation growth	156
3.1. Int	roduction	157
3.2. Da	ta and methodology	159
3.2.1.	Study site and field data	159
3.2.2.	Assessment of Green Leaf Area Index (Lg) from satellite images	161
3.2.3.	A simple dynamic model of grassland green leaf area index (<i>Lg</i>)	162
3.2.4.	Model calibration and validation	165
3.2.5.	Drought response assessment and comparison between mowing and grazing	167
3.3. Re	sults	169
3.3.1.	Fixed and time-varying parameter calibrations	169
3.3.2.	Quantification of severe drought events	172
3.3.3.	Managed grassland response to drought	172
3.4. Di	scussion	175
Appendice	S	179
References		185

General	Synthesis	. 197
I.	Summary	. 197
J.	Principal results	. 197
K.	Limitations of the thesis	. 202
L.	Perspectives	. 204
M	Recommendations for future studies	.206

General funding	
Research Acknowledgements	
General Appendices	
General References	
Scientific productions	235

List of Tables

General Tables

Table 1. Summary of the parameters used in the comparison of GEE and Theia data sources	70
Table 2. Summary of the specific inputs for the PROSAIL model	73
Table 3. Summary of the respective field, climate, and remote sensing data inputs	75

Chapter Tables

Table 2– 1. List of the 29 grassland local properties used to predict grassland sensitivity to de the vegetation plots distributed in the Massif central region, France	rought of126
Table 3–1. Input variables and parameters for calibration (underlined) of the dynamical mod	lel of
LAI.	166
Table 3–2. Modified SPEI rating adapted from SPI (McKee et al., 1993)	168
Table 3–3. Summary of initial and calibrated model parameters.	169
Table 3– 4. Assessment of the goodness-of-fit between the predicted and observed Lg for the validation of the mowed and grazed paddocks	e internal
Table 3– 5. Summary of the external validation of the model. The p-values of the random interfect were assessed	ercept 171

List of Figures

General Figures

Figure 1. Chronological relationship of the four main types of drought and their respective indicators.
Figure 2. Illustration of the drought characteristics of duration, intensity, and severity
Figure 3. Illustration of the stability properties as response to drought
Figure 4. Differences of reflectance band wavelengths between optical images and microwave images.
Figure 5. Spatial, temporal, and spectral resolutions of selected optical satellite sensors used for
ecological and environmental studies44
Figure 6. Radiative transfer principle of the visible and infrared reflectance bands on a leaf surface.
Figure 7. Spectral signature of two different grassland health conditions46
Figure 8. Conceptual diagram of the Ph.D. thesis
Figure 9. Connectivity of the three research chapters toward the main objective of this Ph.D. thesis.
Figure 10. Location map of the two study sites53
Figure 11. Location of the field meteorological stations within and outside the Massif central region
and the grassland 143 parcels60
Figure 12. Comparison of (a) the trajectories of the SPEI-1 and modified SPEI-30 and (b) the
probability distributions focusing on April, May, and June62
Figure 13. Comparison of the medium to high spatial resolution (from left to right) of Landsat 8,
Sentinel 2, and VENµS satellite images64
Figure 14. Extent of the SALAMIX paddocks featuring the NDVI values
Figure 15. Extracted Theia and GEE Landsat 5, 7, and 8 images from 01 January 2015 to 01 November
2020
Figure 16. Spatial agreement assessment between GEE and Theia using Landsat 5 & 7 (left) and 8
(right) images67
Figure 17. Comparison of cloud mask agreement between GEE and Theia Landsat 8 images
Figure 18. Correlation of the GEE- and Theia-obtained Landsat visible and infrared bands69
Figure 19. Comparison of the spatial coverage of Theia and GEE Landsat scenes (a) and availability
of Landsat observations per season (b) from 1985 to 201971
Figure 20. Illustration of the relationship between the PROSPECT and SAIL model73
Figure 21. LAI observations derived from the PROSAIL inversion of Sentinel 2 and VEN μS images
covering one sample mowed parcel under the SALAMIX project74
Figure 22. Summary of inputs for the respective research objectives

Chapter Figures

Figure 1–1. Comparison of years with the absence (2021 – left) and presence (2022 – right) of drought
using Sentinel 2 images covering the southern portions of the Massif central region, France.
Figure 1– 2. Grassland response scheme
Figure 1– 3. Distribution of studies among the five approaches identified for assessing grassland
response to drought
Figure $1-4$. Schemes of the classified approaches for grassland response to drought assessment
showing the respective inputs and complexities
Figure $1-5$. Distribution and coverage of study sites extracted from the selected article collection .90
Figure 1–6. Length of grassland reflectance and drought time periods in response assessment studies.
95
Figure 2 1 Distribution of the grassland nervels and vagatation plots in the Massif control ragion
(France)
(Plance)
Figure 2 – 2. Simplified worknow for assessing grassiand sensitivity and its drivers
Figure 2– 5. Low and high grassiand sensitivities to drought for two selected timescales of different
sample plots 124
Figure 2–4. Comparison of grassiand sensitivity to drought estimated from several satellite-based VIs.
$\mathbf{F} = 0 \cdot 5 \cdot \mathbf{N} + 1 \cdot 1 \cdot 1 + 1 + 1 \cdot 1 + 1 \cdot 1 + 1 + 1 \cdot 1 + $
Figure 2– 5. Variability of grassland sensitivity to drought
Figure 2–6. Beta coefficients of model predictors of grassland sensitivity to drought averaged between
the NDWI- and GVMI-based models at different timescales
Figure 2–7. Variance partitioning of the model predictors of grassland sensitivity to drought 132
Figure 3–1. Configuration of the 33 paddocks under the SALAMIX project
Figure 3–2. Empirical function modulating growth (a, b, c) and senescence (d)164
Figure 3–3. Quantification of the resistance (Rst) and resilience (Rsl) of the managed grassland based
on the logarithm of the drought response ratio (LRR)
Figure 3–4. The quantified drought severity of the growing season from 2016 to 2020
Figure 3– 5. Response ratio of all the selected paddocks
Figure 3– 6. Resistance to drought as a function of drought severity
Figure 3–7. Resilience component of the grassland response to drought

List of Abbreviations

AEOLE	Atout Economique pour cOnstruire des systèmes d'éLEvage
AOP	Appellations d'Origine Protégées
ARVI	Atmospherically Resistant Vegetation Index
ATOUS	Approche Territoriale de l'Autonomie Fourragère et des services
AVHRR	Advanced Very High Resolution Radiometer
BT	Brightness temperature
C: N	Carbon to Nitrogen Ratio
CBN	Conservatoire Botanique National
CHRIS	Compact High-Resolution Imaging Spectrometer
CNES	Centre National d'Etudes Spatiales
CNRM	Centre National de Recherches Météorologiques
CWM	Community Weighted Mean
DALEC	Data Assimilation-Linked ECosystem
DIVGRASS	Plant Functional DIVersity of GRASSlands
DS	Drought severity
DVI	Difference Vegetation Index
EOS	End of season
ESDAC	European Soil Data Centre
ET	Evapotranspiration
EVI	Enhanced Vegetation Index
EVI2	Enhanced Vegetation Index 2
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
Fdis	Functional dispersion
GCI	Green Chlorophyll Index
GDD	Growing degree days
GEE	Google Earth Engine
GEMI	Global Environment Monitoring Index
GNDVI	Green Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
GPP	Gross primary productivity
GVMI	Global Vegetation Moisture Index
GWP	Global Water Partnership
HysIS	Hyperspectral Imaging Satellite
INRAE	Institut national de recherche pour l'agriculture, l'alimentation et
	<i>l'environnement</i>
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
IPVI	Infrared Percentage Vegetation Index
IWUE	Instantaneous water use efficiency
$K_{2}0$	Potassium oxide
LAI	Leaf area index
LaSRC	Land Surface Reflectance Code
LEWT	Leaf equivalent water thickness
LINGRA	Light INTerception and UtiLisation simulator (LINTUL)-GRASS
LOS	Length of season
LRR	Log response ratio
LSWI	Land Surface Water Index
LUE	Light-use efficiency
LUT	Look-Up Table

MAE	Mean absolute error
MAJA	MACCS – ATCOR Joint Algorithm
MaxAE	Maximum absolute error
MetOp	Meteorological Operational Satellite Program
MgO	Magnesium oxide
MODIS	Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer
MRE	Mean relative error
MSI	MultiSpectral Instrument
mSPEI	Modified SPEI
MSR	Modified Simple Ratio
MTVI2	Modified Triangular Vegetation Index 2
MVC	Maximum-value composite
NDSVI	Normalized Difference Senescence Vegetation Index
NDVI	Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
NDWI	Normalized Difference Water Index
NetCF	Network Common Data Form
NIR	Near Infrared
NLI	Non-Linear Index
NMDI	Normalized Multi-band Drought Index
NOAA	National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration
NPP	Net primary production
NRI	Nitrogen Reflectance Index
ORCHIDEE-GM	Organizing Carbon and Hydrology in Dynamic Ecosystems – Grassland
	Management
OSAVI	Optimized Soil-Adjusted Vegetation Index
P_2O_5	Phosphorus pentoxide
PaSiM	Pasture simulation model
PDSI	Palmer's Drought Severity Index
PET	Potential Evapotranspiration
RMSE	Root mean square error
RRMSE	Relative root mean square error
RS	Remote sensing
RTM	Radiative transfer model
SAFRAN	Système d'Analyse Fournissant des Renseignements Adaptés à la Nivologie
SAFY	Simple Algorithm for Yield Estimate
SAIL	Scattering by Arbitrary Inclined Leaves
SALAMIX	Systèmes d'élevage ALlaitants herbagers: Adapter le type génétique et MIXer
	les espèces pour renforcer leur durabilité
SAR	Synthetic aperture radar
SAU	Surface Agricole Utile
SAVI	Soil-Adjusted Vegetation Index
SCOPE	Soil-Canopy Observation of Photosynthesis and Energy fluxes
SIF	Solar-induced fluorescence
SIPI	Structure Insensitive Pigment Index
SITS	Satellite image time series
SLA	Specific Leaf Area
SLA	Specific leaf area
SLAVI	Specific Leaf Area Vegetation Index
SOC	Soil Organic Carbon
SOM	Soil Organic Matter

SON	Soil Organic Nitrogen
SOS	Start of season
SPEI	Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index
SPI	Standardized Precipitation Index
SPOT	Satellite pour l'Observation de la Terre
SRVI	Simple Ratio Vegetation Index
STH	Surface Toujours en Herbe
STICS	Simulateur mulTIdisciplinaire pour les Cultures Standard
SWHC	Soil Water Holding Capacity
SWIR	Shortwave Infrared
TCI	Temperature Condition Index
TIROS	Television Infrared Observation Satellite
TVI	Transformational Vegetation Index
TWI	Terrain Wetness Index
UREP	Unité Mixte de Recherche sur l'Ecosystème Prairial
VARI	Visible Atmospherically Resistant Index
VCI	Vegetation Condition Index
VegDRI	Vegetation Drought Response Index
VENµS	Vegetation and Environment New micro (µ) Satellite
VH	Vertical - Horizontal
VHI	Vegetation Health Index
VI	Vegetation Index
VISTOCK	Virtual Fencing for precision management of beef cattle farms
VNIR	Visible and near-infrared
WMO	World Meteorological Organization

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

A. Under the context of climate change and drought

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) revealed that human-induced climate change started as early as the 1980s (Hansen et al., 2006; Houghton et al., 1990). Climate change is a statistically significant shift in the mean and variability of climatic properties caused by natural unpredictability and the influence of anthropogenic activities (Pielke, 2004).

The degradation of ecosystems and the decline of biodiversity due to the increasing temperature and occurrence of extreme climatic events are among the impacts of climate change (Clarke et al., 2022; Hansen et al., 2012; IPCC, 2022). For example, climate change has caused shifts in the distribution of plant species to higher elevation gradients due to changes in environmental properties (Davis and Shaw, 2001; Van der Putten, 2012). Climate change impairs the realization of ecosystem processes like carbon, water and nutrient cycles, water use, and community dynamics (Grimm et al., 2013; Yvon-Durocher et al., 2010), which is hampered also by biodiversity decline (Beier et al., 2012; Loreau et al., 2001; Tilman et al., 2014).

One critical aspect of climate change is the increase in frequency, intensity, and duration of droughts (Leng et al., 2015; Mukherjee et al., 2018; Sperry and Love, 2015). Drought events occur with a drastic reduction of precipitation and higher air temperature and solar radiation that leads to faster evapotranspiration rates that result in deficits in the climatic water balance (Dai, 2011). Drought threatens system productivity and longevity due to water stress impacts on plants and ecosystems (Porporato et al., 2001). The altered water supply to rain-fed agroecosystems, due to variabilities in precipitation and temperature, threatens food security (Bandara and Cai, 2014; Muluneh, 2021).

1. Managed grasslands

Grasslands are graminoid-dominated ecosystems with limited cover of tall shrubs and woody perennials that exceed 5 meters in height (Suttie et al., 2005; Xu and Guo, 2015). They cover about 20 to 40% of the Earth's terrestrial surface (Bardgett et al., 2021; Dixon et al., 2014) and are distributed in various topographic and climatic regions of the world (Dixon et al., 2014; Godde et al., 2020; Xu and Guo, 2015). Grassland distribution depends on local climate, soil, water, topography, and disturbance regimes that prevent the course of the ecological succession from pioneer stages dominated by herbs and grasses to mature stages dominated by trees (Petermann and Buzhdygan, 2021). Alpine and tundra grasslands are maintained by cold seasons that naturally hinder the development of woody ecosystems. Tropical regions have wet and dry seasons that promote vegetation growth, thus requiring

fire or other forms of disturbance to maintain grassland cover (Dixon et al., 2014; Strömberg and Staver, 2022). Flooded plains impede the recruitment of trees by preventing seed germination with water inundation. Aside from these natural determinants of distribution, anthropogenic activities play an extensive role in the maintenance of grasslands, through grazing of livestock and agriculture practices. The need to address the food security demands of the human population influences the greater use of pastures and meadows for milk and meat production.

The grassland classifications change between regions of the world (Bai and Cotrufo, 2022; Pellaton et al., 2022). Concerning agricultural management, graminoid-dominated ecosystems are classified as natural, semi-natural, and improved grasslands (Bengtsson et al., 2019; Chang et al., 2021). Improved grasslands resemble agricultural lands due to intensive management practices (plowing and sowing) for high production yield (Pilgrim et al., 2010). On the other side, natural grasslands are free from anthropogenic management pressures (Parr et al., 2014). In between these two extreme types, semi-natural or managed grasslands are characterized by either sown mixtures or spontaneous vegetation dynamics, influenced by agricultural practices of herbage usage by grazing or mowing and nutrient fertilization. The grazing and mowing activities in managed grasslands may promote higher biodiversity depending on their intensity (Pulungan et al., 2019) and prevent the growth of unwanted invasive plant species (Kun et al., 2021).

Managed grasslands provide key ecosystem services that benefit both humans and the environment. The most obvious is the provisioning service, which allows billions of employment opportunities related to meat and milk production (Jiang and Wang, 2022; O'Mara, 2012; Soussana et al., 2013). Regarding, regulating services, grasslands sequester and store about 34% of terrestrial carbon, where about 90% is below ground (Bai and Cotrufo, 2022; Bardgett et al., 2021; Jones and Donnelly, 2004). Managed grasslands contribute also to the cultural landscape and recreational activities despite their main use for production (Dengler et al., 2014; Pellaton et al., 2022). Part of these services is supported by high biodiversity hosted by grasslands (Binder et al., 2018; van Oijen et al., 2018), which can reach, for example, a maximum of 89 plant species per m² (Wilson et al., 2012).

Compared to other ecosystems and within agroecosystems, grasslands are negatively impacted by drought (Deng et al., 2021; Ji and Peters, 2003; Teuling et al., 2010; Tollerud et al., 2018). The aboveground and belowground grassland biomass can decrease by at least 25% due to drought and heat stress during the summer season (De Boeck et al., 2008; Gao et al., 2019). Drought impacts lead to the reduced coverage, quantity, and quality of grasslands and their ecosystem services, which eventually leads to scarcity of herbage for livestock, lesser milk and meat production, and a decline in economic benefits. The estimated economic losses from the grassland yield start at about a 28% reduction in profits based on 5-year drought field experiments (Finger et al., 2013). Grasslands turn

from carbon sinks to sources beyond the ecosystem respiration threshold of 0.171 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ of carbon due to drought based on a net ecosystem productivity regression model of grasslands in Inner Mongolia, China (Zhang et al., 2020).

Managed grasslands are widely distributed all over the world and contribute to the conservation of biodiversity and numerous provisioning, supporting, regulating, and cultural services. Grasslands are threatened by the increased severity and frequency of drought events that negatively impact their biodiversity and ecosystem services (Thornton et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2021). Better knowledge of how these agroecosystems respond to droughts is necessary to predict and mitigate the drought impacts under different environmental contexts (Mejía and Wetzel, 2023).

2. Drought assessment

Drought is a natural hazard generally associated with extreme precipitation and water shortages (Mishra and Singh, 2010). It has various and complex consequences on ecosystems and human societies (Mishra and Singh, 2010; Slette et al., 2019). Drought covers a variety of definitions (Palmer, 1965; Slette et al., 2019) that can be classified according to the level of integration of water deficit consequences (Figure 1). The first level, defined as the climatological or meteorological drought, refers to the deficit in the climatic water balance, i.e., the difference between precipitation and potential evapotranspiration (Zargar et al., 2011). Then, agricultural drought refers to the consequences of meteorological droughts on soil water availability for plants (Cao et al., 2022; Zargar et al., 2011). Depending on the actual evapotranspiration (i.e., plant-specific water consumption) and the water holding capacity of the soil, a given deficit of the climatic water balance result in soil moisture stress that negatively affects the individual plant. Afterward, the hydrological drought refers to the deficiency of water to the surfaces or sub-surfaces of streams, lakes, other bodies of water, and wetlands. (Zargar et al., 2011). The sources of water recharge in hydro systems are mainly from precipitation, soil infiltration, and surface run-offs, which are thus affected by meteorological and agricultural droughts. Lastly, socioeconomic drought refers to the unavailability of water supply for basic societal water demand, such as for hydroelectric power generation and human use and consumption (Zargar et al., 2011).

Drought can be classified as a pulse type of disturbance (Hoover and Rogers, 2016). It is a stress that results to pulse type of response of ecosystem variable state. A general interest of this Ph.D. thesis is to understand the response of grassland vegetation to drought. Accordingly, drought impact was characterized, in the following chapters, as the deficit of the climatic water balance or as a meteorological drought. Then the vegetation response to drought was characterized as the negative change of variable states (i.e., standing biomass, growth, vegetation moisture content) or detectable

signs of plant water stress exhibited under agricultural drought events. The decreased soil water content in single plants due to agricultural drought leads to reduced photosynthesis causing declined leaf growth and lamina turgescence, eventually leading to lamina mortality (Volaire et al., 2009). The impacts on a single plant are then visible in ecosystems as fluctuations in the gross primary production, microbial activity, and soil respiration (Burri et al., 2018; Lei et al., 2020).



Figure 1. Chronological relationship of the four main types of drought and their respective indicators. The image was modified from the National Drought Mitigation Center (NDMC; https://drought.unl.edu)

Meteorological droughts occur more frequently and induce other types of droughts (Hao and Signh, 2015; Rahmat et al., 2015; Zargar et al., 2011). The World Meteorological Organization (WMO) and Global Water Partnership (GWP; 2016) have summarized and assessed the use of various drought indices and indicators for drought identification and quantification. The largest number of drought indices refer specifically to the meteorological drought (WMO and GWP, 2016). Such indices are based on the precipitations or the climatic water balance. The climatic water balance is computed as the difference between precipitation (P) and the potential evapotranspiration (PET) variables over a given period (Allen et al., 1998; Yang et al., 2021). Depending on the method used, PET can account

for the influence of additional climatic variables such as temperature, solar radiation, and wind velocity (Allen et al., 1998; Yang et al., 2021). The Thornthwaite (1948), Hargreaves (1975), and Penman-Monteith (Monteith, 1965) methods are the three commonly used formulas to generate PET (Allen et al., 1998; Yang et al., 2021). The Thornthwaite (1948) equation is based on the air temperature and duration of sunlight. While the Hargreaves (1975) method requires the minimum and maximum air temperature and extra-terrestrial radiation. Lastly, the Penman-Monteith method, which is recommended by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO; Allen et al., 1998), requires data on air temperature, wind speed, solar radiation, and air vapor pressure. When certain input data are unavailable, the Thornthwaite and Hargreaves methods are used as alternatives.

Among the existing meteorological drought indices (Kchouk et al., 2021; Yihdego et al., 2019; Zargar et al., 2011), authors have widely used the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI; McKee et al. 1993), and the Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI; Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010) (Wei et al., 2021). The SPI and SPEI are based on the normalized time series anomalies of precipitation; and climatic water balance, respectively (Chamorro et al., 2020; Stagge et al., 2015). When PET is available, SPEI should be preferred as it performs better than SPI (Hayes et al., 2012; Ojha et al., 2021).

Both the SPI and SPEI allow the integration of the respective climatic variables into monthly timescales usually from 1 month to 2 years (Salehnia et al., 2017). The integration timescales reflect the frequency and duration of drought. For example, 3 months or less integration has been used to assess short-term but frequent droughts, and greater than 4 for long-term but rare droughts (Faye, 2022; Yihdego et al., 2019).

The time series of drought indices such as SPI and SPEI enable the identification and characterization (Figure 2) of drought events (Pei et al., 2020). The main drought characteristics are their intensity, duration, and severity (McKee et al., 1993; Mishra, et al., 2007; Ojha et al., 2021). The drought duration is the length of time (e.g., days) of drought events. It begins when the drought index value goes below a given threshold and ends when the index is above the threshold (Dracup et al., 1980; Mishra, et al., 2007). Then the drought intensity is the mean value of the drought index below the threshold. It is quantified by dividing drought severity index and duration (Dracup et al., 1980; Lee et al., 2017; Mishra, et al., 2007). The drought severity is the total area below the drought threshold within the drought duration (Lee et al., 2017; Mishra, et al., 2007). The assessments of these drought characteristics allow quantitative comparisons between different drought events.



Figure 2. Illustration of the drought characteristics of duration, intensity, and severity (Mishra et al., 2007; the image was modified from Leng et al., 2020).

3. Grassland responses

Ecological resistance and resilience are two prominent components of ecosystem responses to disturbances, including drought. In the early 1970s, resistance was a synonymous term to ecological resilience (Gunderson, 2000; Holling, 1973, 1996), while resilience was synonymous with engineering resilience and stability (Gunderson, 2000; Holling, 1973, 1996). According to these definitions, high ecosystem resistance is the ability of a system to remain slightly changed or unchanged during a disturbance. Resilience and recovery refer to a positive trajectory of the system toward the previous state after disturbances. In some studies, both resistance and resilience are considered ecosystem responses to disturbance, which to a certain extent, also reflect ecosystem stability (Hossain and Li, 2021). In most cases, the concepts of stability and resilience exhibit blurred distinctions in ecological studies. Some authors have attempted to clarify these concepts with the assessment of stability definitions (Grimm and Wissel, 1997; Pimm, 1984), measured metrics (Kéfi, et al., 2019; Pimm et al., 2019), and consistency of their use (Donohue et al., 2016). Among the most recent attempt, Van Meerbeek et al. (2021) considered stability as the main ecological concept and categorized resistance, resilience, recovery, latitude, and tolerance as properties of ecological stability (Figure 3). In this Ph.D. thesis, I adopted these definitions of resistance and resilience for the assessment of the grassland response to a particular disturbance, which is the meteorological drought.



Figure 3. Illustration of the stability properties as response to drought. The tolerance was excluded in the plot due to need for quantified drought severity. The image was adapted from Van Meerbeek et al., 2021.

Two ecosystem states are presented in Figure 3, namely: the alternative stable or stressed state (bold green line), where the ecosystem has a larger tolerance to disturbances, such as drought, and the new reference state or changed state (bold red line), where drought impact is larger than the ecosystem tolerance. The changes in ecosystem states are based on the basin of attraction region of the resilience concept (Holling, 1996; Walker et al., 2004). This Ph.D. thesis focused on the alternative stable state (green line), where grasslands retained their identity as grassland ecosystems.

In the stability framework, resistance is the ability of the ecosystem state to withstand disturbance (Van Meerbeek et al., 2021). While both resilience and recovery are associated with the positive trajectories from the stressed state toward the pre-drought reference state. Resilience specifically refers to the rate of return to the reference state, while recovery is achieved when a 100% return to the reference state is attained (Van Meerbeek et al., 2021). The latitude is estimated as the difference between the reference state condition and the identified threshold before major changes in the system are observed. Tolerance, on the other hand, refers to the maximum disturbance endured by the system without change in the reference state.

The quantifications of stability properties are based on changes in the ecosystem state. The reference state, before a disturbance, serves as a baseline for the resistance and resilience quantifications. Resistance is the distance between the reference state and the disturbed state due to a disturbance. Ecosystems are characterized by low resistance when the gap between reference and disturbed states is considerably large. The resilience of the ecosystem starts with the positive trajectory from the
disturbed state or when the disturbance, such as drought, has ended. A high resilience is depicted by a steep slope towards the reference or new reference state of the system.

Beyond the correct assessment of vegetation response to drought, and with a considerably sound decomposition of its components (resilience, resistance, and recovery), one important issue of this thesis is to assess the variability of grassland response to drought and identify the drivers of said variability.

B. The potential of remote sensing for studying drought impacts on grasslands.

Grassland response to drought is an important topic in ecology, ecophysiology, and agronomy that has encouraged multiple studies. A large body of the corresponding literature reports on pot or field experiments where water inputs can be easily controlled and mixed with other treatments aiming at revealing drivers of vegetation response to drought from the molecular scale to paddock management regimes. More recently, and due to rapid technological developments, remote sensing has been used for assessing the response of a variety of ecosystems to a variety of disturbances. I here aim to show the potential of remote sensing as a complementary approach to controlled experiments and field observations for assessing grassland response to drought and its drivers.

1. Drought experiments of different scales

Drought-related experiments in laboratories, growth chambers, greenhouses, and research fields provide key knowledge on the response of plants to drought (Ogbaga et al., 2020). The scale of drought experiments, such as pot, mesocosm, and field, partly dictates the monitored plant characteristics or processes (Volaire, 2018). For example, plant tissue organs and individuals exhibit the response to water deficit stress as anomaly changes in the physiological properties (Volaire, 2018). Then the shift of organization level to population, and vegetation communities allows the detection of response to drought from ecological properties (Volaire, 2018).

35

General Introduction

a. Pot experiments

Pot experiments involve the growing of plants in small volumes of soil in small containers under different levels of stress (Hohmann et al., 2016). Such an experiment replicates drought impact by imposing water deficits on the pot set-ups (Turner, 2019). Due to the restrictions from pot containers, the investigated plant responses to water deficit are related to physiological changes in individual plants (Hohmann et al., 2016). The monitored parameters are usually related to processes involved in the development of leaves and roots (Volaire, 2008). The results of conducted pot experiments were able to reveal the dynamics of plant senescence (Volaire et al., 2009) and decrease in photosynthetic processes (Fariaszewska et al., 2017; Staniak et al., 2020) during induced water stress. They further revealed the crucial role of carbohydrates stored by plants during mild environmental conditions for their recovery after drought (Karsten and MacAdam, 2001). The use of nutrients and ecophysiological changes in plants are related to inherent plant growth strategies (Balachowski and Volaire, 2017). To exhibit tolerance to water stress, specific plants demonstrate conservative growth strategies by decreasing productivity through smaller specific leaf areas and specific root lengths (Balachowski and Volaire, 2017). Pot experiments have demonstrated the important role of soil properties in grassland response to drought (Buttler et al., 2019). For example, using ryegrass (Lolium prenne, L.), Buttler et al. (2019) determined that the soils with high soil organic matter (SOM) were more resistant to drought than soils with low SOM. These results were explained based on the available soil microbes, which influence nutrient availability, in the high SOM soils. Then also with ryegrass and soils from forest and grassland, Zhao et al. (2008) found higher sensitivity of ryegrass to water deficit when grown on grassland soil than forest soil. This was exhibited by a greater reduction of the leaf relative water and chlorophyll contents. Pot experiments are not usually designed to assess the impact of droughts on the response of higher levels of organization than the plant individual or population, Barkaoui and Volaire (2023) found that heterospecific plant-plant interactions positively modify their tolerance to drought and their recovery.

However, one main concern with pot experiments is the implementation of water stress on the plant, which is related to the soil medium (lack of porosity), and pot size and shape (water retention and root growth)(Turner, 2019). Usually, pot experiments have faster drying than in real-life soil conditions (Earl, 2003; Ogbaga et al., 2020; Turner, 2019).

b. Mesocosm experiments

Mesocosm experiments, similar to microcosms, are bordered, partially enclosed, or large container outdoor experiments (Crossland and La Point, 1992; Odum, 1984). It aims to replicate to some extent natural environmental conditions and ecological effects (Crossland and La Point, 1992; Ledger et al.,

2013). Accordingly, the simulation of drought-induced impacts involves the use of rainfall manipulation shelters (Karlowsky et al., 2018). Mesocosm experiments shift towards the population and community organizational levels. They address the role of different facets of the plant community structure in their response to drought and sought to test theoretical predictions related to the role of diversity (De Boeck et al., 2018; Loreau, 2010) on grassland stability against drought.

Among the different facets of the plant community structure (Keddy, 2007), drought experiments focus on species composition, species diversity, functional identity, and functional diversity. The first two facets rely on the collection of the co-occurring species in the grassland of interest in terms of what they are, how many, and in which proportion. Functional identity and diversity rely on the pattern of trait values exhibited by the species. A trait is defined as a measure of plant morphology, physiology, or phenology that impacts the performance of plant individuals in terms of survival, vegetation biomass, vegetation reproductive outputs, and ultimately their fitness (Violle, 2007). Trait values of different species can then be integrated at the community level. The first community metric is the mean trait value weighted by the species abundance (Diaz et al 1998, Garnier 2004). Because of the weighting term, it reflects the functional identity of the dominant species. The diversity of trait values within a community can be appreciated with numerous metrics, sometimes redundant or complementary (Mouchet et al., 2010). They usually represent one or mix several of the following aspects: richness (i.e., the total volume of the trait space occupied by the species), divergence (i.e., the variance in the distribution of species abundances in this volume), or evenness (i.e., the regularity of the distribution of species abundances in the same volume) (Villéger 2008).

Drought experiments have largely focused on the role of species richness. Indeed, theoretical developments on the role of the diversity-stability relationship are largely grounded on the number of co-occurring species (Loreau, 2010; McCann, 2000). It is also easier to manipulate than taxonomic and functional metrics based on species abundance. The positive effect of species richness on stability predicted by theoretical developments is not always supported by drought mesocosm experiments. Some authors have found the diversity buffering effect during induced drought events (Hernandez and Picon-Cochard, 2014; Niboyet et al., 2017; Padilla et al., 2019), but not during post-drought recovery (Hernandez and Picon-Cochard, 2014; Kreyling et al., 2017; Padilla et al., 2019). In a review, De Boeck et al. (2018) also concluded that the response of above-ground biomass to drought is not significantly influenced by species richness.

Beyond the influence of the number of species, the positive effect of diversity on community stability, related to the insurance hypothesis, may theoretically be associated with different responses of species to environmental changes (Loreau et al., 2021; Yachi and Loreau, 1999) suggesting a link between the diversity of plant functional attributes and stability. Yet, there are still few experimental

tests of the role of functional diversity on vegetation response to drought, sometimes supporting (Schnabel et al., 2021) or refuting its positive role (Miller et al., 2019).

The composition of communities is also well recognized to influence the grassland response to drought. Fry et al. (2021) tested two plant community compositions to determine their effect on the resilience of root functional traits to drought. The plant community that resembles intensive management demonstrated higher drought resilience than the diverse plant community of extensive management (Fry et al., 2021). The authors further showed that this effect was related to differences in root traits between the two types of communities, more exploitative root traits for the plant community composition that resembled intensively managed grasslands.

Beyond playing a role in the stability of broad vegetation properties like biomass, plant community composition may also change due to droughts. It has been found that drought-induced reduction in the biomass of native species may enhance the growth of invasive species (Manea et al., 2016).

Mesocosms experiments have also been used to assess the effect of some management practices but are usually restricted to fertilization and/or artificial cuts. A mesocosm experiment on the influence of Nitrogen fertilization during drought has recommended the avoidance of excessive N fertilization to dry soils to prevent the risk of nitrate leaching (Klaus et al., 2020). Cuttings were implemented to maintain the conditions within mesocosm set-ups and extract biomass at the before, during, and after stages of induced drought (Hernandez and Picon-Cochard, 2014).

The weaknesses of mesocosm experiments are related to the logistical restrictions necessary for experimental set-ups (Ledger et al., 2013; Lütke Schwienhorst et al., 2022). Then despite the outdoor experimental set-ups, which allow natural light, air temperature, and humidity, the presence of experiment enclosures still limits the replication of real-life conditions (Stewart et al., 2013).

Finally, in some instances, pot and mesocosm experiments show blurred distinctions due to many possible ways to conduct experimental manipulations. In a microcosm experiment using pots, Xu et al. (2022) showed the possible interaction between species richness and functional dispersion (Fdis). But Fdis only mediated the impact of species richness on ecosystem functioning, while species richness demonstrated the insurance effect against drought impact (Xu et al., 2022). Then the principal components of the community-weighted means of leaf carbon content and plant height traits contributed to the facilitation of conservative growth strategies of *Caragana microphylla* Lam. (Xu et al., 2022). Pot experiments may be conducted indoors, inside greenhouses, or under outdoor conditions. While mesocosms can also be conducted in similar locations depending on the questions being investigated. In terms of scale, mesocosms may involve the use of containers, which share similar techniques with pot experiments. Nevertheless, we highlight the knowledge of how each method/approach/design focuses on specific levels of organization.

General Introduction

c. Field experiments

Field experiments generally involve the control of the amount of rainfall with shelters placed over established grasslands. Compared to pot and mesocosm experiments, field experiments allow the investigation of the influence of herbage use treatments (Deléglise et al., 2015; Munjonji et al., 2020; Volaire, 1994; Zwicke et al., 2013) on grassland response to drought. It has been shown that grazed grasslands were more negatively responsive to drought than mowed grasslands in mountain areas of Switzerland (Deléglise et al., 2015). Regarding fertilization effects, results from different studies were mixed. Consistent with mesocosm experiments, some studies support the negative influence of excessive nutrient addition on the grassland response to drought (Bharath et al., 2020; Rose et al., 2012), while other studies did not find any significant effect of fertilization (Vogel et al., 2012; Weisser et al., 2017).

The influence of community structure has also been largely investigated in field drought experiments, usually reporting that grassland diversity can buffer drought impacts on grasslands (Griffin-Nolan et al., 2019; Isbell et al., 2015). Barkaoui et al. (2016) found that by manipulating the composition of Mediterranean perennial herbaceous species that the functional identity, related to the root morphology, had more influence on the community response to drought than their functional diversity.

Under water-limited conditions, plant growth promotes changes in plant traits as a response to stressed conditions (Berdugo et al., 2022). The functional diversity of grasslands, measured as functional dispersion, showed lower sensitivity to water-limited climate variabilities in ultramafic rocks and soils (Harrison et al., 2020). The interannual precipitation variability also increases the functional diversity of the grasslands (Gherardi and Sala, 2015; Harrison et al., 2020). At the same time, high functional diversity mitigates the alternating wet and dry (or drought) interannual precipitation variability on grassland primary production over a six-year experiment (Gherardi and Sala, 2015). The presence of three plant functional types was unable to exhibit the species richness buffering effect (Zwicke et al., 2013) found in mesocosm experiments (Hernandez and Picon-Cochard, 2014; Niboyet et al., 2017; Padilla et al., 2019). Zwicke et al. (2013) highlighted that the role of stability drivers, such as nitrogen, requires longer experiment durations (> 3 years) to detect the influence on grassland resilience. Similar to mesocosm experiments, the role of functional diversity on grassland requires additional examinations compared to measures of species richness and diversity, which have been a long-running part of ecosystem stability studies (de Bello et al., 2021).

39

Drought field experiments share restricted spatial coverage and limited replication of real-life conditions. It has also been argued that these studies should be correctly termed as water deficit experiments, instead of drought experiments (Ogbaga et al., 2020). Because these experiments are unable to replicate the increased temperature and evapotranspiration rate. Grassland drought experiments (in pots, mesocosms, or fields) have provided significant knowledge on the effect of drought at different organizational levels, namely the plant individual, and the mixtures of interacting plants of conspecifics (population) or heterospecific (communities) composition. From the results from multiple experiments, we can presume that the response of grassland to drought depends on three main types of factors including the (i) soil properties, like the water holding capacity, the (ii) plant community structure (composition and diversity of species and functional traits), and (iii) management practices related to fertilization and regimes of herbage use (by mowing or grazing).

2. Shortfalls of grassland-drought experiments and field observations

Observation and controlled or semi-controlled experiments are of utmost value for analyzing drought impacts on grasslands and understanding the mechanisms underlying their resistance and resilience. Whether they were set up in pots, in mesocosms, or the field, experiments provide significant knowledge on grassland responses to drought at the local scale. However, they face several shortfalls. Some of the experiment shortfalls can be considered similar to the shortfalls of biodiversity knowledge (Cardoso et al., 2011; Hortal et al., 2015; Ribeiro et al. 2016).

First and related to the Prestonian shortfall of biodiversity knowledge, drought experiments, and field observations have restricted knowledge of the spatial and/or temporal coverages (Leuzinger et al., 2015). Beyond the obvious spatial restriction of experiments and observatories, drought experiments, especially pots, and mesocosms, are usually performed under short durations (Beier et al., 2012; Hoover et al., 2018). Thus, short-term experiments have limited capacity to consider the consequences of long-term or repeated drought events (Beier et al., 2012; Leuzinger et al., 2011). On the other hand, observational studies may be conducted for longer duration, but with low record frequency which may lead to poorly evaluated vegetation responses. The second shortfall is the Hutchinsonian shortfall of biodiversity knowledge, which pertains to the poor assessment of the global variability of ecosystem responses to changes in abiotic conditions. Despite coordinated experiments and large-scale observations (i.e., Drought-Net / Smith et al., 2015), grassland responses to drought have been studied in a limited number of combinations of pedoclimatic contexts, management regimes, and levels of biodiversity by essence. Although such reduction is necessary for establishing cause-

and-effect relationships, drought experiments lead to an underestimation of grassland biomass compared to observation drought studies (Kröel -Dulay et al., 2022).

Anticipating and/or mitigating the impact of droughts on managed grasslands require complementary approaches to assess the variability of vegetation responses in real-life conditions and multiple contexts. The foundation of this thesis lies in the potential of remote sensing to move beyond the limits of drought experiments and ground observations identified above.

3. Satellite remote sensing data and techniques

a. A brief introduction to remote sensing data

Among the existing technologies, remote sensing has the potential to determine the response of ecosystems to disturbances on large spatial extents for the past few decades (Li et al., 2014; Soubry et al., 2021; Xu and Guo, 2015). Remote sensing is the science of acquiring information about an object or area of interest without physical contact with the said object or area. In this thesis, I focused on the use of satellite-based remote sensing due to its wider and more consistent spatio-temporal coverage compared to cameras and sensors attached to unmanned aerial vehicles (Alvarez-Vanhard et al., 2021) or mounted to ground monitoring set-ups.

In 1960, the Television Infrared Observation Satellite (TIROS)-1 was launched into space as the very first observational satellite to monitor the Earth's meteorological condition (Tatem et al., 2008). Then in 1972, the Landsat 1 satellite was launched to monitor forest and agriculture resources (Tatem et al., 2008). Since then, the development of new sensors and the launch of new satellites have continuously progressed, increasing exponentially the quality and quantity of images of the Earth's surface.

There are two main types of satellite images depending on the sensor being used (Ali et al., 2016; Turner et al., 2003; Weiss et al., 2020). The optical remote sensing images are collected using passive sensors that receive the reflected natural radiation that bounces from the Earth's surface from the sun (Turner et al., 2003). Meanwhile, microwave remote sensing images are collected using active sensors that receive reflected artificial energy that is emitted from the sensor towards the Earth's surface and back. The received intensities of energy signals are recorded in channels or bands at distinct ranges of the electromagnetic spectrum and are interpreted using the radiative transfer principle (Drusch and Crewell, 2006; Turner et al., 2003).

Optical satellite images record object reflectance in the visible and infrared reflectance bands between 0.4 and 14 micrometres (μ m) spectral wavelengths (Figure 4). These reflectance values are related to the biophysical and biochemical vegetation properties that can be used to assess the presence of multiple vegetation stresses (Campbell et al., 2007; Carter, 1993; Ramoelo et al., 2015). On the other hand, microwave or radar images provide information for longer wavelengths at 0.75 to 30 centimetres (cm). The radar bands are linked mainly to the vegetation's physical and moisture properties (Figure 4) (Hill et al., 2005).

Optical images are more commonly used than microwave images, even though the presence of clouds hinders the clear view of features on the Earth (Ali et al., 2016; Hill et al., 2005). One reason for favoring optical images rather than microwave images is that microwave images require challenging and multiple pre-processing (Hill et al., 2005; Schumann, 2020). In addition, reliable images are hardly obtained in highly mountainous areas (Vreugdenhil et al., 2022).



Figure 4. Differences of reflectance band wavelengths between optical images and microwave images. Image was adapted from Turner et al., 2003.

Remote sensing data have varying characteristics that determine their use. Focusing on optical images, the main characteristics are spatial, temporal, spectral, and radiometric resolutions. The spatial resolution relates to the ground area covered by each pixel of the images. Belward and Skøien (2015) proposed five classes of spatial resolutions, namely (i) the low spatial resolution at 250.0 m and above, (ii) moderate resolution at 40.0 to 249.9 m, (iii) medium resolution at 10.0 to 39.9 m, (iv) the high resolution at 5.0 to 9.9 m; and lastly, (v) the very high spatial resolution for images at 0.5 to 4.9 m. The high and very high spatial resolutions allow for more detailed measurements of grassland features and have been used to assess the species richness and composition of grasslands (Fauvel et al., 2020; Hall et al., 2010; Lu and He, 2014). Then, the low spatial resolutions are commonly preferred for large or even global-scale grassland monitoring or mapping (Gong et al., 2013; Klein Goldewijk et al., 2007). The temporal resolution, on the other hand, is the number of days before the satellite revisits the same location on the Earth's surface. A satellite 1-day revisit is a high temporal resolution and allows the capture of the daily changes in vegetation conditions. The spectral resolution is the number and width of the reflectance bands (Govender et al., 2007). The higher number and finer width of bands

allow better identification of objects on the Earth's surface (Govender et al., 2007). Optical satellite images commonly usually encompass visible and near infrared wavelengths. Then the width of each band influences the accuracy of estimated vegetation properties. The radiometric resolution is the fourth but seldom presented characteristic. It is the distinction of grey-scale values, or bit size, for a satellite image reflectance band. The radiometric resolution determines thus the amount of information within each band.

The last decades have experienced the launch of multiple satellite missions orbiting the planet (Kramer and Cracknell, 2008). There are varying resolutions for each of the satellite sensors depending on the satellite mission (Ustin and Gamon, 2010) (Appendix A). Optical satellite sensors have varying spatial, temporal, and spectral resolutions (Figure 5). The Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) sensor, Landsat missions, and Sentinel 2 satellite are among the top five satellite sensors for grassland monitoring (Reinermann et al., 2020). These satellite images provide global spatial coverage and are easy to use and provide derived products that are made directly available like atmospherically corrected images, gross primary productivity, land cover, and global water reservoir, which are all freely accessible. The continuous missions, operation, distribution, and no-charge access to remote sensing products are due to government funding of respective countries (Zhu et al., 2019) or organizations. New satellite sensors like the Vegetation and Environment monitoring on a New MicroSatellite (VENuS) have limited mission coverage (Upreti et al., 2020), but improved characteristics like high spatial and temporal resolutions of 5m and 2 days (Baba et al., 2020). Meanwhile, the very high spatial and temporal resolution satellite sensors are generally managed by private companies and entail additional cost to acquire (i.e., Quickbird and WorldView by Digital Globe; IKONOS and GeoEye by Space Imaging) (Bayik et al., 2016).

Among the existing remote sensing data, this Ph.D. thesis used satellite-based remote sensing to assess the response of grasslands to drought across multiple years. Doing so, it took advantage of the freely accessible optical images, which encourages duplicability of the thesis without additional cost. The best spatial and temporal satellite image resolutions that support the thesis objectives (see Section C) were considered. It was with close consideration of the inherent limitations and trade-offs of satellite image resolution. The medium spatial resolution of Landsat is paired with 16 days of revisit time. Then the high spatial and temporal resolutions of Sentinel 2 are constrained by the short temporal operation for image acquisition.

43



Figure 5. Spatial, temporal, and spectral resolutions of selected optical satellite-sensors used for ecological and environmental studies. The resolution values were collected from the descriptions of each satellite-sensors or missions. A summary is presented in Appendix A.

b. The link between vegetation properties and satellite reflectance

The electromagnetic radiations received by the sensors are key to determining vegetation properties (Campbell et al., 2007; Carter, 1993; Ramoelo et al., 2015). Electromagnetic radiation is first emitted by the sun. Upon contact with the vegetation surface, the different wavelengths of electromagnetic radiation are either reflected, absorbed, or transmitted (Figure 6; Summy et al., 2003). Depending on the leaf chlorophyll content, the radiations in the green and near infrared regions of the electromagnetic spectrum are mostly reflected while in the red and blue they are absorbed by the pigments and converted into chemical energy (i.e., the photosynthesis) Gitelson et al., 2002). The reflected GREEN band explains the visible green color of the leaves. However, if the leaves are under stress, such as drought, the activity of the chlorophyll layers either stops or declines. This causes a change in the leaves from green to yellow or brown. As a consequence, the decrease in leaf conditions can be detected by remote sensing due to the lower absorption of RED and BLUE reflectance and the drop in reflected GREEN and NIR (Gitelson et al., 2002).



Figure 6. Radiative transfer principle of the visible and infrared reflectance bands on a leaf surface. Depending on the characteristics of the object's surface, the amount of absorbed, reflected, and transmitted energy will change. A healthy leaf will absorb more RED and reflect more NIR reflectance. Image was adapted from Summy et al., 2003.

The radiative transfer theory establishes the link between the plant chlorophyll content and satellite reflectance bands. This theory mathematically accounts for energy conservation with matter (Knyazikhin et al., 2005). Accordingly, there are radiative transfer models (RTM) that use the reflected solar radiation from matter to generate their reflectance signature (Figure 7). Concerning plants, RTMs have been developed at the leaf level and canopy level (Mohammed et al., 2019). Apart from the chlorophyll contents, the leaf reflectance signature depends on brown pigments, dry matter, carotenoid contents, and leaf equivalent water thickness (LEWT) (Jacquemoud, 1993; Jacquemoud and Baret, 1990). The canopy reflectance further depends on soil wetness information, leaf area index (LAI), and leaf angle distribution parameters. Finally, the reflectance signatures are affected by external parameters namely the satellite and solar angles (Jacquemoud, 1993; Verhoef, 1984).



Figure 7. Spectral signature of two different grassland health conditions. The spectral signatures were generated using the of the PROSAIL radiative transfer model, where only the chlorophyll contents (Chl a+b), leaf area index (LAI), and leaf equivalent water thickness (LEWT) were contrastingly tuned. The shaded wavelength ranges represent the Sentinel 2 reflectance bands as an example. Along the electromagnetic spectrum, the visible bands (Red, Green, and Blue) are associated with the Chl a+b (Jacquemoud et al., 2000). While the NIR and SWIR bands are sensitive to LAI and LEWT, respectively.

The relationship between the spectral signatures and the vegetation properties at the leaf and canopy levels was the basis for the development of spectral or vegetation indices. The vegetation indices are transformations, using mathematical equations of selected reflectance bands to acquire proximal information on the properties of ground vegetation. For instance, the so-called Normalize Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI; Rouse et al., 1974) is used as a standardized estimate of vegetation productivity and greenness. It is derived using the RED and NIR reflectance bands, which are sensitive to the leaf chlorophyll pigments and LAI. The vegetation moisture content, on the other hand, can be estimated using the Land Surface Water Index (LSWI; Xiao et al., 2004). The LSWI also uses the NIR, which responds to the structural properties of the vegetation, and the SWIR1, which responds to the leaf water status. A large number of vegetation indices have been developed for estimating vegetation greenness, productivity, cover, senescence, chlorophyll content, moisture content, and plant nitrogen content (Bajgain et al., 2015; Davidson et al., 2006; Wu, 2014).

The potential of satellite remote sensing in quantifying and monitoring grassland properties has been largely demonstrated (Ali et al., 2016; Reinermann et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2022). The relationship between vegetation reflectance has been assessed for several grassland properties including productivity, moisture content, and stress conditions (Andreatta et al., 2022a; Bajgain et al., 2015). For example, Zha et al. (2003) used Landsat-derived NDVI to map the percent grass cover of semi-natural grasslands in western China. Using a classification confusion matrix, they obtained an overall accuracy of 89%. With the use of radiative transfer model inversions and Landsat data, Yin et al. (2016) obtained an R^2 of 0.85, with a root-mean-square error (RMSE) of 0.43 between the estimated and field-measured canopy chlorophyll content of arid grasslands. Using Sentinel 2 for the model inversion, Schwieder et al. (2020) showed an R^2 of 0.90, with a normalized RMSE of 0.47 between the estimated and measured biomass of a temperate managed grassland. Then with Sentinel 2 time series observations, Kolecka et al. (2018) mapped and detected mowing events in the grasslands of Switzerland with a classification overall accuracy of 77% (metric from Congalton, 1991).

The reflectance signals of satellite optical images provide significant estimates of biophysical and biochemical vegetation properties that are susceptible to being impacted by droughts. Grassland properties can be retrieved from vegetation reflectance with vegetation indices and the inversion of radiative transfer models of the leaf and canopy among other methods. Several authors have demonstrated the successful application of remote sensing to assess drought impacts. However, apart from the various review on the use of remote sensing for grassland monitoring, there is a lack of a focused review on the assessment methods for grassland response to drought. This review gap limits the comparison between assessment studies and prevents the selection of appropriate methods in answering key grassland responses to drought questions.

C. Thesis objectives and plan

Drought events are expected to be more frequent and intense due to climate change. At the same time, this increases the threat of drought to the sustainability of natural ecosystems and agroecosystems. Among the affected agroecosystems, managed grasslands cover about one-third of the global terrestrial areas and are distributed in almost all biogeographic regions of the world. Since they provide key ecosystems services and host a wide range of biodiversity, the threats of drought on managed grasslands motivates numerous research in various scientific fields (agronomy, ecology, ecophysiology, environmental management, and related fields) with the ultimate goal to provide warning for imminent drought impacts and promote measures for grassland resistance and recovery from drought.

A large body of research analyzed the impacts of drought on grasslands by setting controlled experiments in pots, mesocosms, or grassland fields. They provided a better understanding of the sequence of eco-physiological processes occurring during droughts and recovery. They further acknowledge the influence of multiple factors modulating the resistance and resilience capacity of grasslands which can be categorized into pedoclimatic factors, vegetation diversity, and management practices. However, the controlled and constrained set-ups of experiments have led to shortfalls, especially in their low spatio-temporal coverage of grassland responses and the application of artificial

conditions, which limit the generalization of their results to real-life conditions. Satellite remote sensing can fill these shortfalls as they cover large spatio-temporal extents and represent vegetation properties sensitive to drought impacts. Together with time series of drought severities derived from basic meteorological records (precipitation, temperature, radiations, and/or potential evapotranspiration), satellite image time series can assess the dynamics of several vegetation properties in response to drought.

The primary motivation of this thesis was to take advantage of the potential of satellite image time series for improving knowledge on the response of managed grasslands to drought in real-life conditions. To do so, this thesis pursues three main objectives.

- a. The recent developments of remote sensing based environmental monitoring goes with various and scattered scientific developments. There is thus a need to first review the current approaches developed for assessing drought impacts on grasslands to select the best analytical designs specific to the two following objectives.
- b. The central objective is to quantify the variability of grassland sensitivity to drought at a regional scale and identify the drivers of such variability using satellite image time series of 30 years. The Massif central in France is used as a case study where managed grasslands cover a large geographic area, which is among the highest in Western Europe.
- c. Since long-term optical image time series are usually of low frequency, due to cloud cover and low revisits, they can hardly be used to decompose the response of grasslands to drought into its resistance and resilience components. The last objective aims to develop a more comprehensive assessment of grassland response to drought by the assimilation of satellite data with a simple model of grassland growth. This requires detailed knowledge of grassland management events. In this regard, a farm experiment conducted between 2016 and 2020 was used as a case study.

The design of this Ph.D. thesis (Figure 8) is centralized on the dynamics of grassland vegetation properties in response to drought. The framework identifies the influence of environmental, biological, climatic, and anthropogenic factors on vegetation dynamics. It highlights how different sources of data, namely: satellite images, field measurements, and meteorological data can be combined to better understand vegetation dynamics during and after droughts.



Figure 8. Conceptual diagram relating the drought impacts, their drivers, and ways to assess it with remote sensing data of the Ph.D. thesis.

This Ph.D. thesis has six main components. This General introduction is followed by the General data and methods, which describe the data used, their sources, and some analyses conducted to justify their selection for the respective research objectives. The three chapters of this thesis correspond to the specific objectives. Chapter 1 is the review classification and analysis of the existing remote sensing approaches to assess grassland response to drought. Chapter 2 is a regional-scale assessment of grassland sensitivity to drought. It presents the variability of grassland sensitivities within the Massif central regions and the relative importance of the pedoclimate, vegetation diversity, and management practices in modulating these sensitivities. Then, Chapter 3 aims at providing a more comprehensive assessment of drought impacts on vegetation dynamics within the influence of grassland management and plant phenology. It starts with the presentation of a parsimonious process-based model of grassland growth assimilated with Sentinel 2 data. As a result of a simulation protocol, results on the resistance and resilience capacity of mown and grazed grasslands are presented. The final component of this thesis is General synthesis.

As a logical flow (Figure 9), Chapter 1 (the review of grassland response to drought assessment using remote sensing) supports the selection of analytical methods for Chapters 2 (regional scale assessment of grassland sensitivity to drought) and 3 (local scale grassland response to isolated drought

impact). Chapter 3 further attempts to move beyond the limitations of Chapter 2 inherent to the use of long satellite times series over regional scales.



Figure 9. Connectivity of the three research chapters toward the main objective of this Ph.D. thesis.

GENERAL DATA AND METHODS

GENERAL DATA AND METHODS

This component presents additional details on preliminary analyses conducted for the selection of the best input data (especially satellite products) and methods. Specifically, I focus here on the second and third objectives of the Ph.D. thesis (i.e., data analysis at the Massif central area and data from local experiments at the Herbipôle experimental site). The second objective, or Chapter 2, aimed to assess the variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought from pedoclimatic, vegetation diversity, and management practices at the regional scale. Then the third objective, or Chapter 3, aimed to evaluate the responses of managed grasslands to isolated drought impact at the local scale. The first research objective, or Chapter 1, was a literature review of the assessment approaches of grassland response to drought using remote sensing. The initial step for Chapter 1 involved the examination of published journal articles from the Web of Science. Additional details are provided in Chapter 1.

D. Study areas

Overall, the research activities of this Ph.D. thesis were conducted within the Massif central region (45°18'48.10"N, 2°54'30.43"E; Figure 10) of France at two spatial scales. The first study, dedicated to objective 2 (Chapter 2), is at the regional scale and it aimed to capture the "real-life" conditions of managed grasslands. Located at the central portion of the Massif central, the wide area coverage supports the availability of heterogeneous environmental, climatic, and soil properties needed for the second objective. The other study, dedicated to objective 3 (Chapter 3), is at the local scale, as it requires detailed and accurate grassland monitoring data. Contrary to the regional study, the closely managed grassland parcels provide homogenous but still realistic field conditions, which are necessary to address the third objective.

1. The Massif central region

The Massif central region is administratively composed of the Auvergne-Rhône-Alpes, Bourgogne-Franche-Comté, Nouvelle-Aquitaine, and Occitanie regions. It is a mountainous area with 85,000 km² of coverage that features highly heterogeneous topographic, geologic, pedologic, climatic, and vegetation characteristics (Galliot et al., 2020; Hulin et al., 2019a). The region has 41,000 km² of agricultural land areas (*Surface Agricole Utile*, SAU). Where about 60% of the SAU is always covered by perennial grasslands (*Surface Toujours en Herbe*, STH; Agreste, 2017). These grasslands host relatively high biodiversity that supports the quality and quantity of agricultural products from the region (Galliot et al., 2020; Hulin et al., 2019b).



Figure 10. Location map of the two study sites for Chapters 2 (regional spatial scale) and 3 (local spatial scale) objectives of this thesis. Data sources: Massif central boundary: https://www.prefectures-regions.gouv.fr/auvergne-rhone-alpes; and country boundaries: https://datacatalog.worldbank.org/.

The Massif central has an average elevation of 700 meters above sea level (a.s.l.) with the lowest and highest elevations at 300 and 1,885 m a.s.l., respectively. The region is comprised of about 11 soil units (Appendix B). The cambisols, which represent 62% of the region [European Soil Data Centre (ESDAC); Panagos et al., 2022], are widely distributed within the region. The central and eastern portions of the region are of volcanic origin and date to the early 65 million years (Gorshkov and Gaudemer, 2019; Soubrand-Colin et al., 2007; Quantin, 2004). Located in the central and eastern portions are andosols and podzols, which were each 6% of the whole Massif central (ESDAC; Panagos et al., 2022; Quantin, 2004). To the northern part of the region are albeluvisols (6%), phaeozems (<1%), and vertisols (< 1%); then to the west and south are luvisols (6%). Present also in the southern part are regosols (1%). The leptosols (6%) are situated in the central and southern portions of the region (ESDAC; Panagos et al., 2022). The histosols (< 1%) were scattered sparsely across the Massif central,

and the fluvisols (2%) were found along the river channels of the region (ESDAC; Panagos et al., 2022). The formation and distribution of these soil units are attributed partly to the varying effects of long-term climatic conditions on the pyroclastic materials of the region (Quantin, 2004; Soubrand-Colin et al., 2007). Then the climatic zones across the Massif central varies from oceanic in the northern and western areas, mountainous and semi-continental for the central areas, and Mediterranean near the southeastern areas (Joly et al., 2010).

The parcel data of 143 temperate managed grasslands, with 396 corresponding vegetation plots, were available for the Massif central region. The grassland parcels are composed of 95% permanent grasslands and 5% temporary grasslands. These are topographically distributed between 272 to 1,442 m a.s.l. with an average elevation of 890 m a.s.l. The parcels have surface areas that range from 0.06 to 36.61 hectares (ha) with an average area of 4.12 ha. The implemented herbage uses among the parcels were grazing (52%) and mowing (48%). Being located in the central part of the Massif central region, the dominant soil types of the grassland parcels are andosols (45%), followed by cambisols (30%) and podzols (14%). The remaining 11% were combinations of leptosols, luvisols, fluvisols, and albeluvisols. The vegetation plots were irregularly distributed among the grassland parcels based on the parcel surface area. The sizes of the vegetation plots range from 2 to 100 square meters (m²) with an average of 25 m². In each plot, phytosociological surveys were conducted together with the characterization of the plot elevation, slope, and aspect.

2. The Herbipôle experimental site

The Herbipôle is an experimental Unit of the French National Research Institute for Agriculture, Food, and Environment (INRAE). It implements farm-scale experiments for research projects. The Herbipôle experimental site (45°38'7.64"N, 2°45'4.77"E; Figure 10), in Laqueuille, Puy-de-Dôme, France, is one of the three sites managed by the Herbipôle Unit. This site is composed of permanent grasslands, distributed between 1,000 and 1,450 m a.s.l., and covers a total area of 560 ha with homogenous basaltic andosols (Prache, 2017; Sepchat et al., 2020; Vazeille et al., 2018). The climate is characterized by an annual precipitation of 1,100 mm and an annual mean temperature of 8.0°C. Despite, the homogenous environmental and climatic conditions of the site, some parcels are bordered by trees, shrubs, and rock surfaces.

The data used for the purpose of this Ph.D. thesis were part of the *Systèmes d'élevage ALlaitants herbagers: Adapter le type génétique et MIXer les espèces pour renforcer leur durabilité* (SALAMIX) project implemened on the Herbipôle site in Laqueuille. Conducted between May 2015 and November 2020, the SALAMIX project has access to 118 ha of permanent grassland managed under an organic farming system (Prache et al., in press; Vazeille et al., 2018; Veysset et al., 2016). There are 33

paddocks in all, and the area of each paddock ranged from 1.52 to 8.55 ha with an average of 3.56 ha. About 18 paddocks were solely used for grazing, while 15 paddocks were dominantly used for mowing followed by grazing depending on the remaining grassland biomass.

E. Field measurements of managed grasslands

To address the second and third objectives of this thesis, various field measurements were necessary with varying types of information and level of detail. The assessment of variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought using remote sensing (Chapter 2) required several farm observations with heterogeneous grassland parcel characteristics related to pedoclimate, vegetation diversity, and management practices. However, the high number of observations, such as for management, was at the expense of detailed and continuous field monitoring, and data collection. Meanwhile, the evaluation of managed grassland resistance and resilience to drought impact using a process-based model (Chapter 3) required more detailed parcel data. For example, the type of herbage use, and the specific dates and duration of use were essential in creating the dynamic model of vegetation growth. To summarize, the field data used in this thesis were based on four completed research projects implemented within the Massif central region. All the projects monitored temperate managed grasslands at varying scales, details, and durations.

1. Data for regional assessment of drought sensitivity drivers

A large set of data was collected during the course of three projects implemented at regional scale in the Massif central from 2008 to 2019. Specifically, these were the (i) Prairies Appellations d'Origine Protégées (Prairies AOP; 2008 – 2012), (ii) Vers une approche Territoriale de l'Autonomie Fourragère et des services rendus par les systèmes fourragers à dominante herbagère en production fromagère AOP de Montagne (ATOUS; 2014 – 2017), and (iii) Les prairies du Massif central, un Atout Economique pour cOnstruire des systèmes d'éLEvage performants (AEOLE; 2016 – 2019). Implemented at different durations, the AEOLE project consolidated the parcel data from the Prairies AOP and ATOUS projects. The AEOLE then continued to characterize the managed grassland and focused on demonstrating the importance of grassland diversity for improving the quality and production of the main agricultural products of the region, which are milk and cheese (Carrère et al., 2012; Hulin et al., 2019a). The three projects monitored a total of 143 parcels from 70 grassland farms, using the same standardized protocols (Galliot et al., 2020). Each parcel was initially selected to represent the heterogeneity of vegetation, soil, climate, and farming system in the region. While phytosociological surveys were conducted in 396 vegetation plots. Other criteria for the farm selection were the willingness of the farmers to participate in the projects and the lack of change in their respective management practices for several years (Galliot et al., 2020).

For each of the 143 parcels, there were four conducted surveys depicting (i) farm livestock and management practices; (ii) soil physical and chemical properties; (iii) vegetation composition and phytosociology; and (iv) biomass yield and forage quality (Galliot et al., 2020). For this thesis, the focus was on management practices, soil characterization, and vegetation composition.

The management practices were monitored from 2008 to 2009 for herbage use and nitrogen fertilization. Then from 2016 to 2017, additional Nitrogen (N) fertilization practices were recorded. The Prairies AOP project first gathered from the farms the amount of N fertilization inputs (i.e., organic and inorganic), common management practices (i.e., grazing or mowing), and the dates of management implementation from the first to the third use, if possible (Galliot et al., 2020). The parcels received an average total (organic and inorganic) N of 80.18 kg ha⁻¹ per year and were used at least once per year either by mowing or grazing.

The INRAE – UREP protocols were implemented for the soil analysis of 138 parcels. Each parcel was represented by one homogeneous soil sample, which consisted of four samples taken from the topsoil (0 -10 cm) layer during the fall season (Galliot et al., 2020). The soil pH of the parcels ranged from 4.9 to 7.3 with an average of 5.8. Soil pH, percent soil organic carbon and nitrogen, and carbon to nitrogen ratio for all parcels were calculated after measurements by elemental analysis (Carlo-Erba, It). The soil samplings were conducted under two projects and both during the fall seasons in 2009 and 2016 (Galliot et al., 2020). Most of the extracted soil properties, such as soil texture (i.e., percent clay, sand, loam); soil organic matter content; bulk density; potassium, magnesium, and phosphorus contents; rock origin, and rock type, were collected for 74 of the 143 parcels under the Prairies AOP project in 2009 (Galliot et al., 2020).

The *Conservatoire Botanique National du Massif central* (CBN) organized and processed the vegetation surveys from involved botanical conservatories (Le Hénaff, 2021). Specifically, the CBN Massif central surveyed the grasslands within Puy-de-Dôme, Ardèche, Cantal, and Haute-Loire; the CBN Midi Pyrénées surveyed Aveyron; and CBN Méditerranéen surveyed Lozère. About 400 vegetation plots were assessed for phytosociological analysis (Galliot et al., 2020). However, the lack of recorded geographic location resulted in the use of 396 vegetation plots in this thesis. The phytosociological approach implied variations in the size of the vegetation plot being surveyed. In this case, the abundance of plant species was recorded in plots that ranged from 2 to 100 m² with a mean of 25 m² (Galliot et al., 2020), while the number of recorded plant species per plot ranged from 5 to 55 species (Galliot et al., 2020). The AEOLE project determined the species richness and rarity index of each plot. Then for this thesis, the computation of the taxonomic Shannon diversity and Simpson's

diversity indices were based on the phytosociological survey data. While the traits for the plant community weight mean (CWM), and functional dispersion (Fdis) were extracted from existing trait databases of Baseflor (Julve, 1998) and DIVGRASS (Carboni et al., 2016; Violle et al., 2015).

In this thesis, the data from the three consolidated regional projects provided the collection of grassland management practices; soil and topographic conditions; and vegetation taxonomic diversity and species richness of the parcels and plots. These factors were hypothesized to show direct and indirect influences on the response to drought.

2. Data for grassland productivity modelling under drought conditions

The third objective of this Ph.D. thesis, which focuses on the evaluation of the resistance and resilience of managed grasslands to drought, was possible with the data collected from the Herbipôle experimental site in Laqueuille, Puy-de-Dôme, France during the SALAMIX project between 2015 and 2020. SALAMIX evaluated the economic, agricultural, and environmental performance of three farming systems of sheep, cattle, and their combination. The grassland paddocks were dedicated to one of the three tested farming systems for the entire course of the project and with either grazing or mowing treatments. The project was composed of 11 parcels (6 pastures and 5 mowed parcels) per farming system (Vazeille et al., 2018; Veysset et al., 2016) or a total of 33 paddocks with a total paddock area of 117.47 ha.

The SALAMIX project conducted regular monitoring of the grassland paddock productivity and management. The vegetation height was measured from about 80 to 100 equally spaced points per ha along a fixed transect line inside the paddocks. Either a herbometer or a stick was used for the measurements. The herbometer estimates the vegetation height based on the pressed volume of vegetation to estimate biomass combined with density. While for the meter stick, the recorded height is based on the highest part of the vegetation touching the stick and on the identification of touched vegetal organ to evaluate the vegetation structure. The biomass of each paddock was obtained from at least four quadrats with a dimension of 70 cm x 70 cm. The geographic coordinate location of these quadrats allowed the repeated sampling at or near the same point. The field measurements of grassland biomass and height were conducted four to six times annually before the entry of animals or the date of cutting. The detailed paddock management data were based on the diligent recording of the mowing duration and cutting dates.

Together with the SALAMIX data, this thesis used the HerbValo method (Delagarde et al., 2017; 2018) to determine the mowing and grazing impacts. Developed in 2015, HerbValo is a computational method that (i) directly accounts for the removed biomass from cutting events, and (ii) considers the number of grazing days; animal daily grass intake; grazing severity, and supplemental feeding to the

estimate grazing impact (Delagarde et al., 2017; 2018). Equation 1 shows the simple HerbValo formula for one harvest or cycle (Delagarde et al., 2017).

$$I(t) = [\{(CI/VE)corSEV\} - \sum (QC_i \times TS_i)]$$
 Equation 1

Where: the grass intake (I) for a given time is based on the grazing rate [ratio of animal intake capacity (CI) and grass ingestability (VE)] and grazing severity. Then the total amount of supplementary fodder (e.g., dried hays), which is based on the quantity of consumed complementary fodder (QC) and rate of substation between grass and fodder (TS), is further deducted to get the grass intake (Delagarde et al., 2017).

Chapter 3 took advantage of the rarely available detailed management calendar dates. To evaluate the resistance and resilience of managed grassland to drought, the initial investigation started with six paddocks that equally represented the mowing and grazing treatments. These were used in the creation, calibration, and evaluation of the vegetation growth dynamic model.

F. Climate data and drought severity

Consistent with the use of different field-measured data, Chapters 2 and 3 used climate data with varying spatial coverage and accuracy. Chapter 2 required regional climate data for the assessment of the drought severity of all grassland parcels and vegetation plots, while Chapter 3 benefited from the high accuracy of climatic variable records from a field meteorological station.

1. Climate data records

The first climate data source was the *Système d'Analyse Fournissant des Renseignements Atmosphériques à la Neige* (SAFRAN) data model, which provided hourly to daily gap-free records of climatic variables, as early as 1958. The Météo-France, specifically the *Centre National de Recherches Météorologiques* (CNRM) Unit produced the SAFRAN data, which covers the whole of France. SAFRAN consists of 8 km-sized grids in a Network Common Data Form (NetCF) format and has a Lambert-II coordinate system projection (Durand et al., 1993; Le Moigne, 2002). Accordingly, the SAFRAN data can be converted into other data formats, such as shapefiles or raster, and transformed into table data file format (Le Moigne, 2002). This climate data model originated from climatic variables from ground meteorological stations, which were then interpolated to estimate the climate across mountainous regions covered in snow (Durand et al., 1993). The specific climatic

parameters accessed for Chapter 2 were the Penman-Monteith potential evapotranspiration (in mm); solid and liquid precipitation (in mm); and mean, maximum, and minimum temperatures (in °C).

The second source of climate data was the multiple field meteorological stations distributed across France and managed by Météo-France and their respective partners. The meteorological stations provide hourly to daily climate records of precipitation (in mm); mean, maximum, and minimum temperature (in degree C); calculated solar radiation (in J cm⁻²); and Penman-Monteith potential evapotranspiration (in mm). Overall, the oldest climatic records were from 1981, however, the temporal length and availability of observations vary between stations.

Chapter 2 was supported by the spatial and temporal coverage of the SAFRAN climate data model. Amidst the available meteorological stations within the Massif central, the distribution of the stations was unable to cover all the managed grassland parcels. For instance, the distance between the parcels and meteorological stations often largely exceeded 8 km (Figure 11). The length of climate records per meteorological station varied depending on the date of establishment and operation. With the SAFRAN data model, all parcels have more than 35 years of daily climatic variable records. The World Meteorological Organization (WMO) recommended a 30-year length of climate data to establish the climate normal condition for meteorological studies (Marchi et al., 2020; Rigal et al. 2019).

The SAFRAN data were compared to the field meteorological station measurements to determine its accuracy and to assess its suitability for the regional assessment of drought severity. A total of 91 out of 187 meteorological stations were situated within the Massif central region (Figure 11). Each SAFRAN grid with corresponding meteorological stations was paired and correlated. Multiple meteorological stations within the same SAFRAN grid were averaged before the correlation procedure. The obtained R^2 for daily precipitation, potential evapotranspiration, and mean temperature were 0.84, 0.88, and 0.96, respectively.

Chapter 3 used the climate records from the Laqueuille field meteorological station (45°38'35.88"N; 2°44'3.73"E), which was within the Herbipôle experimental site. The Laqueuille meteorological station provided site-specific daily climate records as early as July 1995. Despite the 25-year length of climate observations, the field-collected climate data were used to obtain high accuracy in the drought severity assessment. The meteorological station climate data allowed the more realistic simulation of the process-based dynamic model of vegetation growth.

59



Figure 11. Location of the field meteorological stations within and outside the Massif central region and the grassland 143 parcels in relation to the extracted SAFRAN data for this thesis. The SAFRAN data is consist of 8 km grids.

2. Drought severity assessment

A modified daily version of the Standardized Precipitation and Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI) was used to assess the meteorological drought severities of both Chapters 2 and 3. The classic SPEI is based on the long-term monthly time series of the climatic water balance (D_i), which is the difference between precipitation (P) and potential evapotranspiration (PET). Using the available Penman-Monteith PET, the temperature, humidity, radiation, and wind speed were incorporated in the computation of drought severity. Moreover, SPEI allows the integration of climatic water balance at different timescales from 1, 3, 6, 9, 12 to 24 months (Beguería et al., 2014; Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010). An annual drought timescale corresponds to the integration of the climatic water balance for a given month and the 11 previous months.

$$D_i = P_i - PET_i$$
 Equation 2

where
$$i = \text{month/s}$$

The SPEI standardization process involves the fitting of the D time series into a log-logistic distribution using a three-parameter probability distribution function. The probability distribution of

D is then standardized to obtain the SPEI value using the approximation of Abramowitz and Stegun (1965). The statistical distribution seeks to define the normal expectation. Negative SPEI values indicate a deficit from the water balance normal conditions. SPEI values lower than the -1.0 threshold are considered drought months. Accordingly, positive SPEI values indicate a surplus of precipitation.

However, the monthly drought assessment of SPEI presents concerns that are unaligned with Chapters 2 and 3 of this thesis. First, the abrupt change in SPEI values between consecutive months (Figure 12. a) excludes the detection of short-term (< 1 month) grassland response to drought (Salehnia et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2015). Then the monthly inputs result in a lesser number of observations that lead to a weak goodness-of-fit in the probability distribution of climatic water balance during the SPEI standardization step if the time series is too short (Figure 12. b). In this respect, it is recommended by WMO to use at least a 30-year long time series or at best a 50-year long time series.

To address the concerns regarding the abrupt change and the weak goodness-of-fit, I changed the climatic water balance time resolution from monthly to daily and calculated the daily SPEI using a moving window. To do so, I used the method from Russo et al. (2014) where instead of accounting for just the same dates across years (Equation 3), the calculation for a given day includes the same date across the years and days before and after (Equation 4). In the equations, A represents the dataset of climatic water balance (P - PET), with d the given day or date of interest; y the year, and i is the considered days around d. I presented in Figure 12 the comparison between the classic and the modified SPEI and the improved probability distribution goodness-of-fit of the climatic water balance.

2020

$$A_{d} = \bigcup_{y=1996}^{2020} D_{y,d}$$
Equation 3
$$A_{i} = \bigcup_{y=1996}^{2020} \bigcup_{i=d-15}^{d+15} D_{y,i}$$
Equation 4

Figure 12 shows the improvements between the classic and modified SPEI. The change from monthly to daily time resolution captured the minor drying and wetting events and showed better transitions between months. Then the new set of data increased the number of observations and improved the goodness-of-fit for the log-logistic distribution step in the SPEI standardization procedure.



Figure 12. Comparison of (a) the trajectories of the SPEI-1 and modified SPEI-30 at the 1-month equivalent timescales for the sample years of 2009 and 2019, and (b) the probability distributions focusing on April, May, and June. The modified SPEI improved the time resolution, SPEI transition (highlighted with the solid box) and goodness-of-fit of the probability distribution for the month of April (highlighted with the dashed-line box). The climatic data used in the assessment was from the Laqueuille meteorological station record from 1996 to 2020.

In summary, the SAFRAN data allowed the assessment of drought severity of all the grassland parcels and plots distributed across the Massif central region for Chapter 2. While the site-specific meteorological station near the local farm study site provided the much-needed high-accuracy drought severity assessment for Chapter 3. The modified daily SPEI was used to quantify the drought severity for both Chapters.

G. Satellite image time series

This thesis is highly motivated by the potential of satellite remote sensing products and techniques for vegetation monitoring. In this section, I justify the use of optical satellite images, present the selection of satellite data from two main sources, and highlight the reflectance-based remote sensing techniques that were implemented for Chapters 2 and 3 of this thesis.

1. Optical satellite images for the study

The optical satellite images were selected over the microwave images based on the availability of satellite data and the multiple vegetation properties that can be estimated from reflectance bands. Accordingly, the selected images were the satellite sensors of the Landsat missions, Sentinel 2 MSI, and VENµS (Vegetation and Environment monitoring on a New MicroSatellite; Hagolle et al., 2010).

The Chapter 2 regional assessment of grassland sensitivity to drought required long-term satellite observations in establishing the baseline reference condition of the grassland parcels in the Massif central. Landsat missions demonstrated comparability in their basic spatial, temporal, and spectral resolutions and improvements in radiometric resolution through the years (Wulder et al., 2022). The 30 m spatial resolution of Landsat depicted vegetation heterogeneities among the parcels, which were more than 30 m apart. Despite the inability of the Landsat 16-day temporal resolution to capture the daily and even weekly changes in grassland conditions, Landsat missions compensated with the long temporal range of 50 years starting from 1972 to 2022. The Landsat spectral resolution allows the computation of vegetation indices with the availability of the visible reflectance bands of RED, GREEN, and BLUE; and the near- and shortwave-infrared bands (NIR and SWIR).

The Chapter 3 local scale evaluation of managed grassland resistance and resilience to drought, on the other hand, requires satellite images with medium to high spatial and temporal resolutions. The high spatial resolution decreases the probability of mixed pixels in representing grasslands on the ground. Mixed pixels refer to the convergence of multiple land cover features in a one-pixel unit (Foschi, 1994). Then to maximize the use of the detailed management records of the SALAMIX project, temporal resolutions higher than a week allowed the finer detection of grassland development.

Sentinel 2 images have medium spatial resolutions of 10, 20, or 60 m depending on the reflectance band. Sentinel 2 is composed of two Earth-orbiting satellites that were launched separately on 23 June 2015 and 7 March 2017. Each satellite has a 10-day revisit, which when combined improves the temporal resolution to 5 days. In terms of spectral resolution, Sentinel 2 has 13 bands, ranging from visible to shortwave infrared. Compared to Landsat images, Sentinel 2 has a red-edge band, which improves the estimation of chlorophyll (Delegido et al., 2011). Thus far, Sentinel 2 is a freely available remote sensing product with overall high spatial, temporal, and spectral resolutions.

Lastly, another satellite mission considered in this thesis was the Vegetation and Environment monitoring on a New MicroSatellite or VENµS. This satellite was jointly developed by the French *Centre National d'Etudes Spatiales* (CNES) and the Israeli Space Agency. It collected high spatial resolution (5 m) images with high revisit frequency (2 days) from 2017 to 2020. The VENµS spatial coverage is limited to 130 selected experimental sites distributed globally (Baba et al., 2020; Bessin et al., 2022; Upreti et al., 2020). VENµS is composed of 12 spectral bands, which uniquely have a digital

elevation model band (Baba et al., 2020; Upreti et al., 2020). The visible, red-edge, and near-infrared bands are also available with VEN μ S similar to Sentinel 2. Unfortunately, the moisture-sensitive shortwave infrared bands are lacking.

Each satellite image satisfies the research requirements of Chapters 2 and 3. Specifically, the longterm temporal range of Landsat missions and the high frequency of revisit of Sentinel 2 and VEN μ S. The comparison of the spatial and temporal resolutions, and temporal range of Landsat, Sentinel 2, and VEN μ S images are summarized in Figure 13. While the spectral resolutions and equivalent reflectance bands of the three satellite images are summarized in Appendix C.



Figure 13. Comparison of the medium to high spatial resolution (from left to right) of Landsat 8, Sentinel 2, and VENµS satellite images. The images show paddocks from the SALAMIX project at the Herbipôle experimental site (Laqueuille, Puy-de-Dôme, France).

2. Comparative assessment of satellite data sources

The Landsat and Sentinel 2 images are freely accessible from the official websites of host agencies (e.g., https://earthexplorer.usgs.gov/ for Landsat and Sentinel 2; and https://scihub.copernicus.eu/dhus for Sentinel 2). Similarly, online cloud services, such as the Google Earth Engine (GEE; Amani et al., 2020; Gorelick et al., 2017), Amazon Web Services (AWS; Ferreira et al., 2020; Lee et al., 2010), the Microsoft Planetary Computer, and the Data and Information Access Services (DIAS), store and grant access to the consolidated collections of multiple remote sensing data and products. National research organizations, such as the Theia Data and Service Center (https://www.theia-land.fr; referred to in this thesis as Theia) for France, implement improvements and provide similar access to data and products

generally intended for the needs and use of their country. For instance, the VENµS (Vegetation and Environment monitoring on a New MicroSatellite) data, which was under the joint Israel and France partnership, are accessible through the Theia website.

This thesis considered two remote sensing product sources, namely the GEE and Theia due to the cloud services and implemented image improvements, respectively. Initially, the goal was to use only one source of remote sensing data. However, the lack of concrete references regarding the advantages and disadvantages of each source prevented the selection of only one data source. Thus, part of this thesis involved the comparative assessment of GEE and Theia.

To do so, the comparative assessment used Landsat images covering the Herbipôle experimental site in Laqueuille, Puy de Dôme, Massif central, France. The obtained Landsat images were cropped to an extent of 2.7 km x 3.6 km, which covers the SALAMIX parcels (Figure 14). Then the parameters considered in the assessment were (i) the download and storage requirements, (ii) the image availability, (iii) the spatial agreement, (iv) the cloud and shadow masking algorithm, and (v) the reflectance band values.



Figure 14. Extent of the SALAMIX paddocks featuring the NDVI values. The NDVI was generated from the 7 January 2015 Landsat 8 image, which was downloaded from Theia Data and Service Center.

For the first criterion of image download and storage requirement, Landsat images from 01 January 2015 to 01 November 2020 were downloaded. Both downloads were performed on a personal computer under the R environment using the reticulate and TheiaR packages for GEE and Theia,

respectively. The GEE mainly functions under the Phyton language. The reticulate package (Ushey et al., 2022) allows the use of Python scripts in R. Unfortunately, the rgee package, which is specifically designed for the use of GEE in R (Aybar et al., 2022) was unavailable during the conduct of the comparative assessment. The download of satellite reflectance from GEE was completed in less than 10 minutes. No digital storage of all the Landsat files was necessary with GEE due to the cloud processing service. Instead, the values of the reflectance bands of each Landsat image were summarized in a table data format, which has a file size of at least 0.01 gigabytes. While the extraction from Theia lasted for approximately two weeks due to repeated disconnections from the Theia server. The theiaR package enabled the direct download and management of satellite images from the Theia website (Laviron, 2022). The Landsat files from Theia amounted to 22.4 gigabytes (GB) of digital storage on a personal computer.

The two data sources provided an unequal number of Landsat images (Figure 15) from 2015 to 2020. The GEE provided 106 images, which included Landsat scenes with greater than 90% cloud cover. Meanwhile, Theia provided 66 images, due to the exclusion of Landsat scenes with greater than 90% cloud cover. The oldest available Landsat observations in GEE and Theia were from 1972 and 2009, respectively.



Figure 15. Extracted Theia and GEE Landsat 5, 7, and 8 images from 01 January 2015 to 01 November 2020. The gaps along the observations were due to the percent cloud cover.

The spatial agreements were compared using 30 m grids generated from the pixels of two sets of Landsat images from GEE and Theia (Figure 16). The spatial disagreement was highest at 16.80 m between the GEE and Theia Landsat 5 and 7 and it was 13.23 m for Landsat 8. However, despite the low disagreement between the newer Landsat 8 images, the geometric comparison lacks a true spatial

reference. Possible sources of errors were related to the post-processing and successive projection transformations of the original images.



Figure 16. Spatial agreement assessment between GEE and Theia using Landsat 5 & 7 (left) and 8 (right) images. The irregular polygon FF5 is one of the SALAMIX paddocks for mowing.

In terms of the masking algorithms, GEE, specifically, USGS, uses the Land Surface Reflectance Code (LaSRC), while Theia uses the MACCS-ATCOR Joint Algorithm (MAJA; Hagolle et al., 2017). The LaSRC was developed by the University of Maryland together with the National Aeronautics and Space Administration (NASA) of the United States of America, while MAJA was developed by the Centre d'Etudes Spatiales de la Biosphère (CESBIO) joint research Unit of France (Hagolle et al., 2017; Skakun et al., 2022). The comparison was performed with a contingency table of all the cloud and shadow pixels based on the QA_Pixel layer to demonstrate the agreement of masked pixels between the LaSRC and MAJA algorithms (Figure 17).



Figure 17. Comparison of cloud mask agreement between GEE and Theia Landsat 8 images. The two triangles at the bottom of the plot highlight dates when cloud detection was erratic.

The mask agreement revealed that cloud detection was variable in time, and it offers a total agreement of 80% based on image observations from 01 January 2015 to 01 November 2020. No clear advantage between the performance of the two algorithms was observed with Landsat in this comparative assessment. Nevertheless, the LaSRC classified 11.2% of pixels as clouds, which were not detected by MAJA. Conversely, the MAJA classified 8.3% of the pixels as clouds, which were not detected by LaSRC.

The authors found that both the LaSRC and MAJA algorithms have fluctuating performances in cloud detection when tested with different datasets (Skakun et al., 2022). In the assessment of five masking algorithms that included LaSRC and MAJA, the results showed no significant difference among algorithm performances in the detection of clouds or shadows (Tarrio et al., 2020). Nevertheless, the use of MAJA on Sentinel 2 images revealed a more balanced cloud and shadow masking compared to LaSRC (Tarrio et al., 2020).

The final parameter in this comparative assessment was the reflectance band values, which were based on clear or cloud- and shadow-free, pixels within the SALAMIX paddocks (Figure 18). Overall, the reflectance values of the visible (BLUE; GREEN, and RED) and NIR bands were highly correlated with R^2 values of 0.98 and 0.91, respectively. These were accompanied by a mean slope of 1.09 and an absolute mean intercept of 0.005 for all four bands. While the SWIR 1 and SWIR 2 bands were correlated still highly with R^2 values of 0.88 and 0.87, respectively, accompanied by a mean slope of 1.025 and a mean intercept of 0.005. Apart from the individual bands, three vegetation indices were derived to determine the correlation of transformed reflectance bands. These indices were the NDVI = (NIR - RED) / (NIR + RED); EVI = 2.5 * ([NIR - RED] / [NIR + 6 * RED - 7.5 * BLUE + 1]); and NMDI = (NIR - [SWIR1 - SWIR2]) / (NIR + [SWIR1 - SWIR2]). The obtained vegetation index

correlations were high with an average R^2 of 0.95. The slope and intercept remained close to 1 and 0, respectively.

The data source assessment used and compared the parameters of data acquisition and quality (Table 1). Although conclusions were uncertain for some parameters, the obtained insights were used for practical consideration.



Figure 18. Correlation of the GEE- and Theia-obtained Landsat visible and infrared bands (B2: BLUE; B3: GREEN; B4: RED, B5 = NIR, and B6 = SWIR1 and B7 = SWIR2) and vegetation indices. Observations within the plots were clear pixel values from multiple dates. The colors correspond to the clustering of observation dates. Where the red and yellow corresponds to the most and least amount of data, respectively.

Table	1.	Summary	of the	he	parameters	used	in	the	comparison	of	GEE	and	Theia	data	sources.	The
	as	sessment u	ised i	ima	ges covering	g the S	SAL	AM	IX paddocks	froi	n 201.	5 to 2	2020.			

Parameter	Results						
Download Time on a single personal computer	GEE (less than 10 minutes) < Theia (approximately two weeks)						
Storage requirement	GEE (cloud processing / 0.01 gigabytes) < Theia (22.4 gigabytes)						
Image availability (2015 to 2020)	GEE (106 images) > Theia (66 images)						
Temporal coverage	GEE (since 1972) > Theia (since 2009)						
Cloud and shadow masking	LaSRC: cloud > shadows // MAJA: cloud = shadow						
Spatial agreement	Inconclusive result due to inherent error and lack of proper reference						
Reflectance bands	Reflectance values were highly correlated						

For Chapter 2, the regional study of 143 grassland parcels required multiple image scenes and long temporal coverage, which was provided by the Landsat collection in GEE. The download and storage parameters were related to the Landsat scene file size. GEE provides Landsat in its original coverage, which is larger than Theia Landsat. The Theia Landsat scene is resized based on Sentinel 2 spatial coverage (Skakun et al., 2017). About five Landsat scenes were needed to characterize all the grassland parcels distributed in the region. Then from 1985 to 2019, about 1,900 Landsat images of unique dates were available for the Chapter 2 study. The majority of the Landsat images were found during the growing season (March to November). Accordingly, the wide spatial (Figure 19. a) and long temporal (Figure 19. b) coverages, together with the short download time of Landsat images, which are without strong consequences on data quality, led to the selection of GEE.


Figure 19. Comparison of the spatial coverage of Theia and GEE Landsat scenes (a) and availability of Landsat observations per season (b) from 1985 to 2019.

The Theia Data and Service Center was considered the data source for Chapter 3. The delay in the download time was manageable when the connection to the Theia server was closely monitored. The local study site was covered by one small scene of Sentinel 2 and VEN μ S. But most of all, VEN μ S images were unavailable in GEE. In terms of data quality, there was an overall equal detection of clouds and shadows with the MAJA (Hagolle et al., 2017) when used on Sentinel 2 (Tarrio et al., 2020).

At the end of the comparative assessment, further investigations were needed to provide a clear distinction between GEE and Theia as sources of satellite data and products. Unfortunately, said investigation is not part of the scope of this thesis. Nevertheless, both data sources were used based on their contributions to Chapters 2 and 3.

3. Vegetation properties from reflectance bands

Optical satellite images are composed of reflectance bands, which are correlated to vegetation properties based on the radiative energy from the sun or artificial sources reflected by objects and received by satellite sensors. For this thesis, the use of vegetation indices and the inversion of a radiative transfer model were used to determine the vegetation properties of temperate managed grasslands in Chapters 2 and 3.

Chapter 2 generated and tested a total of 24 vegetation indices (Appendix D). Specific vegetation indices are based on the transformation of selected reflectance bands that highlight vegetation properties. The Global Vegetation Moisture Index (GVMI) incorporates the SWIR2, which is responsive to the moisture in leaves, at the 1,500 to 2,500 nanometer (nm) wavelength range (Ceccato et al., 2002).

Chapter 3 used the PROSAIL model and the Look-Up Table (LUT) inversion technique to estimate the Leaf Area Index (LAI) of managed grasslands. The PROSAIL model has exhibited high performance among existing RTMs when implemented in homogenous and heterogeneous grassland and cropland covers (Atzberger et al. 2015; Darvishzadeh et al., 2008; Jacquemoud et al., 2009). It is the combination of two radiative transfer models, namely the PROSPECT, a leaf optical properties model, and the Scattering by Arbitrary Inclined Leaves (SAIL), a plant canopy reflectance model (Figure 20). Overall, PROSAIL requires a total of 14 input parameters (Table 2). The PROSPECT model yields an estimate of the leaf's radiative reflectance and transmittance based on the functions of the leaf's biophysical and biochemical properties. Accordingly, the output leaf optical property estimation serves as a direct input for the SAIL model component. Meanwhile, SAIL estimates the radiative transfer in the vegetation canopy, or simply the canopy reflectance, based on leaf-based parameters, soil reflectance, and the pathway of the electromagnetic radiation – by the satellite viewing angles.

Several methods are available for the inversion RTM results. Iterative optimization, LUT, artificial neural networks, and support vector machine regression are some of the available inversion methods (Darvishzadeh et al., 2008; Weiss et al., 2000). Each method aims to maximize the fit between the simulated and observed reflectance trajectories of a given biophysical or biochemical property. The

LUT was determined to be a fast, simple, and robust inversion method (Darvishzadeh et al., 2008; Weiss et al., 2000). It is a computational simple minimization technique that aims to generate a reference table of leaf parameter combinations that best fit the reflectance signature (Berger et al., 2018; Jacquemoud et al., 2009).



Figure 20. Illustration of the relationship between the PROSPECT and SAIL model. It shows a visual description of each model, and the inputs (Table 2) necessary to perform the simulation. The image was from Berger et al., 2018.

Table 2. Summary of the specific inputs for the PROSAIL model (PROSPECT + SAIL models).

Specific model	Input parameter	Annotation Unit	
	Brown pigment content	C _{brown}	unit less
PROSPECT	Dry Matter Content	C_m	g cm ⁻²
(Leaf optical	Equivalent Water Thickness C _w		Cm
properties model)	Leaf chlorophyll a + b content	C_{ab}	$\mu g \ cm^{-2}$
	Carotenoid content	C_{ar}	$\mu g \ cm^{-2}$
	Leaf structural coefficient	Ν	unit less
	Dry/Wet soil factor	$\mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{soil}}$	unit less
SAIL	Leaf Area index	LAI	$\mathrm{m}^2~\mathrm{m}^{-2}$
(Canopy	Leaf angle distribution type	TypeLidf	unit less
reflectance model)	Leaf angle distribution function	lidfa	unit less
	Leaf angle distribution function	lidfb	unit less
	Hotspot parameter	hspot	${ m m}~{ m m}^{-1}$
	Solar zenith angle	tts	degrees
	Observer zenith angle	ttp	degrees
	Relative azimuth angle	psi	degrees

Various authors have demonstrated the use of PROSAIL inversion with available satellite images. For instance, the model inversions with Landsat 8, Sentinel 2 and 3, MODIS, and VENµS resulted in the estimation of chlorophyll content, leaf area index (LAI), above-ground biomass as leaf dry matter content, canopy moisture content, and the fraction of vegetation cover of croplands, wheat, grasslands, and saltmarsh (Darvishzadeh et al., 2008; He et al., 2019; Jiao et al., 2021; Upreti et al., 2020; Verrelst et al., 2012, 2015; Yin et al., 2016).

For Chapter 2, grassland sensitivity was based on the most responsive vegetation property proxy from the evaluated 24 Landsat-derived vegetation indices. The available field measurements of the three regional projects were insufficient to perform multiple PROSAIL model inversions of the heterogeneous parcels.

Chapter 3 successfully used the PROSAIL inversion with the LUT method to estimate the LAI of each paddock. The PROSAIL inversion was performed for both Sentinel 2 and VENµS images. However, the inversion with VENµS showed inconsistencies in the estimated LAI, which was depicted by the large standard deviation compared to Sentinel 2 during processing (Figure 21). One hypothesis for the erroneous estimation of LAI is related to the multiple viewing angles for the respective VENµS reflectance bands. These multiple angles were not incorporated in the initial VENµS angle extraction script of this thesis. Nevertheless, the available Sentinel 2 trajectories were sufficient enough for use with a process-based model. Vegetation indices were considered also for Chapter 3, however, there was a low correlation between the vegetation indices and available ground measures of biomass and height.



Figure 21. LAI observations derived from the PROSAIL inversion of Sentinel 2 and VENµS images covering one sample mowed parcel under the SALAMIX project. The vertical red lines are mowing dates, while the blue shades are grazing events.

H. Summary of selected data

Presented here in the General data and methods were the selected input data associated with Chapter 2 or the regional assessment of the variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought using long-term time series of vegetation indices, and Chapter 3, or the local evaluation of managed grassland resistance and resilience to drought impact, based on a process-based model of vegetation

growth with the assimilation of Sentinel 2-derived LAI. Essentially, Chapters 2 and 3 were conducted with contrasting site spatial coverage, temporal range, and management data details; different sources of climate and satellite data; and remote sensing techniques (Table 3); but similar drought severity measures and objectives to determine grassland response to drought.

General Inputs	Chapter 2 Regional empirical analysis of variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought		Chapter 3 Local-scale process-based modelling for analyzing grassland response to isolated drought impacts	
Siles :	Massii central			
Fiela data	Source/s	Scale	Source/s	Scale
Management	Prairies AOP	Parcel (600 to 366,100 m ²)	SALAMIX (HerbValo)	Paddock (15,200 to 85,500 m ²)
Soil	Prairies AOP and AEOLE	Parcel (600 to 366,100 m ²)	-	-
Biodiversity	Prairies AOP, ATOUS, AEOLE, and plant databases	Plot (2 to 100 m ²)	-	-
Climatic data	SAFRAN	Daily	Meteorological station	Daily
Remote Sensing data	Source/s	Resolution	Source/s	Resolution
Landsat mission	Google Earth	30 m (spatial),	-	-
(1985 to 2019)	Engine	16 days (temporal)		
Sentinel 2	-	-	Theia Data and	20 m (spatial),
(2015 to 2020)			Service Center	5 days (temporal)
Vegetation property	Vegetation	-	PROSAIL	-
quantification method	indices		inversion	

Table 3. Summary of the respective field, climate, and remote sensing data inputs for Chapters 2 and 3.

Chapter 2 was the regional study conducted within the Massif central. It used multiple field measurements, related to the soil, climate, and topographic factors; vegetation diversity; and herbage use. Data were obtained from the completed Prairies AOP, ATOUS, and AEOLE projects. Chapter 2 assessed drought severity using the modified SPEI based on the SAFRAN climate data model and quantified the vegetation conditions of 143 parcels using the vegetation indices from Landsat observations. Both SAFRAN and Landsat were selected due to the large spatial and long-term temporal coverages.

Chapter 3, on the other hand, was conducted within the local scale Herbipôle experimental site. The parsimonious process-based model of grassland LAI benefited from the detailed herbage usage calendar, grazing animal records, and homogenous environmental conditions of the SALAMIX project. Chapter 3 generated the modified SPEI based on the field-collected climate records. Lastly,

the high spatial and temporal resolution of Sentinel 2 supported the calibration of the grassland LAI model.

Lastly, amidst the lack of description regarding Chapter 1, presented in Figure 22 are the input data for all three research chapters of this thesis. The selected field, climate, and satellite data for Chapters 2 and 3 were summarized to highlight the contrasting, different, and similar parts of each research.



Figure 22. Summary of inputs for the respective research objectives.

ASSESSMENT OF DROUGHT IMPACT ON GRASSLANDS USING REMOTE SENSING TECHNIQUES. A REVIEW



From the conceptual diagram, Chapter 1 focuses on the central question of how drought impacts or influences on grassland vegetation properties were assessed so far. It considers studies that estimated grassland properties based on satellite data and quantified the meteorological type of drought.

CHAPTER 1. ASSESSMENT OF DROUGHT IMPACT ON GRASSLANDS USING REMOTE SENSING TECHNIQUES. A REVIEW

Abstract

Droughts are expected to occur more frequently and severely because of climate change. The impacts of drought are felt in almost all regions of the world. Unfortunately, drought threatens grasslands and its associated ecosystem services. Understanding grassland response to drought provides opportunities to improve grassland resistance and resilience. Ground-based experiments provide key knowledge on how grasslands respond to drought. However, these methods are limited in replicating real-life conditions at larger spatial coverage and longer durations. In this literature review, we highlight the potential of remote sensing technology in assessing grassland response to drought. We focused on articles that investigated drought impacts on grasslands by using remote sensing data. We classified the response assessment approaches into five categories, underline the gaps and bias in the global distribution of assessment studies, and call for a more specific use of "response". The assessment of grassland response to drought integrates satellite reflectance, as a proxy, and drought severity. Challenges arise with the mismatch in data scales and observation lengths. Uncertainties also exist within the satellite reflectance due to confounding field factors and multiple disturbances. Finally, avenues for future research regarding grassland response to drought are related to the infrequently studied grassland types and regions. Then compared to grassland monitoring, the list of utilized RS data and monitored grassland properties for response assessment thus far is limited.

Keywords: response; satellite data; statistical inference; biomes; time series; vegetation index

1.1. Introduction

Grasslands are ecosystems dominated by graminoid plant species with limited presence of tall – above 5 meters – woody perennials and shrubs (Suttie et al., 2005; White, 1983; Xu and Guo, 2015). They provide key ecosystem services for food production that accounts for billions of employment opportunities (Jiang and Wang, 2022; O'Mara, 2012), carbon regulation and storage of about 34% of the terrestrial carbon (Bai and Cotrufo, 2022; Jones and Donnelly, 2004), biodiversity as habitats, cultural and recreational activities (Bengtsson et al., 2019; Pellaton et al., 2022; Zisenis et al., 2011), and energy source as biomass fuel (Tilman et al., 2006). Grasslands cover approximately 35 to 40% or 52.5 M km² of the Earth's terrestrial areas (Bardgett et al., 2021; Dixon et al., 2014).

Although many grassland types are maintained by certain levels of disturbance regimes (e.g., agricultural activities, fire, etc.), extreme disturbances are detrimental to the maintenance of ecosystems (Newbold et al., 2016; Strömberg and Staver, 2022). More specifically, drought, which is a natural phenomenon experienced by almost every climatic region of the world (Carroll et al., 2021; Dai, 2011; Mishra and Singh, 2010; Zargar et al., 2011), is expected to have more extreme and frequent occurrences along with climate change (IPCC, 2021).

Drought negatively impacts grasslands (Howden et al., 2007), and results in a decrease in the quantity and quality of grasslands, their ecosystem services (Chang et al., 2021; Hofer et al., 2016; Zwicke et al., 2013) and associated biodiversity (Doležal et al., 2022; Tilman and Haddi, 1992). Understanding how grasslands respond to drought can help in mitigating and anticipating adverse drought impacts. So far most of the knowledge on drought impacts on grasslands is inherited from controlled experiments and field observations (De Boeck et al., 2015; Gilgen and Buchmann, 2009; Kröel-Dulay et al., 2022; Volaire, 2018; Wellstein et al., 2017).

Pot, mesocosm, and field drought experiments provide focus and close monitoring of changes in grassland properties in response to manipulated water availability to the plants, which induce drought-like conditions (Knapp, Hoover, et al., 2015; Stampfli et al., 2017). Drought experiments improve our knowledge of the influence of soil properties, plant biodiversity, and management practices on response to drought at the population and community organizational levels (Buttler et al., 2019; Deléglise et al., 2015; Isbell et al., 2015). It reveals the ecophysiological and strategic response mechanisms from the individual to community level induced by drought (Volaire, 2018; Zwicke et al., 2015) However, grasslands are open systems that experience heterogeneous drought effects across space and time. To account for these spatio-temporal variations, long-term coordinated networks of rainfall manipulation experiments, such as the Drought-Net (Knapp et al., 2017), are conducted in grassland plots in different ecoregions. However, despite the numerous and widely distributed experimental sites over the world, coordinated experiments still face a lack of standardized spatio-

temporal coverage and real-life natural complexities due to constraints of the imposed set-ups. Furthermore, experimental studies underestimate the impact of drought on grassland biomass compared to observational studies (Kröel -Dulay et al., 2022).

As an alternative, remote sensing (RS) expands beyond the spatio-temporal limitations of controlled experiments and permits the recognition of a wide range of biogeographic and agronomic situations. RS is a technology that measures the properties of any objects without physical contact by using sensors that are mounted on satellites; manned or unmanned aerial vehicles; and ground-based setups (McVicar and Jupp, 1998). One simple application is the visualization, interpretation, and comparison (Ali et al., 2016; Svoray et al., 2013) of vegetation greenness using satellite images and vegetation indices (Figure 1-1) covering an area of interest.



Figure 1– 1. Comparison of years with the absence (2021 – left) and presence (2022 – right) of drought using Sentinel 2 images covering the southern portions of the Massif central region, France. The top images are True Color Image Composite, while the bottom images are the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI), where values close to 1.0 are healthy vegetation cover and below 0.3-0.2 are dry vegetation and bare soils or water bodies. The map relief information was extracted from a 25m x 25m Digital Elevation Model (DEM; https://land.copernicus.eu/imagery-in-situ/eu-dem/eu-dem-v1.1). The Sentinel 2 data were obtained from https://www.theia-land.fr/en/product/sentinel-2-surface-reflectance/.

Under drought conditions, plant physiological changes occur at the gene and tissue levels with consequences on higher organizational levels (e.g., organ and individual). The impacts from long or

severe droughts decrease the water available in the soil for plant use. This leads to the dehydration of leaves, which negatively affects leaf chlorophyll contents, and leads to a loss in canopy greenness (Ommen et al., 1999; Sanchez et al., 1983). At the same time, stomatal apertures close to maintain moisture, but prevents entry of carbon dioxide (CO₂; Taylor et al., 2012). The limited water, CO₂, and decreased chlorophyll performance due to drought hinder and halt the photosynthetic activity (Abbasi et al., 2014; Taylor et al., 2012). At prolonged durations and depending on the plants' inherent drought tolerance capacity, the productivity of grasslands is expected to critically decrease. At the same time, the rate of plant senescence is expected to increase with drought (Volaire et al., 2009).

The RS application of optical images for vegetation monitoring is based on the connection of the plant's physiological condition introduced above and the reflected radiative energy (Turner et al., 2003). Indeed, sensors receive the reflected energy, which contains the reflectance measures of specific wavelengths (Drusch and Crewell, 2006; Turner et al., 2003) related to the vegetation moisture content, leaf chlorophyll contents, biomass, and leaf area index (LAI) among other vegetation properties (Gitelson et al., 2003; Sims and Gamon, 2002). The chlorophyll contents, which relate to the greenness of leaves, are detected in the visible light spectrum (400 to 700 nm). Then the leaf area index (LAI) and plant structure properties can be retrieved in the NIR (range 800-2500 nm). While the influence of leaf moisture on vegetation reflectance is strong in the shortwave infrared (SWIR; 1,400 to 3,000 nm) and to a lesser extent in the near-infrared (NIR; 700 to 1,400 nm) wavelengths.

Therefore, the combination and transformation of selected bands can be used to generate reflectance spectra or vegetation indices (VI) that estimate grassland properties from space and across time. Among the variety of VI (Andreatta et al., 2022; Bajgain et al., 2015; Zhou et al., 2014), one commonly used VI is the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI), which is a proxy for vegetation greenness, productivity, cover, and biomass (Wang et al., 2022). More specific indices were developed to monitor moisture content, like the Normalized Difference Water Index (NDWI; Gao, 1996; Xiao et al., 2004) and Global Vegetation Moisture Index (GVMI; Ceccato et al., 2002) among others.

The potential of optical remote sensing data has encouraged the development of a tremendous number of ecosystem monitoring studies over the last decades. To synthesize their findings, several reviews have underscored the importance of RS for monitoring different types of terrestrial ecosystems (Shoshany, 2000), such as forests (Gleason and Im, 2011; Masek et al., 2015), savannas (Fundisi et al., 2022), mangroves (Kuenzer et al., 2011), peatlands (Minasny et al., 2019), wetlands (Guo et al., 2017), and agroecosystems (Atzberger, 2013; Bégué et al., 2018; Huang et al., 2022; Kuenzer and Knauer, 2013; Ozdogan et al., 2010; Weiss et al., 2020). Other reviews focused on the general assessment of ecosystem health in response to environmental changes (Li et al., 2014; Soubry et al., 2021; Xu and Guo, 2015; Yi and Jackson, 2021) or specific disturbances. For instance, the use of RS

in the assessment of forest ecosystem responses to fire (Chu and Guo, 2013), hurricanes (Lugo, 2008), insect infestation (Senf et al., 2017), and deforestation (Gao et al., 2020) were reviewed. Closer to our topic, other authors synthesized the knowledge of data and techniques for monitoring grassland ecosystems (Ali et al., 2016; Reinermann et al., 2020; Svoray et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2022), in response to management practices (Reinermann et al., 2020), shrub and woody plant invasion (Cao et al., 2019; Soubry and Guo, 2022), or climate changes (Li et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2022). Reviews on the use of remote sensing for the monitoring drought and water stress on terrestrial ecosystems were conducted for forests (Deshayes et al., 2006; Konings et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2013) and croplands (Gerhards et al., 2019). Then instead of the use of RS on specific ecosystems, authors focused on the RS techniques and indices related to drought impacts (AghaKouchak et al., 2015; Alahacoon and Edirisinghe, 2022; Hazaymeh and Hassan, 2016; Inoubli et al., 2020; Jiao et al., 2021)

According to this collection of reviews of RS applications for environmental sciences, there is currently no specific synthesis of the remote sensing researches conducted, so far, on the assessment of drought impacts on grasslands. We filled this gap and specifically aimed to (i) identify and classify the different approaches used to achieve the assessment goals, the associated inputs, their advantages, and limitations; (ii) summarize key findings emerging from these studies; and (iii) highlight challenges and opportunities for future studies.

To do so, this study initially started with a collection of 304 articles from the Web of Science on 31 January 2022 based on the search criteria of [("remote sensing" OR "earth observation" OR satellite) AND (grassland* OR pasture* OR meadow* OR steppe* OR rangeland*) AND (impact OR effect OR response OR resilience) AND drought NOT forest NOT wetland]. Then a three-stage screening process was implemented to obtain 64 preliminary articles. The screening retained meteorological drought studies that identified or quantified drought events and trajectories and investigated studies on grassland response to drought, Essentially, the articles used RS as the main source of data or complements the determination of grassland response to drought.

1.2. Classification of the assessment approaches

Assessing grassland response to drought is a process that involves the monitoring of conditions of grassland properties and determining its connection to the trajectory of drought severity. We identified five different approaches, classified into (i) vegetation index threshold, (ii) year comparison, (iii) time series analysis, (iv) statistical inferences, and (v) mechanistic modelling.

1.2.1. Vegetation index threshold

Vegetation indices (VIs) are the transformation of selected reflectance bands contingent on the vegetation property being monitored (Bajgain et al., 2015; Sishodia et al., 2020; Zhou et al., 2014). The use of the VI threshold is the most basic approach to assessing grassland response to drought. It aims at comparing various grassland sites that experience the same meteorological drought event. Drought is considered to impact vegetation when site-specific VI thresholds or ranges are exceeded. Usually, independent information on drought is discarded except for defining the VI threshold. For instance, Nejadrekabi et al. (2022) determined that MODIS-extracted NDVI values from 0.12 to 0.18 correspond to drought-affected vegetation based on spatial statistic techniques and multiple vegetation sites in Khuzestan, Iran. Vanegas et al. (2014) and Bajgain et al. (2015) determined that a negative Land Surface Water Index (LSWI) value indicates drought impact on the grasslands of Oklahoma, USA. To strengthen the drought impact identification, they added a short temporal criterion that the negative LSWI should last for at least 8 days.

The quantified grassland response from the use of VI thresholds presents two main concerns. First, VI values can be under the influence of other natural or anthropogenic disturbances like pest infestations, plant diseases, or herbage use. For instance, the simplified detection of mowing events follows the same application of the VI threshold (Bégué et al., 2018; Garioud et al., 2019; Reinermann et al., 2022) making hard the attribution of an extremely high or low value (depending on the VI being considered) to one or the other source of disturbances. Second, VI values are region- or site-specific, restricting their application to the global scales.

1.2.2. Year comparison

This approach is based on the comparison of vegetation reflectance of at least two different or contrasting years. The independent information on drought is here only used to identify drought years or sometimes to quantify drought severity for a given year with dedicated indices. The RS-based assessment of drought impact is done by computing the difference between the RS signal recorded for a reference – normal or wet year – and for the drought year (Twumasi et al., 2003; Wagle et al., 2019). Generally, the years compared are either discontinuous years, resulting in the analysis of independent drought events, or short consecutive years, illustrating immediate changes between reference and drought years.

The main drawbacks of this approach lie in (i) the definition of a proper baseline of grassland status under normal conditions, which cannot be properly estimated from the selection of one year or one growing season; (ii) the uncertainty on the level of drought severity for the selected drought year in connection to the unaccounted years; (iii) the comparison of discontinuous years may hide the delayed

83

or lingering impacts of drought (De Boeck et al., 2018; Müller and Bahn, 2022; Wu et al., 2017); and (iv) the comparison of adjacent years may not adequately represent the dynamics of vegetation in response to drought, including the resistance and recovery phases.

1.2.3. Time series analysis

The time series analysis accounts for the dynamic nature of grasslands. This approach uses RS signal trajectories instead of state comparison as the previous approach, and information on drought as continuous observations of climate variables or drought severity indices. The analysis of grassland response to drought is based on the disruptions in the paired grassland long-term satellite reflectance and drought trajectories. For instance, an abrupt decline in the satellite-based VI is generally interpreted as a consequence of stressful conditions (Brookshire and Weaver, 2014; Kowalski et al., 2022; Wei et al., 2022). The magnitude of this decline is used also as an indicator of ecological resistance. As drought impacts persist after the end of the drought event, the slope of a gradual increase in reflectance trajectory is used as an indicator of resilience.

As examples of the time series approach, in the Mongolian plateau, Bao et al. (2014) highlighted that after an increasing phase of NDVI values from 1982 to 1994 in steppes, alpine steppes, and desert steppes, vegetation greenness declined between 1995 and 2012 due to a significant decline in precipitation. Consistently, Tong et al. (2017) identified an increase in drought impacts in the mid-90s, in Xilingol, China, which was adjacent to the Mongolian plateau.

The time series analysis approach allows the determination of the ecosystem reference conditions, which is usually defined as the overall mean of the dynamic long-term reflectance observations (Garbulsky and Paruelo, 2004; Pollock et al., 2012; Stoddard et al., 2006), typically 30 years, as adapted from climatic studies (Marchi et al., 2020; Rigal et al. 2019). Other authors have defined ecosystem reference conditions as pristine or slightly disturbed conditions free from anthropogenic influences (Hess et al., 2020; Pollock et al., 2012; Stoddard et al. 2006). But basic levels of anthropogenic influence are recognized as components of agroecosystems (Rendon et al., 2020).

The time series data provides additional extractable grassland parameters. Kang et al. (2018) extracted the start of season (SOS), length of season (LOS), and end of season (EOS) matrices based on the NDVI time series to study drought impacts on grassland phenology and productivity. Long time series of satellite images have also been used to generate new indices measuring vegetation response to drought. For instance, the Vegetation Health Index (VHI; Kogan, 2006) is derived from the time series of NDVI or EVI. It follows the formula VHI = a*VCI + (1-a)*TCI. Where the coefficient represents the contribution of VCI or Vegetation Condition Index (*a*) and TCI or Temperature Condition Index (1 - *a*) to the total vegetation health (Kogan, 2006). The VCI follows the formula VCI

= $100*(NDVI - NDVI_{min}) / (NDVI_{max} - NDVI_{min})$ and estimates the vegetation condition (Kogan, 1990). The NDVI minimum (min) and maximum (max) values are based on the time series observations under investigation. Essentially, VCI reflects the impact of weather on vegetation. Then following a similar formula of TCI = $100*(BT_{max} - BT) / (BT_{max} - BT_{min})$, the TCI estimates the drought condition based on the weather stress (Kogan, 1995). The BT or brightness temperature is based on thermal infrared bands and established conversion tables (Kogan, 1995). Both the VCI and TCI are standardized indices based on historic minimum, maximum, and observed NDVI values from satellite image time series observations.

A limitation of this approach is the need for a long and continuous time series with sufficiently frequent records. Generally, various meteorological data meet this requirement with very few gaps. But for satellite images, the number of usable observations is greatly dependent on the temporal resolution and percent of clear pixels that may prevent the implementation of this approach in some parts of the world or some periods of the year.

1.2.4. Statistical inference

The statistical inference refers to the interpretation of drought effects on grassland vegetation from the statistical relationship (usually linear) between vegetation indices and drought indicators (e.g., precipitation, temperature) or severity index [e.g., Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI), Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI), or Palmer's Drought Severity Index (PDSI)] or standardized measures (e.g., anomalies or Z-score; Wilcox et al., 2017; Zhang et al., 2017). The inference can be based on a coefficient of correlation (r), the slope, or the coefficient of determination of a linear model (Byrne et al., 2017; Hermanns et al., 2021; Li et al., 2016). Therefore, a high correlation or slope is interpreted as the high sensitivity of grasslands to drought severity (Han et al., 2018). Key to the statistical inference is the number of paired observations of vegetation reflectance and drought indicators. As an example, Wang et al. (2019) revealed a 0.58 coefficient of determination between the global net primary production (NPP), derived from MODIS, and the self-calibrating Palmer drought severity index (scPDSI) from 1982 to 2008, with a decrease of NPP while drought severity increased.

Together with the slopes and correlations, the use of standardized grassland reflectance values may provide a further understanding of the origin of the response. Nutini et al. (2010) proposed a scheme that attributes the standardized measures of grassland reflectance and drought severity with climatedriven events based on quadrant clustering (Figure 1– 2). Observations located in quadrant 3 (+, +) and quadrant 1 (-, -) can be associated with climatic influences, while observations in quadrants 2 and 4 can be associated with abnormal conditions unexplained by climate events.



Figure 1–2. Grassland response scheme adapted from Nutini et al. 2010.

A further step in the use of the quadrant location is the analysis of their temporal changes. Washington-Allen et al. (2008) and Kowalski et al. (2023) observed the movement of grassland properties across time in the quadrant scheme. Movements towards climate drying Q1 from the normal condition depict grassland resistance to drought. Before the end of a drought, grassland resilience is portrayed by the movement to the anomaly greening Q2. At the end of a drought and the start of more favorable climatic conditions, grasslands positioned in the quadrant are expected to move toward recovery (Q3). In some cases, the inability to demonstrate resilience and recover from climate drying leads to mortality, which is a critically negative outcome (Q4).

The statistical inference approach underlines the development of a new class of vegetation indices. Brown et al. (2008) created the Vegetation Drought Response Index (VegDRI), which combines the NDVI values and drought severity indices like PDSI and SPI. Zhang et al. (2019) evaluated similar indices but combined MODIS products of greenness indices and temperature or photosynthetically active radiation as a proxy of vegetation and drought conditions, respectively.

Although statistical inference is the most used approach (Figure 1– 3), it suffers from three main limitations. First, it requires large datasets for the best estimation of the relationship between VIs and drought indices or proxies. Second, this relationship is usually noisy because of the influence of other stress factors (Bao et al., 2014; De Keersmaecker et al., 2015; Zhu et al., 2020). Third, it assumes a

linear relationship between grassland reflectance and drought variables, which is likely not a general case (Griffin -Nolan et al., 2018).



Figure 1– 3. Distribution of studies among the five approaches identified for assessing grassland response to drought based on the article collection (n = 64).

1.2.5. Mechanistic modelling

Mechanistic models can be used to simulate the dynamics of grasslands properties (i.e., gross primary productivity or GPP; leaf area index or LAI; etc) and their responses to environmental changes. Assimilated with RS data, they can be applied in a wide range of situations and may provide a comprehensive assessment of drought impacts.

We found only a few examples of the implementation of such an approach to analyze drought impacts on grassland. These studies differ in the assimilation method of RS data into their vegetation model. First, Bayat et al. (2018) derived several grassland properties like LAI, leaf chlorophyll contents, leaf water content, leaf dry matter content, leaf inclination distribution function, and senescent material content, from images (MODIS) with the inversion of several radiative transfer models. They used these parameters as input for the Soil-Canopy Observation of Photosynthesis and Energy fluxes (SCOPE) for predicting drought effect on GPP and ET. Second, Hermance et al. (2015) directly used NDVI (MODIS) and daily rainfall to simulate the biomass of semi-arid shortgrass steppes of North America. The phenomenological model considered the temperature, at the start and end of the season, and the efficiency of water use as parameters. The simulated grassland biomass trajectory is then assessed with the time series analysis approach.

Zhang et al. (2019) demonstrated the benefit of RS assimilation into vegetation models by comparing the performance of three satellite-based light-use efficiency (LUE) models, against five statistical models based on RS data only, under the presence and absence of drought conditions in the temperate steppes of northern China. They showed higher performance of process-based models than statistical models and interpreted it as a consequence of explicit modelling of effects.

Although RS data assimilation in the vegetation model provides a comprehensive assessment of drought impacts, they also face severe limitations, which may explain the low contribution of this approach in our article collection. The use of mechanistic models is data-demanding, especially when complex processes are being simulated. Contrastingly, excessive model simplification threatens the accuracy of simulated output (Vogeler et al., 2023). Since models are often designed according to certain environmental conditions and time periods, a consequence is that they require constant parameter recalibration when implemented on other sites at different conditions and time periods (Pogačar et al., 2022; Siehoff et al., 2011).

The approaches for grassland response to drought assessment were summarized in Figure 1-4. The use of VI in monitoring grassland response is common to all approaches. The subsequent analyses increase in complexity, as well as data requirements, from the year comparison to the mechanistic modelling approaches. As RS-based methodologies, the application to large spatial extents is inherent to each approach and is mainly limited by the availability of input data and computation time, which is typically the case when assimilating RS products into mechanistic models.

1.3. Key findings from grassland response to drought assessments

RS has consistently supported the assessment of grassland response to drought by providing local regional and global historic estimates of grassland reflectance data together with drought indices and indicators. In connection to the classified approaches, key collective points from the conducted studies can be highlighted.



Figure 1– 4. Schemes of the classified approaches for grassland response to drought assessment showing the respective inputs and complexities. Specifically, these approaches are a) VI threshold; b) year comparison; c) time series analyses; d) statistical inference; and e) mechanistic modelling.

1.3.1. How grassland "response" to drought is used?

Very few authors explicitly defined what represents "response" in their studies. Common to all approaches is the assessment of response as a change in vegetation state after drought. For the use of the VI threshold, the response to drought is a numeric index variable representing the presence or absence of drought impact on the vegetation. While for the year comparison, the gap in grassland reflectance between the reference and drought year is often interpreted as an indication of resistance rather than of resilience. The time series analysis and mechanistic modelling approaches allow the extraction of both resistance and resilience components as analyzed trajectories across years (e.g., Y. Liu et al., 2021). Moreover, the use of mechanistic modelling provides gap-free trajectories and detailed drought impact assessments – based on simulations under normal climatic conditions and drought – of grassland properties (e.g., LAI, biomass, GPP). Lastly, the statistical inference approach acknowledges the rate of change in reflectance due to a unit of decrease in the climatic water balance or precipitation (Knapp, Carroll, et al., 2015). Thus, such an estimate can be interpreted as an indication of grassland "sensitivity" to drought. In case the study is conducted with data of low temporal resolution it is usually difficult to know whether each estimate corresponds to the resistance or resilience phase. However, when the temporal resolution of the dataset increases and with the known chronological trajectory of grassland reflectance. Some authors have moved beyond the sole

interpretation of the sensitivity and proposed a mixed framework with the time series approach such as with the interpretative scheme of Nuttini et al. (2010). The direction of the slope indicates resistance when subsequent observations cluster toward the climate-drying quadrant (Figure 1 - 2). Then it indicates resilience when subsequent observations cluster toward the climate-greening quadrant.

1.3.2. Unequal geographical distribution of study sites

Grasslands are distributed in various topographic and climatic regions of the world, where the majority are in temperate and arid biomes (Dixon et al., 2014; Godde et al., 2020; Xu and Guo, 2015). From the article collection, studies on grassland response to drought were conducted in sites distributed in 30 countries globally (Figure 1-5).



Figure 1–5. Distribution and coverage of study sites extracted from the selected article collection. Some studies considered multiple sites, explaining a total number of 85 sites for 64 articles.

Most of the studied grassland sites were found in the United States of America (USA) and the People's Republic of China. This corresponds to the large grassland cover in these respective countries (Dixon et al., 2014; Xu and Guo, 2015). In addition, these two countries are highly exposed to drought hazards (see Carrão et al., 2016) and both have experienced multiple droughts (see Meza et al., 2020). Similarly, other countries in the article collection, such as Australia, Argentina, Northeast Brazil,

Southern Europe, and Southern Africa region, have high exposure and have experienced multiple drought events.

In terms of biomes, the study sites were located in temperate (48%), desert and xeric (20%), montane (13%), tropical and subtropical (10%), Mediterranean (7%), boreal (1%), and flooded (1%) grassland regions. The global biome classification was based on the works of Dinerstein et al. (2017), who updated the terrestrial ecoregion map of Olson et al. (2001) using various papers at that time.

The biogeographic distribution of the study sites, where RS-based assessments of grassland response to drought were conducted, reflects the global distribution of grasslands. However, this leads to several understudied grassland types. Among the biogeographic gaps, the temperate managed grasslands of Western Europe may require particular attention. Indeed, the agricultural management, composition, diversity, and lifecycle of the associated vegetation largely differ from arid grasslands and the Great Plains of the USA and Canada. The knowledge emerging from the current collection of studies can hardly be transposed to anticipate/mitigate drought impacts in temperate regions of Europe.

If compared to rainfall manipulation experiments, the concentrations of experiments on grassland response to drought are largely found in the USA, and in the central European region, which remains understudied using RS-based approaches (see Matos et al., 2020).

1.3.3. Varied responses of grasslands to drought

As presented in the previous section, grasslands are globally distributed in various regions with heterogeneous conditions. Thus, responses to drought or climatic variations are expected to be different with other ecosystems and among grasslands, depending on the specific grassland type and biome.

1.3.3.1. Comparison of responses between grasslands and other ecosystems

All the approaches developed so far to assess the response of grasslands to drought are deemed applicable to other ecosystems. Such transferability of the methods has encouraged some authors to compare the impacts of drought between grasslands and other ecosystems, mostly crop systems.

In the southern portion of the Great Plains, Ji and Peters (2003) found that NDVIs of croplands were better related to precipitation than of grasslands (with R² of 0.67 and 0.58, respectively) based on the 3-month SPI. However, the slope of this relationship was steeper for grasslands, indicating greater sensitivity. In the northwestern portion of the Great Plain, Tollerud et al. (2018) confirmed that grasslands were more affected by drought than croplands (commonly wheat) based on the VegDRI. Similarly, in Eastern Cape, South African, Graw et al., (2017) demonstrated the same pronounced response of grasslands than commercial and communal managed croplands during a drought year.

91

In northern China, Kang et al. (2018) demonstrated that anomaly measures of grassland phenology and productivity using the NDVI from 1982 to 2012, were significantly correlated with specific measures of the Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI). Specifically, these were the EOS anomaly and autumn SPEI (r = 0.19), the LOS anomaly and annual SPEI (r = 0.41), and integrated growing season NDVI (iNDVI) and annual SPEI (r = 0.54). They confirmed the high sensitivity of grassland compared to other land covers dominated by shrublands, barren vegetation, and cropland. Xu et al. (2021) supported the high response of grasslands to drought compared to croplands, forests, deserts, and wetlands using solar-induced fluorescence (SIF) and SPEI. They further revealed the greater sensitivity of grasslands in arid and semi-arid regions of northern China,

All comparisons from different studies concluded the high responsiveness of grassland to drought compared to other agroecosystems. However, these comparisons were mostly conducted against the general land cover of croplands and in arid or semi-arid regions of Asia. In a global meta-analysis of manipulative experiments in terrestrial ecosystems, grasslands were consistently more responsive to drought than croplands, shrublands, and temperate forests based on parameters like the soil carbon pool, plant carbon pool, aboveground and below-ground plant carbon pool, and aboveground net primary production (Zhou et al., 2016). When grasslands were compared to shrubs and forests, the response ratio changes depending on the measured parameters (Deng et al., 2021). Grasslands were most responsive in 9 out of 22 parameters that include root biomass, dissolved organic carbon, nitrification, and nitrogen mineralization (Deng et al., 2021).

1.3.3.2. Responses among grassland types

Different grassland types are expected to have varying responses to drought (Wilcox et al. 2015). Grasslands can be classified based on their specific locations (e.g., climatic regions) and management. In eastern Inner Mongolia, Liu et al. (2012) confirmed that meadows were more sensitive (r = 0.53) to drought than the steppe (r = 0.45), and desert grasslands (r = 0.48) based on NDVI and SPI correlations from 2006 to 2010. Along an elevational gradient, He (2014) showed that Canadian upland grasslands were more sensitive than lowland grasslands to accumulated precipitation ($R^2 = 0.41$ and 0.09), to climate moisture index ($R^2 = 0.45$ and 0.14) and to modified Palmer drought severity index ($R^2 = 0.53$ and 0.21).

As for management, Thoma et al. (2016) revealed that grazed grasslands exhibit an earlier response to drought than abandoned grasslands, which were previously grazed for the last 14 years. Wagle et al. (2019) recommended the burning of grasslands to obtain better forage harvest compared to the absence of burning. However, during drought, burning provided the opposite effect due to the loss of available water in the soil.

The results of remote sensing studies are consistent with the field experiments. Lei et al., (2022) used field flux measurements and the Biome-BGC model to determine that meadows have a higher NPP decline rate than desert grasslands due to drought in the Inner Mongolian temperate grassland region of China from 1964 to 2012. However, steppe grasslands have the highest NPP decline rate than meadows and desert grasslands, which was attributed to their northern geographic distribution (Lei et al., 2022).

There are expected differences between grazed and mown grasslands due to factors such as herbage uptake method and timing (Moinet et al., 2019). Bütof et al., (2012) found that mown pastures have higher resilience to climate change, while pasture or grazed grasslands have lower survival during low precipitation levels (Bütof et al., 2012). Consistently, Deléglise et al. (2015) found that grazed grasslands were more sensitive to induced drought than mowed grasslands. While for mown grasslands, cutting frequency affects the speed of recovery for permanent grassland, with high-frequency cutting showing lower recovery than low-frequency cutting after drought events (Zwicke et al., 2013; Vogel et al., 2012).

Despite the agreement with the results of ground-based drought experiments, RS-based studies, sometimes, fail to account for detailed experiment conditions and treatments. For example, mapping and quantifying the number of species within the grassland community faces accuracy concerns due to vegetation and spectral uncertainties (Rapinel et al., 2018) and the presence of other factors within the grassland area of concern. Accordingly, the continuous development of satellite sensors provides an avenue for further research.

1.4. Challenges and opportunities

1.4.1. Challenges

Among the various challenges in the assessment of grassland response to drought with RS, we here focus on (i) the mismatch between the spatial resolutions of reflectance data and those of drought indicators, (ii) the limited length of time period of assessment, and (iii) the mixed impacts of drought and other types of disturbances.

1.4.1.1. Mismatch in the data units and resolutions between reflectance and drought

Inconsistencies in the spatial and temporal resolutions of grassland reflectance and drought indicators or indices are usually addressed by data transformations or changes in the temporal units. For instance, the commonly used SPEI and SPI are expressed with a monthly temporal unit. To perform analysis, the RS signals are transformed from daily to monthly, or annual, temporal units using

procedures such as the maximum-value composite (MVC) and extraction of the mean. The decrease in temporal units prevents the consideration of daily changes in the grassland condition. Similarly, possible inaccuracies are present in the spatial resolution mismatch of grassland reflectance and climate data. The commonly used satellite images ranged from 30 m to 1 km, while gridded climate data models, such as the Climate Hazard Group InfraRed Precipitation with Station (CHIRPS), usually have lower resolutions (i.e., 5.6 km), Climate data from field measurements are generally interpolated to better present a given region, however, this procedure is prone to uncertainties from the influence of local topographic features. Climate-related studies perform either upscaling or downscaling of the spatial resolution of climate data models to address the need for the analyses (e.g., Dong et al., 2019; Hofmann et al., 2022; Nutini et al., 2010). In contrast to the climate data models, field meteorological stations are expected to provide site-specific measurements.

1.4.1.2. Limited length of time period of assessment

Most of the studies from the article collection, except those implementing the VI threshold and year comparison approaches, used two data sources: the reflectance data for grassland conditions and the climatic data upon which drought indices are computed, coming as time series. The length of the time period considered is a crucial aspect of the analyses, first to assess the variability of drought impacts in time by having robust observations in the statistical inferences of grassland sensitivity, and second to determine the vegetation reflectance under normal conditions or the reference state. The assessment of grassland response to drought is mostly limited by the temporal range of the RS data, and rarely by the climate data (Figure 1- 6). The temporal range of grassland reflectance data depends on the lifespan and launch date of the sensor and satellites. For example, despite the important spectral and optical properties of Sentinel 2 data for vegetation monitoring, it was launched in 2015. This limits its use for assessing drought impact compared to the Landsat missions that started in 1972. Such data requirement also explains the predominant use of satellite data compared to airborne or Unmanned Aerial Vehicle (UAV) images which usually offer at best very short time series.

Future studies on grassland response to drought should consider a standardized temporal range or time unit. A minimum time length requirement would allow for better comparisons among studies, leading to efficient use in meta-analyses. For instance, the WMO recommends a 30-year climatic data time series for determining normal climatic conditions (Marchi et al., 2020; Rigal et al. 2019; WMO, 2012). Such recommendations may be extended to the statistical inference approach.



Figure 1-6. Length of grassland reflectance and drought time periods in response assessment studies. Data were extracted from the article collection of this review.

1.4.1.3. Mixed impacts from drought and other disturbances

One key issue in the RS-based assessment of drought impact is that vegetation reflectance may be influenced by various anthropogenic and environmental factors at the same time. Thus resulting in confounded RS signals. For instance, an abrupt decrease in reflectance value in some parts of the light spectrum may be due to drought, as well as the impact of mowing events (Kolecka et al., 2018) or phenological senescence. Dube and Pickup (2001) used spatial assumptions of grazing locations to quantify the anthropogenic and drought impacts of rangelands in Botswana, Africa. Then, only two other studies assessed the impact of multiple sources of disturbance and focused on drought and fire in the tallgrass prairie (Villarreal et al., 2016; Wagle et al., 2019). Liu et al. (2017) suggested the need to account for water management activities to better explain the increasing vegetation cover reflectance despite more frequent drought from 1961 to 2012 in Qinghai Province, China. However, these studies did not quantify the specific impact contributions of each disturbance.

Drought impact assessment is prone to uncertainties that partly result from the confounding effects of multiple sources of disturbance (Wagle et al., 2019). The availability of models and the use of multiple data sources can provide the means to detect the specific influences of these confounding factors.

1.4.2. Opportunities

1.4.2.1. Need for further comparison between grassland types and regions.

In this review, grasslands were considered synonymous with rangelands, pastures, meadows, steppes, and prairies. Several studies in the article collection have stressed the variability of grassland responses among several grassland types. However, these pertained mostly to grassland types found in arid regions and, in a lesser proportion, in temperate regions. Possible reasons for the limited remote sensing studies in the tropical and subtropical biomes are the low probability of drought occurrence (Bhaga et al., 2020) and the limited number of RS data observations due to cloud cover (Carter et al., 2000). Nevertheless, drought impacts are expected to be different due to climatic factors (e.g., seasons) and environmental conditions (e.g., presence of trees). With the influence of climate change, drought frequencies are expected to increase in tropical grasslands, while drought events are expected to occur during the summer in temperate and boreal grasslands (Long and Hutchin, 1991). The establishment of baseline studies would be crucial for future assessments. This review highlights that within one type of grassland and/or biogeographic regions, the variability of drought impacts between different grassland management regimes remains to be unassessed.

1.4.2.2. Exploration of new and existing RS data and techniques

Various RS data and products are continuously being developed with the advancement in sensor technologies and algorithms (Masek et al., 2020). The RS data used so far mainly focused on optical satellite images from the MODIS Terra/Aqua, Landsat missions, NOAA AVHRR, and SPOT missions. The spatial resolution of these sensors ranges from 30 m to about 1,000 m, while the temporal resolution ranges from daily to 16 days. Despite these resolution ranges, none of these satellite products have both high spatial and temporal resolutions. Accordingly, each emphasizes trade-offs between the two resolutions.

In the last decade, Sentinel 2 – composed of two satellites – was launched to monitor Earth systems with new optical satellite images of 10 m and 5-day, spatial and temporal resolutions, respectively. These higher resolutions allow for a better assessment of grassland heterogeneity and temporal changes. However, as with any optical satellite product, it still faces the reduction of image availability due to cloud cover. Sentinel 1, a microwave RS product that collects Synthetic aperture radar (SAR) images can address this issue (Clementini et al., 2020). Abdel-Hamid et al. (2020) demonstrated its potential with the correlation of backscatter coefficients with the Landsat NDVI of grasslands of Eastern Cape, South Africa. NDVI and the VH backscattering correlation yielded R² of 0.79 and 0.89, under the presence and absence of drought conditions, respectively. Sentinel missions have for now

been underexploited because of their lack of historical depth but will become a key source of data for future studies.

The solar-induced fluorescence (SIF) is another rarely used RS data in grassland response to drought assessment. SIF reflects chlorophyll fluorescence based on a narrow range in the electromagnetic wavelength. A low SIF reflects the high absorption of radiation by healthy chlorophyll contents of leaves.

None of the studies of this review used satellite hyperspectral images, which was consistent with the previously conducted reviews on RS application for grassland monitoring (Ali et al., 2016; Reinermann et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2022). This was probably due to hyperspectral images being expensive to acquire and having high computational needs when processing large and complex data (Wambugu et al., 2021). Then the available products (e.g., CHRIS-PROBA, PRISMA, HysIS) show limited spatial and temporal coverage (Filchev, 2014; Qian, 2021).

Instead, Hermanns et al. (2021), used airborne RS – with the HySpex VNIR-1800 sensor – in 2018 and 2019 to determine grassland response to drought in Saxony-Anhalt, Germany. Together with the additional value from multiple narrow wavelengths, this study brings to light the potential of determining the spectral signature of drought-stressed grasslands.

Shafran-Nathan et al. (2013) have demonstrated that vertical photography, with mounted cameras on the field, can estimate vegetation cover of 1 m x 1 m grassland plots at very high spatial and temporal resolution during successive drought years. They concluded that herbaceous plants prioritize productivity over spatial plant cover during the two-year drought in a dry environment by applying a finer and more detailed scale.

The RS products that have been used so far for assessing drought impacts on grassland show the trade-off between spatiotemporal coverage of the images and resolutions (spectral, temporal, and spatial). Recent developments in data fusion may allow assessments to move beyond these limitations. For example, merging images from different missions can generate long and fewer gaps time series of RS data (Bao et al., 2014; Clementini et al., 2020). Most importantly, recent data fusion techniques have allowed to generate NDVI images of 30 m spatial resolution with daily frequency from Landsat and MODIS products with the use of the spatial and temporal adaptive reflectance fusion model (STARFM; Gao et al., 2006; H. Liu et al., 2021).

The approaches identified in this review use parametric methods. The recent development of machine learning techniques opens new avenues for assessing the non-linear response of grasslands to drought and understanding complex influences of driving factors to drought response. Zhou et al. (2022) used a linear and non-linear approach to account for the combined impact of climate change and anthropogenic activities in determining the vegetation response to drought. Their results revealed

97

that vegetation response was highly variable in space. The use of machine learning in grassland response to drought assessment is limited still for now. But it has been used in ecosystems of similar structure to grasslands. Hendrawan et al. (2023) demonstrated the use of a machine learning (random forest) algorithm in understanding the sensitivity and drivers of cropland productivity to drought. For grasslands, Schucknecht et al. (2022) confirmed the improvements of machine learning algorithms (i.e., Gradient Boosting Machine and Random Forest) in estimating grassland biomass using airborne hyperspectral data.

1.4.2.3. Expansion of monitored grassland properties

Studies on grassland response to drought have mostly monitored changes in grassland properties related to primary productivity. Greenness-based indices are used directly or as inputs to other indices and models. However, many other VIs, RS products, and reflectance bands can represent other grassland properties such as moisture content, and phenology. Bajgain et al. (2015) demonstrated the higher sensitivity of LSWI to drought compared to NDVI and EVI, while Kang et al. (2018) completed their analyses with phenological metrics like the start of season, end of season, and length of season, which were highly correlated to drought severity.

Different grassland properties are expected to have different responses to drought. For example, Han et al. (2018) revealed that aboveground biomass (AGB; $R^2 = 0.80$) was more responsive than leaf area index (LAI; $R^2 = 0.56$), to the ratio of transpiration and evapotranspiration (T/ET). Thus, monitoring multiple properties at the same time can improve our understanding of grassland responses to drought. However, RS-based assessments of the response of key grassland properties are still missing such as soil carbon stock, and nitrogen content. Carbon storage in the soil is among the ecosystem services provided by grasslands. However, this service is under threat due to the impact of drought on plant processes and soil conditions. Vegetation diversity is recognized to influence the response to drought (Wagg et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2022) but although to modulate the effect of drought on productivity (Craven et al., 2016; Grange et al., 2021; Isbell et al., 2015). Unfortunately, the mitigating effect of vegetation diversity is sometimes absent (De Boeck et al., 2018; Grace et al., 2007) or negatively impacts resistance to drought as exhibited by aboveground productivity (Vogel et al., 2012; Weisser et al., 2017). RS-based studies should thus consider biodiversity as another grassland property to relate to spatio-temporal differences in RS signals during and after droughts. Remote sensing has the capacity to estimate grassland properties aside from productivity. Existing RS products and techniques allow the determination of soil carbon (Angelopoulou et al., 2019; Ayala Izurieta et al., 2022) and vegetation diversity (Fauvel et al., 2020; Thornley et al., 2023). These two factors are among the important grassland parameters that can help understand grassland response to drought (Lei et al., 2016; Lüscher et al., 2022; Reinthaler et al., 2021).

Finally, we once again emphasize the importance of disentangling the drought impact from other disturbances with the use of RS and multiple data sources. A detailed understanding of the response of multiple grassland properties to drought should increase our scientific knowledge for mitigating or anticipating drought impacts.

1.5. Conclusion

This literature review synthesizes the use of remote sensing in the assessment of grassland response to drought. We highlighted five different assessment approaches with their basic principles, required inputs, and concerns. This also indicated the preference for RS optical images, in contrast to microwave images. We identified several knowledge gaps that may guide the future of remotely sensed assessments of grassland response to drought. The uneven global distribution of studies stresses the need to put more attention to tropical and subtropical grasslands, as well as temperate grasslands in Western Europe, compared to the arid and semi-arid grasslands of Asia and temperate grasslands of North America. Despite several RS studies comparing drought responses between different types of ecosystems (including grasslands) or between broad classes of grasslands, additional investigations are needed to confirm or contradict field experiment results comparing similar grasslands but with different management regimes or biodiversity levels. One key limitation of current studies stands is the disentanglement of drought impacts from confounding factors within RS signals. We recognized that the use of existing and new RS product developments opens new avenues for addressing this.

References

- Abbasi, A. R., Sarvestani, R., Mohammadi, B., & Baghery, A. (2014). Drought Stress-Induced Changes at Physiological and Biochemical Levels in Some Common Vetch (Vicia sativa L.) Genotypes. J. Agr. Sci. Tech., 16(3):505-516
- Abdel-Hamid, A., Dubovyk, O., Graw, V., & Greve, K. (2020). Assessing the impact of drought stress on grasslands using multi-temporal SAR data of Sentinel-1: A case study in Eastern Cape, South Africa. Eur. J. Remote Sens., 53(sup2), 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/22797254.2020.1762514
- AghaKouchak, A., Farahmand, A., Melton, F. S., Teixeira, J., Anderson, M. C., Wardlow, B. D., & Hain, C. R. (2015). Remote sensing of drought: Progress, challenges, and opportunities. Rev. Geophys., 53(2), 452–480. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014RG000456
- Alahacoon, N., & Edirisinghe, M. (2022). A comprehensive assessment of remote sensing and traditional based drought monitoring indices at global and regional scale. Geomat. Nat. Hazards Risk, 13(1), 762– 799. https://doi.org/10.1080/19475705.2022.2044394
- Ali, I., Cawkwell, F., Dwyer, E., Barrett, B., & Green, S. (2016). Satellite remote sensing of grasslands: From observation to management. J Plant Ecol, 9(6), 649–671. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpe/rtw005
- Andreatta, D., Gianelle, D., Scotton, M., & Dalponte, M. (2022). Estimating grassland vegetation cover with remote sensing: A comparison between Landsat-8, Sentinel-2 and PlanetScope imagery. Ecol. Indic., 141, 109102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2022.109102
- Angelopoulou, T., Tziolas, N., Balafoutis, A., Zalidis, G., & Bochtis, D. (2019). Remote Sensing Techniques for Soil Organic Carbon Estimation: A Review. Remote Sens., 11(6), 676. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11060676
- Atzberger, C. (2013). Advances in Remote Sensing of Agriculture: Context Description, Existing Operational Monitoring Systems and Major Information Needs. Remote Sens., 5(2), 949–981. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs5020949
- Ayala Izurieta, J. E., Jara Santillán, C. A., Márquez, C. O., García, V. J., Rivera-Caicedo, J. P., Van Wittenberghe, S., Delegido, J., & Verrelst, J. (2022). Improving the remote estimation of soil organic carbon in complex ecosystems with Sentinel-2 and GIS using Gaussian processes regression. Plant Soil, 479(1–2), 159–183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-022-05506-1
- Bai, Y., & Cotrufo, M. F. (2022). Grassland soil carbon sequestration: Current understanding, challenges, and solutions. Science, 377(6606), 603–608. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abo2380
- Bajgain, R., Xiao, X., Wagle, P., Basara, J., & Zhou, Y. (2015). Sensitivity analysis of vegetation indices to drought over two tallgrass prairie sites. ISPRS J. Photogramm. Remote Sens., 108, 151–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2015.07.004
- Bao, G., Qin, Z., Bao, Y., Zhou, Y., Li, W., & Sanjjav, A. (2014). NDVI-Based Long-Term Vegetation Dynamics and Its Response to Climatic Change in the Mongolian Plateau. Remote Sens., 6(9), 8337– 8358. MDPI. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs6098337
- Bayat, B., van der Tol, C., & Verhoef, W. (2018). Integrating satellite optical and thermal infrared observations for improving daily ecosystem functioning estimations during a drought episode. Remote Sens. Environ. 209, 375–3943. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2018.02.027
- Bégué, A., Arvor, D., Bellon, B., Betbeder, J., de Abelleyra, D., P. D. Ferraz, R., Lebourgeois, V., Lelong, C., Simões, M., & R. Verón, S. (2018). Remote Sensing and Cropping Practices: A Review. Remote Sens., 10(2), 99. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10010099
- Bengtsson, J., Bullock, J. M., Egoh, B., Everson, C., Everson, T., O'Connor, T., O'Farrell, P. J., Smith, H. G., & Lindborg, R. (2019). Grasslands-more important for ecosystem services than you might think. Ecosphere, 10(2), e02582. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2582
- Bhaga, T. D., Dube, T., Shekede, M. D., & Shoko, C. (2020). Impacts of Climate Variability and Drought on Surface Water Resources in Sub-Saharan Africa Using Remote Sensing: A Review. Remote Sens., 12(24), 4184. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12244184
- Brookshire, E. N. J., & Weaver, T. (2015). Long-term decline in grassland productivity driven by increasing dryness. Nat. Commun., 6(1), 7148. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8148

- Brown, J. F., Wardlow, B. D., Tadesse, T., Hayes, M. J., & Reed, B. C. (2008). The Vegetation Drought Response Index (VegDRI): A New Integrated Approach for Monitoring Drought Stress in Vegetation. GIsci. Remote Sens., 45(1), 16–46. https://doi.org/10.2747/1548-1603.45.1.16
- Bütof, A., von Riedmatten, L. R., Dormann, C. F., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Welk, E., & Bruelheide, H. (2012). The responses of grassland plants to experimentally simulated climate change depend on land use and region. Glob. Chang. Biol., 18(1), 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02539.x
- Buttler, A., Mariotte, P., Meisser, M., Guillaume, T., Signarbieux, C., Vitra, A., Preux, S., Mercier, G., Quezada, J., Bragazza, L., & Gavazov, K. (2019). Drought-induced decline of productivity in the dominant grassland species Lolium perenne L. depends on soil type and prevailing climatic conditions. Soil Biol. Biochem., 132, 47–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2019.01.026
- Byrne, K. M., Adler, P. B., & Lauenroth, W. K. (2017). Contrasting effects of precipitation manipulations in two Great Plains plant communities. J. Veg. Sci., 28(2), 238–249. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12486
- Cao, X., Liu, Y., Cui, X., Chen, J., & Chen, X. (2019). Mechanisms, monitoring and modeling of shrub encroachment into grassland: A review. Int. J. Digit. Earth, 12(6), 625–641. https://doi.org/10.1080/17538947.2018.1478004
- Carrão, H., Naumann, G., & Barbosa, P. (2016). Mapping global patterns of drought risk: An empirical framework based on sub-national estimates of hazard, exposure and vulnerability. Glob. Environ. Change, 39, 108–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2016.04.012
- Carroll, C. J. W., Slette, I. J., Griffin-Nolan, R. J., Baur, L. E., Hoffman, A. M., Denton, E. M., Gray, J. E., Post, A. K., Johnston, M. K., Yu, Q., Collins, S. L., Luo, Y., Smith, M. D., & Knapp, A. K. (2021). Is a drought a drought in grasslands? Productivity responses to different types of drought. Oecologia, 197(4), 1017–1026. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-020-04793-8
- Carter, J. O., Hall, W. B., Brook, K. D., McKeon, G. M., Day, K. A., & Paull, C. J. (2000). Aussie Grass: Applications of Seasonal Climate Forecasting in Agricultural and Natural Ecosystems. In G. L. Hammer, N. Nicholls, & C. Mitchell (Eds.), Applications of Seasonal Climate Forecasting in Agricultural and Natural Ecosystems 21, 329–349. Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-015-9351-9_20
- Chang, J., Ciais, P., Gasser, T., Smith, P., Herrero, M., Havlík, P., Obersteiner, M., Guenet, B., Goll, D. S., Li, W., Naipal, V., Peng, S., Qiu, C., Tian, H., Viovy, N., Yue, C., & Zhu, D. (2021). Climate warming from managed grasslands cancels the cooling effect of carbon sinks in sparsely grazed and natural grasslands. Nat. Commun., 12(1), 118. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-20406-7
- Chu, T., & Guo, X. (2013). Remote Sensing Techniques in Monitoring Post-Fire Effects and Patterns of Forest Recovery in Boreal Forest Regions: A Review. Remote Sens., 6(1), 470–520. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs6010470
- Clementini, C., Pomente, A., Latini, D., Kanamaru, H., Vuolo, M. R., Heureux, A., Fujisawa, M., Schiavon, G., & Del Frate, F. (2020). Long-Term Grass Biomass Estimation of Pastures from Satellite Data. Remote Sens., 12(13), 2160. MDPI. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12132160
- Craven, D., Isbell, F., Manning, P., Connolly, J., Bruelheide, H., Ebeling, A., Roscher, C., van Ruijven, J., Weigelt, A., Wilsey, B., Beierkuhnlein, C., de Luca, E., Griffin, J. N., Hautier, Y., Hector, A., Jentsch, A., Kreyling, J., Lanta, V., Loreau, M., ... Eisenhauer, N. (2016). Plant diversity effects on grassland productivity are robust to both nutrient enrichment and drought. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond., B, Biol. Sci., 371(1694), 20150277. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2015.0277
- Dai, A. (2011). Drought under global warming: A review. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Clim Change, 2(1), 45–65. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.81
- De Boeck, H. J., Hiltbrunner, E., Verlinden, M., Bassin, S., & Zeiter, M. (2018). Legacy Effects of Climate Extremes in Alpine Grassland. Front. Plant Sci., 9, 1586. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01586
- De Boeck, H. J., Vicca, S., Roy, J., Nijs, I., Milcu, A., Kreyling, J., Jentsch, A., Chabbi, A., Campioli, M., Callaghan, T., Beierkuhnlein, C., & Beier, C. (2015). Global Change Experiments: Challenges and Opportunities. BioScience, 65(9), 922–931. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biv099
- De Keersmaecker, W., Lhermitte, S., Tits, L., Honnay, O., Somers, B., & Coppin, P. (2015). A model quantifying global vegetation resistance and resilience to short-term climate anomalies and their

relationship with vegetation cover: Global vegetation resistance and resilience. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr., 24(5), 539–548. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12279

- Deléglise, C., Meisser, M., Mosimann, E., Spiegelberger, T., Signarbieux, C., Jeangros, B., & Buttler, A. (2015). Drought-induced shifts in plants traits, yields and nutritive value under realistic grazing and mowing managements in a mountain grassland. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ., 213, 94–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.07.020
- Deng, L., Peng, C., Kim, D.-G., Li, J., Liu, Y., Hai, X., Liu, Q., Huang, C., Shangguan, Z., & Kuzyakov, Y. (2021). Drought effects on soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics in global natural ecosystems. Earth-Sci. Rev., 214, 103501. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2020.103501
- Deshayes, M., Guyon, D., Jeanjean, H., Stach, N., Jolly, A., & Hagolle, O. (2006). The contribution of remote sensing to the assessment of drought effects in forest ecosystems. Ann. For. Sci., 63(6), 579–595. https://doi.org/10.1051/forest:2006045
- Dinerstein, E., Olson, D., Joshi, A., Vynne, C., Burgess, N. D., Wikramanayake, E., Hahn, N., Palminteri, S., Hedao, P., Noss, R., Hansen, M., Locke, H., Ellis, E. C., Jones, B., Barber, C. V., Hayes, R., Kormos, C., Martin, V., Crist, E., ... Saleem, M. (2017). An Ecoregion-Based Approach to Protecting Half the Terrestrial Realm. BioScience, 67(6), 534–545. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/bix014
- Dixon, A. P., Faber-Langendoen, D., Josse, C., Morrison, J., & Loucks, C. J. (2014). Distribution mapping of world grassland types. J. Biogeogr., 41(11), 2003–2019. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12381
- Doležal, J., Altman, J., Jandová, V., Chytrý, M., Conti, L., Méndez-Castro, F. E., Klimešová, J., Zelený, D., & Ottaviani, G. (2022). Climate warming and extended droughts drive establishment and growth dynamics in temperate grassland plants. Agric. For. Meteorol., 313, 108762. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2021.108762
- Dong, C., MacDonald, G., Okin, G. S., & Gillespie, T. W. (2019). Quantifying Drought Sensitivity of Mediterranean Climate Vegetation to Recent Warming: A Case Study in Southern California. Remote Sens., 11(24). MDPI. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11242902
- Drusch, M., & Crewell, S. (2005). Principles of Radiative Transfer. In M. G. Anderson & J. J. McDonnell (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Hydrological Sciences (p. hsa049). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/0470848944.hsa049
- Dube, O., & Pickup, G. (2001). Effects of rainfall variability and communal and semi-commercial grazing on land cover in southern African rangelands. Clim. Res., 17(2, SI), 195–208. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr017195
- Fauvel, M., Lopes, M., Dubo, T., Rivers-Moore, J., Frison, P.-L., Gross, N., & Ouin, A. (2020). Prediction of plant diversity in grasslands using Sentinel-1 and -2 satellite image time series. Remote Sens. Environ., 237, 111536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.111536
- Feng Gao, Masek, J., Schwaller, M., & Hall, F. (2006). On the blending of the Landsat and MODIS surface reflectance: Predicting daily Landsat surface reflectance. IEEE Trans Geosci Remote, 44(8), 2207– 2218. https://doi.org/10.1109/TGRS.2006.872081
- Filchev, L. (2014). Satellite Hyperspectral Earth Observation Missions A Review. Aerospace Research in Bulgaria. 26. 191-207.
- Fundisi, E., Tesfamichael, S. G., & Ahmed, F. (2022). Remote sensing of savanna woody species diversity: A systematic review of data types and assessment methods. PLoS One, 17(12), e0278529. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0278529
- Gao, Y., Skutsch, M., Paneque-Gálvez, J., & Ghilardi, A. (2020). Remote sensing of forest degradation: A review. Environ. Res. Lett., 15(10), 103001. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abaad7
- Garbulsky, M., & Paruelo, J. (2004). Remote sensing of protected areas to derive baseline vegetation functioning characteristics. J. Veg. Sci., 15. 711-720. 10.1111/j.1654-1103.2004.tb02313.x.
- Garioud, A., Giordano, S., Valero, S., & Mallet, C. (2019). Challenges in Grassland Mowing Event Detection with Multimodal Sentinel Images. 2019 10th International Workshop on the Analysis of Multitemporal Remote Sensing Images (MultiTemp), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1109/Multi-Temp.2019.8866914

- Gerhards, M., Schlerf, M., Mallick, K., & Udelhoven, T. (2019). Challenges and Future Perspectives of Multi-/Hyperspectral Thermal Infrared Remote Sensing for Crop Water-Stress Detection: A Review. Remote Sens., 11(10), 1240. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11101240
- Gilgen, A. K., & Buchmann, N. (2009). Response of temperate grasslands at different altitudes to simulated summer drought differed but scaled with annual precipitation. Biogeosciences, 6, 5217–5250. 10.5194/bgd-6-5217-2009.
- Gitelson, A. A., Gritz, Y., & Merzlyak, M. N. (2003). Relationships between leaf chlorophyll content and spectral reflectance and algorithms for non-destructive chlorophyll assessment in higher plant leaves. J. Plant Physiol., 160(3), 271–282. https://doi.org/10.1078/0176-1617-00887
- Gleason, C. J., & Im, J. (2011). A Review of Remote Sensing of Forest Biomass and Biofuel: Options for Small-Area Applications. GIsci Remote Sens., 48(2), 141–170. https://doi.org/10.2747/1548-1603.48.2.141
- Godde, C. M., Boone, R. B., Ash, A. J., Waha, K., Sloat, L. L., Thornton, P. K., & Herrero, M. (2020). Global rangeland production systems and livelihoods at threat under climate change and variability. Environ. Res. Lett., 15(4), 044021. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab7395
- Grace, J. B., Michael Anderson, T., Smith, M. D., Seabloom, E., Andelman, S. J., Meche, G., Weiher, E., Allain, L. K., Jutila, H., Sankaran, M., Knops, J., Ritchie, M., & Willig, M. R. (2007). Does species diversity limit productivity in natural grassland communities? Ecol. Lett., 10(8), 680–689. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01058.x
- Grange, G., Finn, J. A., & Brophy, C. (2021). Plant diversity enhanced yield and mitigated drought impacts in intensively managed grassland communities. J. Appl. Ecol., 58(9), 1864–1875. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13894
- Graw, V., Ghazaryan, G., Dall, K., Gomez, A. D., Abdel-Hamid, A., Jordaan, A., Piroska, R., Post, J., Szarzynski, J., Walz, Y., & Dubovyk, O. (2017). Drought Dynamics and Vegetation Productivity in Different Land Management Systems of Eastern Cape, South Africa-A Remote Sensing Perspective. Sustainability, 9(10). MDPI. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9101728
- Griffin-Nolan, R. J., Carroll, C. J. W., Denton, E. M., Johnston, M. K., Collins, S. L., Smith, M. D., & Knapp, A. K. (2018). Legacy effects of a regional drought on aboveground net primary production in six central US grasslands. Plant Ecol., 219(5), 505–515. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-018-0813-7
- Guo, M., Li, J., Sheng, C., Xu, J., & Wu, L. (2017). A Review of Wetland Remote Sensing. Sensors, 17(4), 777. https://doi.org/10.3390/s17040777
- Han, D., Wang, G., Liu, T., Xue, B.-L., Kuczera, G., & Xu, X. (2018). Hydroclimatic response of evapotranspiration partitioning to prolonged droughts in semiarid grassland. J. Hydrol., 563, 766–777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2018.06.048
- Hazaymeh, K., K. Hassan, Q., & 1 Department of Geomatics Engineering, Schulich School of Engineering, University of Calgary, 2500 University Drive NW, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2N 1N4. (2016). Remote sensing of agricultural drought monitoring: A state of art review. AIMS Environ. Sci., 3(4), 604–630. https://doi.org/10.3934/environsci.2016.4.604
- He, Y. (2014). The effect of precipitation on vegetation cover over three landscape units in a protected semiarid grassland: Temporal dynamics and suitable climatic index. In J. Arid Environ., 109, 74–82. Academic Press Ltd- Elsevier Science Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2014.05.022
- Hendrawan, V. S. A., Komori, D., & Kim, W. (2023). Possible factors determining global-scale patterns of crop yield sensitivity to drought. PLoS One, 18(2), e0281287. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0281287
- Hermance, J. F., Augustine, D. J., & Derner, J. D. (2015). Quantifying characteristic growth dynamics in a semi-arid grassland ecosystem by predicting short-term NDVI phenology from daily rainfall: A simple four parameter coupled-reservoir model. Int. J. Remote Sens. 36(22), 5637–5663. Taylor & Francis Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2015.1103916
- Hermanns, F., Pohl, F., Rebmann, C., Schulz, G., Werban, U., & Lausch, A. (2021). Inferring Grassland Drought Stress with Unsupervised Learning from Airborne Hyperspectral VNIR Imagery. Remote Sens., 13(10), 1885. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13101885

- Hess, S., Alve, E., Andersen, T. J., & Joranger, T. (2020). Defining ecological reference conditions in naturally stressed environments – How difficult is it? Mar. Environ. Res., 156, 104885. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2020.104885
- Hofer, D., Suter, M., Haughey, E., Finn, J. A., Hoekstra, N. J., Buchmann, N., & Lüscher, A. (2016). Yield of temperate forage grassland species is either largely resistant or resilient to experimental summer drought. J. Appl. Ecol., 53(4), 1023–1034. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12694
- Hofmann, M., Volosciuk, C., Dubrovský, M., Maraun, D., & Schultz, H. R. (2022). Downscaling of climate change scenarios for a high-resolution, site-specific assessment of drought stress risk for two viticultural regions with heterogeneous landscapes. Earth Syst. Dyn., 13(2), 911–934. https://doi.org/10.5194/esd-13-911-2022
- Howden, S. M., Soussana, J.-F., Tubiello, F. N., Chhetri, N., Dunlop, M., & Meinke, H. (2007). Adapting agriculture to climate change. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A., 104, 19691–19696. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0701890104
- Huang, H., Yang, L., Zhang, L., Pu, Y., Yang, C., Wu, Q., Cai, Y., Shen, F., & Zhou, C. (2022). A review on digital mapping of soil carbon in cropland: Progress, challenge, and prospect. Environ. Res. Lett., 17(12), 123004. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aca41e
- Inoubli, R., Abbes, A. B., Farah, I. R., Singh, V., Tadesse, T., & Sattari, M. T. (2020). A review of drought monitoring using remote sensing and data mining methods. 2020 5th International Conference on Advanced Technologies for Signal and Image Processing (ATSIP), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1109/ATSIP49331.2020.9231697
- IPCC, 2021: Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, In press, doi:10.1017/9781009157896.
- Isbell, F., Craven, D., Connolly, J., Loreau, M., Schmid, B., Beierkuhnlein, C., Bezemer, T. M., Bonin, C., Bruelheide, H., de Luca, E., Ebeling, A., Griffin, J. N., Guo, Q., Hautier, Y., Hector, A., Jentsch, A., Kreyling, J., Lanta, V., Manning, P., ... Eisenhauer, N. (2015). Biodiversity increases the resistance of ecosystem productivity to climate extremes. Nature, 526(7574), 574–577. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15374
- Ji, L., & Peters, A. J. (2003). Assessing vegetation response to drought in the northern Great Plains using vegetation and drought indices. Remote Sens. Environ., 87(1), 85–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(03)00174-3
- Jiang, X., & Wang, L. (2022). Grassland-based ruminant farming systems in China: Potential, challenges and a way forward. Animal Nutrition, 10, 243–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2022.04.007
- Jiao, W., Wang, L., & McCabe, M. F. (2021). Multi-sensor remote sensing for drought characterization: Current status, opportunities and a roadmap for the future. Remote Sens. Environ., 256, 112313. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2021.112313
- Jones, M. B., & Donnelly, A. (2004). Carbon sequestration in temperate grassland ecosystems and the influence of management, climate and elevated CO 2. New Phytologist, 164(3), 423–439. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01201.x
- Kang, W., Wang, T., & Liu, S. (2018). The Response of Vegetation Phenology and Productivity to Drought in Semi-Arid Regions of Northern China. Remote Sens., 10(5). MDPI. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10050727
- Knapp, A. K., Avolio, M. L., Beier, C., Carroll, C. J. W., Collins, S. L., Dukes, J. S., Fraser, L. H., Griffin-Nolan, R. J., Hoover, D. L., Jentsch, A., Loik, M. E., Phillips, R. P., Post, A. K., Sala, O. E., Slette, I. J., Yahdjian, L., & Smith, M. D. (2017). Pushing precipitation to the extremes in distributed experiments: Recommendations for simulating wet and dry years. Glob. Chang. Biol., 23(5), 1774–1782. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13504
- Knapp, A. K., Carroll, C. J. W., Denton, E. M., La Pierre, K. J., Collins, S. L., & Smith, M. D. (2015). Differential sensitivity to regional-scale drought in six central US grasslands. Oecologia, 177(4), 949– 957. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-015-3233-6

- Knapp, A. K., Hoover, D. L., Wilcox, K. R., Avolio, M. L., Koerner, S. E., La Pierre, K. J., Loik, M. E., Luo, Y., Sala, O. E., & Smith, M. D. (2015). Characterizing differences in precipitation regimes of extreme wet and dry years: Implications for climate change experiments. Glob. Chang. Biol., 21(7), 2624–2633. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12888
- Kogan, F. (2006). Early drought detection, monitoring and assessment of crop losses from space: Global approach—Art. No. 641209. In Kogan, F and Habib, S and Hegde, VS and Matsuoka, M (Ed.), Disaster Forewarning Diagnostic Methods and Management 6412, 41209. SPIE-Int Soc Optical Engineering. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.693580
- Kogan, F. N. (1990). Remote sensing of weather impacts on vegetation in non-homogeneous areas. Int. J. Remote Sens., 11(8), 1405–1419. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431169008955102
- Kogan, F. N. (1995). Application of vegetation index and brightness temperature for drought detection. Adv. Space Res., 15(11), 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/0273-1177(95)00079-T
- Kolecka, N., Ginzler, C., Pazur, R., Price, B., & Verburg, P. (2018). Regional Scale Mapping of Grassland Mowing Frequency with Sentinel-2 Time Series. Remote Sens., 10(8), 1221. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10081221
- Konings, A. G., Saatchi, S. S., Frankenberg, C., Keller, M., Leshyk, V., Anderegg, W. R. L., Humphrey, V., Matheny, A. M., Trugman, A., Sack, L., Agee, E., Barnes, M. L., Binks, O., Cawse-Nicholson, K., Christoffersen, B. O., Entekhabi, D., Gentine, P., Holtzman, N. M., Katul, G. G., ... Zuidema, P. A. (2021). Detecting forest response to droughts with global observations of vegetation water content. Glob. Chang. Biol., 27(23), 6005–6024. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15872
- Kowalski, K., Okujeni, A., & Hostert, P. (2023). A generalized framework for drought monitoring across Central European grassland gradients with Sentinel-2 time series. Remote Sens. Environ., 286, 113449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2022.113449
- Kowalski, K., Okujeni, A., Brell, M., & Hostert, P. (2022). Quantifying drought effects in Central European grasslands through regression-based unmixing of intra-annual Sentinel-2 time series. Remote Sens. Environ., 268. Elsevier Science Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2021.112781
- Kreyling, J., Dengler, J., Walter, J., Velev, N., Ugurlu, E., Sopotlieva, D., Ransijn, J., Picon-Cochard, C., Nijs, I., Hernandez, P., Güler, B., von Gillhaussen, P., De Boeck, H. J., Bloor, J. M. G., Berwaers, S., Beierkuhnlein, C., Arfin Khan, M. A. S., Apostolova, I., Altan, Y., ... Jentsch, A. (2017). Species richness effects on grassland recovery from drought depend on community productivity in a multisite experiment. Ecol. Lett., 20(11), 1405–1413. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12848
- Kröel-Dulay, G., Mojzes, A., Szitár, K., Bahn, M., Batáry, P., Beier, C., Bilton, M., De Boeck, H. J., Dukes, J. S., Estiarte, M., Holub, P., Jentsch, A., Schmidt, I. K., Kreyling, J., Reinsch, S., Larsen, K. S., Sternberg, M., Tielbörger, K., Tietema, A., ... Peñuelas, J. (2022). Field experiments underestimate aboveground biomass response to drought. Nat. Ecol. Evol. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-022-01685-3
- Kuenzer, C., & Knauer, K. (2013). Remote sensing of rice crop areas. Int. J. Remote Sens., 34(6), 2101–2139. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2012.738946
- Kuenzer, C., Bluemel, A., Gebhardt, S., Quoc, T. V., & Dech, S. (2011). Remote Sensing of Mangrove Ecosystems: A Review. Remote Sens., 3(5), 878–928. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs3050878
- Lei, T., Pang, Z., Wang, X., Li, L., Fu, J., Kan, G., Zhang, X., Ding, L., Li, J., Huang, S., & Shao, C. (2016). Drought and Carbon Cycling of Grassland Ecosystems under Global Change: A Review. Water, 8(10), 460. https://doi.org/10.3390/w8100460
- Lei, T., Wu, J., Wang, J., Shao, C., Wang, W., Chen, D., & Li, X. (2022). The Net Influence of Drought on Grassland Productivity over the Past 50 Years. Sustainability, 14(19), 12374. https://doi.org/10.3390/su141912374
- Li, L., Zhang, Y., Liu, L., Wu, J., Li, S., Zhang, H., Zhang, B., Ding, M., Wang, Z., & Paudel, B. (2018). Current challenges in distinguishing climatic and anthropogenic contributions to alpine grassland variation on the Tibetan Plateau. Ecol. Evol., 8(11), 5949–5963. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.4099
- Li, Z., Xu, D., & Guo, X. (2014). Remote Sensing of Ecosystem Health: Opportunities, Challenges, and Future Perspectives. Sensors, 14(11), 21117–21139. https://doi.org/10.3390/s141121117

- Liu, G., Yi, Z., Yu, F., & Jiang, C. (2012). Study on Effect of Drought Based on Time Series on Grassland Vegetation in Eastern Inner Mongolia. In Iran pour, R and Zhao, J and Wang, A and Yang, FL and Li, X (Ed.), Advances in Environmental Science and Engineering, 518–523, 5306–5315. Trans Tech Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.518-523.5306
- Liu, H., Jin, Y., Roche, L. M., O'Geen, A. T., & Dahlgren, R. A. (2021). Understanding spatial variability of forage production in California grasslands: Delineating climate, topography and soil controls. Environ. Res. Lett. 16(1). IOP Publishing Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abc64d
- Liu, S., Zhang, Y., Cheng, F., Hou, X., & Zhao, S. (2017). Response of Grassland Degradation to Drought at Different Time-Scales in Qinghai Province: Spatio-Temporal Characteristics, Correlation, and Implications. Remote Sens., 9(12), 1329. MDPI. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs9121329
- Liu, Y., You, C., Zhang, Y., Chen, S., Zhang, Z., Li, J., & Wu, Y. (2021). Resistance and resilience of grasslands to drought detected by SIF in inner Mongolia, China. Agric. For. Meteorol., 308–309, 108567. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2021.108567
- Liu, Z., Li, C., Zhou, P., & Chen, X. (2016). A probabilistic assessment of the likelihood of vegetation drought under varying climate conditions across China. Sci. Rep., 6(1), 35105. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep35105
- Long, S. P., & Hutchin, P. R. (1991). Primary Production in Grasslands and Coniferous Forests with Climate Change: An Overview. Ecol. Appl., 1(2), 139–156. https://doi.org/10.2307/1941807
- Lugo, A. E. (2008). Visible and invisible effects of hurricanes on forest ecosystems: An international review. Austral Ecol., 33(4), 368–398. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2008.01894.x
- Lüscher, A., Barkaoui, K., Finn, J. A., Suter, D., Suter, M., & Volaire, F. (2022). Using plant diversity to reduce vulnerability and increase drought resilience of permanent and sown productive grasslands. Grass Forage Sci., gfs.12578. https://doi.org/10.1111/gfs.12578
- Marchi, M., Castellanos-Acuña, D., Hamann, A., Wang, T., Ray, D., & Menzel, A. (2020). ClimateEU, scalefree climate normals, historical time series, and future projections for Europe. Sci. Data, 7(1), 428. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-020-00763-0
- Masek, J. G., Hayes, D. J., Joseph Hughes, M., Healey, S. P., & Turner, D. P. (2015). The role of remote sensing in process-scaling studies of managed forest ecosystems. For. Ecol. Manag., 355, 109–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.05.032
- Masek, J. G., Wulder, M. A., Markham, B., McCorkel, J., Crawford, C. J., Storey, J., & Jenstrom, D. T. (2020). Landsat 9: Empowering open science and applications through continuity. Remote Sens. Environ., 248, 111968. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2020.111968
- Matos, I. S., Menor, I. O., Rifai, S. W., & Rosado, B. H. P. (2020). Deciphering the stability of grassland productivity in response to rainfall manipulation experiments. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr., 29(3), 558–572. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.13039
- McVicar, T. R., & Jupp, D. L. B. (1998). The current and potential operational uses of remote sensing to aid decisions on drought exceptional circumstances in Australia: A review. Agric. Syst., 57(3), 399–468. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0308-521X(98)00026-2
- Meza, I., Siebert, S., Döll, P., Kusche, J., Herbert, C., Eyshi Rezaei, E., Nouri, H., Gerdener, H., Popat, E., Frischen, J., Naumann, G., Vogt, J. V., Walz, Y., Sebesvari, Z., & Hagenlocher, M. (2020). Globalscale drought risk assessment for agricultural systems. Nat. Hazards Earth Syst. Sci., 20(2), 695–712. https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-20-695-2020
- Minasny, B., Berglund, Ö., Connolly, J., Hedley, C., de Vries, F., Gimona, A., Kempen, B., Kidd, D., Lilja, H., Malone, B., McBratney, A., Roudier, P., O'Rourke, S., Rudiyanto, Padarian, J., Poggio, L., ten Caten, A., Thompson, D., Tuve, C., & Widyatmanti, W. (2019). Digital mapping of peatlands – A critical review. Earth-Sci. Rev., 196, 102870. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2019.05.014
- Mishra, A. K., & Singh, V. P. (2010). A review of drought concepts. J. Hydrol., 391(1–2), 202–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2010.07.012
- Moinet, G., Midwood, A., Hunt, J., Rumpel, C., Millard, P., & Chabbi, A. (2019). Grassland Management Influences the Response of Soil Respiration to Drought. Agronomy, 9(3), 124. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy9030124
- Müller, L. M., & Bahn, M. (2022). Drought legacies and ecosystem responses to subsequent drought. Glob. Chang. Biol., 28(17), 5086–5103. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.16270
- Nejadrekabi, M., Eslamian, S., & Zareian, M. J. (2022). Spatial statistics techniques for SPEI and NDVI drought indices: A case study of Khuzestan Province. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol., 19(7), 6573–6594. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-021-03852-8
- Newbold, T., Hudson, L. N., Arnell, A. P., Contu, S., De Palma, A., Ferrier, S., Hill, S. L. L., Hoskins, A. J., Lysenko, I., Phillips, H. R. P., Burton, V. J., Chng, C. W. T., Emerson, S., Gao, D., Pask-Hale, G., Hutton, J., Jung, M., Sanchez-Ortiz, K., Simmons, B. I., ... Purvis, A. (2016). Has land use pushed terrestrial biodiversity beyond the planetary boundary? A global assessment. Science, 353(6296), 288– 291. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf2201
- Nutini, F., Boschetti, M., Brivio, P. A., Bartholome, E., Hoscilo, A., Stroppiana, D., & Bocchi, S. (2010).
 Analysis of vegetation pasture climate response on Sahel region through 10 years remote sensed data.
 In Neale, CMU and Maltese, A (Ed.), Remote Sensing for Agriculture, Ecosystems, And Hydrology XII 7824. SPIE-Int Soc Optical Engineering. https://doi.org/10.1117/12.865205
- O'Mara, F. P. (2012). The role of grasslands in food security and climate change. Ann. Bot., 110(6), 1263–1270. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcs209
- Olson, D. M., Dinerstein, E., Wikramanayake, E. D., Burgess, N. D., Powell, G. V. N., Underwood, E. C., D'amico, J. A., Itoua, I., Strand, H. E., Morrison, J. C., Loucks, C. J., Allnutt, T. F., Ricketts, T. H., Kura, Y., Lamoreux, J. F., Wettengel, W. W., Hedao, P., & Kassem, K. R. (2001). Terrestrial Ecoregions of the World: A New Map of Life on Earth. BioScience, 51(11), 933. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2001)051[0933:TEOTWA]2.0.CO;2
- Ommen, O. E., & Manderscheid, R. (1999). Chlorophyll content of spring wheat flag leaves grown under elevated CO2 concentrations and other environmental stresses within the 'ESPACE-wheat' project. Eur. J. Agron., 10(1999), 197-203. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1161-0301(99)00011-8
- Ozdogan, M., Yang, Y., Allez, G., & Cervantes, C. (2010). Remote Sensing of Irrigated Agriculture: Opportunities and Challenges. Remote Sens., 2(9), 2274–2304. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs2092274
- Pellaton, R., Lellei-Kovács, E., & Báldi, A. (2022). Cultural ecosystem services in European grasslands: A systematic review of threats. Ambio, 51(12), 2462–2477. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-022-01755-7
- Pogačar, T., Žnidaršič, Z., Vlahović, Ž., Črepinšek, Z., & Sušnik, A. (2022). Grassland Model Based Evaluation of Drought Indices: A Case Study from the Slovenian Alpine Region. Agronomy, 12(4), 936. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy12040936
- Pollock, M. M., Beechie, T. J., & Imaki, H. (2012). Using reference conditions in ecosystem restoration: An example for riparian conifer forests in the Pacific Northwest. Ecosphere, 3(11), art98. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES12-00175.1
- Qian, S. (2021). Hyperspectral Satellites, Evolution and Development History. IEEE J. Sel. Top. Appl. Earth Obs. Remote Sens., 1-1. 10.1109/JSTARS.2021.3090256.
- Ramankutty, N., Evan, A.T., Monfreda, C., and Foley, J.A. (2010). Global Agricultural Lands: Pastures, 2000. Palisades, New York: NASA Socioeconomic Data and Applications Center (SEDAC). https://doi.org/10.7927/H47H1GGR. (accessed 10 June 2022)
- Rapinel, S., Rossignol, N., Hubert-Moy, L., Bouzillé, J.-B., & Bonis, A. (2018). Mapping grassland plant communities using a fuzzy approach to address floristic and spectral uncertainty. Appl. Veg. Sci., 21(4), 678–693. https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12396
- Reinermann, S., Asam, S., & Kuenzer, C. (2020). Remote Sensing of Grassland Production and Management—A Review. Remote Sens., 12(12), 1949. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12121949
- Reinermann, S., Gessner, U., Asam, S., Ullmann, T., Schucknecht, A., & Kuenzer, C. (2022). Detection of Grassland Mowing Events for Germany by Combining Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 Time Series. Remote Sens., 14(7), 1647. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14071647
- Reinthaler, D., Harris, E., Pötsch, E. M., Herndl, M., Richter, A., Wachter, H., & Bahn, M. (2021). Responses of grassland soil CO2 production and fluxes to drought are shifted in a warmer climate under elevated CO2. Soil Biol. Biochem., 163, 108436. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2021.108436

- Rendon, P., Steinhoff-Knopp, B., Saggau, P., & Burkhard, B. (2020). Assessment of the relationships between agroecosystem condition and the ecosystem service soil erosion regulation in Northern Germany. PLoS One, 15(12), e0234288. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0234288
- Rigal, A., Azaïs, J.-M., & Ribes, A. (2019). Estimating daily climatological normals in a changing climate. Clim. Dyn., 53(1–2), 275–286. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-018-4584-6
- Sanchez, R. A., Hall, A. J., Trapani, N., & de Hunau, R. C. (1983). Effects of water stress on the chlorophyll content, nitrogen level and photosynthesis of leaves of two maize genotypes. Photosynth. Res., 4(1), 35–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00041799
- Schucknecht, A., Seo, B., Krämer, A., Asam, S., Atzberger, C., & Kiese, R. (2022). Estimating dry biomass and plant nitrogen concentration in pre-Alpine grasslands with low-cost UAS-borne multispectral data a comparison of sensors, algorithms, and predictor sets. Biogeosciences. 19. 699–2727. 10.5194/bg-19-2699-2022.
- Senf, C., Seidl, R., & Hostert, P. (2017). Remote sensing of forest insect disturbances: Current state and future directions. Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf., 60, 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2017.04.004
- Shafran-Nathan, R., Svoray, T., & Perevolotsky, A. (2013). Continuous droughts' effect on herbaceous vegetation cover and productivity in rangelands: Results from close-range photography and spatial analysis. Int. J. Remote Sens., 34(17), 6263–6281. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2013.793864
- Shoshany, M. (2000). Satellite remote sensing of natural Mediterranean vegetation: A review within an ecological context. Prog. Phys. Geogr.: Earth and Environment, 24(2), 153–178. https://doi.org/10.1177/030913330002400201
- Siehoff, S., Lennartz, G., Heilburg, I. C., Roß-Nickoll, M., Ratte, H. T., & Preuss, T. G. (2011). Process-based modeling of grassland dynamics built on ecological indicator values for land use. Ecol. Modell., 222(23–24), 3854–3868. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.10.003
- Sims, D. A., & Gamon, J. A. (2002). Relationships between leaf pigment content and spectral reflectance across a wide range of species, leaf structures and developmental stages. Remote Sens. Environ., 81(2– 3), 337–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(02)00010-X
- Sishodia, R. P., Ray, R. L., & Singh, S. K. (2020). Applications of Remote Sensing in Precision Agriculture: A Review. Remote Sens., 12(19), 3136. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12193136
- Soubry, I., & Guo, X. (2022). Quantifying Woody Plant Encroachment in Grasslands: A Review on Remote Sensing Approaches. Can. J. Remote. Sens., 48(3), 337–378. https://doi.org/10.1080/07038992.2022.2039060
- Soubry, I., Doan, T., Chu, T., & Guo, X. (2021). A Systematic Review on the Integration of Remote Sensing and GIS to Forest and Grassland Ecosystem Health Attributes, Indicators, and Measures. Remote Sens., 13(16), 3262. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13163262
- Stoddard, J. L., Larsen, D. P., Hawkins, C. P., Johnson, R. K., & Norris, R. H. (2006). Setting Expectations for the Ecological Condition of Streams: The Concept of Reference Condition. Ecol. Appl., 16(4), 1267–1276. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2006)016[1267:SEFTEC]2.0.CO;2
- Strömberg, C. A. E., & Staver, A. C. (2022). The history and challenge of grassy biomes. Science, 377(6606), 592–593. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.add1347
- Suttie, J. M., Reynolds, S. G., Batello, C., & Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (Eds.). (2005). Grasslands of the world. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations.
- Svoray, T., Perevolotsky, A., & Atkinson, P. M. (2013). Ecological sustainability in rangelands: The contribution of remote sensing. Int. J. Remote Sens., 34(17, SI), 6216–6242). Taylor & Francis Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2013.793867
- Taylor, S. H., Franks, P. J., Hulme, S. P., Spriggs, E., Christin, P. A., Edwards, E. J., Woodward, F. I., & Osborne, C. P. (2012). Photosynthetic pathway and ecological adaptation explain stomatal trait diversity amongst grasses. New Phytol., 193(2), 387–396. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.03935.x
- Thoma, D. P., Munson, S. M., Irvine, K. M., Witwicki, D. L., & Bunting, E. L. (2016). Semi-arid vegetation response to antecedent climate and water balance windows. Appl. Veg. Sci., 19(3), 413–429. https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12232

- Thornley, R. H., Gerard, F. F., White, K., & Verhoef, A. (2023). Prediction of Grassland Biodiversity Using Measures of Spectral Variance: A Meta-Analytical Review. Remote Sens., 15(3), 668. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs15030668
- Tilman, D., & El Haddi, A. (1992). Drought and biodiversity in Grasslands. Oecologia, 89(2), 257–264. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00317226
- Tilman, D., Hill, J., & Lehman, C. (2006). Carbon-Negative Biofuels from Low-Input High-Diversity Grassland Biomass. Science, 314(5805), 1598–1600. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1133306
- Tollerud, H., Brown, J., Loveland, T., Mahmood, R., & Bliss, N. (2018). Drought and Land-Cover Conditions in the Great Plains. Earth Interact., 22(17), 1–25. Amer Geophysical Union. https://doi.org/10.1175/EI-D-17-0025.1
- Tong, S., Bao, Y., Te, R., Ma, Q., Ha, S., & Lusi, A. (2017). Analysis of Drought Characteristics in Xilingol Grassland of Northern China Based on SPEI and Its Impact on Vegetation. Math. Probl. Eng., 2017. Hindawi Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/5209173
- Turner, W., Spector, S., Gardiner, N., Fladeland, M., Sterling, E., & Steininger, M. (2003). Remote sensing for biodiversity science and conservation. Trends Ecol., 18(6), 306–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00070-3
- Twumasi, Y. A., Manu, A., Coleman, T. L., Mohamadou, G., & Jean-Baptiste, T. S. (2003). The use of satellite imagery in rangeland management: A comparative analysis of three Sahelian zones. IGARSS 2003. 2003 IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium. Proceedings (IEEE Cat. No.03CH37477), 1, 258–260. https://doi.org/10.1109/IGARSS.2003.1293743
- Vanegas, D. X., Xiao, X., & Basara, J. (2014). Vegetation drought monitoring from MODIS imagery and soil moisture data in Oklahoma Mesonet sites. J. Technol., 13(2), 10-27. https://doi.org/10.18270/rt.v13i2.1879
- Villarreal, M. L., Norman, L. M., Buckley, S., Wallace, C. S. A., & Coe, M. A. (2016). Multi-index time series monitoring of drought and fire effects on desert grasslands. Remote Sens. Environ., 183, 186– 197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2016.05.026
- Vogel, A., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., & Weigelt, A. (2012). Grassland Resistance and Resilience after Drought Depends on Management Intensity and Species Richness. PLoS One, 7(5), e36992. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036992
- Vogeler, I., Kluß, C., Peters, T., & Taube, F. (2023). How Much Complexity Is Required for Modelling Grassland Production at Regional Scales? Land, 12(2), 327. https://doi.org/10.3390/land12020327
- Volaire, F. (2018). A unified framework of plant adaptive strategies to drought: Crossing scales and disciplines. Glob. Chang. Biol., 24(7), 2929–2938. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14062
- Volaire, F., Seddaiu, G., Ledda, L., & Lelievre, F. (2009). Water deficit and induction of summer dormancy in perennial Mediterranean grasses. Ann. Bot., 103(8), 1337–1346. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcp080
- Wagg, C., O'Brien, M. J., Vogel, A., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Eisenhauer, N., Schmid, B., & Weigelt, A. (2017). Plant diversity maintains long-term ecosystem productivity under frequent drought by increasing short-term variation. Ecol., 98(11), 2952–2961. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2003
- Wagle, P., Gowda, P. H., Northup, B. K., Starks, P. J., & Neel, J. P. S. (2019). Response of Tallgrass Prairie to Management in the US Southern Great Plains: Site Descriptions, Management Practices, and Eddy Covariance Instrumentation for a Long-Term Experiment. Remote Sens., 11, 1988. MDPI. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11171988
- Wambugu, N., Chen, Y., Xiao, Z., Tan, K., Wei, M., Liu, X., & Li, J. (2021). Hyperspectral image classification on insufficient-sample and feature learning using deep neural networks: A review. Int. J. Appl. Earth. Obs. Geoinf., 105, 102603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2021.102603
- Wang, Q., Yang, Y., Liu, Y., Tong, L., Zhang, Q., & Li, J. (2019). Assessing the Impacts of Drought on Grassland Net Primary Production at the Global Scale. Sci. Rep., 9(1), 14041. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-50584-4
- Wang, Z., Ma, Y., Zhang, Y., & Shang, J. (2022). Review of Remote Sensing Applications in Grassland Monitoring. Remote Sens., 14(12), 2903. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14122903

- Washington-Allen, R. A., Ramsey, R. D., West, N. E., & Norton, B. E. (2008). Quantification of the Ecological Resilience of Drylands Using Digital Remote Sensing. Ecol. Soc., 13(1), art33. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-02489-130133
- Wei, Y., Zhu, L., Chen, Y., Cao, X., & Yu, H. (2022). Spatiotemporal Variations in Drought and Vegetation Response in Inner Mongolia from 1982 to 2019. Remote Sens., 14(15), 3803. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14153803
- Weiss, M., Jacob, F., & Duveiller, G. (2020). Remote sensing for agricultural applications: A meta-review. RSE, 236, 111402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.111402
- Weisser, W. W., Roscher, C., Meyer, S. T., Ebeling, A., Luo, G., Allan, E., Beßler, H., Barnard, R. L., Buchmann, N., Buscot, F., Engels, C., Fischer, C., Fischer, M., Gessler, A., Gleixner, G., Halle, S., Hildebrandt, A., Hillebrand, H., de Kroon, H., ... Eisenhauer, N. (2017). Biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning in a 15-year grassland experiment: Patterns, mechanisms, and open questions. Basic Appl. Ecol., 23, 1–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2017.06.002
- Wellstein, C., Poschlod, P., Gohlke, A., Chelli, S., Campetella, G., Rosbakh, S., Canullo, R., Kreyling, J., Jentsch, A., & Beierkuhnlein, C. (2017). Effects of extreme drought on specific leaf area of grassland species: A meta-analysis of experimental studies in temperate and sub-Mediterranean systems. Glob. Chang. Biol., 23(6), 2473–2481. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13662
- White, F. 1983. The Vegetation of Africa; a descriptive memoir to accompany the Unesco/AETFAT/UNSO vegetation map of Africa. Natural Resources Research Series, XX. Paris, France: UNESCO. 356 p.
- Wilcox, K. R., Fischer, J. C., Muscha, J. M., Petersen, M. K., & Knapp, A. K. (2015). Contrasting above- and belowground sensitivity of three Great Plains grasslands to altered rainfall regimes. Glob. Chang. Biol., 21(1), 335–344. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12673
- Wilcox, K. R., Shi, Z., Gherardi, L. A., Lemoine, N. P., Koerner, S. E., Hoover, D. L., Bork, E., Byrne, K. M., Cahill, J., Collins, S. L., Evans, S., Gilgen, A. K., Holub, P., Jiang, L., Knapp, A. K., LeCain, D., Liang, J., Garcia-Palacios, P., Peñuelas, J., ... Luo, Y. (2017). Asymmetric responses of primary productivity to precipitation extremes: A synthesis of grassland precipitation manipulation experiments. Glob. Chang. Biol., 23(10), 4376–4385. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13706
- World Meteorological Organization (WMO) and Global Water Partnership (GWP), 2016: Handbook of Drought Indicators and Indices (M. Svoboda and B.A. Fuchs). Integrated Drought Management Programme (IDMP), Integrated Drought Management Tools and Guidelines Series 2. Geneva.
- Wu, J., Feng, Y., Zhang, X., Wurst, S., Tietjen, B., Tarolli, P., & Song, C. (2017). Grazing exclusion by fencing non-linearly restored the degraded alpine grasslands on the Tibetan Plateau. Sci. Rep., 7(1), 15202. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-15530-2
- Xu, H., Wang, X., & Zhao C. (2021). Drought sensitivity of vegetation photosynthesis along the aridity gradient in northern China. Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf., 102, 102418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2021.102418
- Xu, D., & Guo, X. (2015). Some Insights on Grassland Health Assessment Based on Remote Sensing. Sensors, 15(2), 3070–3089. https://doi.org/10.3390/s150203070
- Xu, Y., Dong, K., Jiang, M., Liu, Y., He, L., Wang, J., Zhao, N., & Gao, Y. (2022). Soil moisture and species richness interactively affect multiple ecosystem functions in a microcosm experiment of simulated shrub encroached grasslands. Sci. Total Environ., 803, 149950. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.149950
- Yi, C., & Jackson, N. (2021). A review of measuring ecosystem resilience to disturbance. Environ. Res. Lett., 16(5), 053008. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abdf09
- Zargar, A., Sadiq, R., Naser, B., & Khan, F. I. (2011). A review of drought indices. Environ. Rev., 19, 333–349. https://doi.org/10.1139/a11-013
- Zhang, L., Zhou, D., Fan, J., Guo, Q., Chen, S., Wang, R., & Li, Y. (2019). Contrasting the Performance of Eight Satellite-Based GPP Models in Water-Limited and Temperature-Limited Grassland Ecosystems. Remote Sens., 11(11), 1333. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11111333
- Zhang, Q., Kong, D., Singh, V. P., & Shi, P. (2017). Response of vegetation to different time-scales drought across China: Spatiotemporal patterns, causes and implications. Glob Planet Change, 152, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2017.02.008

- Zhang, Y., Peng, C., Li, W., Fang, X., Zhang, T., Zhu, Q., Chen, H., & Zhao, P. (2013). Monitoring and estimating drought-induced impacts on forest structure, growth, function, and ecosystem services using remote-sensing data: Recent progress and future challenges. Environ. Rev., 21(2), 103–115. https://doi.org/10.1139/er-2013-0006
- Zhou, H., Hou, L., Lv, X., Yang, G., Wang, Y., & Wang, X. (2022). Compensatory growth as a response to post-drought in grassland. Front. Plant Sci., 13, 1004553. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.1004553
- Zhou, X., Zhou, L., Nie, Y., Fu, Y., Du, Z., Shao, J., Zheng, Z., & Wang, X. (2016). Similar responses of soil carbon storage to drought and irrigation in terrestrial ecosystems but with contrasting mechanisms: A meta-analysis. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ., 228, 70–81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.04.030
- Zhou, Y., Zhang, L., Xiao, J., Chen, S., Kato, T., & Zhou, G. (2014). A Comparison of Satellite-Derived Vegetation Indices for Approximating Gross Primary Productivity of Grasslands. Rangel. Ecol. Manag., 67(1), 9–18. https://doi.org/10.2111/REM-D-13-00059.1
- Zhu, Z., Zhang, J., Yang, Z., Aljaddani, A. H., Cohen, W. B., Qiu, S., & Zhou, C. (2020). Continuous monitoring of land disturbance based on Landsat time series. Remote Sens. Environ., 238, 111116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.03.009
- Zisenis, M., Richard, D., Va, D., Hönigová, I., Oušková, V., Hošek, M., Chobot, K., Götzl, M., & Sonderegger, G. (2011). Survey on grassland ecosystem services in the Czech Republic and literature review. ETC/BD Rep. EEA 2011, 4, 22–26.
- Zwicke, M., Alessio, G. A., Thiery, L., & Falcimagne, R. (2013). Lasting effects of climate disturbance on perennial grassland aboveground biomass production under two cutting frequencies. Glob. Chang. Biol., 19, 3435–3448. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12317
- Zwicke, M., Picon-Cochard, C., Morvan-Bertrand, A., Prud'homme, M.-P., & Volaire, F. (2015). What functional strategies drive drought survival and recovery of perennial species from upland grassland? Ann. Bot., 116(6), 1001–1015. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcv037

VARIABILITY AND DRIVERS OF GRASSLAND SENSITIVITY TO DROUGHT AT DIFFERENT TIMESCALES USING SATELLITE IMAGE TIME SERIES



Chapter 2 is the core research of this thesis. It aims at assessing the grassland sensitivity to drought in the Massif central and most importantly identify the drivers of such sensitivities. Three categories of drivers were considered ranging from vegetation diversity, management practices, and soil and topography.

CHAPTER 2. VARIABILITY AND DRIVERS OF GRASSLAND SENSITIVITY TO DROUGHT AT DIFFERENT TIMESCALES USING SATELLITE IMAGE TIME SERIES

Abstract

Drought is expected to increase in frequency and severity with climate change, leading to more intense impacts on grasslands and their associated ecosystem services. Complementary to ground experiments, remote sensing technologies allow for the study of drought impacts with large spatiotemporal coverage in real-life conditions. We aimed to quantify the variability of grassland sensitivity to drought using a long-term satellite image time series of 394 temperate permanent grassland plots to identify factors influencing these sensitivities. Accordingly, we assessed the slope of the linear relationship between satellite-based vegetation status, using the standardized anomalies of the vegetation indices (VIs), and drought severity, using a modified version of the Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI), from 1985 to 2019. The process was repeated for 24 VIs and five SPEI timescales. We then conducted a linear model selection procedure, using the grassland sensitivity derived from the most responsive VIs (i.e., VIs for which anomalies indicated a tighter linear relationship with the modified SPEI), to identify which grassland properties influenced sensitivity to drought. A total of 29 properties, grouped into pedoclimate, agricultural management, and vegetation diversity factors, were derived from ground measurements. Overall, we demonstrated that the influence of predictors on grassland sensitivity to drought varied across the drought integration timescales. Our results highlighted the significant mitigating effect of soil water holding capacity on sensitivity to drought for short timescales of fewer than 30 days. The date of first herbage use by farmers was positively related to grassland sensitivity to drought across all timescales. We also demonstrated that higher vegetation diversity significantly reduced sensitivity to drought. However, for the long timescales of drought integration, such influence was mainly redundant with management (i.e., the shared partition of variance) suggesting complex cascading effects between agricultural practices and plant community structure that still need to be addressed comprehensively in future studies.

Keywords: Meteorological drought; Remote sensing; Time scales; Grassland response; NDWI; GVMI

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/agrformet



Variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought at different timescales using satellite image time series

Check for spokies

Donald A. Luna, Julien Pottier^{*}, Catherine Picon-Cochard

Université Clermont Auvergne, INRAE, VetAgro Sup, UREP, 63000 Clermont-Ferrand, France

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Meteorological drought Remote sensing Time scales Grassland response NDWI GVMI

ABSTRACT

Drought is expected to increase in frequency and severity with climate change, leading to more intense impacts on grasslands and their associated ecosystem services. Complementary to ground experiments, remote sensing technologies allow for the study of drought impacts with large spatio-temporal coverage in mal-life-conditions. We aimed to quantify the variability of grassland sensitivity to drought using a long-term satellite image time series of 394 temperate permanent grassland plots to identify factors influencing these sensitivities. Accordingly, we assessed the slope of the linear relationship between satellite-based vegetation status, using the standardized anomalies of the vegetation indices (VIs), and drought severity, using a modified version of the Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI), from 1985 to 2019. The process was repeated for 24 VIs and five SPEI timescales. We then conducted a linear model selection procedure, using the grassland sensitivity derived from the most responsive VIs (i.e., VIs for which anomalies indicated a tighter linear relationship with the modified SPEI), to identify which grassland properties influenced sensitivity to drought. A total of 29 properties, grouped into pedoclimate, agricultural management, and vegetation diversity factors, were derived from ground measurements. Overall, we demonstrated that the influence of predictors on grassland sensitivity to drought varied across the drought integration timescales. Our results highlighted the significant mitigating effect of soil water holding capacity on sensitivity to drought for short timescales of fewer than 30 days. The date of first herbage use by farmers was positively related to grassland sensitivity to drought across all timescales. We also demonstrated that higher vegetation diversity significantly reduced sensitivity to drought. However, for the long timescales of drought integration, such influence was mainly redundant with management (i.e., shared partition of variance) suggesting complex cascading effects between agricultural practices and plant community structure that still need to be addressed comprehensively in future studies.

2.1. Introduction

Meteorological droughts - in other words, deficits in the climatic water balance - of varying severity, frequency, and duration affect several components of agroecosystems, with serious consequences for agricultural production and environmental health (Howden et al., 2007). Similar to other agroecosystems, managed grasslands are influenced by drought impacts. The increasing frequency and severity of drought threaten the multiple ecosystem services - provision, regulation, and cultural – provided by grasslands and their associated biodiversity (Bengtsson et al., 2019; Chang et al., 2021; Hofer et al., 2016; Zwicke et al., 2013). Grasslands contribute significantly to milk and meat production (O'Mara, 2012) and provide an estimated one billion jobs around the world (Buisson et al., 2022). In addition to provisioning services, grasslands securely store an estimated 30.6% of terrestrial carbon below ground in the roots and soil (Bai and Cotrufo, 2022; Lei et al., 2016) and host a large number of species, some of which are endangered (Dengler et al., 2014). Unfortunately, extreme drought events are well recognized to be detrimental to grassland biodiversity and ecosystem function (Newbold et al., 2016; Strömberg and Staver, 2022). One of the most evident consequences is the reduction of net ecosystem productivity, which reduces agricultural production but also converts grasslands from sinks to sources of carbon (Ciais et al., 2005; Lei et al., 2016; Nagy et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2020).

Knowledge of grassland sensitivity to drought and its determinants has emerged from field experiments and, more recently, from Earth surface observations. Field observations and semicontrolled experiments have provided, thus far, the most comprehensive insights regarding grassland properties that either promote or suppress vegetation sensitivity to drought. The most obvious properties, or drivers, are related to pedoclimatic conditions. Higher sensitivity to drought has been found in grasslands that are topographically exposed to solar radiation (Yang et al., 2020), situated at low elevations (Catorci et al., 2021; Gharun et al., 2020), and found on soils with low water retention capacity (Buttler et al., 2019). Additionally, grassland management practices, which refer to the modalities of fertilizer application and herbage usage by mowing and/or grazing, have been tested partially and sometimes have revealed mixed effects. High fertilizer addition can either increase sensitivity to drought (Bharath et al., 2020; Klaus et al., 2016; Rose et al., 2012) or have no effect (Vogel et al., 2012; Weisser et al., 2017). More frequent mowing events have been related to stronger negative effects of drought (Vogel et al. 2012; Weisser et al., 2017; Zwicke et al., 2013), and grazing has been associated with greater sensitivity to drought than mowing (Deléglise et al., 2015). Finally, experimental studies have further highlighted the mixed influences of grassland diversity. Higher taxonomic or functional diversity has often been associated with lower sensitivity to drought (Grange et al., 2021; Griffin-Nolan et al., 2019; Isbell et al., 2015; Kreyling et al., 2017), but some studies have

indicated an opposite effect of species richness (Vogel et al., 2012; Weisser et al., 2017) or the absence of effect (De Boeck et al., 2018). According to these findings from drought experiments conducted in managed grasslands, the properties influencing vegetation sensitivity to water deficit can be categorized into pedoclimatic, management, and biodiversity drivers.

Despite their incontestable scientific value, the results provided by semi-controlled experiments conducted at the field level reveal some limitations. These experiments are, in essence, restricted in their design (e.g., limited combinations of rainfall regimes, levels of diversity, type of soils, etc.) and geographic coverage. These limitations hinder the analysis of complex combinations of potential drivers that prevail in real-life conditions (Fraser et al., 2013; Matos et al., 2020) and prevent the generalization of the results to all biogeographic contexts on Earth. In addition, those experiments usually report limited temporal coverage of grassland responses to drought over one or a few successive growing seasons (Hoover and Rogers, 2016). Although coordinated and long-term observations and experiments (Fraser et al., 2013; Knapp et al., 2017a, 2017b; Lemoine et al., 2016) push those limitations, spatially and temporally wider analyses of existent grasslands are needed.

The rapid development of Earth observation techniques tremendously increases both spatial and temporal coverage of agroecosystem monitoring (Ali et al., 2016; Anderson, 2018; Arun Kumar et al., 2021; Reinermann et al., 2020). Therefore, recent studies have assessed the response of natural ecosystems and agricultural lands to drought severity using satellite images at a wide range of spatial scales (Jiao et al., 2019; Maurer et al., 2020; Vicente-Serrano, 2007; Vicente-Serrano et al., 2013). Such assessment is based either on the quantification of the relationship between the local satellite reflectance and climatic variables (Cabello et al., 2012; Graw et al., 2017; Nanzad et al., 2019), or it is based on the satellite product anomalies and the computed standardized drought indices (e.g., Li et al., 2015; Li et al., 2022; Ye et al., 2020). Consequently, these relationships depict the sensitivity of vegetated surfaces to drought events (Vicente-Serrano, 2013). Afterward, remotely sensed sensitivity can be related to geographic variations of a set of environmental parameters, considered to be the hypothetical drivers of vegetation response to drought.

Remote sensing (RS) analyses of drought effects on vegetated surfaces are based on various methodological choices. Regarding drought estimates, studies frequently used the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI), Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI), and Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI). From here, the standardized precipitation indices can be used to determine drought severity at different timescales (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010; Nanzad et al., 2019), but are seldom considered in studies (Almeida-Ñauñay, et al., 2022; An et al., 2020; Dong et al., 2019; Zhao et al., 2018). Research that considered multiple drought timescales has identified grassland and cultivated vegetation response to drought to be best correlated at a timescale of one to three months

(e.g., Almeida-Ñauñay et al., 2022; An et al., 2020; Zhao et al., 2018). However, these studies used monthly meteorological data. Finer climate data resolution, such as weekly or daily, is needed to reveal more accurate impacts of meteorological variations on vegetation property changes (Salehnia et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2015). Regarding RS-based vegetation condition estimates, studies generally used the Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) or the Enhanced Vegetation Index (EVI), or their derivatives, such as the Vegetation Condition Index (VCI), and the Vegetation Health Index (VHI; Graw et al., 2017; Kogan et al., 2004; Picoli et al., 2019; Vicente-Serrano, 2007). Aside from these greenness-based satellite proxies, indices related to the hydric status of vegetation, such as the Normalized Difference Water Index (NDWI) or Land Surface Water Index (LSWI), have emerged in other studies (Bajgain et al., 2015; Picoli et al., 2019). However, vegetation indices (VI), such as the NDVI, are used to represent multiple vegetation properties and do not always perform well in the assessment of drought when implemented in other ecoregions (Bajgain et al., 2015; Ebrahimi et al., 2010; Maurer et al., 2020). These discrepancies in methodological choices between studies limit the generalization of the published results and their comparison.

Thus far, the RS studies have attempted to identify the drivers of vegetation sensitivity to drought through a focus on specific categories of drivers, namely, the abiotic environment, land management, and vegetation properties, usually in isolation. Some of these categories have been understudied in grasslands. The investigated drivers are topographic factors for forests and shrublands (Cartwright et al., 2020), and soil properties, such as the soil water holding capacity for different land covers (Ji and Peters, 2003; Thoma et al., 2019). Some studies further considered the influence of land use (Burrell et al., 2020; Munson et al., 2016; Tollerud et al., 2020) and, in the case of grasslands, the type of agricultural management (Burrell et al., 2020; Catorci et al., 2021; Graw et al., 2017; Wagle et al., 2019). A final group of studies has highlighted the importance of vegetation cover (De Keersmaecker et al., 2015) and vegetation diversity (De Keersmaecker et al., 2016; van Rooijen et al., 2015) through the lens of taxonomic diversity rather than functional diversity. These studies have contributed to a better understanding of why some types of vegetation are more sensitive to drought than others, although the influence of abiotic factors in grassland deserves more attention. However, an important gap of knowledge remains in the assessment of the relative influences of these different drivers – classified as pedoclimatic, agricultural management, and biodiversity factors – at the same time.

In this study, we pursued two main objectives. First, we aimed to quantify the sensitivity of managed grassland to drought at various timescales using satellite-based VI anomalies that were best related to irregularities of climatic water balance (i.e., SPEI). This was conducted over 34 years for a vast geographic region predominantly covered by typical Western European grasslands managed for cattle and sheep breeding. Second, we aimed to assess the relative influence of pedoclimate, agricultural

117

management practices, and vegetation diversity factors on grassland sensitivity to drought. To do so, RS-based assessments of sensitivity to drought were analysed against 29 grassland descriptors measured at the ground level for the 394 vegetation plots of the study area.

2.2. Material and methods

2.2.1. Study area

The Massif central is a mountainous region ranging from 300 to 1,885 metres above sea level in France. It exhibits four climatic zones: mountainous and semi-continental in the major center areas, with influences of oceanic climate in both the northern and western parts and of Mediterranean climate near the southeastern part (Joly et al., 2010). The mean annual cumulative precipitation, between 1985 and 2019, was 1,067 millimetres (mm) with a standard deviation of 348 mm, while the mean annual temperature was 9.3 °C with a standard deviation of 1.96°C. The 85,000 square kilometres (km²) region is covered mostly by managed perennial grasslands representing 60% of agricultural areas, which comprise one-third of the French permanent grasslands.

Our analyses included a total of 143 grassland parcels. These parcels were homogenous areas of management with heterogeneous vegetation, topography, and soil characteristics. An average of three vegetation plots were distributed within each grassland parcel (minimum of one and maximum of 10 plots). The subsequent analyses, therefore, were based on the 394 vegetation plots distributed among the 143 parcels (Figure 2– 1). These plots have an average area of 25 square metres (m^2) and range from 2 to 100 m². The sampling design aimed to represent the main types of grassland vegetation within the Massif central region (Galliot et al., 2020; Hulin et al, 2012, 2019; Le Hénaff et al., 2021).

2.2.2. Data

We collected satellite images and meteorological data from 1985 to 2019 for each of the 394 vegetation plots to quantify the temporal changes in vegetation reflectance and drought severity, respectively. We further characterized the pedoclimate, agricultural management practices, and vegetation diversity of these plots from ground observations collected by several projects implemented in the region during the period of interest.



Figure 2–1. Distribution of the grassland parcels and vegetation plots in the Massif central region (France). The main map depicts the topographic elevation and relief from a 25 m x 25 m digital elevation model of the Copernicus Land Monitoring Service (http://land.copernicus.eu/pan-european/satellite-derived-products/eu-dem/eu-dem-v1.1/view). The lower right inset map presents the vegetation plots found with a parcel, together with the Landsat 30m x 30m pixel grid.

2.2.2.1. Drought estimates over the 1985–2019 period

We built the time series of the local climatic water balance, computed as the difference between precipitation and potential evapotranspiration (P-PET), during the 1985–2019 period. To do so, we used the meteorological records from the *Système d'Analyse Fournissant des Renseignements Adaptés à la Nivologie* (SAFRAN) data for France (Durand et al., 1993). SAFRAN provides daily information on a set of meteorological parameters in NetCDF or as a raster with a spatial resolution of 8 km x 8 km. We checked the local uncertainty of the SAFRAN estimates with spatially accurate daily records from a set of 140 local meteorological stations within the Massif central region (Météo-France). Our

comparisons revealed tight linear relationships between the two data sources, validating the use of SAFRAN for assessing local variations of the climatic water balance in the study area (-A).

Modified standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index (SPEI)

We then quantified the drought severity with a modified version of SPEI. The original version of this index is based on the long-term time series of the climatic water balance (D_i), which is the difference between the monthly precipitation (P) and potential evapotranspiration (PET) measurements integrated over a given timescale of one, three, six, nine, 12 and 24 months (Beguería et al., 2014; Pei et al., 2020; Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010; Zargar et al., 2011). For example, a seasonal or three-month drought timescale is the integration of D_i at a given month and the two preceding months.

$$D_i = P_i - PET_i$$
 where $i = month$ Equation 1

To compare the surplus and deficit of the water balance between different sites with different climates or dates, the aggregated D_i values are standardized. To do so, the D time series is fitted into a log-logistic distribution using a three-parameter probability distribution function. The probability distribution of D is standardized to obtain the SPEI using the approximation of Abramowitz and Stegun (1965). The statistical distribution seeks to define the normal expectation. Negative SPEI values indicate a deficit of the water balance with respect to normal conditions, while positive values indicate a surplus of precipitation. Since the SPEI is multi-scalar, we could analyse the effect of different types of droughts (Vicente-Serrano, 2010) and discriminate between short and frequent water deficits (shortest timescales) and long and infrequent water deficits (longest timescales).

To address our objectives, we modified the classic SPEI in two ways. First, changes in grassland growth and conditions due to drought and precipitation occur at daily temporal scales (Salehnia et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2015). Consequently, the impacts of short-duration droughts (i.e., fewer than 30 days) will not be properly estimated by the monthly classic SPEI, especially when such brief drought events are distributed between two consecutive months. Accordingly, we used daily climate data and integrated for a given day the difference between P and PET over the 15, 30, 60, 90, or 120 preceding days. Second, the small number of D observations can lead to a weak goodness-of-fit in the probability distribution step. In climate studies, the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) recommended a 30-year period of climatic data when establishing climatic normal (Marchi et al., 2020; Rigal et al. 2019). However, the climatic water balance across the years rarely exhibits a good and smooth distribution. Thus, instances with the classic SPEI may result in abrupt changes between months or

large differences between two months. For the modification, encouragement was found from Russo et al. (2014) by defining a new set of data, A_d, in the following:

$$A_{d} = \bigcup_{y=1985}^{2019} \bigcup_{i=d-15}^{d+15} D_{y,i}$$
 Equation 2

with d, a given day, and $D_{y,i}$, the water balance of day *i* in year *y*. This new set of data A (Equation 2) exhibits an increase in the number of observations, which helps improve the goodness-of-fit of the log-logistic distribution used for the standardization procedure of the SPEI.

2.2.2.2. Standardized anomalies of vegetation reflectance over the 1985-2019 period

Similar to the estimation of drought severity with a modified version of the SPEI, we computed the standardized anomalies of local vegetation reflectance indices. We first extracted the reflectance bands of Landsat 4, 5, 7, and 8 throughout 1985–2019 for each of the 394 vegetation plots from Google Earth Engine (Gorelick et al., 2017) using the reticulate package in R (Ushey et al., 2022). Landsat images offer a sufficiently fine spatial resolution (30 m x 30 m) to account for vegetation heterogeneity – in other words, they discriminate between different vegetation plots within the same parcel, as depicted in Figure 2– 1, and temporal resolution (16 days) to monitor vegetation reflectance changes for a growing season. These extractions resulted in a mean number of 519 cloud- and snow-free images per vegetation plot.

We then computed the standardized reflectance anomalies of all 24 VIs (Appendix 2– B) related to vegetation properties, such as greenness, cover, moisture content, and senescence (Bajgain et al., 2015; Davidson et al., 2006; Wu, 2014). Here, we adapted the same standardization procedure of our modified SPEI to quantify the deviation of VIs of a given clear day – in other words, free of clouds or snow cover – to the statistical distribution of VIs of the same day plus the 15 days before and after over the period of 1985–2019. This standardization allowed the spatio-temporal comparisons among plots.

2.2.2.3. Local properties of the grasslands

The local descriptions of the 394 vegetation plots were inherited from several past projects that collected information on management activities, botanical composition, soil properties, and topographic conditions between 2008 and 2019 (Galliot et al., 2020; Hulin et al., 2019).

2.2.2.3.1. Pedoclimate

At the parcel level, the soil properties were assessed with a total of 11 physical and chemical parameters. We considered direct soil measures such as the pH; carbon-to-nitrogen ratio; concentration of phosphorus, potassium, and magnesium; soil organic carbon; and soil organic nitrogen. We further derived variables that are well-recognized to influence the response of vegetation to meteorological drought. First, we computed the soil water holding capacity (SWHC) from the quantified percentage of clay, percentage of sand, and bulk density using a pedotransfer function developed and validated for French soils (Román Dobarco et al., 2019). Second, we derived the aspect (expressed as 0 to 180 degrees from north to south, respectively), elevation (in metres above sea level), and the Terrain Wetness Index (TWI; Beven and Kirkby, 1979; Böhner and Selige, 2006) of the vegetation plots from the 25 m x 25 m spatial resolution digital elevation model from the Copernicus Land Monitoring Service.

2.2.2.3.2. Agricultural management

Management information was collected in two phases; the first was in 2008–2009, then in 2016– 2017. This information included the amount of nitrogen (N) fertilization, specific dates of use, and type of use. We assumed from field experience and some farmer interviews that these agricultural practices had seen minimal changes over the past 30 years, especially the use of herbage, and, therefore, may be representative of grassland management for the entire period of 1985–2019. We then summarized these data to obtain: (i) the total amount of nitrogen fertilization from the applied organic and inorganic nitrogen, expressed in kg ha⁻¹; (ii) the average number of uses per year based on the number of grazing rotations and harvesting dates; (iii) the prominent type of use, computed as the difference between the total number of grazing and mowing events for a two-year period, with positive values indicating the predominance of grazing, negative values the predominance of mowing, and zero equal numbers of grazing and mowing events; and (iv) the date of first use expressed in cumulative growing degree days. This was computed as the sum of the growing degree days of the date of first grazing or mowing event recorded for two years of monitoring and then averaged. Expressing the date of first use in thermal time instead of Julian days allowed the comparison between vegetation plots distributed along a large elevation gradient (Perronne et al., 2019), and minimize the effect of betweenyear variability of meteorological conditions. Indeed, the farmers manage their parcels according to the grass growth which may lead to variation in calendar dates of management events between years but not in cumulative growing degree days, or at least to a lesser extent.

Chapter 2

2.2.2.3.3. Vegetation diversity

Botanical surveys were conducted at the level of vegetation plots, in which all species were identified, and their local abundances were estimated visually. From these *relevés* (surveys), we first derived taxonomic diversity indices: species richness, the Shannon diversity index, and Simpson's diversity index. Then, we used a trait database compiled for 1,300 plant species of open habitats of the Massif central (Baseflor in Julve, 1998; DIVGRASS in Carboni et al., 2016; Choler et al., 2014), together with the plot botanical records, to assess local functional indices. We considered plant traits associated with growth syndromes (specific leaf area [SLA] and plant height), phenology (first flowering and length of flowering periods in months), and reproductive ability (seed mass). We computed the community weighted mean (CWM) of each trait, which is recognized to be associated with ecosystem functions (Garnier et al., 2004; Grime, 1998) and grassland response to drought (Pérez-Ramos et al., 2012). We further assessed the functional diversity, which has been linked to the ecosystem stability (Hallett et al., 2017), of each vegetation plot. We used the functional dispersion index (Nunes et al., 2017) of each trait, plus a two-dimensional functional space composed of plant height and SLA to summarize plant growth syndromes.

2.2.3. Statistical analyses

The simplified workflow indicating the various analytical stages needed to quantify grassland sensitivity to drought and to identify its drivers is presented in Figure 2-2. It includes variable inputs and the variable selection procedure in the candidate statistical models.

2.2.3.1. Computing remotely sensed grassland sensitivity to drought

Some studies have used statistical inference methods to relate grassland response with climatic variables (De Keersmaecker et al., 2016; Nanzad et al., 2019; Thoma et al., 2019) or drought severity (Jiao et al., 2019; Jiao et al., 2021; Li et al., 2015; Li et al. 2022; Maurer et al., 2020). Similar to these studies, we assessed the grassland sensitivity to drought as the slope of the linear relationship between the standardized VI anomalies and the modified SPEI (Li et al., 2022). As depicted in Figure 2– 3, in the case of vegetation insensitive to drought, we expect this slope to be not significantly different from zero and positive in the case of sensitive vegetation to drought. This was done for each of the 394 vegetation plots using time series data in the period 1985–2019 (Appendix 2– C). The slopes per plot were estimated with a mean number of 519 paired values of the standardized VI anomalies and the modified SPEI falling within the growing season from March to November.



Figure 2–2. Simplified workflow for assessing grassland sensitivity and its drivers. Grassland sensitivity to drought, from Objective 1, was used as the response variable for Objective 2. The selected diversity, pedoclimate, and management factors from the respective sub-models served as the explanatory variables.



Figure 2–3. Low and high grassland sensitivities to drought for two selected timescales of different sample plots. (The threshold for low sensitivity or insensitivity is 0.1.)

The process described above was repeated for the 24 VIs across the five drought timescales, specifically, for 15, 30, 60, 90, and 120 days. We then assessed how the various VIs and drought timescales affected the estimated sensitivities to drought. To do so, we performed a two-way ANOVA with VIs and timescales as factors. The variance of the residuals, therefore, indicates the fluctuation among plots amid the variation due to methodological choices.

The slope of the linear relationship between the standardized VI anomaly and the modified SPEI, used as an estimate of grassland sensitivity to drought, was assigned as the dependent variable in the subsequent analyses that sought to identify the drivers of grassland response to drought.

2.2.3.2. Statistical modelling of grassland sensitivity to drought

We conducted a linear model selection procedure to quantify the influence of pedoclimatic characteristics, agricultural management, and vegetation diversity on the sensitivity to drought of the 394 vegetation plots. We assigned the grassland sensitivity to drought - in other words, the slope of the linear relationship between the standardized VI anomaly and the modified SPEI – as the response variable and the pedoclimate, management, and diversity factors as the explanatory variables (Figure 2-2). We compiled a total of 29 candidate variables (Table 2-1), all of which were pre-selected based on their biological meaning and possible effect on grassland response to drought, as described in the local properties section (4.2.2.3). To avoid possible multicollinearity, we first computed pairs correlation between the 29 variables. For pairs with a Pearson correlation greater than 0.5, which is more conservative than the recommended 0.7 threshold (Graham, 2003), we removed the variable with the less tangible biological meaning. Then, we conducted a two-stage selection procedure to seek the most explanatory model of vegetation plot sensitivity to drought. The first stage entailed selecting submodels for each of the three categories of explanatory variables, where vegetation plot sensitivities were also used as the response variable. In doing so, we optimized the inclusion of the best predictors in the final model with similar weights between each category. The second stage consisted of selecting the final linear model with all categories of the previously selected predictors. For both stages, we performed backward and forward stepwise selection based on the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), which aims to maximize the goodness-of-fit of the final model and minimize its complexity (Venables and Ripley, 2002). Such a procedure may lead to competing models, with similar complexity and close explanatory power but a different combination of predictors. These models have differences in AIC of less than 4 (Burnham and Anderson, 2004). Among these models, we selected the ones with the greatest power of prediction to detect all significant drivers. To compare the effect size of various predictors, we computed the beta coefficients from the selected models. Finally, we partitioned the variance explained by pedoclimate, management, and vegetation diversity factors by partial

regressions of the final model. The partitions explained by the explanatory categories were assessed with the unbiased adjusted R² (Peres-Neto et al., 2006).

Note that these analyses were repeated for the most responsive VI-derived sensitivities and at five different timescales of the modified SPEI. Since these analyses were conducted in the linear regression framework, we visually checked for homogeneity of variances and normality of the residuals (Appendix 2– D).

Lastly, all analyses were performed within the R environment (R core Team 2021).

Table 2–1. List of the 29 grassland local properties used to predict grassland sensitivity to drought of the vegetation plots distributed in the Massif central region, France.

Type	Variable	Unit	Definition	Level of
Турс	variable	Ollit	Definition	measurement
	SWHC	cm ³ cm ⁻³	Total water amount that the soil can store for	Parcel*
			plant use, computed using a pedotransfer function	
	C: N	-	Ratio of carbon and nitrogen contents in the soil	Parcel*
	$K_{2}0$	% of fine dry soil	Soil potassium content available for plants	Parcel*
	MgO	% of fine dry soil	Soil magnesium content available for plants	Parcel*
	P_2O_5	% of fine dry soil	Soil phosphorus content available for plants	Parcel*
ate	pH	-	Acidity or alkalinity of the soil	Parcel*
oclima	SON	%	Nitrogen content available in the soil organic matter	Parcel*
Pedo	SOC	%	Carbon content available in the soil organic matter	Parcel*
	TWI	-	Topographic wetness index was extracted using the SAGA TWI algorithm in OGIS	Plot**
	North- or south- facing slopes (or aspect)	degree	Azimuth direction of land surface exposure	Plot**
	Altitude	m.a.s.l.	Vertical distance from the Earth's surface to a point of interest	Plot**
	Date of first use	degree	Actual date of first defoliation or harvest; variable	Parcel***
nt al		0	expressed in cumulative growing degree days	
cultur geme	Type of use	count	Number of uses as either more grazing (+), more mowing (-), or equal number (zero)	Parcel***
Agric mana	Mean number of	count	Mean of the total number of mowing and grazing	Parcel***
	Nitrogon	a ha-l	tates	Darcal***
	fertilization	g.na	the field	Tareer
	CWM length of	month	Community weighted mean of flowering period	Plot****
	flowering	.1	duration	D1 (*****
ity	CWM first	month	Community weighted mean of start of flowering	Plot****
ers	nowering			$\mathbf{D}1$
div	CWM seed mass	mg	Community weighted mean of seed mass	Plot****
on	CWM plant	m	Community weighted mean of plant height	Plot****
tati	CWA SLA	m2 1-a-1	Community weighted mean of analific loof area	D1_+****
ge	CWM SLA	m².kg	Experience dispersion of flowering period	Plot****
Ve	flowering	-	duration	Plot
	Fdis first	-	Functional dispersion of start of flowering	Plot****
	flowering		duration	
	Fdis seed mass	-	Functional dispersion of seed mass	Plot****

 Fdis plant height	-	Functional dispersion of plant height	Plot****
Fdis SLA	-	Functional dispersion of specific leaf area	Plot****
Fdis growth	-	Functional dispersion of growth syndromes	Plot****
Species richness	-	Number of individual species in a community	Plot****
Simpson's	-	Taxonomic measure relative to abundance within	Plot****
diversity index		a community	
Shannon	-	Taxonomic measure of diversity within a	Plot****
diversity index		community	

Field measurements

** European Union Digital Elevation Model

*** Farmer interview

**** Botanic relevés and trait database.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Variations of grassland sensitivity to drought

The estimated grassland sensitivity to drought differed according to multiple sources of variation, which could be decomposed between (i) the influence of the VI being used to assess vegetation reflectance anomalies, (ii) the timescale of computation of the modified SPEI, and (iii) the variability between vegetation plots, in other words, geographic variability. A two-way ANOVA revealed a significant effect of the VI being used (F [24, 49,224] = 2,643, p < 0.001) with a sum of squares of 589.46 and a significant effect of the timescale (F [1, 49,224] = 4,358, p < 0.001) with a sum of square of 40.5. The sum of squares of the residuals, corresponding to the geographic variation between vegetation plots, was 454.4. From this analysis, we can conclude that the VI being used was the most important source of variation of the estimated sensitivities to drought in our study, closely followed by geographic variability, while the timescale was a far less important source of variation.

Among the 24 VIs used to quantify grassland sensitivity to drought, the Normalized Difference Water Index (NDWI) and the Global Vegetation Moisture Index (GVMI) exhibited the highest slopes and goodness-of-fit between the standardized VI anomalies and the modified SPEI (Figure 2–4). This indicates that both VIs were the best to reveal vegetation response to variation in the climatic water balance. The slope values between the NDWI and the GVMI were highly correlated (r = 0.98) and ranged between -0.1 and 0.58. However, values between -0.1 and 0.1 were not significantly different from 0. Therefore, slopes below or equal to 0.1 are interpreted as insensitivity to drought. Slope values above 0.1 indicate that negative values of the modified SPEI – in other words, climatic water balance lower than the normal expectation – are associated with negative NDWI or GVMI anomalies – in other words, the NDWI or the GVMI lower than the normal expectation. Therefore, positive slopes above 0.1 are interpreted as a negative response (i.e., sensitivity) of vegetation to drought (Figure 2–3).

Despite the high responsiveness of the anomalies of these two moisture-based indices with the modified SPEI, their maximum R^2 values were 0.35.



Figure 2–4. Comparison of grassland sensitivity to drought estimated from several satellitebased VIs. The variability represented by the violin plots includes the fluctuation among the 394 vegetation plots and the five drought timescales. The descriptions of the VIs are available in Appendix 2– B. Grouping labels at the top of the graphs are Tukey test results.

The vegetation sensitivity to drought, as estimated with the NDWI or the GVMI, varied somewhat between the timescales of calculation of the modified SPEI (Figure 2– 5). The mean sensitivity increased from 15 to 60 days, and then slightly decreased for 90 and 120 days. Then, the geographic variation of sensitivity to drought (i.e., between vegetation plots) was similar between all timescales with a standard deviation ranging from \pm 0.07 to 0.093.



Figure 2–5. Variability of grassland sensitivity to drought, as estimated from the linear relationship between the standardized reflectance anomaly, using the NDWI (top) and the GVMI (bottom), and standardized meteorological water balance index (modified SPEI), compared among the different drought timescales. Variability was measured with the standard deviation (std) among the vegetation plots (n = 394) per timescale computation. Grouping labels at the top of the graphs are Tukey test results.

2.3.2. Drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought

The best models depicting the effect of the pedoclimatic factors, management, and vegetation diversity on grassland sensitivity to drought estimated either with the NDWI or the GVMI were very close (Appendix 2– E). The obtained R² for the NDWI and the GVMI ranged from 0.35 to 0.62 and 0.37 to 0.59, respectively, depending on the timescale of calculation of the modified SPEI. For both indices, the highest R² values were obtained from the short timescales of 30 and 15 days, while R² values below 0.5 were obtained for the timescale > 60 days.

Hereinafter, we present the averaged model beta coefficients and averaged variance partitions between the two selected indices in Figure 2– 6 and Figure 2– 7, respectively. Overall, we found different sets of selected explanatory variables and explanatory powers depending on the timescale of calculation of the modified SPEI.

We distinguished among three groups of predictors based on the beta coefficients across the five timescales. The first group included four variables with similar effects, whatever the timescale considered. The date of first use by farmers had a strong (beta coefficient >0.35) positive effect on grassland sensitivity to drought, with delayed use in the growing season associated with high sensitivity to drought. The type of use – dominance of mowing or grazing – had a moderate and positive effect (0.10 < beta coefficient < 0.35), except for the 15 days timescale. This must be interpreted as a greater sensitivity to drought in grazed than in mown grasslands. The nitrogen fertilization had a moderate but negative or mitigating effect (-0.35 < beta coefficient < -0.10) on sensitivity except for the 120 days timescale. It also exhibited a slightly more negative beta coefficient for the 15 days timescale.

The second group included predictors with a stronger effect at short timescales of 15 and 30 days. The most important in terms of effect size was the SWHC, which exhibited the strongest mitigating effect on grassland sensitivity to drought (-0.58 and -0.56). South-facing slopes, a radiation exposure parameter, had a moderate positive effect (0.26 and 0.19), while the CWM seed mass had a moderate but negative effect (-0.17 and -0.14) for the short timescales. Finally, the soil content of MgO had a moderate positive effect (0.25) for the shortest timescale of 15 days and a weak effect (below 0.1) for other timescales.

The third group involved five predictors with higher effects for long timescales. However, these predictors had an overall weak (beta coefficient <|0.10|) to moderate effect on grassland sensitivity. Four of them were descriptors of vegetation diversity. In order of importance, the functional dispersion of growth syndromes (Fdis (growth)), had an increasing but moderate negative effect (-0.35 < beta coefficient < -0.10) on sensitivity as the timescale increased. The CWM SLA had constant weak and negative effects from the 60 to 120 days timescales. The CWM plant height also had a weak negative effect (-0.09) but only for the 120 days timescale, and the Shannon diversity index had a weak positive effect (0.08) for the 90 and 120 days timescales. The fifth predictor of this group was the TWI with a weak (-0.07) and moderate (-0.14) negative effect on grassland sensitivity for 60 and 120 days timescales, respectively. Finally, the soil pH revealed an opposite weak effect for long timescales.



Figure 2–6. Beta coefficients of model predictors of grassland sensitivity to drought averaged between the NDWI- and GVMI-based models at different timescales. Negative beta coefficients reduce sensitivity to drought, while positive values increase sensitivity.

The highlighted variations in effect size with the timescale of the calculation of the SPEI translated into changes in the partitions of variance explained by the pedoclimate, management, and diversity of vegetation plots (Figure 2– 7; Appendix 2– F). The pure partition of the pedoclimate was the most important for the short timescales of 15 and 30 days with 32.59% and 38.02%, respectively. These led to the higher explanatory power of the final models with 57.57% and 68.69% of the variation of sensitivity to drought explained at the 15 and 30 days timescales, respectively, compared with the 36.06%, 22.21%, and 38.22% explained total variances at the timescales of 60, 90, and 120 days. Other

pure partitions did not change noticeably across the five timescales. The pure management effect explained approximately 15% of the total variance for all timescales. Then the partitions associated with diversity effects summed between 10% and 20% over the timescales but were largely shared with the management effect.



Figure 2–7. Variance partitioning of the model predictors of grassland sensitivity to drought. The average NDWI- and GVMI-based model values at different timescales were used. Model predictors were grouped into pedoclimate, management, and diversity categories.

2.4. Discussion

Using long-term satellite image time series and meteorological data, we demonstrated the significant variability of grassland sensitivity to drought over a vast geographic region dominated by open habitats maintained for cattle and sheep grazing. We further quantified the influence of a set of factors related to the pedoclimate, agricultural management, and vegetation diversity on the assessed vegetation responses. We found that their relative effect and explanatory power varied with the duration and frequency of drought events.

2.4.1. Quantifying geographic variations of grassland sensitivity to drought

We improved the current satellite-based methods of quantification of vegetation response to drought in two ways. First, we demonstrated, based on the comparison of 24 VIs, that indices accounting for SWIR bands (shortwave infrared bands between 1.57 and 1.65 nanometres (nm) for SWIR1 and between 2.11 and 2.29 nm for SWIR2) outperformed other indices for detecting the effects of meteorological drought on vegetated surfaces. Indeed, indices such as the NDWI and the GVMI were specifically developed for remote sensing of vegetation water content (Ceccato et al., 2002; Gao 1996;) and have an immediate response to moisture changes, while greenness indices - specifically, NDVI exhibit lagged effects (Liu et al., 2017; Tong et al., 2017) and are not directly related to the hydric status of vegetation, especially during moderate drought intensity (Bajgain et al., 2015; Chandrasekar et al., 2010; Gu et al., 2007). Although many studies have proved the usefulness of greenness indices such as NDVI (Catorci et al., 2021; De Keersmaecker et al., 2016; Ji and Peters, 2003; Nanzad et al., 2019) or EVI (Cabello et al., 2012; Cartwright et al., 2020; Munson et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2019), these were outperformed by moisture-based indices in this study. Second, we highlighted the importance of the timescale of calculation of standardized drought severity indices such as the SPEI. The estimated sensitivities differed significantly between timescales ranging from 15 to 120 days. Generally, previous studies have considered only one timescale (Horion et al., 2019; Hossain and Li, 2021; Lu et al., 2021; Ma et al., 2016; Maurer et al., 2020). Other studies that scrutinized multiple timescales considered much coarser ones, than we did, with monthly meteorological data (Almeida-Ñauñay et al., 2022; Li et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2021).

Despite recent developments, satellite-based assessments of vegetation response to drought may still suffer from a few limitations. First, the relationships between VI anomalies and the modified SPEI were noisy overall. Indeed, anomalies of grassland reflectance may arise from multiple natural phenomena, including pest attacks (e.g., voles increasing bare soil), vegetation diseases, or compositional changes in the vegetation. Anomalies of the climatic water balance index (SPEI) were computed from the SAFRAN data with fine daily temporal resolution but coarse spatial resolution (8 km x 8 km grid). Despite the high correlation with field meteorological stations (Appendix 2– A), our estimates of the modified SPEI still may not fully capture the fine-scale climatic variations, especially in mountainous regions. Second, our procedure for calculating the long-term normal reflectance of each day and each vegetation plot tolerates the 30-day variation of grazing and mowing events between years. We assumed that management practices were closely similar from 1985 to 2019, however, we cannot guarantee that sporadic changes in management over time have not occurred. Further developments may address this issue in two ways: (i) detection of management events with fine temporal resolution satellite products (e.g., Sentinel 1 and 2; Griffiths et al., 2020; Kolecka et al., 2018; Lobert et al., 2021), although the temporal extents of Sentinel images are currently too short - in other words, eight years for Sentinel 1 and seven years for Sentinel 2 - to estimate the normal vegetation reflectance along the growing season, or (ii) precise recording of the daily sequence of practices along the growing season with the help of farmers. Regarding other sources of disturbance, new RS

techniques should be developed to better discriminate the spectral signature of drought from other natural or anthropogenic disturbances and stresses (McDowell et al., 2015). Despite these methodological limitations, we argue that our procedure provided at least an unbiased, although noisy, estimate of grassland sensitivity to drought. This allowed us to provide a better understanding of its main drivers.

2.4.2. The strong pedoclimatic influence prevails at short timescales

We revealed the buffering effects of the soil water holding capacity (SWHC; Buttler et al., 2019; Thoma et al., 2019) and topographic exposure to solar radiation (Gharun et al., 2020; Jiao et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2020) on vegetation sensitivity to climatic water balance deficit, as demonstrated by previous studies. These were highly expected. However, our findings further indicated that these strong buffering effects hold true only for short and frequent droughts, then completely vanish from the 60 days timescale (Bodner et al., 2015; Finn et al., 2018). Interestingly, for longer timescales, our results revealed the emerging but moderate role of the TWI. This indicates that large-scale hydrological processes related to land surface topography may relay local pedoclimatic buffers when the water deficit becomes too long, which may have implications for the management of agricultural drains. Indeed, such land preparation either hampers or promotes horizontal movements of water in soils. Depending on the topographic context, the removal of an existing drain or the installation of new ones may thus help mitigate the impact of drought on grasslands.

The influence of soil chemical properties also prevailed for the short timescale. High values of MgO and C:N ratio increased sensitivity to drought, especially for the 15-day timescale, but the MgO influence was still significant for longer timescales. Magnesium limitation is recognized to impede several ecophysiological processes that enhance drought tolerance (Shao et al., 2021; Tränkner and Jaghdani, 2019; Waraich et al., 2011). In this respect our results are contradictory. A first alternative explanation is that the selection of soil magnesium (Mg) concentration in our model does not reflect an effect of this chemical component on vegetation sensitivity to drought but is a consequence of repeated droughts in some of the vegetation plots. Indeed, it has been demonstrated that, under water deficit conditions, Mg accumulates in the soil because of a reduced plant uptake (Sardans et al., 2008). A second alternative explanation is the influence of an unknown factor correlated with soil Mg concentration. The soil C:N ratio response is directly modified by N fertilization (Soussana and Lemaire, 2014), and it is expected to mirror fertilization response to drought sensitivity, but in the opposite way because N is the denominator.

Chapter 2

2.4.3. On the importance of herbage use

The date of first use by farmers was the primary management factor explaining grassland sensitivity to drought for whatever timescale of SPEI was considered. This was expressed in thermal time (cumulative growing degree days). Doing so, the date of first use better reflects grassland phenology than calendar dates and allows comparisons among plots located at different altitudes while it minimizes the influence of between-year variation of meteorological conditions. Our results indicated that late agricultural uses during the growing season were associated with higher sensitivity to drought. The effect of the date of first use on grassland sensitivity to drought has not been tested in isolation thus far; instead, it is often mixed with cutting frequency (Zwick et al., 2013). We may still interpret our result in light of the timing of herbage use and the occurrence of droughts during the growing season. The timing of drought occurrence has already been highlighted to play a key role in drought impacts on grasslands (Denton et al., 2017; Edwards and Chapman, 2011; Hahn et al., 2021). Although droughts do not have identical occurrences between years, they often occur in late spring and summer in the Massif central. Thus, late uses are more likely to coincide with strong water deficits. However, it is well recognized that defoliation combined with water stress depletes carbohydrate reserves on which plant regrowth and stress tolerance depend (Kahmen et al., 2005; Volaire et al., 1994) and lessens the maintenance of aboveground productivity (Ma et al., 2020). Additionally, the influence of the date of use of farmers may also arise indirectly from its effect on plant community structure, as we discuss in the next section.

We further found strong evidence of greater sensitivity of vegetation to drought in preferentially grazed paddocks than in preferentially mown ones. It should be noted that usually mown grasslands may be grazed early in spring or during the autumn regrowth. Our results confirm previous findings from grassland experiments (Deléglise et al., 2015). The role of repeated defoliation by grazers along the course of the growing season, compared to sudden cuts, tends to maintain grassland vegetation in the vegetative phase (Bloor et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2016). As a result, plants allocate fixed carbon to leaf regrowth at the expense of carbohydrate storage and root growth necessary to ensure soil water and nutrient uptake, which can reduce their tolerance to drought (Amiard et al., 2003; Frank, 2007; Xu et al., 2013). Nevertheless, further research is needed to determine whether grazing pressure has additive or combined effects on the drought response of grasslands (Ruppert et al., 2015).

2.4.4. The joint influence of vegetation diversity and agricultural management

Overall, vegetation diversity explained a substantial part of the variance of grassland sensitivity to drought. Several descriptors had weak to moderate individual effects, but once they were summed together, they had substantial effects, especially for longer timescales. Such effects were largely shared

with agricultural management. In this respect, we interpret the role of vegetation diversity on grassland sensitivity to drought together with the effect of N fertilization and the date of first use.

Our results suggest a complex cascade of effects involving the influence of N fertilization on vegetation diversity and the influence of vegetation diversity on drought tolerance. We found that the Shannon diversity index increased grassland sensitivity to drought, whereas functional diversity and N fertilization had the opposite effect. Regarding taxonomic diversity and N fertilization, our findings seem to contradict those of several grassland experiments (Kübert et al., 2019; Bharath et al., 2020; Meng et al., 2021). However, N fertilization is also recognized to reduce taxonomic diversity (Humbert et al., 2016; Louault et al., 2017; Niu et al., 2014; Socher et al., 2013) but, at the same time, increase functional diversity of growth syndromes and the CWM SLA (Louault et al., 2017; Niu et al., 2014). Nevertheless, greater functional diversity of growth syndromes may result in greater asynchrony of species responses to drought, which has been related to better grassland resilience (Loreau and de Mazancourt, 2013; Muraina et al., 2021). The role of functional diversity has even been suggested to be more important than the potential effect of taxonomic diversity on grassland stability (Valencia et al., 2020). Therefore, the positive effect of the Shannon diversity index that emerged from our results may be interpreted as a spurious effect. We must warn that this conclusion should be taken with caution for management recommendations. Indeed, the effect of N fertilization in other contexts or at much higher levels of application may reduce species richness to a greater extent and result in a reduction of grassland functional diversity and, ultimately, an increase in grassland sensitivity to drought.

Beyond the direct influence of the date of first use on sensitivity to drought, as discussed in the preceding section, the greater sensitivity of late-use grasslands may also be mediated by changes in vegetation. Our results do not allow us to infer the underlying causal relationships. Delays in mowing or grazing have been demonstrated to increase taxonomic diversity when postponed from early to late spring or summer (Humbert et al., 2012). However, taxonomic diversity had only a weak effect in our study and, thus far, the consequences of delaying mowing or grazing on functional diversity remain unknown. Otherwise, delayed mowing or grazing may favor species with late phenology and reduce light use efficiency (Gaujour et al., 2012), which may result in a lower CWM SLA. This is consistent with our finding that lower drought sensitivity was associated with high SLA. However, SLA reduction usually works as a phenotypic adjustment to water stress (Wellstein et al., 2017), which contradicts our results.

Finally, we found that plant communities with heavier seeds were associated with lesser sensitivity to drought. This has already been reported in semi-arid grasslands (Martínez-López et al., 2020) dominated by annual species. Indeed, in stressful conditions, the post-drought establishment and survival of seedlings are more successful for large seeds that contain more reserves. Regeneration in

permanent grasslands is mostly clonal and, in normal conditions, depends more on buds than seeds (Benson and Hartnett, 2006). However, in a long-term drought experiment conducted in mountainous grasslands dominated by perennials, Stampfli and Zeiter (2004) found that post-drought vegetation dynamics were driven largely by recruitment from seeds. We were unable to clearly discriminate how the CWM seed mass was influenced by agricultural practices. Our result highlights the need to conduct new studies on drought mitigation through agricultural management, with an explicit focus on how different practices influence the composition and diversity of the regeneration syndromes of grassland species.

2.5. Conclusions

Our study revealed high variability of satellite-based vegetation sensitivity to drought, at different timescales, across a wide geographic region dominated by permanent grasslands maintained for cattle and sheep breeding, using moisture-based reflectance indices retrieved from Landsat images. Through the indices, vegetation was most responsive to drought for the 60 and 90 days timescales. We demonstrated that variations of satellite-based sensitivity to drought within and between grassland parcels can be explained by pedoclimatic, agricultural management, and vegetation diversity factors. We underlined that the soil water holding capacity (SWHC) worked logically as a strong buffer for meteorological droughts but only for the shortest time scales of fewer than 30 days. Additionally, agricultural management had also a strong influence, either independent or largely shared with vegetation diversity. This suggests complex indirect effects involving changes in functional composition and diversity of the grassland plant communities. Accordingly, such complexity may be disentangled by future experimental studies focusing on the ecological consequences of the timing of herbage use, tests of interactions between several management practices, and analyses of multivariate causal relationships. Finally, a better RS-based assessment of vegetation sensitivity to drought is required to discriminate between drought events and other types of disturbances, whether natural or agricultural.

Appendices

Appendix 2– A. Precipitation, potential evapotranspiration, and mean temperature correlation between the SAFRAN and field meteorological stations within the Massif central region.

Climatic variables	\mathbb{R}^2	Slope	Intercept
Precipitation (P)	0.80	0.84	0.25 mm
Potential evapotranspiration (PET)	0.88	0.90	0.24 mm
Mean temperature	0.96	0.90	-1.33 °C

Appendix 2-B. Satellite reflectance indices used in the study. Input bands were the blue (B), green (G), red (R), near-infrared (NIR), and shortwave infrared (SWIR) 1 and 2.

Index	Formula	Purpose / Description	References
NDVI	(NIR - R) / (NIR + R)	Commonly used for vegetation biomass (green)	Rouse et al., 1974
ARVI	(NIR – [(2 * R) - B]) / (NIR + [(2 * R) - B])	Less sensitive to atmospheric effects compared to NDVI	Kaufman and Tanré, 1992
DVI	NIR – R	Differentiates vegetation and soil.	Richardson and Wiegand, 1977
EVI	2.5 * ([NIR - R] / [NIR + 6 * R - 7.5 * B + 1])	For canopy conditions in high biomass areas	Huete et. al., 2002
EVI2	2.5 * ([NIR - R] / [NIR + (2.4 * R) + 1])	EVI without the blue band	Jiang et al., 2008
GCI	(NIR / G) - 1	For chlorophyll estimation	Gitelson et al., 2003
GEMI	$\begin{array}{l} n*(1-0.25*n)-[(R-0.125)/(1\\ -R)]\\ \mbox{where, }n=[2*(NIR^2-R^2)+(1.5*NIR)+(0.5*R)]/(NIR+R+0.5) \end{array}$	For vegetation cover; non-linear index	Pinty and Verstraete, 1992
GNDVI	(NIR - G)] / (NIR + G)	For chlorophyll estimation; NDVI uses the Green instead of Red band	Gitelson et al., 1996
GVMI	([NIR + 0.1] – [SWIR2 + 0.02]) / ([NIR + 0.1] + [SWIR2 + 0.02])	For vegetation water content	Ceccato et al. (2002)
IPVI	NIR / (NIR + R)	For vegetation biomass	Crippen, 1990
MSR	([NIR / R] - 1) / sqrt([NIR / R] + 1)	For biophysical parameters	Chen, 1996
MTVI2	(1.5 * [1.2 * (NIR - G)] – [2.5 * (R - G)]) / sqrt([(2 * NIR) + 1] ² – [6 * NIR - (5 * sqrt(R)) - 0.5])	For green leaf area index (LAI) estimation	Haboudane et al., 2004
NDSVI	(SWIR1 - R) / (SWIR1 + R)	For senescence detection	Qi et al., 2002
NDWI	(NIR - SWIR1) / (NIR + SWIR1)	For vegetation liquid water content; similar formula with Land Surface Water Index (LSWI)	Gao, 1996; Xiao et al., 2004

NLI		$(NIR^2 - R) / (NIR^2 + R)$	For vegetation cover; accounts for leaf angle distribution	Goel and Quin, 1994
NMDI		(NIR – [SWIR1 - SWIR2]) / (NIR + [SWIR1 - SWIR2])	For soil and vegetation moisture	Wang and Qu, 2007
NRI		(G - R) / (G + R)	For plant nitrogen status	Filella et al., 1995
OSAVI		(NIR - R) / (NIR + R + 0.16)	For vegetation health; minimizes soil effect; standardized vegetation condition of 0.16	Rondeaux et al., 1996
SAVI		(1 + L) * ([NIR - R] / [NIR + R + L]) Vegetation: Low (L = 1) Intermediate (L = 0.5) High (L = 0.25)	For vegetation health; minimizes soil effect	Huete, 1988
SIPI		(NIR - B) / (NIR + B)	For vegetation phenology (bulk carotenoids to chlorophyll ratio)	Penuelas et al., 2011
SLAVI		NIR / (R + SWIR2)	For specific leaf area	Lymburner et al., 2000
SRVI SR	or	NIR / R	For leaf area index	Jordan, 1969
TVI		sqrt (NDVI + 0.5)	For green leaf area index (LAI) estimation	McDaniel and Haas, 1982
VARI		(G - R) / (G + R - B)	Less sensitive to atmospheric effects; based on ARVI	Gitelson et al., 2002







Appendix 2–D. Plots for the visual tests of the homogeneity of variances and normality of the residuals of the final NDWIand GVMI-based models.

Appendix 2-E	. NDWI- and	GVMI-based	model summar	ies and beta	<i>coefficients</i> .
--------------	-------------	------------	--------------	--------------	-----------------------

Modified SPEI 15 days		NDWI			GVMI	
Predictors	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)
Date of first use	0.4391	5.546	0	0.3758	5.344	0
Type of use	0.0989	1.05	0.2956	-	-	-
Nitrogen fertilization	-0.1905	-2.517	0.0131	-0.2872	-3.953	0.0001
Mean number of uses	0.1063	1.372	0.1725	0.1226	1.538	0.1267
SWHC	-0.4728	-6.714	0	-0.6793	-7.757	0
MgO	0.1673	2.188	0.0305	0.3356	4.189	0.0001
C:N	-	-	-	0.3815	3.859	0.0002
TWI	-0.0576	-0.84	0.4025	-0.0885	-1.291	0.1993
South-facing slope	0.2393	3.562	0.0005	0.2729	3.936	0.0001
CWM (seed mass)	-0.1614	-1.964	0.0518	-0.1932	-2.422	0.0169
CWM (height)	-0.1173	-1.404	0.1629	-0.1123	-1.367	0.1741
CWM (SLA)	-	-	-	0.0736	0.934	0.3523
Fdis (growth)	-0.0782	-1.003	0.3177	-0.1011	-1.296	0.1974
Shannon diversity index	-0.1253	-1.522	0.1306	-0.0934	-1.126	0.2625
	\mathbb{R}^2 :	0.519		R ² :	0.5235	
	Adjusted R ² :	0.4724		Adjusted R ² :	0.4731	
Modified SPFI 30 days		NDWI			GVMI	
	Beta	ND WI		Beta	0,1111	
Predictors	coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)	coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)
Date of first use	0.4628	6.446	0	0.4442	5.803	0
Type of use	0.221	2.648	0.0091	0.2269	2.434	0.0164
Nitrogen fertilization	-0.1645	-2.285	0.024	-0.177	-2.388	0.0185
Mean number of uses	0.1109	1.618	0.1083	0.0774	1.072	0.286
SWHC	-0.5526	-8.839	0	-0.5577	-8.532	0
pН	0.0562	0.839	0.4032	0.0729	1.031	0.3044
MgO	0.1144	1.625	0.1067	0.1579	2.174	0.0316
South-facing slope	0.2006	3.373	0.001	0.188	3.058	0.0027
CWM (seed mass)	-0.1538	-2.322	0.0219	-0.1426	-2.079	0.0397
CWM (SLA)	-	-	-	-0.0841	-1.184	0.2387
Fdis (seed)	-0.1466	-2.49	0.0141	-	-	-
Fdis (growth)	-0.0893	-1.341	0.1825	-0.0613	-0.906	0.3669
Shannon diversity index	-0.0488	-0.684	0.4953	-0.0867	-1.168	0.245
	R ² :	0.62		R ² :	0.5955	
	Adjusted R ² :	0.5833		Adjusted R ² :	0.5563	
Madified SDELCO dama		NDWI			CUMI	
Modified SPEI 60 days	Ditt	NDWI		Data	GVMI	
Predictors	coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)	coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)
Date of first use	0.3587	3.971	0.0001	0.3748	4.202	0.0001
Type of use	0.1982	1.773	0.0786	0.2625	2.362	0.0197
Nitrogen fertilization	-0.1708	-1.894	0.0605	-0.1732	-1.903	0.0593
pН	0.1435	1.642	0.1031	0.1798	2.141	0.0342
MgO	0.1363	1.667	0.0979	0.1086	1.301	0.1957
ĊŇ	-	-	-	-0.1223	-1.422	0.1575
TWI	-	-	-	-0.1348	-1.821	0.071
CWM (seed mass)	-0.2145	-2.469	0.0149	-0.1494	-1.834	0.069
CWM (SLA)	-0.0817	-0.901	0.3694	-0.1698	-1.868	0.0641
Fdis lengthflow	0.0711	0.79	0.4312	-	-	-
Fdis (growth)	-0.1606	-1.819	0.0714	-0.0823	-1.005	0.3169
Shannon diversity index	0.1009	1.128	0.2615	0.0499	0.55	0.5836
¥	R ² :	0.3709		R ² :	0.4039	
	Adjusted R ² :	0.321		Adjusted R ² :	0.3514	

Modified SPEI 90 days		NDWI			GVMI	
Predictors	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr (> t)	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)
Date of first use	0.394	4.374	0	0.3875	4.311	0
Type of use	0.1533	1.355	0.178	0.2089	1.927	0.0562
Nitrogen fertilization	-0.1206	-1.407	0.1618	-0.1759	-1.94	0.0546
Mean number of uses	-0.0922	-1.016	0.3118	-0.0876	-0.957	0.3405
pН	-	-	-	0.0768	0.884	0.3786
MgO	0.1078	1.263	0.2089	0.1064	1.244	0.2159
TWI	-	-	-	-0.119	-1.549	0.124
CWM (seed mass)	-0.0992	-1.058	0.2922	-	-	-
CWM (height)	-0.1471	-1.547	0.1243	-0.1107	-1.304	0.1946
CWM (SLA)	-0.1027	-1.204	0.2307	-0.1722	-2.004	0.0472
Fdis (growth)	-0.2052	-2.353	0.0202	-0.1495	-1.736	0.0851
Shannon diversity index	0.1652	1.809	0.0729	0.1166	1.25	0.2137
	R ² :	0.3531		\mathbf{R}^2 :	0.3755	
	Adjusted R ² :	0.3018		Adjusted R ² :	0.3206	
Modified SPEI 120 days		NDWI			GVMI	
Predictors	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)
Date of first use	0 5767	6 8 5 9	0	0.5008	5.793	0
	0.5707	0.057		0.000		
Type of use	0.2317	2.272	0.0248	0.2372	2.274	0.0247
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization	0.2317	2.272	0.0248	0.2372 -0.1021	2.274 -1.168	0.0247 0.2449
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization Mean number of uses	-0.0714	2.272 -0.807	0.0248 0.4213	0.2372 -0.1021 -0.0796	2.274 -1.168 -0.904	0.0247 0.2449 0.3676
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization Mean number of uses SWHC	-0.0714 -0.138	-0.807 -1.807	0.0248 0.4213 0.0731	0.2372 -0.1021 -0.0796	2.274 -1.168 -0.904	0.0247 0.2449 0.3676
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization Mean number of uses SWHC pH	0.2317 -0.0714 -0.138 -0.1856	-0.807 -1.807 -2.302	0.0248 0.4213 0.0731 0.023	0.2372 -0.1021 -0.0796 -0.115	2.274 -1.168 -0.904 - -1.376	0.0247 0.2449 0.3676 - 0.1712
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization Mean number of uses SWHC pH MgO	0.2317 -0.0714 -0.138 -0.1856 0.1643	-0.807 -1.807 -2.302 1.975	0.0248 0.4213 0.0731 0.023 0.0505	0.2372 -0.1021 -0.0796 -0.115 0.123	2.274 -1.168 -0.904 - -1.376 1.495	0.0247 0.2449 0.3676 - 0.1712 0.1374
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization Mean number of uses SWHC pH MgO TWI	0.2317 -0.0714 -0.138 -0.1856 0.1643 -0.1372	-0.807 -1.807 -2.302 1.975 -1.815	0.0248 0.4213 0.0731 0.023 0.0505 0.072	0.2372 -0.1021 -0.0796 -0.115 0.123 -0.1413	2.274 -1.168 -0.904 - -1.376 1.495 -1.908	0.0247 0.2449 0.3676 - 0.1712 0.1374 0.0587
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization Mean number of uses SWHC pH MgO TWI CWM (seed mass)	0.2317 -0.0714 -0.138 -0.1856 0.1643 -0.1372 -0.0859	2.272 -0.807 -1.807 -2.302 1.975 -1.815 -0.966	0.0248 0.4213 0.0731 0.023 0.0505 0.072 0.3362	0.2372 -0.1021 -0.0796 -0.115 0.123 -0.1413	2.274 -1.168 -0.904 -1.376 1.495 -1.908	0.0247 0.2449 0.3676 0.1712 0.1374 0.0587
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization Mean number of uses SWHC pH MgO TWI CWM (seed mass) CWM (height)	0.2317 -0.0714 -0.138 -0.1856 0.1643 -0.1372 -0.0859 -0.19	2.272 -0.807 -1.807 -2.302 1.975 -1.815 -0.966 -1.943	0.0248 0.4213 0.0731 0.023 0.0505 0.072 0.3362 0.0543	0.2372 -0.1021 -0.0796 -0.115 0.123 -0.1413 -0.1135	2.274 -1.168 -0.904 -1.376 1.495 -1.908 -1.314	0.0247 0.2449 0.3676 0.1712 0.1374 0.0587 0.1913
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization Mean number of uses SWHC pH MgO TWI CWM (seed mass) CWM (height) CWM (firstflow)	0.2317 -0.0714 -0.138 -0.1856 0.1643 -0.1372 -0.0859 -0.19 0.0899	2.272 -0.807 -1.807 -2.302 1.975 -1.815 -0.966 -1.943 1.031	0.0248 0.4213 0.0731 0.023 0.0505 0.072 0.3362 0.0543 0.3046	0.2372 -0.1021 -0.0796 -0.115 0.123 -0.1413 -0.1135	2.274 -1.168 -0.904 -1.376 1.495 -1.908 -1.314	0.0247 0.2449 0.3676 0.1712 0.1374 0.0587 0.1913
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization Mean number of uses SWHC pH MgO TWI CWM (seed mass) CWM (height) CWM (firstflow) Fdis (seed)	0.2317 -0.0714 -0.138 -0.1856 0.1643 -0.1372 -0.0859 -0.19 0.0899 -0.0783	2.272 -0.807 -1.807 -2.302 1.975 -1.815 -0.966 -1.943 1.031 -1.058	0.0248 0.4213 0.0731 0.023 0.0505 0.072 0.3362 0.0543 0.3046 0.2919	0.2372 -0.1021 -0.0796 -0.115 0.123 -0.1413 -0.1135 -0.0416	2.274 -1.168 -0.904 -1.376 1.495 -1.908 -1.314 -0.551	0.0247 0.2449 0.3676 0.1712 0.1374 0.0587 0.1913 - 0.5828
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization Mean number of uses SWHC pH MgO TWI CWM (seed mass) CWM (height) CWM (firstflow) Fdis (seed) Fdis (growth)	0.2317 -0.0714 -0.138 -0.1856 0.1643 -0.1372 -0.0859 -0.19 0.0899 -0.0783 -0.2099	2.272 -0.807 -1.807 -2.302 1.975 -1.815 -0.966 -1.943 1.031 -1.058 -2.582	0.0248 0.4213 0.0731 0.023 0.0505 0.072 0.3362 0.0543 0.3046 0.2919 0.011	0.2372 -0.1021 -0.0796 -0.115 0.123 -0.1413 -0.1135 -0.0416 -0.1531	2.274 -1.168 -0.904 -1.376 1.495 -1.908 - -1.314 - -0.551 -1.844	0.0247 0.2449 0.3676 0.1712 0.1374 0.0587 0.1913 - 0.5828 0.0676
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization Mean number of uses SWHC pH MgO TWI CWM (seed mass) CWM (height) CWM (firstflow) Fdis (seed) Fdis (growth) Shannon diversity index	0.2317 -0.0714 -0.138 -0.1856 0.1643 -0.1372 -0.0859 -0.19 0.0899 -0.0783 -0.2099 0.1714	2.272 -0.807 -1.807 -2.302 1.975 -1.815 -0.966 -1.943 1.031 -1.058 -2.582 1.989	0.0248 0.4213 0.0731 0.023 0.0505 0.072 0.3362 0.0543 0.3046 0.2919 0.011 0.049	0.2372 -0.1021 -0.0796 -0.115 0.123 -0.1413 -0.1135 -0.0416 -0.1531 0.113	2.274 -1.168 -0.904 -1.376 1.495 -1.908 -1.314 -0.551 -1.844 1.245	0.0247 0.2449 0.3676 0.1712 0.1374 0.0587 0.1913 0.5828 0.0676 0.2154
Type of use Nitrogen fertilization Mean number of uses SWHC pH MgO TWI CWM (seed mass) CWM (height) CWM (firstflow) Fdis (seed) Fdis (growth) Shannon diversity index	0.3707 0.2317 -0.0714 -0.138 -0.1856 0.1643 -0.1372 -0.0859 -0.19 0.0899 -0.0783 -0.2099 0.1714 R ² :	$\begin{array}{r} 0.009\\ 2.272\\ -0.807\\ -1.807\\ -2.302\\ 1.975\\ -1.815\\ -0.966\\ -1.943\\ 1.031\\ -1.058\\ -2.582\\ 1.989\\ 0.4541\end{array}$	0.0248 0.4213 0.0731 0.023 0.0505 0.072 0.3362 0.0543 0.3046 0.2919 0.011 0.049	0.2372 -0.1021 -0.0796 -0.115 0.123 -0.1413 -0.1135 -0.0416 -0.1531 0.113 R ² :	2.274 -1.168 -0.904 -1.376 1.495 -1.908 -1.314 -0.551 -1.844 1.245 0.4285	0.0247 0.2449 0.3676 0.1712 0.1374 0.0587 0.1913 0.5828 0.0676 0.2154


Appendix 2– F. Variance partitioning of NDWI- and GVMI-based models across timescales.

References

- Abramowitz, M., Stegun, I.A. (Eds.), 1965. Handbook of Mathematical Functions with Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables. Dover Publications Inc., New York, 1046 p.
- Ali, I., Cawkwell, F., Dwyer, E., Barrett, B., Green, S., 2016. Satellite remote sensing of grasslands: from observation to management. J Plant Ecol 9, 649–671. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpe/rtw005
- Almeida-Ñauñay, A.F., Villeta, M., Quemada, M., Tarquis, A.M., 2022. Assessment of Drought Indexes on Different Time Scales: A Case in Semiarid Mediterranean Grasslands. Remote Sens. 14, 565. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14030565
- Amiard, V., Morvan-Bertrand, A., Billard, J.-P., Huault, C., Keller, F., Prud'homme, M.-P., 2003. Fructans, But Not the Sucrosyl-Galactosides, Raffinose and Loliose, Are Affected by Drought Stress in Perennial Ryegrass. Plant Physiol. 132, 2218–2229. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.103.022335
- An, Q., He, H., Nie, Q., Cui, Y., Gao, J., Wei, C., Xie, X., You, J., 2020. Spatial and Temporal Variations of Drought in Inner Mongolia, China. Water 12, 1715. https://doi.org/10.3390/w12061715
- Anderson, C.B., 2018. Biodiversity monitoring, earth observations and the ecology of scale. Ecol Lett 21, 1572–1585. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13106
- Arun Kumar, K.C., Reddy, G.P.O., Masilamani, P., Turkar, S.Y., Sandeep, P., 2021. Integrated drought monitoring index: A tool to monitor agricultural drought by using time-series datasets of space-based earth observation satellites. Adv. Space Res. 67, 298–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asr.2020.10.003
- Bai, Y., Cotrufo, M.F., 2022. Grassland soil carbon sequestration: Current understanding, challenges, and solutions. Science 377, 603–608. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abo2380
- Bajgain, R., Xiao, X., Wagle, P., Basara, J., Zhou, Y., 2015. Sensitivity analysis of vegetation indices to drought over two tallgrass prairie sites. ISPRS J. Photogramm. Remote Sens. 108, 151–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2015.07.004
- Beguería, S., Vicente-Serrano, S.M., Reig, F., Latorre, B., 2014. Standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index (SPEI) revisited: parameter fitting, evapotranspiration models, tools, datasets and drought monitoring. Int. J. Climatol. 34, 3001–3023. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.3887
- Bengtsson, J., Bullock, J.M., Egoh, B., Everson, C., Everson, T., O'Connor, T., O'Farrell, P.J., Smith, H.G., Lindborg, R., 2019. Grasslands-more important for ecosystem services than you might think. Ecosphere 10, e02582. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2582
- Benson, E.J., Hartnett, D.C., 2006. The Role of Seed and Vegetative Reproduction in Plant Recruitment and Demography in Tallgrass Prairie. Plant Ecol 187, 163–178. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-005-0975-y
- Beven, K.J., Kirkby, M.J., 1979. A physically based, variable contributing area model of basin hydrology / Un modèle à base physique de zone d'appel variable de l'hydrologie du bassin versant. Hydrol Sci J 24, 43–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667909491834
- Bharath, S., Borer, E.T., Biederman, L.A., Blumenthal, D.M., Fay, P.A., Gherardi, L.A., Knops, J.M.H., Leakey, A.D.B., Yahdjian, L., Seabloom, E.W., 2020. Nutrient addition increases grassland sensitivity to droughts. Ecology 101, e02981. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2981
- Bloor, J.M.G., Tardif, A., Pottier, J., 2020. Spatial Heterogeneity of Vegetation Structure, Plant N Pools and Soil N Content in Relation to Grassland Management. Agronomy 10, 716. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10050716
- Bodner, G., Nakhforoosh, A., Kaul, H.-P., 2015. Management of crop water under drought: a review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 35, 401–442. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-015-0283-4
- Böhner, J., Selige, T., 2006. Spatial prediction of soil attributes using terrain analysis and climate regionalization, In: Böhner J, McCloy KR, Strobl J. (Eds) SAGA - Analysis and Modelling Application. Göttinger Geographische Abhandlungen 115, 13–27.
- Buras, A., Ramming, A., Zang, C.S., 2020. Quantifying impacts of the drought 2018 on European ecosystems in comparison to 2003. Biogeosciences 17, 1655-1672. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-17-1655-2020
- Buisson, E., Archibald, S., Fidelis, A., Suding, K.N., 2022. Ancient grasslands guide ambitious goals in grassland restoration. Science 377, 594–598. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abo4605
- Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R., 2004. Multimodel Inference: Understanding AIC and BIC in Model Selection. Sociol. Methods Res 33, 261–304. https://doi.org/10.1177/0049124104268644

- Burrell, A.L., Evans, J.P., De Kauwe, M.G., 2020. Anthropogenic climate change has driven over 5 million km2 of drylands towards desertification. Nat Commun 11, 3853. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17710-7
- Buttler, A., Mariotte, P., Meisser, M., Guillaume, T., Signarbieux, C., Vitra, A., Preux, S., Mercier, G., Quezada, J., Bragazza, L., Gavazov, K., 2019. Drought-induced decline of productivity in the dominant grassland species Lolium perenne L. depends on soil type and prevailing climatic conditions. Soil Biol. Biochem 132, 47–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2019.01.026
- Cabello, J., Alcaraz-Segura, D., Ferrero, R., Castro, A.J., Liras, E., 2012. The role of vegetation and lithology in the spatial and inter-annual response of EVI to climate in drylands of Southeastern Spain. J. Arid Environ. 79, 76–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2011.12.006
- Carboni, M., Münkemüller, T., Lavergne, S., Choler, P., Borgy, B., Violle, C., Essl, F., Roquet, C., Munoz, F., DivGrass Consortium, Thuiller, W., 2016. What it takes to invade grassland ecosystems: traits, introduction history and filtering processes. Ecol Lett 19, 219–229. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12556
- Cartwright, J.M., Littlefield, C.E., Michalak, J.L., Lawler, J.J., Dobrowski, S.Z., 2020. Topographic, soil, and climate drivers of drought sensitivity in forests and shrublands of the Pacific Northwest, USA. Sci Rep 10, 18486. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-75273-5
- Catorci, A., Lulli, R., Malatesta, L., Tavoloni, M., Tardella, F.M., 2021. How the interplay between management and interannual climatic variability influences the NDVI variation in a sub-Mediterranean pastoral system: Insight into sustainable grassland use under climate change. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 314, 107372. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2021.107372
- Ceccato, P., Flasse, S., Gregoire, J.-M., 2002. Designing a spectral index to estimate vegetation water content from remote sensing data Part 2. Validation and applications. Remote Sens. Environ. 82, 198–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(02)00036-6
- Chandrasekar, K., Sesha Sai, M.V.R., Roy, P.S., Dwevedi, R.S., 2010. Land Surface Water Index (LSWI) response to rainfall and NDVI using the MODIS Vegetation Index product. Int. J. Remote Sens. 31, 3987–4005. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160802575653
- Chang, J., Ciais, P., Gasser, T., Smith, P., Herrero, M., Havlík, P., Obersteiner, M., Guenet, B., Goll, D.S., Li, W., Naipal, V., Peng, S., Qiu, C., Tian, H., Viovy, N., Yue, C., Zhu, D., 2021. Climate warming from managed grasslands cancels the cooling effect of carbon sinks in sparsely grazed and natural grasslands. Nat Commun 12, 118. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-20406-7
- Chen, J.M., 1996. Evaluation of Vegetation Indices and a Modified Simple Ratio for Boreal Applications. Can. J. Remote Sens. 22, 229–242. https://doi.org/10.1080/07038992.1996.10855178
- Choler, P., Violle, C., Borgy, B., 2014. DIVGRASS. https://www.fondationbiodiversite.fr/en/the-frb-in-action/programs-and-projects/le-cesab/divgrass/. (accessed 20 October 2021)
- Ciais, Ph., Reichstein, M., Viovy, N., Granier, A., Og´ee, J., Allard, V., Aubinet, M., Buchmann, N., Bernhofer, Chr., Carrara, A., Chevallier, F., De Noblet, N., Friend, A. D., Friedlingstein, P., Grünwald, T., Heinesch, B., Keronen, P., Knohl, A., Krinner, G., Loustau, D., Manca, G., Matteucci, G., Miglietta, F., Ourcival, J.M., Papale, D., Pilegaard, K., Rambal, S., Seufert, G., Soussana, J.F., Sanz, M.J., Schulze, E.D., Vesala, T., Valentini, R., 2005. Europe-wide reduction in primary productivity caused by the heat and drought in 2003. Nature 437, 529–533. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03972.
- Crippen, R., 1990. Calculating the vegetation index faster. Remote Sens. Environ. 34, 71–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(90)90085-Z.
- Davidson, A., Wang, S., Wilmshurst, J., 2006. Remote sensing of grassland–shrubland vegetation water content in the shortwave domain. Int J Appl Earth Obs Geoinf 8, 225–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2005.10.002
- De Boeck, H.J., Hiltbrunner, E., Verlinden, M., Bassin, S., Zeiter, M., 2018. Legacy Effects of Climate Extremes in Alpine Grassland. Front. Plant Sci. 9, 1586. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01586
- De Keersmaecker, W., Lhermitte, S., Tits, L., Honnay, O., Somers, B., Coppin, P., 2015. A model quantifying global vegetation resistance and resilience to short-term climate anomalies and their relationship with vegetation cover: Global vegetation resistance and resilience. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 24, 539–548. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12279
- De Keersmaecker, W., van Rooijen, N., Lhermitte, S., Tits, L., Schaminee, J., Coppin, P., Honnay, O., Somers, B., 2016. Species-rich semi-natural grasslands have a higher resistance but a lower resilience than intensively managed agricultural grasslands in response to climate anomalies. J Appl Ecol 53, 430–439. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12595

- Deléglise, C., Meisser, M., Mosimann, E., Spiegelberger, T., Signarbieux, C., Jeangros, B., Buttler, A., 2015. Drought-induced shifts in plants traits, yields and nutritive value under realistic grazing and mowing managements in a mountain grassland. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 213, 94–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.07.020
- Dengler, J., Janišová, M., Török, P., Wellstein, C., 2014. Biodiversity of Palaearctic grasslands: a synthesis. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 182, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.12.015
- Denton, E.M., Dietrich, J.D., Smith, M.D., Knapp, A.K., 2017. Drought timing differentially affects aboveand belowground productivity in a mesic grassland. Plant Ecol 218, 317–328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-016-0690-x
- Dong, C., MacDonald, G., Okin, G.S., Gillespie, T.W., 2019. Quantifying Drought Sensitivity of Mediterranean Climate Vegetation to Recent Warming: A Case Study in Southern California. Remote Sens. 11, 2902. https://doi.org/doi:10.3390/rs11242902
- Durand, Y., Brun, E., Guyomarc'H, G., Lesaffre, B., Martin, E., 1993. A meteorological estimation of relevant parameters for snow models. Ann. Glaciol. 18, 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0260305500011277
- Ebrahimi, M., Matkan, A., Darvishzadeh, R., 2010. Remote Sensing for Drought Assessment in Arid Regions (A case study of central part of Iran, "Shirkooh-Yazd." In W. Wagner, & B. Szekely (Eds.), ISPRS 2010 : isprs 1910 – 2010 Centenary celebrations : 100 years of ISPRS, Advancing remote sensing science : Symposium technical commission VII, Vol. XXXVIII part 7B, 5-7 July 2010, Wien, Osterreich (pp. 199-203). ISPRS.
- http://www.isprs.org/proceedings/XXXVIII/part7/b/pdf/199_XXXVIII-part7B.pdf Edwards, G.R., Chapman, D.F., 2011. Plant responses to defoliation and relationships with pasture
- persistence. NZGA: Research and Practice Series 15, 39–46. https://doi.org/10.33584/rps.15.2011.3207
- European Union, Copernicus Land Monitoring Service, European Environment Agency (EEA), 2016. European Digital Elevation Model (EU-DEM), version 1.1. http://land.copernicus.eu/paneuropean/satellite-derived-products/eu-dem/eu-dem-v1.1/view (accessed 25 April 2021).
- Filella, I., Serrano, L., Serra, J., Pe[~] nuelas, J., 1995. Evaluating wheat nitrogen status with canopy reflectance indices and discriminant analysis. Crop Sci. 35, 1400–1405. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci1995.0011183X003500050023x.
- Finn, J.A., Suter, M., Haughey, E., Hofer, D., Lüscher, A., 2018. Greater gains in annual yields from increased plant diversity than losses from experimental drought in two temperate grasslands. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 258, 149–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2018.02.014
- Frank, D.A., 2007. Drought effects on above- and belowground production of a grazed temperate grassland ecosystem. Oecologia 152, 131–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-006-0632-8
- Fraser, L.H., Henry, H.A., Carlyle, C.N., White, S.R., Beierkuhnlein, C., Cahill, J.F., Casper, B.B., Cleland, E., Collins, S.L., Dukes, J.S., Knapp, A.K., Lind, E., Long, R., Luo, Y., Reich, P.B., Smith, M.D., Sternberg, M., Turkington, R., 2013. Coordinated distributed experiments: an emerging tool for testing global hypotheses in ecology and environmental science. Front. Ecol. Environ. 11, 147–155. https://doi.org/10.1890/110279
- Galliot J.N., Hulin S., Le Hénaff, P.M., Farruggia A., Seytre L., Perera S., Dupic G., Faure P., Carrère P., 2020. Typologie multifonctionnelle des prairies du Massif central. Edition Sidam-AEOLE, 284 p.
- Gao, B., 1996. NDWI—A normalized difference water index for remote sensing of vegetation liquid water from space. Remote Sens. Environ. 58, 257–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(96)00067-3
- Garnier, E., Cortez, J., Billès, G., Navas, M.-L., Roumet, C., Debussche, M., Laurent, G., Blanchard, A., Aubry, D., Bellmann, A., Neill, C., Toussaint, J.-P., 2004. Plant functional markers capture ecosystem properties during secondary succession. Ecology 85, 2630–2637. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-0799
- Gaujour, E., Amiaud, B., Mignolet, C., Plantureux, S., 2012. Factors and processes affecting plant biodiversity in permanent grasslands. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 32, 133–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-011-0015-3
- Gharun, M., Hörtnagl, L., Paul-Limoges, E., Ghiasi, S., Feigenwinter, I., Burri, S., Marquardt, K., Etzold, S., Zweifel, R., Eugster, W., Buchmann, N., 2020. Physiological response of Swiss ecosystems to 2018 drought across plant types and elevation. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 375, 20190521. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0521

- Gitelson, A.A., Gritz, Y., Merzlyak, M.N., 2003. Relationships between leaf chlorophyll content and spectral reflectance and algorithms for non-destructive chlorophyll assessment in higher plant leaves. J. Plant Physiol. 160, 271–282. https://doi.org/10.1078/0176-1617-00887
- Gitelson, A.A., Kaufman, Y.J., Merzlyak, M.N., 1996. Use of a green channel in remote sensing of global vegetation from EOS-MODIS. Remote Sens. Environ. 58, 289–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(96)00072-7
- Gitelson, A.A., Kaufman, Y.J., Stark, R., Rundquist, D., 2002. Novel algorithms for remote estimation of vegetation fraction. Remote Sens. Environ. 80, 76–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(01)00289-9
- Goel, N.S., Qin, W., 1994. Influences of canopy architecture on relationships between various vegetation indices and LAI and Fpar: A computer simulation. Remote Sens. Rev. 10, 309–347. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757259409532252
- Gorelick, N., Hancher, M., Dixon, M., Ilyushchenko, S., Thau, D., Moore, R., 2017. Google Earth Engine: Planetary-scale geospatial analysis for everyone. Remote Sens. Environ. 202, 18–27. https ://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2017.06.031
- Graham, M.H., 2003. Confronting Multicollinearity in Ecological Multiple Regression. Ecology 84, 2809–2815. https://doi.org/10.1890/02-3114
- Grange, G., Finn, J.A., Brophy, C., 2021. Plant diversity enhanced yield and mitigated drought impacts in intensively managed grassland communities. J Appl Ecol 58, 1864–1875. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13894
- Graw, V., Ghazaryan, G., Dall, K., Gomez, A.D., Abdel-Hamid, A., Jordaan, A., Piroska, R., Post, J., Szarzynski, J., Walz, Y., Dubovyk, O., 2017. Drought Dynamics and Vegetation Productivity in Different Land Management Systems of Eastern Cape, South Africa-A Remote Sensing Perspective. Sustainability. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9101728
- Griffin-Nolan, R.J., Blumenthal, D.M., Collins, S.L., Farkas, T.E., Hoffman, A.M., Mueller, K.E., Ocheltree, T.W., Smith, M.D., Whitney, K.D., Knapp, A.K., 2019. Shifts in plant functional composition following long-term drought in grasslands. J Ecol 107, 2133–2148. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13252
- Griffiths, P., Nendel, C., Pickert, J., Hostert, P., 2020. Towards national-scale characterization of grassland use intensity from integrated Sentinel-2 and Landsat time series. Remote Sens. Environ. 238, 111124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.03.017
- Grime, J.P., 1998. Benefits of Plant Diversity to Ecosystems: Immediate, Filter and Founder Effects. J. Ecol. 86, 902–910. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2745.1998.00306.x
- Gu, Y., Brown, J.F., Verdin, J.P., Wardlow, B., 2007. A five-year analysis of MODIS NDVI and NDWI for grassland drought assessment over the central Great Plains of the United States. Geophys. Res. Lett. 34, L06407. https://doi.org/10.1029/2006GL029127
- Haboudane, D., 2004. Hyperspectral vegetation indices and novel algorithms for predicting green LAI of crop canopies: Modeling and validation in the context of precision agriculture. Remote Sens. Environ. 90, 337–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2003.12.013
- Hahn, C., Lüscher, A., Ernst-Hasler, S., Suter, M., Kahmen, A., 2021. Timing of drought in the growing season and strong legacy effects determine the annual productivity of temperate grasses in a changing climate. Biogeosciences 18, 585–604. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-18-585-2021
- Hallett, L.M., Stein, C., Suding, K.N., 2017. Functional diversity increases ecological stability in a grazed grassland. Oecologia 183, 831–840. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-016-3802-3
- Hofer, D., Suter, M., Haughey, E., Finn, J.A., Hoekstra, N.J., Buchmann, N., Lüscher, A., 2016. Yield of temperate forage grassland species is either largely resistant or resilient to experimental summer drought. J Appl Ecol 53, 1023–1034. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12694
- Hoover, D.L., Rogers, B.M., 2016. Not all droughts are created equal: the impacts of interannual drought pattern and magnitude on grassland carbon cycling. Glob Change Biol 22, 1809–1820. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13161
- Horion, S., Ivits, E., De Keersmaecker, W., Tagesson, T., Vogt, J., Fensholt, R., 2019. Mapping European ecosystem change types in response to land-use change, extreme climate events, and land degradation. Land Degrad Dev 30, 951–963. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.3282
- Hossain, M.L., Li, J., 2021. NDVI-based vegetation dynamics and its resistance and resilience to different intensities of climatic events. Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 30, e01768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2021.e01768

- Howden, S.M., Soussana, J.-F., Tubiello, F.N., Chhetri, N., Dunlop, M., Meinke, H., 2007. Adapting agriculture to climate change. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 104, 19691–19696. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0701890104
- Huete, A., Didan, K., Miura, T., Rodriguez, E.P., Gao, X., Ferreira, L.G., 2002. Overview of the radiometric and biophysical performance of the MODIS vegetation indices. Remote Sens. Environ. 83, 195–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(02)00096-2
- Huete, A.R., 1988. A soil-adjusted vegetation index (SAVI). Remote Sens. Environ. 25, 295–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(88)90106-X
- Hulin, S., Farruggia, A., Carrère, P., Lacoste, M., Coulon, J.B., 2012. Valorisation de la diversité des prairies au sein des systèmes fourragers : une approche appliquée pour les territoires AOP du Massif Central. Innovations Agronomiques 25, 71–84.
- Hulin, S., Galliot, J.-N., Carrère, P., Henaff, P.-M.L., Bonsacquet, E., 2019. Les prairies naturelles du Massif central : l'expression d'un terroir au service de produits de qualité. Fourrages 239, 223–229.
- Humbert, J.-Y., Dwyer, J.M., Andrey, A., Arlettaz, R., 2016. Impacts of nitrogen addition on plant biodiversity in mountain grasslands depend on dose, application duration and climate: a systematic review. Glob. Change Biol. 22, 110–120. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12986
- Humbert, J.-Y., Pellet, J., Buri, P., Arlettaz, R., 2012. Does delaying the first mowing date benefit biodiversity in meadowland? Environ Evid 1, 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/2047-2382-1-9
- Institut national de recherche pour l'agriculture, l'alimentation et l'environnement (INRAE) AgroClim, 2021. CLIMATIK. https://agroclim.inrae.fr/climatik/ClimatikGwt.html. (accessed 03.18.2021)
- Isbell, F., Craven, D., Connolly, J., Loreau, M., Schmid, B., Beierkuhnlein, C., Bezemer, T.M., Bonin, C., Bruelheide, H., de Luca, E., Ebeling, A., Griffin, J.N., Guo, Q., Hautier, Y., Hector, A., Jentsch, A., Kreyling, J., Lanta, V., Manning, P., Meyer, S.T., Mori, A.S., Naeem, S., Niklaus, P.A., Polley, H.W., Reich, P.B., Roscher, C., Seabloom, E.W., Smith, M.D., Thakur, M.P., Tilman, D., Tracy, B.F., van der Putten, W.H., van Ruijven, J., Weigelt, A., Weisser, W.W., Wilsey, B., Eisenhauer, N., 2015. Biodiversity increases the resistance of ecosystem productivity to climate extremes. Nature 526, 574–577. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15374
- Ji, L., Peters, A.J., 2003. Assessing vegetation response to drought in the northern Great Plains using vegetation and drought indices. Remote Sens. Environ. 87, 85–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(03)00174-3
- Jiang, Z., Huete, A., Didan, K., Miura, T., 2008. Development of a two-band enhanced vegetation index without a blue band. Remote Sens. Environ. 112, 3833–3845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2008.06.006
- Jiao, W., Chang, Q., Wang, L., 2019. The Sensitivity of Satellite Solar-Induced Chlorophyll Fluorescence to Meteorological Drought. Earth's Future 7, 558–573. https://doi.org/10.1029/2018EF001087
- Jiao, W., Wang, L., Smith, W.K., Chang, Q., Wang, H., D'Odorico, P., 2021. Observed increasing water constraint on vegetation growth over the last three decades. Nat Commun 12, 3777. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-24016-9
- Joly, D., Brossard, T., Cardot, H., Cavailhes, J., Hilal, M., Wavresky, P., 2010. Les types de climats en France, une construction spatiale. Cybergeo. https://doi.org/10.4000/cybergeo.23155
- Jordan, C.F., 1969. Derivation of Leaf-Area Index from Quality of Light on the Forest Floor. Ecology 50, 663–666. https://doi.org/10.2307/1936256
- Julve, P., 1998. Baseflor, index botanique, écologique et chorologique de la flore de France. http://philippe.julve.pagesperso-orange.fr/catminat.htm (accessed 06 May 2021).
- Kahmen, A., Perner, J., Buchmann, N., 2005. Diversity-dependent productivity in semi-natural grasslands following climate perturbations. Funct Ecology 19, 594–601. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2005.01001.x
- Kaufman, Y.J., Tanre, D., 1992. Atmospherically resistant vegetation index (ARVI) for EOS-MODIS. IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sensing 30, 261–270. https://doi.org/10.1109/36.134076
- Klaus, V.H., Hölzel, N., Prati, D., Schmitt, B., Schöning, I., Schrumpf, M., Solly, E.F., Hänsel, F., Fischer, M., Kleinebecker, T., 2016. Plant diversity moderates drought stress in grasslands: Implications from a large real-world study on 13C natural abundances. Sci. Total Environ. 566–567, 215–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.008
- Knapp, A.K., Avolio, M.L., Beier, C., Carroll, C.J.W., Collins, S.L., Dukes, J.S., Fraser, L.H., Griffin-Nolan, R.J., Hoover, D.L., Jentsch, A., Loik, M.E., Phillips, R.P., Post, A.K., Sala, O.E., Slette, I.J., Yahdjian, L., Smith, M.D., 2017a. Pushing precipitation to the extremes in distributed experiments:

recommendations for simulating wet and dry years. Glob Change Biol 23, 1774–1782. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13504

- Knapp, A.K., Ciais, P., Smith, M.D., 2017b. Reconciling inconsistencies in precipitation-productivity relationships: implications for climate change. New Phytol 214, 41–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14381
- Kogan, F., Stark, R., Gitelson, A., Jargalsaikhan, L., Dugrajav, C., Tsooj, S., 2004. Derivation of pasture biomass in Mongolia from AVHRR-based vegetation health indices. Int. J. Remote Sens. 25, 2889– 2896. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160410001697619
- Kolecka, N., Ginzler, C., Pazur, R., Price, B., Verburg, P., 2018. Regional Scale Mapping of Grassland Mowing Frequency with Sentinel-2 Time Series. Remote Sens. 10, 1221. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10081221
- Kreyling, J., Dengler, J., Walter, J., Velev, N., Ugurlu, E., Sopotlieva, D., Ransijn, J., Picon-Cochard, C., Nijs, I., Hernandez, P., Güler, B., von Gillhaussen, P., De Boeck, H.J., Bloor, J.M.G., Berwaers, S., Beierkuhnlein, C., Arfin Khan, M.A.S., Apostolova, I., Altan, Y., Zeiter, M., Wellstein, C., Sternberg, M., Stampfli, A., Campetella, G., Bartha, S., Bahn, M., Jentsch, A., 2017. Species richness effects on grassland recovery from drought depend on community productivity in a multisite experiment. Ecol Lett 20, 1405–1413. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12848
- Kübert, A., Götz, M., Kuester, E., Piayda, A., Werner, C., Rothfuss, Y., Dubbert, M., 2019. Nitrogen Loading Enhances Stress Impact of Drought on a Semi-natural Temperate Grassland. Front. Plant Sci. 10, 1051. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.01051
- Le Hénaff, P.-M., Galliot, J.-N., Le Gloanec, V., Ragache, Q., 2021. Végétations agropastorales du Massif central – Catalogue phytosociologique. Conservatoire botanique national du Massif central, Chavaniac-Lafayette. 531.
- Lei, T., Pang, Z., Wang, X., Li, L., Fu, J., Kan, G., Zhang, X., Ding, L., Li, J., Huang, S., Shao, C., 2016. Drought and Carbon Cycling of Grassland Ecosystems under Global Change: A Review. Water 8, 460. https://doi.org/10.3390/w8100460
- Lemoine, N.P., Hoffman, A., Felton, A.J., Baur, L., Chaves, F., Gray, J., Yu, Q., Smith, M.D., 2016. Underappreciated problems of low replication in ecological field studies. Ecology 97, 2554–2561. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.1506
- Leray, M., Knowlton, N., Ho, S.-L., Nguyen, B.N., Machida, R.J., 2019. GenBank is a reliable resource for 21st century biodiversity research. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 116, 22651–22656. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1911714116
- Li, W., Migliavacca, M., Forkel, M., Denissen, J.M.C., Reichstein, M., Yang, H., Duveiller, G., Weber, U., Orth, R., 2022. Widespread increasing vegetation sensitivity to soil moisture. Nat Commun 13, 3959. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-31667-9
- Li, Z., Zhou, T., Zhao, X., Huang, K., Gao, S., Wu, H., Luo, H., 2015. Assessments of Drought Impacts on Vegetation in China with the Optimal Time Scales of the Climatic Drought Index. Int. J. Environ. Res. 12, 7615–7634. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120707615
- Liu, S., Zhang, Y., Cheng, F., Hou, X., Zhao, S., 2017. Response of Grassland Degradation to Drought at Different Time-Scales in Qinghai Province: Spatio-Temporal Characteristics, Correlation, and Implications. Remote Sensing 9, 1329. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs9121329
- Lobert, F., Holtgrave, A.-K., Schwieder, M., Pause, M., Vogt, J., Gocht, A., Erasmi, S., 2021. Mowing event detection in permanent grasslands: Systematic evaluation of input features from Sentinel-1, Sentinel-2, and Landsat 8 time series. Remote Sens. Environ. 267, 112751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2021.112751
- Loreau, M., de Mazancourt, C., 2013. Biodiversity and ecosystem stability: a synthesis of underlying mechanisms. Ecol Lett 16, 106–115. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12073
- Louault, F., Pottier, J., Note, P., Vile, D., Soussana, J.-F., Carrère, P., 2017. Complex plant community responses to modifications of disturbance and nutrient availability in productive permanent grasslands. J Veg Sci 28, 538–549. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12509
- Lu, Z., Peng, S., Slette, I., Cheng, G., Li, X., Chen, A., 2021. Soil moisture seasonality alters vegetation response to drought in the Mongolian Plateau. Environ. Res. Lett. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abd1a2
- Lymburner, L., Beggs, P., Jacobson, C., 2000. Estimation of Canopy-Average Surface-Specific Leaf Area Using Landsat TM Data. Photogramm Eng Remote Sensing 66, 183–191.

- Ma, X., Huete, A., Cleverly, J., Eamus, D., Chevallier, F., Joiner, J., Poulter, B., Zhang, Y., Guanter, L., Meyer, W., Xie, Z., Ponce-Campos, G., 2016. Drought rapidly diminishes the large net CO2 uptake in 2011 over semi-arid Australia. Scientific reports. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep37747
- Ma, Z., Chang, S.X., Bork, E.W., Steinaker, D.F., Wilson, S.D., White, S.R., Cahill, J.F., 2020. Climate change and defoliation interact to affect root length across northern temperate grasslands. Funct. Ecol. 34, 2611–2621. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13669
- Marchi, M., Castellanos-Acu[~] na, D., Hamann, A., Wang, T., Ray, D., Menzel, A., 2020. ClimateEU, scalefree climate normals, historical time series, and future projections for Europe. Sci. Data 7, 428. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-020-00763-0.
- Martínez-López, M., Tinoco-Ojanguren, C., Martorell, C., 2020. Drought tolerance increases with seed size in a semiarid grassland from southern Mexico. Plant Ecol 221, 989–1003. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-020-01056-7
- Matos, I.S., Flores, B.M., Hirota, M., Rosado, B.H.P., 2020. Critical transitions in rainfall manipulation experiments on grasslands. Ecol Evol 10, 2695–2704. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6072
- Maurer, G.E., Hallmark, A.J., Brown, R.F., Sala, O.E., Collins, S.L., 2020. Sensitivity of primary production to precipitation across the United States. Ecol Lett 23, 527–536. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13455
- McDaniel, K.C., Haas, R.H., 1982. Assessing Mesquite-Grass Vegetation Condition from Landsat. Photogramm Eng Remote Sensing 48, 441–450.
- McDowell, N.G., Coops, N.C., Beck, P.S.A., Chambers, J.Q., Gangodagamage, C., Hicke, J.A., Huang, C., Kennedy, R., Krofcheck, D.J., Litvak, M., Meddens, A.J.H., Muss, J., Negrón-Juarez, R., Peng, C., Schwantes, A.M., Swenson, J.J., Vernon, L.J., Williams, A.P., Xu, C., Zhao, M., Running, S.W., Allen, C.D., 2015. Global satellite monitoring of climate-induced vegetation disturbances. Trends Plant Sci. 20, 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2014.10.008
- Meng, B., Li, J., Maurer, G.E., Zhong, S., Yao, Y., Yang, X., Collins, S.L., Sun, W., 2021. Nitrogen addition amplifies the nonlinear drought response of grassland productivity to extended growing-season droughts. Ecology 102. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.3483
- Météo-France, 2021. Météo -France Données publiques. https://donneespubliques.meteofrance.fr/ (accessed 18 March 2021).
- Munson, S.M., Long, A.L., Wallace, C.S.A., Webb, R.H., 2016. Cumulative drought and land-use impacts on perennial vegetation across a North American dryland region. Appl Veg Sci 19, 430–441. https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12228
- Muraina, T.O., Xu, C., Yu, Q., Yang, Y., Jing, M., Jia, X., Jaman, Md.S., Dam, Q., Knapp, A.K., Collins, S.L., Luo, Y., Luo, W., Zuo, X., Xin, X., Han, X., Smith, M.D., 2021. Species asynchrony stabilises productivity under extreme drought across Northern China grasslands. J. Ecol. 109, 1665–1675. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13587
- Nagy, Z., Pinter, K., Czobel, S., Balogh, J., Horvath, L., Foti, S., Barcza, Z., Weidinger, T., Csintalan, Zs., Dinh, N.Q., Grosz, B., Tuba, Z., 2007. The carbon budget of semi-arid grassland in a wet and a dry year in Hungary. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2006.12.003
- Nanzad, L., Zhang, J., Tuvdendorj, B., Nabil, M., Zhang, S., Bai, Y., 2019. NDVI anomaly for drought monitoring and its correlation with climate factors over Mongolia from 2000 to 2016. J. Arid Environ. 164, 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2019.01.019
- Newbold, T., Hudson, L.N., Arnell, A.P., Contu, S., De Palma, A., Ferrier, S., Hill, S.L.L., Hoskins, A.J., Lysenko, I., Phillips, H.R.P., Burton, V.J., Chng, C.W.T., Emerson, S., Gao, D., Pask-Hale, G., Hutton, J., Jung, M., Sanchez-Ortiz, K., Simmons, B.I., Whitmee, S., Zhang, H., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Purvis, A., 2016. Has land use pushed terrestrial biodiversity beyond the planetary boundary? A global assessment. Science 353, 288–291. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf2201
- Niu, K., Choler, P., de Bello, F., Mirotchnick, N., Du, G., Sun, S., 2014. Fertilization decreases species diversity but increases functional diversity: A three-year experiment in a Tibetan alpine meadow. Agric. Ecosyst Environ 182, 106–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.07.015
- Nunes, A., Köbel, M., Pinho, P., Matos, P., Bello, F. de, Correia, O., Branquinho, C., 2017. Which plant traits respond to aridity? A critical step to assess functional diversity in Mediterranean drylands. Agric For Meteorol 239, 176–184. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2017.03.007
- O'Mara, F.P., 2012. The role of grasslands in food security and climate change. Ann. Bot. 110, 1263–1270. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcs209

- Pei, Z., Fang, S., Wang, L., Yang, W., 2020. Comparative Analysis of Drought Indicated by the SPI and SPEI at Various Timescales in Inner Mongolia, China. Water 12, 1925. https://doi.org/10.3390/w12071925
- Penuelas, J., Garbulsky, M., Filella, I., 2011. Photochemical reflectance index (PRI) and remote sensing of plant CO2 uptake. New Phytol. 191, 596–599. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.03791.x
- Peres-Neto, P.R., Legendre, P., Dray, S., Borcard, D., 2006. Variation Partitioning of Species Data Matrices: Estimation and Comparison of Fractions. Ecology 87, 2614–2625. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[2614:VPOSDM]2.0.CO;2
- Pérez-Ramos, I.M., Roumet, C., Cruz, P., Blanchard, A., Autran, P., Garnier, E., 2012. Evidence for a 'plant community economics spectrum' driven by nutrient and water limitations in a Mediterranean rangeland of southern France. J Ecol 100, 1315–1327. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12000
- Perronne, R., Amiaud, B., Benquey, G., Bloor, J., Choler, P., Jolivet, C., Violle, C., Pottier, J., 2019. Quelle pertinence du modèle diversité-productivité-perturbations pour analyser l'influence des pratiques agricoles sur la diversité des prairies permanentes du Massif central ? Fourrages 237, 47–55.
- Picoli, M.C.A., Machado, P.G., Duft, D.G., Scarpare, F.V., Corrêa, S.T.R., Hernandes, T.A.D., Rocha, J.V., 2019. Sugarcane drought detection through spectral indices derived modeling by remote-sensing techniques. Model. Earth Syst. Environ. 5, 1679–1688. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40808-019-00619-6
- Pinty, B., Verstraete, M.M., 1992. GEMI: a non-linear index to monitor global vegetation from satellites. Vegetatio 101, 15–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00031911
- Qi, J., Marsett, R., Heilman, P., Bieden-bender, S., Moran, S., Goodrich, D., Weltz, M., 2002. RANGES improves satellite-based information and land cover assessments in southwest United States. Eos Trans. AGU 83, 601. https://doi.org/10.1029/2002EO000411
- R Core Team, 2021. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria.
- Rigal, A., Azaïs, J.-M., Ribes, A., 2019. Estimating daily climatological normals in a changing climate. Clim Dyn 53, 275–286. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-018-4584-6
- Reinermann, S., Asam, S., Kuenzer, C., 2020. Remote Sensing of Grassland Production and Management—A Review. Remote Sensing 12, 1949. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12121949
- Richardson, A.J., Wiegand, C., 1977. Distinguishing Vegetation from Soil Background Information. Photogramm. Eng. Remote Sens. 43, 1541–1552.
- Román Dobarco, M., Bourennane, H., Arrouays, D., Sabya, N.P.A., Cousin, I., Martin, M.P., 2019. Uncertainty assessment of GlobalSoilMap soil available water capacity products: A French case study. Geoderma 344, 14-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2019.02.036
- Rondeaux, G., Steven, M., Baret, F., 1996. Optimization of soil-adjusted vegetation indices. Remote Sens. Environ. 55, 95–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(95)00186-7
- Rose, L., Coners, H., Leuschner, C., 2012. Effects of fertilization and cutting frequency on the water balance of a temperate grassland. Ecohydrol. 5, 64–72. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.201
- Rouse, J.J., Haas, R.H., Schell, J., Deering, D., 1974. Monitoring vegetation systems in the Great Plains with ERTS. NASA. Goddard Space Flight Center 3d ERTS-1 Symp. 1, 309–317.
- Ruppert, J.C., Harmoney, K., Henkin, Z., Snyman, H.A., Sternberg, M., Willms, W., Linstädter, A., 2015. Quantifying drylands' drought resistance and recovery: the importance of drought intensity, dominant life history and grazing regime. Glob Change Biol 21, 1258–1270. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12777
- Russo, S., Dosio, A., Graversen, R.G., Sillmann, J., Carrao, H., Dunbar, M.B., Singleton, A., Montagna, P., Barbola, P., Vogt, J.V., 2014. Magnitude of extreme heat waves in present climate and their projection in a warming world. J. Geophys. Res. Atmos. 119, 12,500-12,512. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014JD022098
- Salehnia, N., Zare, H., Kolsoumi, S., Bannayan, M., 2018. Predictive value of Keetch-Byram Drought Index for cereal yields in a semi-arid environment. Theor Appl Climatol 134, 1005–1014. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-017-2315-2
- Sardans, J., Peñuelas, J., Ogaya, R., 2008. Drought's impact on Ca, Fe, Mg, Mo and S concentration and accumulation patterns in the plants and soil of a Mediterranean evergreen Quercus ilex forest. Biogeochemistry 87, 49–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10533-007-9167-2
- Shao, Y., Li, S., Gao, L., Sun, C., Hu, J., Ullah, A., Gao, J., Li, X., Liu, S., Jiang, D., Cao, W., Tian, Z., Dai, T., 2021. Magnesium Application Promotes Rubisco Activation and Contributes to High-Temperature Stress Alleviation in Wheat During the Grain Filling. Front. Plant Sci. 12, 675582. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2021.675582

- Socher, S.A., Prati, D., Boch, S., Müller, J., Baumbach, H., Gockel, S., Hemp, A., Schöning, I., Wells, K., Buscot, F., Kalko, E.K.V., Linsenmair, K.E., Schulze, E.-D., Weisser, W.W., Fischer, M., 2013. Interacting effects of fertilization, mowing and grazing on plant species diversity of 1500 grasslands in Germany differ between regions. Basic Appl Ecol 14, 126–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2012.12.003
- Soussana, J.-F., Lemaire, G., 2014. Coupling carbon and nitrogen cycles for environmentally sustainable intensification of grasslands and crop-livestock systems. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 190, 9–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.10.012
- Stampfli, A., Zeiter, M., 2004. Plant regeneration directs changes in grassland composition after extreme drought: a 13-year study in southern Switzerland: Plant regeneration directs changes. J. Ecol. 92, 568– 576. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-0477.2004.00900.x
- Strömberg, C.A.E., Staver, A.C., 2022. The history and challenge of grassy biomes. Science 377, 592–593. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.add1347
- Thoma, D.P., Munson, S.M., Witwicki, D.L., 2019. Landscape pivot points and responses to water balance in national parks of the southwest US. J Appl Ecol 56, 157–167. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13250
- Tollerud, H.J., Brown, J.F., Loveland, T.R., 2020. Investigating the Effects of Land Use and Land Cover on the Relationship between Moisture and Reflectance Using Landsat Time Series. Remote Sens. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12121919
- Tong, S., Bao, Y., Te, R., Ma, Q., Ha, S., Lusi, A., 2017. Analysis of Drought Characteristics in Xilingol Grassland of Northern China Based on SPEI and Its Impact on Vegetation. Math. Probl. Eng. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/5209173
- Tränkner, M., Jamali Jaghdani, S., 2019. Minimum magnesium concentrations for photosynthetic efficiency in wheat and sunflower seedlings. Plant Physiol. and Biochem. 144, 234–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2019.09.040
- Ushey, K., Allaire, J., Tang, Y., 2022. Reticulate: interface to 'Python'. https://rstudio.github.io/reticulate/, https://github.com/rstudio/reticulate. (accessed 10 June 2020).
- Valencia, E., de Bello, F., Galland, T., Adler, P.B., Lepš, J., E-Vojtkó, A., van Klink, R., Carmona, C.P., Danihelka, J., Dengler, J., Eldridge, D.J., Estiarte, M., García-González, R., Garnier, E., Gómez-García, D., Harrison, S.P., Herben, T., Ibáñez, R., Jentsch, A., Juergens, N., Kertész, M., Klumpp, K., Louault, F., Marrs, R.H., Ogaya, R., Ónodi, G., Pakeman, R.J., Pardo, I., Pärtel, M., Peco, B., Peñuelas, J., Pywell, R.F., Rueda, M., Schmidt, W., Schmiedel, U., Schuetz, M., Skálová, H., Šmilauer, P., Šmilauerová, M., Smit, C., Song, M., Stock, M., Val, J., Vandvik, V., Ward, D., Wesche, K., Wiser, S.K., Woodcock, B.A., Young, T.P., Yu, F.-H., Zobel, M., Götzenberger, L., 2020. Synchrony matters more than species richness in plant community stability at a global scale. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 117, 24345–24351. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1920405117
- van Rooijen, N.M., de Keersmaecker, W., Ozinga, W.A., Coppin, P., Hennekens, S.M., Schaminee, J.H.J., Somers, B., Honnay, O., 2015. Plant Species Diversity Mediates Ecosystem Stability of Natural Dune Grasslands in Response to Drought. Ecosystems 18, 1383–1394. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-015-9905-6
- Venables, W.N., Ripley, B.D., 2002. Modern Applied Statistics with S, Statistics and Computing. Springer New York, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-21706-2
- Vicente-Serrano, S.M., 2007. Evaluating the Impact of Drought Using Remote Sensing in a Mediterranean, Semi-arid Region. Nat Hazards 40, 173–208. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-006-0009-7
- Vicente-Serrano, S.M., Beguería, S., López-Moreno, J.I., 2010. A Multiscalar Drought Index Sensitive to Global Warming: The Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index. J. Clim. 23, 1696–1718. https://doi.org/10.1175/2009JCLI2909.1
- Vicente-Serrano, S.M., Gouveia, C., Camarero, J.J., Beguería, S., Trigo, R., Lopez-Moreno, J.I., Azorin-Molina, C., Pasho, E., Lorenzo-Lacruz, J., Revuelto, J., Moran-Tejeda, E., Sanchez-Lorenzo, A., 2013. Response of vegetation to drought time-scales across global land biomes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 110, 52–57. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1207068110
- Vogel, A., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Weigelt, A., 2012. Grassland Resistance and Resilience after Drought Depends on Management Intensity and Species Richness. PLoS ONE 7, e36992. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036992

- Volaire, F., 1994. Effects of summer drought and spring defoliation on carbohydrate reserves, persistence, and recovery of two populations of cocksfoot (Dactylis glomerata) in a Mediterranean environment. J. Agric. Sci. 122, 207–215. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859600087384
- Wagle, P., Gowda, P.H., Northup, B.K., Starks, P.J., Neel, J.P.S., 2019. Response of Tallgrass Prairie to Management in the US Southern Great Plains: Site Descriptions, Management Practices, and Eddy Covariance Instrumentation for a Long-Term Experiment. Remote Sens. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11171988
- Wang, L., Qu, J.J., 2007. NMDI: A normalized multi-band drought index for monitoring soil and vegetation moisture with satellite remote sensing. Geophys. Res. Lett. 34, L20405. https://doi.org/10.1029/2007GL031021
- Wang, Q., Shi, P., Lei, T., Geng, G., Liu, J., Mo, X., Li, X., Zhou, H., Wu, J., 2015. The alleviating trend of drought in the Huang-Huai-Hai Plain of China based on the daily SPEI. Int. J. Climatol. 35, 3760-3769. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.4244
- Waraich, E., Ahmad, R., Ullah, S., Ashraf, M.Y., Ehsanullah, 2011. Role of mineral nutrition in alleviation of drought stress in plants. Aust. J. Crop Sci. 5, 764–777.
- Weisser, W.W., Roscher, C., Meyer, S.T., Ebeling, A., Luo, G., Allan, E., Beßler, H., Barnard, R.L., Buchmann, N., Buscot, F., Engels, C., Fischer, C., Fischer, M., Gessler, A., Gleixner, G., Halle, S., Hildebrandt, A., Hillebrand, H., de Kroon, H., Lange, M., Leimer, S., Le Roux, X., Milcu, A., Mommer, L., Niklaus, P.A., Oelmann, Y., Proulx, R., Roy, J., Scherber, C., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Scheu, S., Tscharntke, T., Wachendorf, M., Wagg, C., Weigelt, A., Wilcke, W., Wirth, C., Schulze, E.-D., Schmid, B., Eisenhauer, N., 2017. Biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning in a 15-year grassland experiment: Patterns, mechanisms, and open questions. Basic Appl Ecol 23, 1–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.baae.2017.06.002
- Wellstein, C., Poschlod, P., Gohlke, A., Chelli, S., Campetella, G., Rosbakh, S., Canullo, R., Kreyling, J., Jentsch, A., Beierkuhnlein, C., 2017. Effects of extreme drought on specific leaf area of grassland species: A meta-analysis of experimental studies in temperate and sub-Mediterranean systems. Glob Change Biol 23, 2473–2481. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13662
- Wu, W., 2014. The Generalized Difference Vegetation Index (GDVI) for Dryland Characterization. Remote Sens. 6, 1211–1233. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs6021211
- Xiao, X., Hollinger, D., Aber, J., Goltz, M., Davidson, E.A., Zhang, Q., Moore, B., 2004. Satellite-based modeling of gross primary production in an evergreen needleleaf forest. Remote Sens. Environ. 89, 519–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2003.11.008
- Xu, H., Wang, X., Zhao, C., Yang, X., 2021. Assessing the response of vegetation photosynthesis to meteorological drought across northern China. Land Degrad Dev 32, 20–34. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.3701
- Xu, X., Sherry, R.A., Niu, S., Li, D., Luo, Y., 2013. Net primary productivity and rain-use efficiency as affected by warming, altered precipitation, and clipping in a mixed-grass prairie. Glob Change Biol 19, 2753–2764. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12248
- Yang, J., El-Kassaby, Y.A., Guan, W., 2020. The effect of slope aspect on vegetation attributes in a mountainous dry valley, Southwest China. Sci Rep 10, 16465. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-73496-0
- Ye, Z.-X., Cheng, W.-M., Zhao, Z.-Q., Guo, J.-Y., Yang, Z.-X., Wang, R.-B., Wang, N., 2020. Spatio-Temporal Characteristics of Drought Events and Their Effects on Vegetation: A Case Study in Southern Tibet, China. Remote Sens. 12, 4174. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12244174
- Zargar, A., Sadiq, R., Naser, B., Khan, F.I., 2011. A review of drought indices. Environ. Rev. 19, 333–349. https://doi.org/10.1139/a11-013
- Zhang, R., Zhao, X., Zuo, X., Degen, A.A., Li, Y., Liu, X., Luo, Y., Qu, H., Lian, J., Wang, R., 2020. Drought-induced shift from a carbon sink to a carbon source in the grasslands of Inner Mongolia, China. Catena 195, 104845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2020.104845
- Zhao, A., Zhang, A., Cao, S., Liu, X., Liu, J., Cheng, D., 2018. Responses of vegetation productivity to multiscale drought in Loess Plateau, China. Catena 163, 165–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2017.12.016
- Zhou, Q., Rover, J., Brown, J., Worstell, B., Howard, D., Wu, Z., Gallant, A., Rundquist, B., Burke, M., 2019. Monitoring Landscape Dynamics in Central U.S. Grasslands with Harmonized Landsat-8 and Sentinel-2 Time Series Data. Remote Sens. 11, 328. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11030328

Zwicke, M., Alessio, G.A., Thiery, L., Falcimagne, R., 2013. Lasting effects of climate disturbance on perennial grassland aboveground biomass production under two cutting frequencies. Glob Chang Biol. 19, 3435–3448. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12317

ANALYZING DROUGHT IMPACTS ON TEMPERATE MANAGED GRASSLANDS BY ASSIMILATION OF SENTINEL 2 IMAGES WITH A PARSIMONIOUS MODEL OF VEGETATION GROWTH



Chapter 3 attempts to move beyond some limitations highlighted in the previous chapter. It used a process-based model assimilated with satellite data to better acknowledge grassland resistance and resilience to drought in mown and grazed grasslands.

CHAPTER 3. ANALYZING DROUGHT IMPACTS ON TEMPERATE MANAGED GRASSLANDS BY ASSIMILATION OF SENTINEL 2 IMAGES WITH A PARSIMONIOUS MODEL OF VEGETATION GROWTH

Abstract

Droughts negatively impact the temperate managed grasslands leading to a decrease in the quality and delivery of ecosystem services. Various studies and drought experiments have provided key knowledge on the eco-physiological response of grasslands to drought and highlighted the role of soil, water, and agricultural practices. However, these experiments have limited spatial and temporal coverages and are constrained by experimental setups. We developed a parsimonious process-based model of grassland green leaf area index (Lg) assimilated with Sentinel 2 time series observations to expand the knowledge on grassland response to drought. Our model is driven by climatic trajectories and management impact. It consists of four parameters related to phenological growth and senescence, and management practices. It features a time-varying parameter that replicates the dynamic growth of managed grasslands across seasons and under the impacts of herbage uptake and drought. We analyzed the grassland resistance and resilience to drought using the log response ratio (LRR) from model simulated normal meteorological and unlimited water supply conditions. The use of the time-varying parameter increased the internal validation of our model. However, the external validation was low possibly due to the scale discrepancy between field and satellite-based measurements. Our model showed that grassland resistance and resilience changed after exceeding a drought event severity of 80. We found no significant difference between the resistance of mowed and grazed paddocks, but we faintly observed that grazed paddocks were more resilient to drought than mowed ones. Overall, our parsimonious model predicted Lg with the assimilation of Sentinel 2. To improve our model, we face the dilemma of prioritizing the ease of use with parsimony or increasing the explanatory power by adding the dynamics of nutrient cycles and vegetation diversity.

Keywords: LAI, PROSAIL, LUT, radiative transfer model, response, resistance, resilience

3.1. Introduction

Droughts threaten temperate managed grasslands and decrease the quality and delivery of their ecosystem services (Craine et al., 2012; Hofer et al., 2016; Jung et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2016; Srivastava et al., 2018). Various studies were conducted in controlled or semi-controlled field experiments to determine how droughts impact managed grasslands (Deléglise et al., 2015; Leuzinger et al., 2011; Vogel et al. 2012; Volaire et al., 2020). These experiments have provided key scientific understandings from the eco-physiological responses driving plant individual responses to the role of plant community structure and the effects of different agricultural practices.

However, drought experiments face two important shortcomings (Fraser et al., 2013; Kröel-Dulay et al., 2022; Leuzinger et al., 2011; Matos et al., 2020a). The first is their inability to cover the large diversity of grassland types and contexts, because of their restricted spatio-temporal coverage and the second is the setup of unrealistic field conditions, due to inherent experimental constraints, leading to misestimated drought impacts (Kröel-Dulay et al., 2022; Leuzinger et al., 2011; Vicca et al., 2012).

Remote sensing products and techniques have the capacity to expand the spatio-temporal coverage of drought experiments (Kerr and Ostrovsky, 2003; Li et al., 2014; Soubry et al., 2021; Xu and Guo, 2015) and focus on the real-life conditions of the managed grasslands in farm systems. Various remote sensing products estimate the biophysical and biochemical properties of vegetation based on the reflectance values received by satellite sensors from the Earth's surface. To determine the grassland response to drought, one approach consists of analyzing the trajectories of long-term satellite image time series (SITS) of vegetation reflectance paired with drought severity measures (Bao et al., 2014; Buras et al., 2019; Ivits et al., 2014; Tong et al., 2017). Within the SITS, the abrupt changes in the reflectance trajectories are explained by the corresponding drought severity. The vegetation reflectance serves as a proxy for vegetation properties, such as productivity, greenness, moisture content, etc., in the form of vegetation indices or other types of information derived from reflectance bands. The statistical inference approach, on the other hand, quantifies the response to drought from the linear relationship between vegetation reflectance and drought severity indices (Nanzad et al., 2019; Smith et al., 2017; Wilcox et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2019). It has been recently used to complement knowledge from controlled experiments on the role of pedoclimatic factors, vegetation diversity, and management practices in enhancing or reducing drought impacts on grassland vegetation at a regional scale (Luna et al., 2023). However, the relationship between vegetation reflectance and drought severity usually suffers from detrimental noise and analysis concerns (Luna et al., 2023). The observed changes in the vegetation reflectance following drought can also be under the influence of other cooccurring disturbances - such as pest or plant disease infections (Terentev et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2019); fire outbreaks (Dwyer et al., 2000; Rogers et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2004); management practices of mowing or grazing (Kowalski et al., 2022; 2023; Estel et al., 2018; Reinermann et al., 2020); or the natural phenological development of the vegetation (Reed et al., 1994; Dronova and Taddeo, 2022). In addition, gaps in time series analyses due to clouds (Whitcraft et al., 2015) or satellite temporal resolution (Villarreal et al., 2016), limit the quantification of resistance or recovery to drought due to missed reflectance peaks, and valleys. To improve the understanding of drought impact on grassland with remote sensing, it is thus necessary to isolate pure drought effects from confounding or interacting factors and distinguish between resistance and resilience capacities for different types of grasslands and especially between grasslands managed under different agricultural practices.

Assimilation of RS products with process-based models (Cuddington et al., 2013; Meroni et al., 2019) has the potential to improve model predictions in agroecosystems (Dorigo et al., 2007; Jin et al., 2018). Since better predictions of mechanistic models support our understanding of ecological phenomena (Mouquet et al., 2015), when used together with RS data they may help in isolating drought impacts from other processes like management practices or phenological changes in case they are explicitly considered in the model design.

Numerous mechanistic models of grasslands have been developed (see review in Taubert et al., 2012). They have been successfully used for predicting the vegetation cover, growth, and productivity (GrasProg in Peters et al., 2022; GrazeGro in Barrett et al., 2005; LINGRA in Schapendonk et al., 1998; STICS-Prairie in Di Bella et al., 2004; VISTOCK in Bellini et al., 2023) and nutrient and energy fluxes (DALEC-Grass in Myrgiotis et al., 2020; PaSiM in Riedo et al., 1998 and Schmid et al., 2001; SAFY-CO² in Pique et al., 2020) for different management conditions (ORCHIDEE-GM in Chang et al., 2013; PaSiM in Graux et al., 2009) and under the impacts of drought (ModVege in Jouven et al., 2006a; 2006b; Calanca et al., 2016; SCOPE in van der Tol et al., 2009; Bayat et al., 2018). Some of them have already been assimilated with satellite products like SAFY - but for crops - and SCOPE. The SCOPE model has been applied to grasslands and other ecosystems to compare model simulation in drought and non-drought conditions (Bayat et al., 2018). The main drawback of all these models is that they are highly data-demanding. They require time series observations of many input variables and the calibration of dozens of parameters. As a result, these models were mostly applied in grassland observatories, (Chang et al., 2013; Pique et al., 2020), field experiments (Calanca et al., 2016; Myrgiotis et al., 2020; Peters et al., 2022) sometimes equipped with flux towers (Bayat, 2018; Graux et al., 2009). This makes difficult the assimilation of these models with satellite data for simulating vegetation growth of many grasslands in farms, where data are usually scarce. More parsimonious models are thus needed. One example of a model of lower complexity is the eco-hydrological model proposed by Choler et al. (2010). It simulates the coupled dynamics of vegetation cover and soil water content with five parameters only. Estimates of the fractional vegetation cover derived from MODIS-NDVI were used for parameter calibration. This approach successfully predicted the dynamics of semiarid perennial grasslands, in Queensland - Australia, in response to spatio-temporal variations of water supply. The application of such a low-dimensional model in temperate managed grassland impacted by drought requires two main modifications. First, it should explicitly account for the effect of agricultural practices and especially herbage uptakes. Second, it should simulate phenological changes inherent to temperate perennials.

In this study, we thus aimed to (i) develop a parsimonious model of vegetation growth in temperate managed grasslands, (ii) calibrate and validate it with the use of satellite image time series, (iii) quantify resistance and resilience of grasslands to drought events from model simulations, and (iv) compare the vegetation response to drought between contrasted management practices.

To do so, we first developed a simple process-based model simulating the daily dynamics of the green leaf area index (L_g) and the amount of water available for plants. The green leaf area index (L_g) was chosen as the targeted vegetation state variable because of its role in the use of water by plants (Allen et al., 1998; Chen and Wang, 2012), its response to changes in phenological stages (Corbari et al., 2017), and its signature on vegetation reflectance spectra (Gitelson et al., 2003; Mourad et al., 2020). Then we used Sentinel 2–derived L_g generated from the inversion of the radiative transfer model PROSAIL (Atzberger et al., 2015) to calibrate the model. Finally, we analyzed, from model simulations, the differences in resistance and resilience to drought between mowed and grazed paddocks.

3.2. Data and methodology

3.2.1. Study site and field data

This study focused on the Herbipôle experimental site (45°38'7.64"N, 2°45'4.77"E) of the French *Institut national de recherche pour l'agriculture, l'alimentation et l'environnement* (INRAE) located at Laqueuille within the Massif central region, France. The site covers 560 ha of temperate permanent grasslands between 1,000 and 1,450 m a.s.l. (Prache, 2017; Vazeille et al., 2018) thus exposed to a mountain climate (Joly et al., 2010). The average annual precipitation is about 1,100 mm, and the average minimum and maximum temperatures are 4.63°C and 11.67°C, respectively.

For the SALAMIX project, 118 ha of permanent grassland of this site managed on organic farming are divided into 33 paddocks, which were either dedicated to hay production, hence are mostly mowed

in spring and early summer, or to light grazing with cattle, sheep or cattle and sheep in combination (Prache et al., 2023).

The grassland paddocks were monitored between May 2015 and November 2020. The vegetation biomass (sorted in green and senescent tissues) and height were recorded in each paddock before the start of each grazing rotation or cut. Biomass and height were determined from at least four sampling quadrats in each paddock, which were 70 cm x 70 cm in dimension and with known geographic coordinates. Detailed records of the herbage uptake calendar were done during the entire period and for each paddock separately. It included dates of mowing events, the entry and exit dates of grazing animals, and the type and number of animals.

For this study, we randomly selected three mowed and three grazed paddocks (Figure 3-1). The selected mowed paddocks have an average area of 4.08 ha and were cut at least once annually during the summer season (June to August). In addition, each mowing was occasionally grazed late in summer and in fall. The selected grazed paddocks have an average area of 2.80 ha and were grazed 1 to 6 times annually with an average of three grazing events.



Figure 3– 1. Configuration of the 33 paddocks under the SALAMIX project. Highlighted are the six selected mowed and grazed paddocks used in the model development.

A field meteorological station ($45^{\circ}38'35.88"N$; $2^{\circ}44'3.73"E$) was situated in close proximity to the Herbipôle experimental site (Figure 3–1). The meteorological station provided daily records of climate variables – such as precipitation, temperature, solar radiation, potential evapotranspiration, and humidity – as early as July 1995. For this study, we used the daily climate data as inputs for the model and drought severity assessment. We used the 25-year-long climate data to assess the normal water balance of each day of the year and compute the daily SPEI (Vicente Serrano et al., 2010) as an indicator of meteorological drought.

3.2.2. Assessment of Green Leaf Area Index (L_g) from satellite images

The time series of the green Leaf Area Index (L_g) for each biomass monitoring location (quadrats) of each selected paddock, were derived by the inversion of the PROSAIL radiative transfer model using Sentinel 2 images (Atzberger et al., 2015; Boegh et al., 2013; Darvishzadeh et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2019) downloaded from the Theia Data and Service Center (France). Sentinel 2 MultiSpectral Instrument (MSI) is an optical satellite that provides images with spatial resolutions of 10, 20, and 60 m and a 5-day collection revisit. We used an average of 182 Sentinel 2 images, which range from 177 to 186 snow and cloud-free observations depending on the paddock considered, covering May 2015 to November 2020 time period.

PROSAIL is composed of the PROSPECT (leaf) and SAIL (canopy) models. PROSPECT provides leaf reflectance and transmittance to SAIL. The direct inputs for the PROSAIL are the biophysical and biochemical leaf properties of chlorophyll, dry matter, and brown pigment contents; equivalent water thickness; leaf angles, LAI, and the satellite and sun viewing angles (see Jacquemoud et al., 2009). The output of SAIL is the reflectance signature of the vegetation canopy. Intentionally, the merging of PROSPECT and SAIL allowed for a better inversion of reflectance signature to estimate the leaf properties (Baret et al., 1992; Jacquemoud, 1993; Jacquemoud et al., 2009).

The retrieval of the biophysical and biochemical leaf properties with the inversion of PROSAIL was done with the look-up-table method (LUT; Jacquemoud et al., 2009). The LUT method is a simple minimization technique that requires multiple computations to generate a reference table of leaf parameter combinations and their associated reflectance signature (Berger et al., 2018; Jacquemoud et al., 2009). For this study, we followed the recommended LUT size of 100,000 parameter combinations (Richter et al., 2009; Weiss et al., 2000). The parameter combinations originated from independent random draws of parameter values from uniform distributions (Darvishzadeh et al., 2008). The best 30 parameter combinations were selected using the relative root mean square error (RRMSE) as the cost function. We then averaged the LAI values from this selection (He et al., 2019). The repetition of this

procedure for each date and location allowed to generate time series of Lg for each paddock during the 2016-2020 period.

3.2.3. A simple dynamic model of grassland green leaf area index (L_g)

We developed a simple model of the dynamics of green LAI (L_g) in interaction with the dynamics of the soil available water content (W), considered as a minimum system to represent drought impacts on temperate managed grasslands. At each daily timestep, L_g is updated (Eq. 1) according to the balance between three basic processes: vegetation growth (g), senescence (s), and herbage uptake by mowing or grazing (d).

$$L_g(t+1) = L_g(t) + g(t) - s(t) - d(t)$$
 Eq. 1

The daily increase in L_g [i.e., g(t) in Eq. 1] is modelled as a reduction of the maximum potential growth of the grassland (g_{max}) by three functions (Figure 3– 2. a, b, c) representing (i) temperature limitation (f_1) according to Yan and Hunt (1999), (ii) water limitation (f_2) depending on the product between the actual evapotranspiration (E_a) and the instantaneous water use efficiency (*IWUE*) of the vegetation and (iii) an empirical function of the seasonal pattern of temperate grassland growth (f_3) representing changes in reserve storage and mobilization with the sum of growing degree days (GDD_{Σ}) following Jouven et al. (2006a). Accordingly, g(t) is defined as:

$$g(t) = g_{max} \times f_1(T(t)) \times f_2(E_a(t)) \times f_3(GDD_{\Sigma}(t))$$
 Eq. 2

The calculation of the actual evapotranspiration (E_a) is written as:

$$E_a(t) = \begin{cases} E_{max}(t) & W^* \le W(t) < W_{max} \\ E_{max}(\frac{W(t)}{W^*}) & 0 \le W(t) < W^* \end{cases}$$
Eq. 3

Where E_{max} represents the evapotranspiration under conditions of full water availability. While W is above a given threshold W^* , the evapotranspiration is unlimited. Below this threshold E_a decreases linearly until W equal 0 (Calanca et al., 2016). Note that W represents the soil water content available for plants. Therefore, W = 0 means that the soil water content is at its wilting point in the soil layer where plant roots are distributed.

 $E_{max}(t)$ is given by the adjustment of the potential evapotranspiration of the reference surface $(E_0(t))$, as provided by meteorological stations, to $L_g(t)$ according to Smith (2012) and following:

$$E_{max}(t) = E_0(t) \left(max \left\{ 0, \left[ln \left(L_g(t) + 1 \right) \right]^{0.4} \right\} \right)$$
 Eq. 4

W is modelled as a simple one-layer bucket model (Eq. 5 and 6) where gain in water depends on precipitation (*P*), and losses depend on actual evapotranspiration (E_a) and runoff (*R*):

$$W(t+1) = W(t) + P(t) - E_a(t) - R(t)$$
 Eq. 5

with

$$R(t) = \max(0, (P(t) - E_a(t)) - (W_{max} - W(t)))$$
 Eq. 6

The senescence s(t) is defined as the product of a senescence rate (s_0) , $L_g(t)$, the absolute temperature of the day and an empirical function inherited from Jouven et al. (2006a) depicting the influence of plant phenology (Eq. 7). Accordingly, the senescence is proportional to heat and frost but minimal around 0°C. Along the course of the growing season, the senescence is null until the first cohort of leaves starts to senesce, which depends on the leaf lifespan (*LLS*) expressed in growing degree days (GDD). Then, the senescence increases linearly until the peak of flowering and remains at its maximum as the GDD_{Σ} further increases (Figure 3– 2. d).

$$s(t) = L_g \times s_0 \times |T^{\circ}(t)| \times f_3(GDD_{\Sigma}(t))$$
 Eq. 7

In our model, the influence of management on the dynamics of L_g lies on the simulation of herbage utilization by mowing or grazing according to:

$$d(t) = \begin{cases} L_g(t) - (L_g(t) - L_{g,lim}) & mowing \\ L_g(t) - max(L_g(t) - L_{g,lim}, c \times I(t)) & grazing \end{cases}$$
Eq. 8

Where $L_{g,lim}$ stands for the remaining L_g after cutting and the limit below which animals cannot graze. Under grazing, decrease in L_g is given by the conversion of animal intake (I(t)), expressed in kgMS⁻¹.ha⁻¹, into L_g with a coefficient c. Animal intake is calculated with the HerbValo method, which accounts for the animal intake capacity, herbage ingestability, grazing severity, and the potential use of animal food supplements. See Delagarde et al. (2017) for more details.



Figure 3– 2. Empirical function modulating growth (a, b, c) and senescence (d). (a) the effect of temperature on growth (f_1 in Eq. 2); (b) the effect of the actual evapotranspiration (E_a) on growth with IWUE representing the instantaneous water use efficiency (f_2 in Eq. 2); (c) the seasonal pattern of growth depending on the sum of growing degree days (f_3 in Eq. 2); and (d) the seasonal pattern of senescence (f_4 in Eq. 7).

Finally, the daily update of the sum of growing degree days (GDD_{Σ}) is given by:

$$GDD_{\Sigma}(t+1) = \begin{cases} 200 & mowing\\ (1-p)\left(GDD_{\Sigma}(t) + T_g(t)\right) + p \times 200 & grazing\\ GDD_{\Sigma}(t) + T_g(t) & else \end{cases}$$
Eq. 9

with

$$T_g(t) = \begin{cases} 0 & doy \le 60 \\ \max(0, \min(20, T(t))) & else \end{cases}$$
 Eq. 10

and

$$p = \frac{d(t)}{\left(L_g(t) - L_{g,lim}\right)}$$
 Eq. 11

The GDD_{Σ} represents the temperature-dependent development of plants along the growing season, which depends on the range of efficient temperature for growth, typically between 0°C and 20°C for temperate grasslands (Eq. 10) and reset to 0 during the winter (Cros et al., 2003). After management events, the vegetation starts a new cycle of development and GDD_{Σ} is set to 200 °C for the entire grassland area under mowing (Bossuyt et al., 2018; Kuinchtner et al., 2021; Rivington et al., 2008) or in proportion *p* to the grassland area that is fully grazed by animals (Eq. 9 and Eq. 10).

3.2.4. Model calibration and validation

We assimilated the observed L_g derived from Sentinel 2 with the model described above using a calibration procedure (Dorigo et al., 2007; Villaverde et al., 2022). To optimize the identifiability of the model and thus the quality of the calibration procedure, we first fixed a set of parameters. The influence of phenology on growth and senescence was inherited from Jouven et al. (2006a) and implied a total of six parameters (the peak of flowering, the leaf lifespan, the start and end of the flowering period, and the minimum and maximum values of the seasonal factor, see Figure 3-2). Jouven et al. (2006a) used the functional typology of temperate grass species developed by Duru et al. (2007) as a reference for defining those parameters. Using this same typology, we derived simple empirical relationships predicting the value of five of these parameters based on the peak of flowering expressed in growing degree days (GDD) (Appendix 3– A). Then, we fixed $W^* = 0.4$, since Calanca et al. (2006) showed that such an assumption provided a similar result to more complex parametrization of the effect of hydric stress in similar mountainous grasslands. We also fixed the coefficient c = 0.0012(in m².m⁻²/KgMS.ha⁻¹) of conversion of aboveground biomass into LAI based on previous simulations of the PaSIM model performed for nearby grasslands (Ma et al., 2015). The $L_{g,lim}$ was fixed to 0.36 based on field knowledge of the remaining aboveground biomass after mowing and severe grazing converted into LAI with c. Finally, we further fixed IWUE = 0.2 (in mm⁻¹) to control the identifiability of the model. Indeed, several combinations of *IWUE* and g_{max} values can lead to the same net daily increase of LAI for the same meteorological conditions. IWUE = 0.2 results in maximum potential growth for 5 mm of evapotranspiration and allows to keep realistic daily increase of LAI. All these assumptions result in a set of five input variables and four parameters for calibration (Table 3–1).

Inputs/parameters	Description	Unit	Source
EO	Daily potential evapotranspiration of the	mm	Meteorological stations
	reference surface		
Т	Daily mean temperature	°C	Meteorological stations
Р	Daily precipitation	mm	Meteorological stations
Ι	Animal intake	KgMS.d ⁻¹	Field data (HerbValo)
Cuts	Binary data of mowing events	-	Field data
\underline{g}_{max}	Maximum daily increase in LAI	$m^{2}.m^{-2}$	
Peak	Peak of flowering	°C.d	
\underline{W}_{max}	Maximum available water for plants	mm	
<u>S</u> max	Basic rate of LAI decrease (senescence)	$m^{2}.m^{-2}.^{\circ}C^{-1}$	

Table 3–1. Input variables and parameters for calibration (underlined) of the dynamical model of LAI.

The calibration procedure, similar to the LUT method, first consisted in selecting, for each of the 6 paddocks separately, the best parameter combinations from 30,000 random draws of parameter values from prior uniform distributions (Table 3– 3). The ranges for g_{max} and s_{max} were selected from a previous investigation of the model to avoid unrealistic LAI estimates and trajectories. For instance, the maximum LAI observed in European grasslands in Gilmanov et al. (2007) was 7 m².m⁻². Then, the range of *Peak* values covers the phenological attributes of the functional typology of grassland species of Duru et al. (2007). The W_{max} range was estimated for low-water retention soil with a shallow rooting depth (15 cm) and high-water retention soil with a deep rooting depth (60 cm). From the 30,000 model simulations, we selected the best 30 parameter combinations with the lowest mean squared error (MSE) between the observed L_g (Sentinel 2-derived) and the model predictions, used as a cost function. We checked whether the best parameter estimates converged from a visual inspection of their posterior distribution (Appendix 3– B).

The calibration procedure depicted above considers parameter values to be fixed during the 2016-2020 period. However, some of them (i.e., g_{max} , W_{max} and s_{max}) should be viewed as an integrated parameter influenced by the vegetation composition and/or nutrient availability, are not expected to remain constant through time but rather to be influenced by past events from the preceding growth periods. Since the model outputs are mostly sensitive to changes in g_{max} (Appendix 3– C), we focused our attention on this parameter. Indeed, disturbances or physical stresses promote changes in vegetation composition or influence the storage of nutrients and carbohydrates necessary for initiating forthcoming vegetation growth (Cibils and Coughenour, 2001; Pouget et al., 2021; Schmid et al., 2022). The variability of precipitation is also known to modify the soil nutrient supply in time and thus growth potential (Knapp et al., 2008). As these processes were not included in the model for simplicity, g_{max} should ideally be re-calibrated for each growth period. Therefore, we conducted a time-varying parameter calibration of g_{max} , with all the other parameters set as fixed values, inherited from the previous calibration procedure. Growth periods were based on the changing of seasons or management events that reinitialize the plant life cycle to the vegetative stage. Accordingly, a new growth period starts at the end of each winter or after the occurrence of cuts or heavy grazing. The best parameter combinations were selected using the same procedure as for the fixed parameter calibration except that we used 3,000 random draws of g_{max} .

We assessed the goodness-of-fit between the observed L_g derived from Sentinel 2 and the model predictions, for each paddock, and for both the fixed and time-varying parameter calibration. For such internal validation of the model, we reported the R², intercept (with 95% confidence intervals), and slope (with 95% confidence intervals) of standard major axis regressions (Warton et al., 2006). In addition, we considered the mean absolute error (MAE), the maximum absolute error (MaxAE), the mean relative error (MRE), and the root mean square error (RMSE) of model predictions. For external validation, we further regressed the predicted L_g to field measurements of the vegetation standing biomass, senescent biomass, and height records since ground measurements of LAI were unavailable. Only ten to fourteen measurements were available for each paddock. Therefore, we merged all data and built a mixed-effect model for testing a potential random effect of paddock identity.

3.2.5. Drought response assessment and comparison between mowing and grazing

We used model simulations to assess the response of the studied managed grassland paddocks to the drought events occurring between 2016 and 2020 and to decompose it into its resistance and resilience components.

We first assessed the severity of the drought events. To do so, we used the climatic records from the field meteorological station and computed a modified daily version of the Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI; Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010; modifications from Luna et al., 2023).

We assessed the start of drought events as the date when the modified SPEI turns negative and the end of drought events as the next date when the modified SPEI became positive again (Table 3– 2; McKee et al., 1993; Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010). This allowed the computation of the duration of the drought events and their severity (DS) following $DS = \sum_{d=start}^{end} mSPEI_d$ (Haile et al., 2020; McKee et al., 1993). Drought events no longer than 10 days, outside the growing season (March to November), and of moderate intensity (no modified SPEI value below -1.5 during the drought) were excluded from the subsequent analyses.

Values	Water balance category			
\geq 2.0	Extremely wet			
$1.5 < \text{modified SPEI} \le 2.0$	Severely wet			
$1.0 < \text{modified SPEI} \le 1.5$	Moderately wet			
$0.0 < \text{modified SPEI} \le 1.0$	Slightly wet			
$-1.0 < \text{modified SPEI} \le 0.0$	Slightly dry			
$-1.5 < \text{modified SPEI} \le -1.0$	Moderately dry			
$-2.0 < \text{modified SPEI} \le -1.5$	Severely dry			
≤ -2.0	Extremely dry			

Table 3–2. Modified SPEI rating adapted from SPI (McKee et al., 1993).

Second, we used the best set of parameter values of each paddock to simulate L_g under two conditions, namely under normal (or observed) meteorological and unlimited water supply (i.e., W is fixed at W_{max}) conditions. The logarithm of the ratio of L_g between these two simulations reflects thus the instantaneous response to drought (Log Response Ratio or LRR; Figure 3–3). From the trajectories of LRR, we computed two metrics reflecting grassland resistance and resilience to each drought event in compliance with the definitions of Van Meerbeek et al. (2021). The resistance was defined as the minimum LRR during the drought event and normalized between 0 and 1, with 0 indicating no reduction of L_g in observed meteorological conditions compared to unlimited water supply and 1 as a reduction of 95% of L_g . The resilience was derived from the slope between the minimal LRR during the drought event and complete recovery or the next drought event (Figure 3–3).

To identify the determinants of grassland resistance and resilience to drought, we fitted linear regression models of the resistance and resilience metrics with drought severity per type of management and their interaction.



Figure 3– 3. Quantification of the resistance (Rst) and resilience (Rsl) of the managed grassland based on the logarithm of the drought response ratio (LRR).

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Fixed and time-varying parameter calibrations

A visual inspection of the posterior distribution of the parameter estimates indicates convergence toward one single optimum value for all paddocks (Appendix 3-B). From the 30,000 random draws of parameter values, we used the mean of the best 30 parameter combinations per paddock for the fixed parameter calibration of the model (Table 3-3).

	Parameters	FF1 ^a	FR2 ^a	FS1 ^a	PE1 ^b	PR2 ^b	PS1 ^b	
g_{max}	prior distribution	U	(0.05, 0.25	5)	U(0.05, 0.25)			
	posterior mean	0.105	0.121	0.127	0.165	0.233	0.119	
W _{max}	prior distribution	U(15,90)			U(15,90)			
	posterior mean	86	88	77	76	81	81	
Peak	prior distribution	U(1000, 1800)			U(1000, 1800)			
	posterior mean	1110	1083	1082	1023	1018	1044	
S _{max}	prior distribution	U(0	0.001,0.005	5)	U(0.001,0.005)			
	posterior mean	0.00144	0.00146	0.00223	0.00456	0.00475	0.00232	

Table 3–3. Summary of initial and calibrated model parameters.

^a Mowed paddocks, ^b Grazed paddocks

The internal validation of the model showed that the two calibration procedures, namely the fixed parameter calibration and the time-varying g_{max} calibration provided unbiased estimates of Lg (Table

3–4). Indeed, for both calibration procedures, the relationship between the observed and predicted Lg was very close to the 1:1 line (Appendix 3– D). However, regarding the dispersion around the regression line, the time-varying g_{max} outperformed the fixed parameter calibration with a mean R² of 0.83, as opposed to a mean of 0.66. This also translated to an average reduction of 0.15 of the mean absolute error; 0.60 of the max absolute error; 0.14 of the mean relative error; and 0.18 of the root-mean-square error between the fixed and time-varying parameter calibration. In addition, the model showed slightly better predictive accuracy for mowed paddocks than grazed ones (Table 3– 4) with a difference of 0.035 mean absolute error; 0.175 max absolute error; 0.07 mean relative error; and 0.06 root mean square error.

Table 3–4. Assessment of the goodness-of-fit between the predicted and observed Lg for the internal validation of the mowed and grazed paddocks.

Goodness-of-fit measures:	FF1		FR2	FS1			
Mowed paddocks	Fixed	Fime-varying 1	Fix	Time-varying	Fixed	Time-varying	
MAE	0.39	0.25	0.46	0.26	0.44	0.33	
MaxAE	1.50	1.14	3.29	1.35	1.66	1.84	
MRE	0.33	0.20	0.30	0.18	0.29	0.22	
RMSE	0.51	0.33	0.61	0.36	0.56	0.43	
R ²	0.74	0.89	0.69	0.89	0.71	0.81	
Intercept	0.39	0.01	0.33	0.06	-0.15	-0.01	
95% CI for intercept	(0.26, 0.51)	(-0.09, 0.11)	(0.18, 0.48)	(-0.05, 0.17)	(-0.33, 0.02)	(-0.15, 0.13)	
Slope	0.79	0.98	0.79	0.96	1.00	0.97	
95% CI for slope	(0.73, 0.86)	(0.93, 1.03)	(0.73, 0.86)	(0.91, 1.01)	(0.92, 1.09)	(0.91, 1.05)	
	PE1		PR2		PS1		
Grazed paddocks	Fixed	Fime-varying l	Fixed	Time-varying	Fixed	Time-varying	
MAE	0.48	0.33	0.57	0.41	0.34	0.21	
MaxAE	1.93	1.41	2.36	2.74	2.35	1.04	
MRE	0.39	0.23	0.33	0.24	0.51	0.25	
RMSE	0.61	0.43	0.76	0.59	0.49	0.30	
R ²	0.48	0.78	0.61	0.74	0.72	0.90	
Intercept	0.04	-0.31	-0.44	-0.33	0.24	-0.08	
95% CI for intercept	(-0.16, 0.23)	(-0.45, -0.16)	(-0.7, -0.19)	(-0.51, -0.15)	(0.11, 0.37)	(-0.17, 0.01)	
Slope	0.97	1.13	1.21	1.05	0.88	1.02	
95% CI for slope	(0.86, 1.08)	(1.05, 1.22)	(1.1, 1.34)	(0.97, 1.14)	(0.81, 0.95)	(0.97, 1.07)	

Mean Absolute Error (MAE), Max Absolute Error (MaxAE), Mean Relative Error; Root Mean Square Error (RMSE)

The external validation of the model, where the predicted Lg was compared to ground measurements of biomass and vegetation height, showed mixed results. We built a mixed model of total biomass, senescent biomass, and vegetation height (measured with an herbometer) where the predicted Lg had a fixed effect and paddock ID a random effect on the intercept. The analyses yielded marginal (marg) R² values (i.e., the variance explained by the fixed factor) of below 0.40 and conditional (cond) R² values (i.e., the variance explained by both fixed and random factors) below 0.52 for both calibration procedure (Table 3– 5). Among the three field measurements, the total biomass yielded the highest conditional R² at 0.515 for the fixed parameters and 0.473 for the time-varying g_{max} . The lowest conditional R² of 0.037 was between the predicted Lg of the time-varying g_{max} and vegetation height. Beyond the goodness-of-fit of these mixed-effect models, the signs of the estimated fixed effects (the predicted Lg) were consistent with basic expectations: positive for height and total biomass and negative for the senescent biomass.

Calibration	Total biomass			Senescent biomass			Vegetation height (herbometer)		
Fixed parameter									
Fixed effect	b 465.53	<i>SE</i> 81.63	<i>tvalue</i> 5.704***	b -57.39	<i>SE</i> 11.09	<i>tvalue</i> -5.12***	b 1.19	SE 0.36	<i>tvalue</i> 0.0017**
Random effects Paddock ID (intercept)	sd 598.9***			sd 44.1			sd 1.929***		
Residual	804.7			80.2			2.893		
Fit	<i>R² marg</i> 0.247	<i>R² cond</i> 0.515		<i>R² marg</i> 0.322	<i>R² cond</i> 0.479		<i>R² marg</i> 0.13	R^2 cond 0.4	
Time-varying parameter									
Fixed effect	<i>b</i> 498.06	<i>SE</i> 81.46	<i>tvalue</i> 6.114***	b -59.16	<i>SE</i> 12.43	<i>tvalue</i> -4.76***	b 1.49	<i>SE</i> 0.38	<i>tvalue</i> 3.929***
Random effects	sd			sd			sd		
Paddock ID (intercept)	427.2*			44.53			2.426*		
Residual	809.2			82.57			8.051		
Fit	<i>R² marg</i> 0.327	<i>R² cond</i> 0.473		<i>R² marg</i> 0.27	<i>R² cond</i> 0.435		<i>R² marg</i> 0.181	R ² cond 0.37	

Table 3–5. Summary of the external validation of the model. The p-values of the random intercept effect were assessed.

As an additional qualitative assessment of the reliability of the model, the posterior distributions of the parameter (Appendix 3– B) agreed with some general characteristics of the grasslands under study. The W_{max} did not vary much between the paddocks and was overall high, which is consistent with the overall high and homogeneous soil water holding capacity across the site and deep rooting. The senescence and growth rates were slightly higher for the grazed paddocks, which is also consistent with the tendency of grazing to promote compensatory growth associated with the high rate of plant tissue turnover (Järemo and Palmqvist, 2001; McIntyre et al., 1995; McIntyre et al., 1999; McNaughton, 1983; Stowe et al., 2000). However, the estimated peak of flowering was early for all paddock, which is not in accordance with the phenology of the dominant grass species of the site,

namely *Agrostis capillaris*, *Festuca rubra*, and *Anthoxanthum odoratum*, which are expected to flower later in the growing season.

3.3.2. Quantification of severe drought events

We identified eight drought events during the growing season of 2016 to 2020 (Figure 3– 4). The top four drought events with DS values above 80 started between July and August until October and November of the early fall seasons (Appendix 3– E). The year 2018 had the most severe drought event (DS=165.5), followed by the years 2020 and 2019 with DS = 146.2 and DS =122.8, respectively. Although the years 2016 and 2017 are also considered as drought years in western and central Europe (García-Herrera et al., 2019) our assessment showed lower DS values compared to 2018 to 2020. Our analysis revealed that the drought event severities were mainly dependent on drought duration and timing (summer) rather than intensity (Appendix 3– F).



Figure 3–4. The quantified drought severity of the growing season as the sum of the integral area of the drought intensity and duration based on the modified SPEI trajectories from 2016 to 2020.

3.3.3. Managed grassland response to drought

Within expectations, the Logarithm of the drought Response Ratio (LRR) was mostly negative during and right after the severe drought events. The vegetation was not responsive mostly for moderate spring droughts and the light summer drought of 2018. Surprisingly, the LRR became positive (especially in one grazed paddock labeled PE1) after the most severe summer drought of 2016, 2018, and 2019 during the fall and winter, indicating that L_g was greater for simulation with observed meteorological conditions than under an unlimited water supply (Figure 3– 5).



Figure 3–5. Response ratio of all the selected paddocks. The black solid continuous lines represent the trajectories of the response ratio. The inverted triangles indicate the mowing dates and the short horizontal ticks the grazing periods. The colored areas depict drought intensity according to the modified SPEI.

We found that the resistance (assessed as the normalized minimum LRR during the drought events) was negatively related to drought severity; however, this relationship was not linear (Figure 3– 6), with a clear threshold of drought severity around 80, corresponding to events shorter than 75 days. Below this threshold, the resistance remained high with a mean of 0.93 while above this threshold the resistance was also homogeneously distributed around a mean value of 0.6. We did not find any significant difference in resistance between the two types of management, be it below and/or above the threshold of drought severity of c.a. 80.



Figure 3–6. Resistance to drought as a function of drought severity.

Considering the resilience to all drought events, we found no relationship between drought severity and no management effect (Figure 3–7). However, the pattern was different below and above the same threshold of drought severity (DS = 80). Below it, the resilience was low. Since both resistance and resilience metrics account for the minimum LRR during drought events, this result suggests that even for light drought impacts the vegetation needs a minimum time to fully recover. For drought events of high severity (above the 80 threshold) we found a decrease in resilience with drought severity. Despite a p-value of 0.2 for the interaction between drought severity and management in our analysis, the grazed paddocks were slightly more resilient than mowed ones for drought events, while both management showed the same low level of resilience for the most severe droughts.



Figure 3–7. Resilience component of the grassland response to drought (a). The decreasing resilience trend after the threshold of DS = 80 is highlighted (b). The grassland resilience to drought was based on the LRR.

3.4. Discussion

We created a simple dynamic model simulating daily changes in green LAI (L_g) for temperate managed grasslands using inputs from field meteorological stations, Sentinel 2 long-term observations, and management data from the SALAMIX project and HerbValo method. Since the simulated trajectories of L_g were close to the observations derived from Sentinel 2 by inversion of the PROSAIL radiative transfer model, we used our model to assess the resistance and resilience of grasslands facing fluctuating drought severities between 2016 and 2020. Overall, we found insignificant differences in drought responses between mowed and grazed paddocks. However, our results revealed that grazed paddocks were slightly more resilient than mowed paddocks when drought is too severe.

Our dynamic model was able overall to predict the trajectories of L_g derived from Sentinel 2 time series but performed better when calibrating g_{max} as a time-varying parameter, as already highlighted in other contexts (Reves et al., 2017; Thirel et al., 2015). Such calibration counterbalances the overall simplicity of our model which hinders basic vegetation properties to evolve during the simulation. Indeed, different types of disturbances, like climatic extremes or management practices, or stresses, like heat and frosts, modify the amount of stored carbohydrates in plant tissues (Janeček et al., 2015; Kahmen et al., 2005; Volaire et al., 1994), or the mineralization of soil nutrients and thus their availability for plants (Borken and Matzner, 2009; Deng et al., 2021; Larsen et al., 2011). As a consequence, the rate of daily growth for the next growth period, after drought and other disturbances, is expected to change (Schnyder and de Visser, 1999). In addition to changes in physiological and biochemical processes influencing vegetation growth rate at short time scale, species turnover within the course of the growing season may be high, especially after management events (Pouget et al., 2021). The calibration of time-varying parameters can be logically supported by some ecological arguments. However, we did not find any clear pattern of changes in g_{max} during the season with management or droughts events (Appendix 3–G). This does not necessarily invalidate the calibration approach but reflects the complexity of vegetation changes resulting from the sequence of diverse environmental changes of different natures and magnitudes. However, a potential disadvantage of time-varying parameter calibration is the risk of overfitting. More precisely, grazed paddocks were in our case subject to frequent and short rotations. The g_{max} was repeatedly fitted for short periods with very few L_g observations so that changes in g_{max} may not reflect the role of hidden ecological processes and even possibly flaw the vegetation response to drought intended to be simulated by the model. Other methods of time-varying parameter estimation should be considered to avoid this risk of overfitting (Sawada, 2022).

The external validation of our model did not result in a tight relationship between the predicted L_q and ground measurements of biomass or vegetation height. Such low goodness-of-fit was unexpected. Indeed, LAI is linked to the amount of solar energy captured by the leaves, which allows for a good approximation of photosynthetic activity and productivity (Ruimy et al., 1999; Verrelst et al. 2016), and ultimately of biomass production (Prieto-Blanco et al., 2009; Yu et al., 2018). We attribute our poor external validation to the discrepancy in the scale of ground measurements and Sentinel 2-based estimation of L_q . The total biomass was recorded in quadrats with a 70 cm x 70 cm dimension or about 0.50 m^2 area. However, L_g estimates of the same location were based on 20 m x 20 m Sentinel 2 pixels amounting to 400 m² area on the ground. Grassland vegetation can be highly heterogeneous within grasslands even at a very fine spatial scale (Adler et al., 2001; Bloor et al., 2020). Thus, biomass estimates over 400m² from half-meter square sampling might be critical. Better validation of the model predictions should ideally include several well-distributed ground measurements of the L_q in the targeted Sentinel 2 pixels. Destructive methods should in this case be preferred to optical ones, which usually underestimate LAI (Brenner et al., 1995; Bréda, 2003) and in order to separate green from dead leaves. Then on the other hand, the SWIR 1 and 2 reflectance bands, which have the 20 m x 20 m spatial resolution, may be excluded as inputs in the PROSAIL radiative transfer model to reduce the represented ground area from 400 m² to 100 m². Indeed, the retrieval of LAI using the inversion of PROSAIL showed no significant improvement with the addition of SWIR bands (Punalekar et al., 2018).

The experimental site experienced extreme drought events from the years 2018 to 2020. These identified years were consistent with conducted drought assessment studies in Europe (Blauhut et al., 2021; Hari et al., 2020; Rakovec et al., 2022). From here, the close link between predicted and Sentinel 2-derived L_g allowed us to analyze the resistance and resilience to drought events of the six paddocks under study, despite the inconclusive external validation of the model.

Normally, in grassland response to drought studies, exceeding a drought intensity threshold results in a change in the ecosystem state or to mortality (Breshears et al., 2016; Matos et al., 2020b). In a multiple ecosystem response to drought study, an SPEI threshold of -1.0 revealed drought impacts (Chen et al., 2022). In our results, we observed changes in grassland resistance and resilience after a given drought severity threshold. Both responses demonstrated a declining trend upon exceeding DS 80. We showed that drought severity was positively correlated with drought duration (Appendix 3– D). For example, we found that the resilience or the rate of recovery decreased with increasing drought severity, intensified by drought duration, from the same threshold. Our result confirms the findings by Volaire et al. (2009) from a growth chamber pot experiment. More severe senescence and meristem damages occur for longer durations of water deficits (Volaire et al., 2009; 2014). Then the drop in resistance can be related to the function f2 (in Eq. 2), which has been validated by Calanca et al., 2006, but were unable to reproduce the progressive effect of drought duration or severity found in experimental studies (Gao et al., 2019). In a long-term field experiment, mowing grasslands removes the canopy cover and exposes the soil, thus increasing evaporation rates, removing available water in the soil, and lowering resistance to drought (Vogel et al., 2012). The high number of species in relationship to productivity increases the competition for soil resources (N and water) leading to their depletion under severe drought thus decreasing resistance (Luo et al., 2023; Vogel et al., 2012). Our model was unable to inform which process better explains the low resistance due to the lack of biodiversity and nutrient components.

No significant differences between the two management treatments were detected in our study. Nevertheless, we suspect a slightly higher resilience in grazed paddocks to drought than in mown ones. Bütof et al. (2012) found the same ranking between pasture and meadows but further found that mown pastures had greater resilience to drought. In their case, these grasslands were first grazed and then mown. It was the opposite in our case. Then in terms of the timing, mown pastures are grazed in the late season (Dormann et al., 2017), as opposed to cuts during the first herbage uptake in our mowed paddocks. This big difference in the timing of cuts may support the similarity of our results to Deléglise et al. (2015). In the field experiment they conducted in the Swiss Jura mountains; grazed grasslands have slightly better resilience than mowed ones. At this stage, we cannot classify, with certainty, our mowed paddocks as meadows or mown pastures. We call for further investigation on determining which modalities of mowing and grazing mixtures provide the best resistance and resilience. Finally, our results are unfortunately based on a limited number of paddocks, which considerably reduces the power of the statistical comparisons between the two management regimes. Extending the simulation protocol to the 27 remaining paddocks may lead to different conclusions.

Our assessment of resilience and resistance to drought was based on the dynamics of the logresponse ratio between L_g simulation under normal or observed meteorological conditions (i.e., including meteorological drought) and L_g simulation under unlimited water supply. As expected, when severe drought occurred the LRR was negative. More surprisingly, the LRR became positive (greater L_g under drought than under unlimited water supply) in fall and winter following severe summer drought. One possible reason might be related to unrealistic grazing intensities in simulations under an unlimited water supply. Indeed, we did not modify the herbage uptake by animals between the simulations of the normal and drought conditions. Thus, the applied biomass removal under normal conditions was applied also under the unlimited water supply scenario. This removal would have been larger (either through a larger stocking rate, longer grazing periods, or application of a second cut in mowing paddocks) in the absence of drought. The proportion of removed biomass is thus likely too low, keeping the vegetation in a mature phase where senescence predominates on growth and green tissues vanish. Conversely, under drought conditions grazing or cutting renewed the vegetation to a vegetative stage leading to higher green tissue than under the unlimited water supply scenario. An alternative explanation is that drought events may trigger over-compensation of grassland growth (Zhou et al., 2022), but such effects are not likely to last for long periods as found in our simulation results.

The result of this study supports the benefit of using a parsimonious process-based model that assimilates Sentinel 2 reflectance data for the assessment of managed grassland resistance and resilience to drought. The model is promising but may require additional developments to simulate temporal changes in the parameters related to the vegetation properties. For instance, considering the diversity of ecological syndromes exhibited by the plant species may help in explaining different resistance and resilience capacities between successive drought events and between different paddocks subjected to changes in management practices (Fry et al., 2021; Manea et al., 2016; Pouget et al., 2021; Stampfli and Zeiter, 2004). In addition, we considered the soil as a simple stock of water. The performance of the model may be further improved by accounting for the dynamics of the soil nutrient availability, which is recognized to be impacted by water deficits (Dujardin et al., 2012; Knapp et al., 2008). Indeed, during drought, the availability of nutrients, such as nitrogen, to plants is limited but nitrogen becomes excessively available right after droughts (Dujardin et al., 2012; Hofer et al., 2017; Lucci, 2019; Knapp et al., 2008). This further entails the inclusion of the practice of fertilization as a path for nutrient inputs. Ultimately, we raise the dilemma of trade-offs and priorities in the developments to better understand grassland response to drought and the challenges of increased model complexity. Models should remain reasonable for large-scale applications as permitted by satellite optical images.
Appendices



Appendix 3– A. Empirical relationship reference for the derivation of the Peak parameter. The figure was adapted from Duru et al., 2007. The Peak of flowering and Leaf life span are measured in terms of degree days ($^{\circ}$ C.d).

Appendix 3– B. Posterior distribution of the model parameters during the calibration phase. The derivation process originated from a uniform distribution (grey line). Multiple simulations of different parameter combinations were conducted for each paddock. The means of the best 30 parameter combinations were used as the calibrated parameter values. We conducted a visual inspection to determine if the best parameter estimates were within the expected parameter ranges. Both W_{max} and Peak were similar across all paddocks due to homogenous environmental and vegetation composition. The g_{max} and s_{max} were expected to be influenced by management activities.



Appendix 3– C. Bar plots of the PCA generalised sensitivity indices of the LAI model. The light bars represent the main sensitivity of the indices and the dark bars the total sensitivity (including interactions with other parameters). The different panels represent different paddocks with different management regimes.



The model was run for combinations of parameter values set according to a full factorial design with 5 levels for each of the 4 parameters of the model. The levels ranged between values reported in the table3 - 3 of the main text. Then, the variability of the model outputs was decomposed in d canonical dynamics representing basic trajectories. Finally, ANOVA-based sensitivity indices were computed for each basic trajectory. These were summarized with the global sensitivity index that averages the sensitivity indices of the first two components weighted by their contribution to the total inertia.





Appendix 3– E. Analysis of drought event timing or occurrence. Drought timing reflects the seasonality of drought events within a year which is quantified as the number of days. The seasons in the region were winter (December to February), spring (March to May), summer (June to August), and fall (September to November).



Appendix 3-F. Analysis of drought events based on all the available drought observations. Drought event severity depends mostly on drought duration. Drought timing reflects the seasonality of drought events within a year which is quantified as the number of days.







References

- Adler, P., Raff, D., & Lauenroth, W. (2001). The effect of grazing on the spatial heterogeneity of vegetation. Oecologia, 128(4), 465–479. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420100737
- Allen, R., Pereira, L., & Smith, M. (1998). Crop evapotranspiration guidelines for computing crop requirements. FAO Irrig. Drain. Report modeling and application. J. Hydrol. 285. 19-40.
- Atzberger, C., Darvishzadeh, R., Immitzer, M., Schlerf, M., Skidmore, A., & le Maire, G. (2015). Comparative analysis of different retrieval methods for mapping grassland leaf area index using airborne imaging spectroscopy. International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation 43, 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2015.01.009
- Bai, Y., & Cotrufo, M.F. (2022). Grassland soil carbon sequestration: Current understanding, challenges, and solutions. Science 377, 603–608. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abo2380
- Bao, G., Qin, Z., Bao, Y., Zhou, Y., Li, W., & Sanjjav, A. (2014). NDVI-Based Long-Term Vegetation Dynamics and Its Response to Climatic Change in the Mongolian Plateau. Remote Sens. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs6098337
- Baret, F., Jacquemoud, S., Guyot, G., & Leprieur, C. (1992). Modeled analysis of the biophysical nature of spectral shifts and comparison with information content of broad bands. Remote Sensing of Environment, 41(2–3), 133–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(92)90073-S
- Barrett, P.D., Laidlaw, A.S., & Mayne, C.S. (2005). GrazeGro: a European herbage growth model to predict pasture production in perennial ryegrass swards for decision support. European Journal of Agronomy 23, 37–56. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2004.09.006
- Bayat, B., van der Tol, C., & Verhoef, W. (2018). Integrating satellite optical and thermal infrared observations for improving daily ecosystem functioning estimations during a drought episode. In Remote Sensing Of Environment (Vol. 209, pp. 375–394). Elsevier Science Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2018.02.027
- Bellini, E., Moriondo, M., Dibari, C., Bindi, M., Staglianò, N., Cremonese, E., Filippa, G., Galvagno, M., & Argenti, G. (2023). VISTOCK: A simplified model for simulating grassland systems. European Journal of Agronomy, 142, 126647. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2022.126647
- Bengtsson, J., Bullock, J.M., Egoh, B., Everson, C., Everson, T., O'Connor, T., O'Farrell, P.J., Smith, H.G., & Lindborg, R. (2019). Grasslands-more important for ecosystem services than you might think. Ecosphere 10, e02582. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2582
- Berger, K., Atzberger, C., Danner, M., D'Urso, G., Mauser, W., Vuolo, F., & Hank, T. (2018). Evaluation of the PROSAIL Model Capabilities for Future Hyperspectral Model Environments: A Review Study. Remote Sensing 10, 85. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10010085
- Blauhut, V., Stoelzle, M., Ahopelto, L., Brunner, M.I., Teutschbein, C., Wendt, D.E., Akstinas, V., Bakke, S.J., Barker, L.J., Bartošová, L., Briede, A., Cammalleri, C., De Stefano, L., Fendeková, M., Finger, D.C., Huysmans, M., Ivanov, M., Jaagus, J., Jakubínský, J., Kalin, K.C., Krakovska, S., Laaha, G., Lakatos, M., Manevski, K., Neumann Andersen, M., Nikolova, N., Osuch, M., van Oel, P., Radeva, K., Romanowicz, R.J., Toth, E., Trnka, M., Urošev, M., Urquijo Reguera, J., Sauquet, E., Stevkova, S., Tallaksen, L.M., Trofimova, I., van Vliet, M.T.H., Vidal, J.-P., Wanders, N., Werner, M., Willems, P., & Živković, N. (2021). Lessons from the 2018–2019 European droughts: A collective need for unifying drought risk management (preprint). Atmospheric, Meteorological and Climatological Hazards. https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-2021-276
- Bloor, J. M. G., Tardif, A., & Pottier, J. (2020). Spatial Heterogeneity of Vegetation Structure, Plant N Pools and Soil N Content in Relation to Grassland Management. Agronomy, 10, 716. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10050716
- Boegh, E., Houborg, R., Bienkowski, J., Braban, C. F., Dalgaard, T., van Dijk, N., Dragosits, U., Holmes, E., Magliulo, V., Schelde, K., Di Tommasi, P., Vitale, L., Theobald, M. R., Cellier, P., & Sutton, M. A. (2013). Remote sensing of LAI, chlorophyll and leaf nitrogen pools of crop- and grasslands in five European landscapes. Biogeosciences, 10(10), 6279–6307. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-10-6279-2013

- Borken, W., & Matzner, E. (2009). Reappraisal of drying and wetting effects on C and N mineralization and fluxes in soils. Global Change Biology, 15(4), 808–824. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01681.x
- Bossuyt, N., Wirthner, J., Dussoulier, C., Frund, D., Meisser, M., & Kragten, S. A. (2018). Quand faut-il faucher les prairies intensives?
- Breda, N. J. J. (2003). Ground-based measurements of leaf area index: A review of methods, instruments and current controversies. Journal of Experimental Botany, 54(392), 2403–2417. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erg263
- Brenner, A. J., Cueto Romero, M., Garcia Haro, J., Gilabert, M. A., Incoll, L. D., Martinez Fernandez, J., Porter, E., Pugnaire, F. I., & Younis, M. T. (1995). A comparison of direct and indirect methods for measuring leaf and surface areas of individual bushes. Plant, Cell and Environment, 18(11), 1332–1340. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3040.1995.tb00193.x
- Breshears, D. D., Knapp, A. K., Law, D. J., Smith, M. D., Twidwell, D., & Wonkka, C. L. (2016). Rangeland Responses to Predicted Increases in Drought Extremity. Rangelands, 38(4), 191–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rala.2016.06.009
- Buisson, E., Archibald, S., Fidelis, A., Suding, K.N., 2022. Ancient grasslands guide ambitious goals in grassland restoration. Science 377, 594–598. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abo4605
- Buras, A., Ramming, A., Zang, C.S., 2020. Quantifying impacts of the drought 2018 on European ecosystems in comparison to 2003. Biogeosciences 17, 1655-1672. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-17-1655-2020
- Bütof, A., von Riedmatten, L. R., Dormann, C. F., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Welk, E., & Bruelheide, H. (2012). The responses of grassland plants to experimentally simulated climate change depend on land use and region. Global Change Biology, 18(1), 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02539.x
- Caiyun, G., Dongsheng, Z., Du, Z., & Yu, Z. (2021). Effects of Grazing on the Grassland Vegetation Community Characteristics in Inner Mongolia. Journal of Resources and Ecology 12. https://doi.org/10.5814/j.issn.1674-764x.2021.03.002
- Calanca, P., Deléglise, C., Martin, R., Carrère, P., & Mosimann, E. (2016). Testing the ability of a simple grassland model to simulate the seasonal effects of drought on herbage growth. Field Crops Research 187, 12–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2015.12.008
- Calanca, P., Roesch, A., Jasper, K., & Wild, M. (2006). Global Warming and the Summertime Evapotranspiration Regime of the Alpine Region. Climatic Change 79, 65–78. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-006-9103-9
- Castillioni, K., Patten, M.A., & Souza, L. (2022). Precipitation effects on grassland plant performance are lessened by hay harvest. Sci Rep 12, 3282. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-06961-7
- Chang, J. F., Viovy, N., Vuichard, N., Ciais, P., Wang, T., Cozic, A., Lardy, R., Graux, A.-I., Klumpp, K., Martin, R., & Soussana, J.-F. (2013). Incorporating grassland management in ORCHIDEE: Model description and evaluation at 11 eddy-covariance sites in Europe. Geoscientific Model Development, 6(6), 2165–2181. https://doi.org/10.5194/gmd-6-2165-2013
- Chen, Q., Timmermans, J., Wen, W., & van Bodegom, P. M. (2022). A multi-metric assessment of drought vulnerability across different vegetation types using high resolution remote sensing. Science of The Total Environment, 832, 154970. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.154970
- Chen, T. F., & Wang, X. S. (2012). A correlation model on plant water consumption and vegetation index in Mu Us Desert, in China. Procedia Environmental Sciences, 13, 1517–1526. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.proenv.2012.01.144
- Choler, P., Sea, W., Briggs, P., Raupach, M., & Leuning, R. (2010). A simple ecohydrological model captures essentials of seasonal leaf dynamics in semi-arid tropical grasslands. 14.
- Cibils, A.F., & Coughenour, M.B. (2001). Impact of Grazing Management on the Productivity of Cold Temperate Grasslands of Southern Patagonia - A Critical Assessment 17.
- Corbari, C., Ravazzani, G., Galvagno, M., Cremonese, E., & Mancini, M. (2017). Assessing Crop Coefficients for Natural Vegetated Areas Using Satellite Data and Eddy Covariance Stations. Sensors, 17(11), 2664. https://doi.org/10.3390/s17112664

- Craine, J. M., Nippert, J. B., Elmore, A. J., Skibbe, A. M., Hutchinson, S. L., & Brunsell, N. A. (2012). Timing of climate variability and grassland productivity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 109(9), 3401–3405. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1118438109
- Cros, M.-J., Duru, M., Garcia, F., & Martin-Clouaire, R. (2003). A biophysical dairy farm model to evaluate rotational grazing management strategies. Agronomie, 23(2), 105–122. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro:2002071
- Cruz, P., Duru, M., Therond, O., Theau, J.P., Ducourtieux, C., Jouany, C., Khaled, R.A.H., & Ansquer, P. (2002). Une nouvelle approche pour caractériser les prairies naturelles et leur valeur d'usage 15.
- Cuddington, K., Fortin, M.-J., Gerber, L. R., Hastings, A., Liebhold, A., O'Connor, M., & Ray, C. (2013). Process-based models are required to manage ecological systems in a changing world. Ecosphere, 4(2), art20. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES12-00178.1
- Darvishzadeh, R., Skidmore, A., Schlerf, M. & Atzberger, C. (2008). Inversion of a radiative transfer model for estimating vegetation LAI and chlorophyll in a heterogeneous grassland. Remote Sensing of Environment 112, 2592–2604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2007.12.003
- Delagarde, R., Caillat, H., & Fortin, J. (2017). HerbValo, une méthode pour estimer dans chaque parcelle la quantité d'herbe valorisée par les ruminants au pâturage.
- Delagarde, R., Robic, Y., Leurent-Colette, S., & Delaby, L. (2018.). HerbValo a method for calculating annual pasture utilisation by dairy cows at paddock level. Grassland Science in Europe, 23, 4.
- Deléglise, C., Meisser, M., Mosimann, E., Spiegelberger, T., Signarbieux, C., Jeangros, B. & Buttler, A. (2015). Drought-induced shifts in plants traits, yields and nutritive value under realistic grazing and mowing managements in a mountain grassland. Agric Ecosyst Environ 213, 94–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.07.020
- Deng, L., Peng, C., Kim, D.-G., Li, J., Liu, Y., Hai, X., Liu, Q., Huang, C., Shangguan, Z., & Kuzyakov, Y. (2021). Drought effects on soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics in global natural ecosystems. Earth-Science Reviews, 214, 103501. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2020.103501
- Dengler, J., Janišová, M., Török, P., & Wellstein, C. (2014). Biodiversity of Palaearctic grasslands: a synthesis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 182, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.12.015
- Di Bella, C., Faivre, R., Ruget, F., Seguin, B., Guérif, M., Combal, B., Weiss, M., & Rebella, C. (2004). Use of SPOT4-VEGETATION satellite data to improve pasture production simulated by STICS included in the ISOP French system. Agronomie, 24(6–7), 437–444. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro:2004034
- Dorigo, W. A., Zurita-Milla, R., de Wit, A. J. W., Brazile, J., Singh, R., & Schaepman, M. E. (2007). A review on reflective remote sensing and data assimilation techniques for enhanced agroecosystem modeling. International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation, 9(2), 165–193. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2006.05.003
- Dormann, C. F. (2017). No consistent effect of plant species richness on resistance to simulated climate change for above- or below-ground processes in managed grasslands. 12.
- Dronova, I., & Taddeo, S. (2022). Remote sensing of phenology: Towards the comprehensive indicators of plant community dynamics from species to regional scales. Journal of Ecology, 110(7), 1460–1484. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13897
- Dube, O., & Pickup, G. (2001). Effects of rainfall variability and communal and semi-commercial grazing on land cover in southern African rangelands. Climate Research 17, 195–208. https://doi.org/10.3354/cr017195
- Duffková, R. (2017). Effects of Management Practices in Highland Pastures on Agronomic and Environmental Objectives. Appl. Ecol. Env. Res. 15, 1677–1695. https://doi.org/10.15666/aeer/1504_16771695
- Dujardin, G., Bureau, F., Vinceslas-Akpa, M., Decaëns, T., & Langlois, E. (2012). Soil functioning in a mosaic of herbaceous communities of a chalky environment: Temporal variations of water availability and N dynamics. Plant and Soil, 360(1–2), 197–213. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-012-1234-3
- Duru, M., Cruz, P., Ansquer, P., Khaled, R.A.H., & Therond, O. (2007). Typologies de prairies riches en espèces en vue d'évaluer leur valeur d'usage : bases agro-écologiques et exemples d'application.

- Dwyer, E., Pinnock, S., Gregoire, J.-M., & Pereira, J. M. C. (2000). Global spatial and temporal distribution of vegetation fire as determined from satellite observations. International Journal of Remote Sensing, 21(6–7), 1289–1302. https://doi.org/10.1080/014311600210182
- Estel, S., Mader, S., Levers, C., Verburg, P. H., Baumann, M., & Kuemmerle, T. (2018). Combining satellite data and agricultural statistics to map grassland management intensity in Europe. Environmental Research Letters, 13(7), 074020. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/aacc7a
- Fedorov, N.I., Zharkikh, T.L., Mikhailenko, O.I., & Bakirova, R.T. (2019). The Use of NDVI for the Analysis of the Effect of Drought on Vegetation Productivity in the Pre-Urals Steppe Area Where a Population of the Przewalski Horse Equus Ferus Przewalskii Polj., 1881 Had Been Established, in: Bychkov, I., Voronin, V. (Eds.), Information Technologies in the Research of Biodiversity, Springer Proceedings in Earth and Environmental Sciences. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-11720-7_1
- Fraser, L. H., Henry, H. A., Carlyle, C. N., White, S. R., Beierkuhnlein, C., Cahill, J. F., Casper, B. B., Cleland, E., Collins, S. L., Dukes, J. S., Knapp, A. K., Lind, E., Long, R., Luo, Y., Reich, P. B., Smith, M. D., Sternberg, M., & Turkington, R. (2013). Coordinated distributed experiments: An emerging tool for testing global hypotheses in ecology and environmental science. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 11(3), 147–155. https://doi.org/10.1890/110279
- Fry, E. L., Wilkinson, A., Johnson, D., Pritchard, W. J., Ostle, N. J., Baggs, E. M., & Bardgett, R. D. (2021). Do soil depth and plant community composition interact to modify the resistance and resilience of grassland ecosystem functioning to drought? Ecology and Evolution, 11(17), 11960–11973. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.7963
- Gao, J., Zhang, L., Tang, Z., & Wu, S. (2019). A synthesis of ecosystem aboveground productivity and its process variables under simulated drought stress. Journal of Ecology, 107(6), 2519–2531. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13218
- García-Herrera, R., Garrido-Perez, J. M., Barriopedro, D., Ordóñez, C., Vicente-Serrano, S. M., Nieto, R., Gimeno, L., Sorí, R., & Yiou, P. (2019). The European 2016/17 Drought. Journal of Climate, 32(11), 3169–3187. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-18-0331.1
- Gilmanov, T. G., Soussana, J. F., Aires, L., Allard, V., Ammann, C., Balzarolo, M., Barcza, Z., Bernhofer, C., Campbell, C. L., Cernusca, A., Cescatti, A., Clifton-Brown, J., Dirks, B. O. M., Dore, S., Eugster, W., Fuhrer, J., Gimeno, C., Gruenwald, T., Haszpra, L., ... Wohlfahrt, G. (2007). Partitioning European grassland net ecosystem CO2 exchange into gross primary productivity and ecosystem respiration using light response function analysis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 121(1–2), 93–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2006.12.008
- Gitelson, A. A., Gritz, Y., & Merzlyak, M. N. (2003). Relationships between leaf chlorophyll content and spectral reflectance and algorithms for non-destructive chlorophyll assessment in higher plant leaves. Journal of Plant Physiology, 160(3), 271–282. https://doi.org/10.1078/0176-1617-00887
- Graux, A.-I., Soussana, J.-F., Brisson, N., Hill, D., & Lardy, R. (2009). Modelling climate change impacts on grasslands and possible adaptations of livestock systems. IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, 6(24), 242046. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1307/6/24/242046
- Haile, G. G., Tang, Q., Li, W., Liu, X., & Zhang, X. (2020). Drought: Progress in broadening its understanding. WIREs Water, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1407
- Hao, Y., & He, Z. (2019). Effects of grazing patterns on grassland biomass and soil environments in China: A meta-analysis. PLoS ONE 14, e0215223. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0215223
- Hari, V., Rakovec, O., Markonis, Y., Hanel, M., & Kumar, R. (2020). Increased future occurrences of the exceptional 2018–2019 Central European drought under global warming. Sci Rep 10, 12207. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-68872-9
- He, J., Zhang, N., Su, X., Lu, J., Yao, X., Cheng, T., Zhu, Y., Cao, W., & Tian, Y. (2019). Estimating Leaf Area Index with a New Vegetation Index Considering the Influence of Rice Panicles. Remote Sensing 11, 1809. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11151809
- Hofer, D. (2016). Intensively managed grassland exposed to drought Resistance, resilience, and growth limitations of functionally different forage species (p. 1 Band) [ETH Zurich; Application/pdf]. https://doi.org/10.3929/ETHZ-A-010796931

- Hofer, D., Suter, M., Buchmann, N., & Lüscher, A. (2017). Nitrogen status of functionally different forage species explains resistance to severe drought and post-drought overcompensation. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 236, 312–322. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.11.022
- Ivits, E., Horion, S., Fensholt, R., & Cherlet, M. (2014). Drought footprint on European ecosystems between 1999 and 2010 assessed by remotely sensed vegetation phenology and productivity. Global Change Biology, 20(2), 581–593. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12393
- Jacquemoud, S. (1993). Inversion of the PROSPECT + SAIL canopy reflectance model from AVIRIS equivalent spectra: Theoretical study. Remote Sensing of Environment, 44(2–3), 281–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(93)90022-P
- Jacquemoud, S., Verhoef, W., Baret, F., Bacour, C., Zarco-Tejada, P.J., Asner, G.P., François, C., Ustin, S.L., (2009). PROSPECT+SAIL models: A review of use for vegetation characterization. Remote Sensing of Environment 113, S56–S66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2008.01.026
- Janeček, Š., Bartušková, A., Bartoš, M., Altman, J., de Bello, F., Doležal, J., Latzel, V., Lanta, V., Lepš, J., & Klimešová, J. (2015). Effects of disturbance regime on carbohydrate reserves in meadow plants. AoB Plants, 7, plv123. https://doi.org/10.1093/aobpla/plv123
- Järemo, J., & Palmqvist, E. (2001). Plant compensatory growth: A conquering strategy in plant-herbivore interactions? Evolutionary Ecology, 15(2), 91–102. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1013899006473
- Jin, X., Kumar, L., Li, Z., Feng, H., Xu, X., Yang, G., & Wang, J. (2018). A review of data assimilation of remote sensing and crop models. European Journal of Agronomy, 92, 141–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2017.11.002
- Joly, D., Brossard, T., Cardot, H., Cavailhes, J., Hilal, M., & Wavresky, P. (2010). Les types de climats en France, une construction spatiale. Cybergeo. https://doi.org/10.4000/cybergeo.23155
- Jouven, M., Carrere, P., & Baumont, R. (2006a). Model predicting dynamics of biomass, structure and digestibility of herbage in managed permanent pastures. 1. Model description. Grass and Forage Sci 61, 112–124. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2494.2006.00515.x
- Jouven, M., Carrere, P., & Baumont, R. (2006b). Model predicting dynamics of biomass, structure and digestibility of herbage in managed permanent pastures. 2. Model evaluation. Grass and Forage Sci 61, 125–133. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2494.2006.00517.x
- Jung, E.-Y., Gaviria, J., Sun, S., & Engelbrecht, B. M. J. (2020). Comparative drought resistance of temperate grassland species: Testing performance trade-offs and the relation to distribution. Oecologia, 192(4), 1023–1036. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-020-04625-9
- Kahmen, A., Perner, J., & Buchmann, N. (2005). Diversity-dependent productivity in semi-natural grasslands following climate perturbations. Funct Ecology 19, 594–601. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2005.01001.x
- Kerr, J. T., & Ostrovsky, M. (2003). From space to species: Ecological applications for remote sensing. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 18(6), 299–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00071-5
- Knapp, A. K., Beier, C., Briske, D. D., Classen, A. T., Luo, Y., Reichstein, M., Smith, M. D., Smith, S. D., Bell, J. E., Fay, P. A., Heisler, J. L., Leavitt, S. W., Sherry, R., Smith, B., & Weng, E. (2008).
 Consequences of More Extreme Precipitation Regimes for Terrestrial Ecosystems. BioScience, 58(9), 811–821. https://doi.org/10.1641/B580908
- Koerner, S.E., & Collins, S.L. (2014). Interactive effects of grazing, drought, and fire on grassland plant communities in North America and South Africa. Ecology 95, 98–109. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-0526.1
- Kowalski, K., Okujeni, A., & Hostert, P. (2023). A generalized framework for drought monitoring across Central European grassland gradients with Sentinel-2 time series. Remote Sensing of Environment, 286, 113449. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2022.113449
- Kowalski, K., Okujeni, A., Brell, M., & Hostert, P. (2022). Quantifying drought effects in Central European grasslands through regression-based unmixing of intra-annual Sentinel-2 time series. In Remote Sensing of Environment (Vol. 268). Elsevier Science Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2021.112781
- Kröel-Dulay, G., Mojzes, A., Szitár, K., Bahn, M., Batáry, P., Beier, C., Bilton, M., De Boeck, H. J., Dukes, J. S., Estiarte, M., Holub, P., Jentsch, A., Schmidt, I. K., Kreyling, J., Reinsch, S., Larsen, K. S.,

Sternberg, M., Tielbörger, K., Tietema, A., ... Peñuelas, J. (2022). Field experiments underestimate aboveground biomass response to drought. Nature Ecology & Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-022-01685-3

- Kuinchtner, B. C., Ferreira De Quadros, F. L., Casanova, P. T., Marin, L., Seeger, B. B., de Moura Steinhorst, D., & Ongaratto, F. (2021). Thermal sum (degrees-days) rest period as a grazing management tool in natural grasslands: Effects on animal performance and forage production. Environmental and Sustainability Indicators, 10, 100125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indic.2021.100125
- Larsen, K. S., Andresen, L. C., Beier, C., Jonasson, S., Albert, K. R., Ambus, P., Arndal, M. F., Carter, M. S., Christensen, S., Holmstrup, M., Ibrom, A., Kongstad, J., Van Der LINDEN, L., Maraldo, K., Michelsen, A., Mikkelsen, T. N., Pilegaard, K., Priemé, A., Ro-Poulsen, H., ... Stevnbak, K. (2011). Reduced N cycling in response to elevated CO2, warming, and drought in a Danish heathland: Synthesizing results of the CLIMAITE project after two years of treatments: Effects of Climate Change On N Cycling. Global Change Biology, 17(5), 1884–1899. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02351.x
- Lei, T., Pang, Z., Wang, X., Li, L., Fu, J., Kan, G., Zhang, X., Ding, L., Li, J., Huang, S., & Shao, C. (2016). Drought and Carbon Cycling of Grassland Ecosystems under Global Change: A Review. Water 8, 460. https://doi.org/10.3390/w8100460
- Leuzinger, S., Luo, Y., Beier, C., Dieleman, W., Vicca, S., & Körner, C. (2011). Do global change experiments overestimate impacts on terrestrial ecosystems? Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 26(5), 236–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.02.011
- Li, Z., Xu, D., & Guo, X. (2014). Remote Sensing of Ecosystem Health: Opportunities, Challenges, and Future Perspectives. Sensors, 14(11), 21117–21139. https://doi.org/10.3390/s141121117
- Lucci, G. M. (2019). Pastures and drought: A review of processes and implications for nitrogen and phosphorus cycling in grassland systems. Soil Research, 57(2), 101. https://doi.org/10.1071/SR18079
- Luna, D. A., Pottier, J., & Picon-Cochard, C. (2023). Variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought at different timescales using satellite image time series. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 331, 109325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2023.109325
- Luo, W., Muraina, T. O., Griffin-Nolan, R. J., Ma, W., Song, L., Fu, W., Yu, Q., Knapp, A. K., Wang, Z., Han, X., & Collins, S. L. (2023). Responses of a semiarid grassland to recurrent drought are linked to community functional composition. Ecology, 104(2). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.3920
- Ma, S., Lardy, R., Graux, A.-I., Ben Touhami, H., Klumpp, K., Martin, R., & Bellocchi, G. (2015). Regionalscale analysis of carbon and water cycles on managed grassland systems. Environmental Modelling & Software, 72, 356–371. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsoft.2015.03.007
- Marchi, M., Castellanos-Acuña, D., Hamann, A., Wang, T., Ray, D., & Menzel, A. (2020). ClimateEU, scalefree climate normals, historical time series, and future projections for Europe. Sci Data 7, 428. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-020-00763-0
- Matos, I. S., Flores, B. M., Hirota, M., & Rosado, B. H. P. (2020). Critical transitions in rainfall manipulation experiments on grasslands. Ecology and Evolution, 10(5), 2695–2704. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6072
- Matos, I. S., Menor, I. O., Rifai, S. W., & Rosado, B. H. P. (2020). Deciphering the stability of grassland productivity in response to rainfall manipulation experiments. Global Ecology and Biogeography, 29(3), 558–572. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.13039
- McIntyre, S., Lavorel, S., & Tremont, R. M. (1995). Plant Life-History Attributes: Their Relationship to Disturbance Response in Herbaceous Vegetation. The Journal of Ecology, 83(1), 31. https://doi.org/10.2307/2261148
- McIntyre, S., Lavorel, S., Landsberg, J., & Forbes, T. D. A. (1999). Disturbance response in vegetation towards a global perspective on functional traits. Journal of Vegetation Science, 10(5), 621–630. https://doi.org/10.2307/3237077
- McKee, T.B., Doesken, N.J., & Kleist, J. (1993). The Relationship of Drought Frequency and Duration to Time Scales 6.
- McNaughton, S. J. (1983). Compensatory Plant Growth as a Response to Herbivory. Oikos, 40(3), 329. https://doi.org/10.2307/3544305

- Meroni, M., Fasbender, D., Lopez-Lozano, R., & Migliavacca, M. (2019). Assimilation of Earth Observation Data Over Cropland and Grassland Sites into a Simple GPP Model. Remote Sensing, 11(7), 749. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11070749
- Mouquet, N., Lagadeuc, Y., Devictor, V., Doyen, L., Duputié, A., Eveillard, D., Faure, D., Garnier, E.,
 Gimenez, O., Huneman, P., Jabot, F., Jarne, P., Joly, D., Julliard, R., Kéfi, S., Kergoat, G. J., Lavorel,
 S., Le Gall, L., Meslin, L., ... Loreau, M. (2015). REVIEW: Predictive ecology in a changing world.
 Journal of Applied Ecology, 52(5), 1293–1310. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.12482
- Mourad, R., Jaafar, H., Anderson, M., & Gao, F. (2020). Assessment of Leaf Area Index Models Using Harmonized Landsat and Sentinel-2 Surface Reflectance Data over a Semi-Arid Irrigated Landscape. Remote Sensing, 12(19), 3121. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12193121
- Munjonji, L., Ayisi, K.K., Mudongo, E.I., Mafeo, T.P., Behn, K., Mokoka, M.V., & Linstädter, A. (2020). Disentangling Drought and Grazing Effects on Soil Carbon Stocks and CO2 Fluxes in a Semi-Arid African Savanna. Front. Environ. Sci. 8, 590665. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2020.590665
- Myrgiotis, V., Blei, E., Clement, R., Jones, S. K., Keane, B., Lee, M. A., Levy, P. E., Rees, R. M., Skiba, U. M., Smallman, T. L., Toet, S., & Williams, M. (2020). A model-data fusion approach to analyse carbon dynamics in managed grasslands. Agricultural Systems, 184, 102907. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2020.102907
- Nanzad, L., Zhang, J., Tuvdendorj, B., Nabil, M., Zhang, S., & Bai, Y. (2019). NDVI anomaly for drought monitoring and its correlation with climate factors over Mongolia from 2000 to 2016. Journal of Arid Environments, 164, 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2019.01.019
- O'Mara, F.P. (2012). The role of grasslands in food security and climate change. Annals of Botany 110, 1263–1270. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcs209
- Peters, T., Kluß, C., Vogeler, I., Loges, R., Fenger, F., & Taube, F. (2022). GrasProg: Pasture Model for Predicting Daily Pasture Growth in Intensive Grassland Production Systems in Northwest Europe. Agronomy, 12(7), 1667. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy12071667
- Pique, G., Fieuzal, R., Al Bitar, A., Veloso, A., Tallec, T., Brut, A., Ferlicoq, M., Zawilski, B., Dejoux, J.-F., Gibrin, H., & Ceschia, E. (2020). Estimation of daily CO2 fluxes and of the components of the carbon budget for winter wheat by the assimilation of Sentinel 2-like remote sensing data into a crop model. Geoderma 376, 114428. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2020.114428
- Pouget, C., Pottier, J., & Jabot, F. (2021). Fine-scale functional metacommunity dynamics: Analysing the role of disturbance-driven environmental variability in grasslands. J Veg Sci 32. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.13068
- Prache S. (2017). Exyst SALAMIX sheet. Brochure, produced as part of the Exyst mission (System and Science experiments at INRA) presented at the system experimentation seminar on May 30 and 31 in Poitiers.
- Prache, S., Vazeille, K., Chaya, W., Sepchat, B., Note, P., Sallé, G., Veysset, P., & Benoît, M. (2023). Combining beef cattle and sheep in an organic system. I. Co-benefits for promoting the production of grass-fed meat and strengthening self-sufficiency. Animal, 17(4), 100758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.animal.2023.100758
- Prieto-Blanco, A., North, P. R. J., Barnsley, M. J., & Fox, N. (2009). Satellite-driven modelling of Net Primary Productivity (NPP): Theoretical analysis. Remote Sensing of Environment, 113(1), 137–147. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2008.09.002
- Punalekar, S. M., Verhoef, A., Quaife, T. L., Humphries, D., Bermingham, L., & Reynolds, C. K. (2018). Application of Sentinel-2A data for pasture biomass monitoring using a physically based radiative transfer model. Remote Sensing of Environment, 218, 207–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2018.09.028
- Rakovec, O., Samaniego, L., Hari, V., Markonis, Y., Moravec, V., Thober, S., Hanel, M., & Kumar, R. (2022). The 2018–2020 Multi-Year Drought Sets a New Benchmark in Europe. Earth's Future 10. https://doi.org/10.1029/2021EF002394
- Reed, B. C., Brown, J. F., VanderZee, D., Loveland, T. R., Merchant, J. W., & Ohlen, D. O. (1994). Measuring phenological variability from satellite imagery. Journal of Vegetation Science, 5(5), 703– 714. https://doi.org/10.2307/3235884

- Reinermann, S., Asam, S., & Kuenzer, C. (2020). Remote Sensing of Grassland Production and Management—A Review. Remote Sensing, 12(12), 1949. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12121949
- Reyes, J. J., Tague, C. L., Evans, R. D., & Adam, J. C. (2017). Assessing the Impact of Parameter Uncertainty on Modeling Grass Biomass Using a Hybrid Carbon Allocation Strategy: A Hybrid Carbon Allocation Strategy. Journal of Advances in Modeling Earth Systems, 9(8), 2968–2992. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017MS001022
- Richter, K., Atzberger, C., Vuolo, F., Weihs, P., & D'Urso, G. (2009). Experimental assessment of the Sentinel-2 band setting for RTM-based LAI retrieval of sugar beet and maize. Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing, 35(3), 230–247. https://doi.org/10.5589/m09-010
- Riedo, M., Grub, A., Rosset, M., & Fuhrer, J. (1998). A pasture simulation model for dry matter production, and fluxes of carbon, nitrogen, water and energy. Ecological Modelling 105, 141–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3800(97)00110-5
- Rigal, A., Azaïs, J.-M., & Ribes, A. (2019). Estimating daily climatological normals in a changing climate. Clim Dyn 53, 275–286. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-018-4584-6
- Rivington, M., Matthews, K. B., Buchan, K., Miller, D., & Bellocchi, G. (2008). Agro-meteorological metrics for communicating climate change impacts to land managers.
- Rogers, B. M., Balch, J. K., Goetz, S. J., Lehmann, C. E. R., & Turetsky, M. (2020). Focus on changing fire regimes: Interactions with climate, ecosystems, and society. Environmental Research Letters, 15(3), 030201. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab6d3a
- Ruget, F., Satger, S., Volaire, F., & Lelièvre, F. (2009). Modeling Tiller Density, Growth, and Yield of Mediterranean Perennial Grasslands with STICS. Crop Science, 49(6), 2379–2385. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2009.06.0323
- Ruimy, A., Kergoat, L., Bondeau, A., & ThE. Participants OF. ThE. Potsdam NpP. Model Intercomparison. (1999). Comparing global models of terrestrial net primary productivity (NPP): Analysis of differences in light absorption and light-use efficiency. Global Change Biology, 5(S1), 56–64. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.1999.00007.x
- Salehnia, N., Zare, H., Kolsoumi, S., & Bannayan, M. (2018). Predictive value of Keetch-Byram Drought Index for cereal yields in a semi-arid environment. Theor Appl Climatol 134, 1005–1014. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-017-2315-2
- Sawada, Y. (2022). An Efficient Estimation of Time-Varying Parameters of Dynamic Models by Combining Offline Batch Optimization and Online Data Assimilation. Journal of Advances in Modeling Earth Systems, 14(6). https://doi.org/10.1029/2021MS002882
- Schapendonk, A.H.C.M., Stol, W., van Kraalingen, D.W.G., & Bouman, B.A.M. (1998). LINGRA, a sink/source model to simulate grassland productivity in Europe. European Journal of Agronomy 9, 87– 100. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1161-0301(98)00027-6
- Schmid, J.S., Huth, A., & Taubert, F. (2022). Impact of mowing frequency and temperature on the production of temperate grasslands: explanations received by an individual-based model. Oikos 2022. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.09108
- Schmid, M., Neftel, A., Riedo, M., & Fuhrer, J. (2001). Process-based modelling of nitrous oxide emissions from different nitrogen sources in mown grassland. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems, 60(1/3), 177– 187. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012694218748
- Schnyder, H., & de Visser, R. (1999). Fluxes of Reserve-Derived and Currently Assimilated Carbon and Nitrogen in Perennial Ryegrass Recovering from Defoliation. The Regrowing Tiller and Its Component Functionally Distinct Zones1. Plant Physiology, 119(4), 1423–1436. https://doi.org/10.1104/pp.119.4.1423
- Smith, M. D., Wilcox, K. R., Power, S. A., Tissue, D. T., & Knapp, A. K. (2017). Assessing community and ecosystem sensitivity to climate change – toward a more comparative approach. Journal of Vegetation Science, 28(2), 235–237. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12524
- Smith, P., Calanca, P., & Fuhrer, J. (2012). A Simple Scheme for Modeling Irrigation Water Requirements at the Regional Scale Applied to an Alpine River Catchment. Water, 4(4), 869–886. https://doi.org/10.3390/w4040869

- Soubry, I., Doan, T., Chu, T., & Guo, X. (2021). A Systematic Review on the Integration of Remote Sensing and GIS to Forest and Grassland Ecosystem Health Attributes, Indicators, and Measures. Remote Sensing 13, 3262. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13163262
- Srivastava, K., Jentsch, A., Kreyling, J., Glaser, B., & Wiesenberg, G. L. B. (2018). Short-term carbon dynamics in a temperate grassland and heathland ecosystem exposed to 104 days of drought followed by irrigation. Isotopes in Environmental and Health Studies, 54(1), 41–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/10256016.2017.1371714
- Stampfli, A., & Zeiter, M. (2004). Plant regeneration directs changes in grassland composition after extreme drought: A 13-year study in southern Switzerland: Plant regeneration directs changes. Journal of Ecology, 92(4), 568–576. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022-0477.2004.00900.x
- Stowe, K. A., Marquis, R. J., Hochwender, C. G., & Simms, E. L. (2000). The Evolutionary Ecology of Tolerance to Consumer Damage. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 31(1), 565–595. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.31.1.565
- Suttie, J.M., Reynolds, S.G., Batello, C., & Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (Eds.), 2005. Grasslands of the world, Plant production and protection series. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Rome.
- Taubert, F., Frank, K., & Huth, A. (2012). A review of grassland models in the biofuel context. Ecological Modelling, 245, 84–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2012.04.007
- Terentev, A., Dolzhenko, V., Fedotov, A., & Eremenko, D. (2022). Current State of Hyperspectral Remote Sensing for Early Plant Disease Detection: A Review. Sensors, 22(3), 757. https://doi.org/10.3390/s22030757
- Thirel, G., Andréassian, V., Perrin, C., Audouy, J.-N., Berthet, L., Edwards, P., Folton, N., Furusho, C., Kuentz, A., Lerat, J., Lindström, G., Martin, E., Mathevet, T., Merz, R., Parajka, J., Ruelland, D., & Vaze, J. (2015). Hydrology under change: An evaluation protocol to investigate how hydrological models deal with changing catchments. Hydrological Sciences Journal, 60(7–8), 1184–1199. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2014.967248
- Tong, S., Bao, Y., Te, R., Ma, Q., Ha, S., & Lusi, A. (2017). Analysis of Drought Characteristics in Xilingol Grassland of Northern China Based on SPEI and Its Impact on Vegetation. In Mathematical Problems in Engineering (Vol. 2017). HINDAWI LTD. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/5209173
- van der Tol, C., Verhoef, W., Timmermans, J., Verhoef, A., & Su, Z. (2009). An integrated model of soilcanopy spectral radiances, photosynthesis, fluorescence, temperature and energy balance. Biogeosciences, 6(12), 3109–3129. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-6-3109-2009
- Van Meerbeek, K., Jucker, T., & Svenning, J. (2021). Unifying the concepts of stability and resilience in ecology. Journal of Ecology, 1365-2745.13651. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13651
- Vazeille, K., Veysset, P., Note, P., Sepchat, B. Salle, G., Dhour, P., & Prache, S. (2018). Interdisciplinary design of low-input grass-fed livestock systems: the example of the SALAMIX system experiment. 24. Rencontres autour des Recherches sur les Ruminants (3R), Paris, France. hal-02734306
- Verrelst, J., van der Tol, C., Magnani, F., Sabater, N., Rivera, J. P., Mohammed, G., & Moreno, J. (2016). Evaluating the predictive power of sun-induced chlorophyll fluorescence to estimate net photosynthesis of vegetation canopies: A SCOPE modeling study. Remote Sensing of Environment, 176, 139–151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2016.01.018
- Vicca, S., Gilgen, A. K., Camino Serrano, M., Dreesen, F. E., Dukes, J. S., Estiarte, M., Gray, S. B.,
 Guidolotti, G., Hoeppner, S. S., Leakey, A. D. B., Ogaya, R., Ort, D. R., Ostrogovic, M. Z., Rambal, S.,
 Sardans, J., Schmitt, M., Siebers, M., van der Linden, L., van Straaten, O., & Granier, A. (2012).
 Urgent need for a common metric to make precipitation manipulation experiments comparable. New
 Phytologist, 195(3), 518–522. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04224.x
- Vicente-Serrano, S.M., Beguería, S., & López-Moreno, J.I. (2010). A Multiscalar Drought Index Sensitive to Global Warming: The Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index. J. Clim. 23, 1696–1718. https://doi.org/10.1175/2009JCLI2909.1
- Villarreal, M. L., Norman, L. M., Buckley, S., Wallace, C. S. A., & Coe, M. A. (2016). Multi-index time series monitoring of drought and fire effects on desert grasslands. Remote Sensing of Environment, 183, 186–197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2016.05.026

- Villaverde, A.F., Pathirana, D., Fröhlich, F., Hasenauer, J., & Banga, J.R. (2022). A protocol for dynamic model calibration. Briefings in Bioinformatics 23, bbab387. https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbab387
- Vitra, A., Deléglise, C., Meisser, M., Risch, A.C., Signarbieux, C., Lamacque, L., Delzon, S., Buttler, A., & Mariotte, P. (2019). Responses of plant leaf economic and hydraulic traits mediate the effects of earlyand late-season drought on grassland productivity 15.
- Vogel, A., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., & Weigelt, A. (2012). Grassland Resistance and Resilience after Drought Depends on Management Intensity and Species Richness. PLoS ONE, 7(5), e36992. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036992
- Volaire, F. (1994). Effects of summer drought and spring defoliation on carbohydrate reserves, persistence and recovery of two populations of cocksfoot (Dactylis glomerata) in a Mediterranean environment. J. Agric. Sci. 122, 207–215. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859600087384
- Volaire, F., Barkaoui, K., & Norton, M. (2014). Designing resilient and sustainable grasslands for a drier future: Adaptive strategies, functional traits and biotic interactions. European Journal of Agronomy, 52, 81–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2013.10.002
- Volaire, F., Morvan-Bertrand, A., Prud'homme, M.-P., Benot, M.-L., Augusti, A., Zwicke, M., Roy, J., Landais, D., & Picon-Cochard, C. (2020). The resilience of perennial grasses under two climate scenarios is correlated with carbohydrate metabolism in meristems. Journal of Experimental Botany, 71(1), 370–385. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erz424
- Wagle, P., Gowda, P.H., Northup, B.K., Starks, P.J., & Neel, J.P.S. (2019). Response of Tallgrass Prairie to Management in the US Southern Great Plains: Site Descriptions, Management Practices, and Eddy Covariance Instrumentation for a Long-Term Experiment. Remote Sens. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11171988
- Wang, Q., Shi, P., Lei, T., Geng, G., Liu, J., Mo, X., Li, X., Zhou, H., & Wu, J. (2015). The alleviating trend of drought in the Huang-Huai-Hai Plain of China based on the daily SPEI: The Alleviating Trend of Drought in the Huang-Huai-Hai Plain of China. Int. J. Climatol. 35, 3760–3769. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.4244
- Wang, Q., Yang, Y., Liu, Y., Tong, L., Zhang, Q., & Li, J. (2019). Assessing the Impacts of Drought on Grassland Net Primary Production at the Global Scale. Scientific Reports, 9(1), 14041. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-50584-4
- Wang, Y. Z. (2004). Monitoring for grassland and forest fire danger using remote sensing data. IEEE International IEEE International IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, 2004. IGARSS '04. Proceedings. 2004, 3, 2095–2098. https://doi.org/10.1109/IGARSS.2004.1370770
- Weiss, M., Baret, F., Myneni, R.B., Pragnère, A., & Knyazikhin, Y. (2000). Investigation of a model inversion technique to estimate canopy biophysical variables from spectral and directional reflectance data. Agronomie 20, 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro:2000105
- Whitcraft, A. K., Vermote, E. F., Becker-Reshef, I., & Justice, C. O. (2015). Cloud cover throughout the agricultural growing season: Impacts on passive optical earth observations. Remote Sensing of Environment, 156, 438–447. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2014.10.009
- Wilcox, K. R., Shi, Z., Gherardi, L. A., Lemoine, N. P., Koerner, S. E., Hoover, D. L., Bork, E., Byrne, K. M., Cahill, J., Collins, S. L., Evans, S., Gilgen, A. K., Holub, P., Jiang, L., Knapp, A. K., LeCain, D., Liang, J., Garcia-Palacios, P., Peñuelas, J., ... Luo, Y. (2017). Asymmetric responses of primary productivity to precipitation extremes: A synthesis of grassland precipitation manipulation experiments. Global Change Biology, 23(10), 4376–4385. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13706
- Xu, D., & Guo, X. (2015). Some Insights on Grassland Health Assessment Based on Remote Sensing. Sensors 15, 3070–3089. https://doi.org/10.3390/s150203070
- Yan, W. & Hunt, L.A. (1999). An Equation for Modelling the Temperature Response of Plants using only the Cardinal Temperatures. Annals of Botany, 84(5), 607–614. https://doi.org/10.1006/anbo.1999.0955
- Yan, W., Hu, Z., Zhao, Y., Zhang, X., Fan, Y., Shi, P., He, Y., Yu, G., & Li, Y. (2015). Modeling Net Ecosystem Carbon Exchange of Alpine Grasslands with a Satellite-Driven Model. PLOS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0122486

- Yu, R., Evans, A. J., & Malleson, N. (2018). Quantifying grazing patterns using a new growth function based on MODIS Leaf Area Index. Remote Sensing of Environment, 209, 181–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2018.02.034
- Zainelabdeen, Y.M., Yan, R., Xin, X., Yan, Y., Ahmed, A.I., Hou, L., & Zhang, Y. (2020). The Impact of Grazing on the Grass Composition in Temperate Grassland. Agronomy 10, 1230. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10091230
- Zhang, J., Huang, Y., Pu, R., Gonzalez-Moreno, P., Yuan, L., Wu, K., & Huang, W. (2019). Monitoring plant diseases and pests through remote sensing technology: A review. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture, 165, 104943. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2019.104943
- Zhou, H., Hou, L., Lv, X., Yang, G., Wang, Y., & Wang, X. (2022). Compensatory growth as a response to post-drought in grassland. Frontiers in Plant Science, 13, 1004553. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.1004553

GENERAL SYNTHESIS

GENERAL SYNTHESIS

I. Summary

The main objective of this Ph.D. thesis was to take advantage of the potential of satellite image time series to improve knowledge of the response of managed grasslands to drought in real-life conditions and with large spatial and temporal coverages. A better understanding of the response of grasslands to drought promotes avenues to find solutions (agricultural practices, soil and climatic conditions, and plant functional diversity and community structure) to mitigate their negative effects and ensure the sustainability of ecosystem services.

To do so, I first reviewed and classified existing methodological assessment approaches of grassland response to drought that used remote sensing data and techniques. Then, based on this review, I selected the most appropriate approach to quantify the variability of grassland sensitivity to drought at the regional scale. This second chapter moved beyond the current knowledge by further identifying the drivers of said variability from a group of pedoclimatic factors, vegetation diversity, and management practices. The third chapter better decomposed the resistance and resilience capacities of managed grassland facing natural droughts using a parsimonious grassland growth model that assimilates satellite data.

Finally, this thesis focused on the overlapping elements of the remote sensing of vegetation properties, the ecology of agriculturally managed grasslands, and the climatology of drought severity.

J. Principal results

In Chapter 1, this thesis highlighted two main results from the review of current studies assessing grassland response to drought using remote sensing. First, the assessment approaches were classified into five groups, namely: (i) vegetation index threshold, (ii) year comparison, (iii) time series analysis, (iv) statistical inference, and (v) mechanistic modelling. The use of vegetation indices is a common component of all approaches, but each approach exhibits a varying number of inputs and complexity of analyses. The vegetation index threshold compares the response of grassland sites to the same drought event. As the most basic approach, it encounters difficulties in attributing drought impact from other disturbances. The year comparison requires at least two years with contrasting conditions (e.g., wet/normal, and dry, drought presence or absence). It quantifies drought impact as the difference between the vegetation index of the years of interest. However, this approach faces uncertainties in determining the true baseline or reference condition and drought severity level concerning the deferred years during comparison. The time series analysis addresses the uncertainties with the baseline and

drought severity levels. The time series analysis accounts for the inherent dynamic of grasslands and drought, and it analyses grassland response to drought based on the paired anomalies of long-term satellite reflectance and drought severity trajectories. Accordingly, its limitation lies in the required robustness and completeness of observations. Statistical inference is the most used approach that determines grassland response to drought from the statistical relationship of vegetation indices and drought severity. It requires multiple observations to establish a strong correlation. Despite the determined grassland response, it fails to properly differentiate between grassland resistance and resilience to drought. The mechanistic modelling approach allows the simulation of gap-free dynamics of grassland resistance and resilience to drought can be done, especially in the absence of field data. Unfortunately, the informative output of models necessitates multiple types of data related to complex processes and requires constant parameter recalibration when implemented in other sites with different conditions. Despite the advantages and limitations of these assessment approaches, their application greatly depends on the research objectives and available data.

The thesis results filled the gap in the review of grassland response to drought assessment using remote sensing and showed consistency among existing reviews on the use of remote sensing for ecosystem studies. Similar approaches are used to estimate grassland biomass or classify land cover from satellite images, and to link satellite observations and field measurements. The use of vegetation index for grassland property estimates or grassland type and other ecosystem classification involves multiple thresholds and classification algorithms (Ali et al., 2016; Reinermann et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2022). Time series remote sensing data, despite the presence of gaps, provide better estimates of biomass (Ali et al., 2016; Reinermann et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2022) than single date estimates. Regression models, which are under the statistical inference approach, provide linkages between in situ measurements and satellite reflectance information (Ali et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2022). The simulation models correspond to mechanistic modelling with the use of remote sensing data to predict grassland growth parameters together with climate information (Ali et al., 2016; Reinermann et al., 2020). Despite these similarities among approaches, the review recognizes the difference between remote sensing use for grassland monitoring and grassland response to drought assessment. Then it focused on the description of the grassland response to drought assessment methods. Furthermore, this thesis closely provided and demonstrated the advantages and disadvantages of available assessment approaches for a given objective.

Second, the review identified that conducted studies on grassland response to drought using remote sensing were concentrated in the Mongolia Plateau in Central Asia and Great Plains in North America. Despite the coverage of studies on temperate grasslands, the potential of remote sensing for assessing grassland response to drought has not been applied to all biogeographic regions of the world with few studies in the temperate regions of Western Europe. In a review of forest and grassland ecosystem health assessments using remote sensing, Soubry et al. (2021) found that assessment studies were mostly located in North America, Central Asia, and Western Europe. They identified disturbance regimes for forests and grasslands and found that the top five ecological stressors were climate change, grazing, fire regime, insect infestation, and invasive species and weeds (Soubry et al., 2021). However, among the climate change stressors, drought was reflected only in the forest and grassland of North America (Hoover et al., 2014; Olthof and King, 2000; Soubry et al., 2021). Reinermann et al. (2020), whose focus was on the use of remote sensing for grassland monitoring, also showed a small number of studies in the Western European region. In terms of manipulated rainfall experiments conducted on grasslands, Matos et al. (2020) found the concentration of study sites within North America and Western Europe. Ultimately, this thesis provided additional comprehension of the response of temperate managed grasslands located in parts of Western Europe. Doing so contributes to the better acknowledgment of the variability of grassland response to drought in space and time (Cardoso et al., 2011; Hortal et al., 2015; Ribeiro et al. 2016).

In Chapter 2, the regional assessment revealed that temperate managed grasslands have a large variability of sensitivity to drought within the mountainous Massif central region. This stresses the need to address the Hutchinson shortfall, which relates to a lack of knowledge of the variability of grassland response to drought, and the potential of remote sensing for said use. Field experiments have provided evidence on the variability of grassland response to drought (Cherwin and Knapp, 2012; Heisler-White et al. 2009; Knapp, Carroll, et al., 2015), but are limited by the unique implementation of drought-induced treatments, monitored variables, and by the spatial and temporal scales of the studies (Fraser et al., 2013). Field experiments implemented guidelines on the standardization of methodologies to address some of these concerns (Knapp et al., 2012). However, monitoring and observation of multiple grassland sites entail additional coordination (Knapp, Hoover, et al., 2015; Knapp et al., 2017). Chapter 2 also demonstrated that the use of remote sensing simplified the need for guidelines with standardized measures of grassland properties and drought severities over large spatial and temporal scales despite the inherent but manageable limitations of the Landsat satellite sensor being used for this purpose. The Landsat limitations are related to the temporal resolution, availability of cloud- and snow-free images, and scan-line corrector failure (Loveland et al., 2008).

Chapter 2 further identified the drivers of such variability among pedoclimatic factors, vegetation diversity, and management practices. Within expectations, the soil water holding capacity demonstrated its mitigating influence on grassland sensitivity to drought. Zhao et al. (2008)

demonstrated the importance of soil available water for plants using pot experiments. The water stressed soil condition yielded low values across parameters, such as leaf relative water, and chlorophyll contents (Zhao et al., 2008). Forte et al. (2023) performed a mesocosm experiment using grassland monoliths under different drought treatments. Soil moisture supports vegetation resprouting best during early drought conditions under larger water availability for growth (Forte et al., 2023). This chapter also found that high vegetation functional diversity decreased sensitivity to drought. This result confirms several experimental studies (Gherardi and Sala, 2015; Loreau et al., 2021; Schnabel et al., 2021; Yachi and Loreau, 1999) that revealed that high functional diversity provides a mitigating influence on grassland response to climatic variabilities, such as drought. Accordingly, the regional remote sensing study was able to detect complementary results to drought experiments.

On the opposite side, grazing increased sensitivity to drought, and the early use of grasslands also promoted higher sensitivity. However, Chapter 2 highlighted the inability of the statistical inference approach to differentiate between ecosystem resistance and resilience. For example, Bütof et al. (2012) and Deléglise et al. (2015) conducted field experiments that showed the high resilience or recovery of grazed grasslands compared to mowed ones.

Overall, the identified drivers of grassland response to drought (regional scale) demonstrated the complementarity between remote sensing studies and field experiment results. Chapter 2 revealed possible complex interactions between these drivers, which the correlations did not disentangle. The grazing and mowing practices, the influence of phenological developments of vegetation, and the occurrence of drought all coincide during the summer of the growing season. Nevertheless, these confounding factors may initiate new drought experiments. Caution should be drawn to the Chapter 2 result regarding the mitigating effect of nitrogen fertilization on grassland sensitivity to drought. N fertilization promotes the growth of selected tall grasses (Fiala et al., 2011; Xiong et al., 2018), and may increase the functional diversity and modify community weighted means of growth syndromes and specific leaf area, respectively (Niu et al., 2014). However, excessive N fertilization is ill-advised in grasslands during drought to avoid the risk of nitrate leaching (Klaus et al., 2020). Furthermore, N fertilization may further decrease species richness, which could ultimately lead to reduced grassland functional diversity, thus indicating cascading effects toward grassland sensitivity to drought.

As a new aspect in grassland sensitivity to drought studies, we revealed the importance of drought timescales. The strong mitigating effect of soil water holding capacity to sensitivity was highly prominent during drought timescales of 30 days or less. The mitigating effects of vegetation diversities and community structure were found at varying timescales. The influence of community weighted

mean (CWM) of seed mass was detected from 60 days or less. While the effect of CWM of specific leaf area (SLA) and functional dispersion of growth syndromes were observed at drought timescales of 60 days or more. All management practices influenced the sensitivity of grasslands to drought at all timescales.

Drought experiments are generally conducted with a short time scale within homogenous environmental conditions to maximize treatment effects (Yuan et al., 2017). Observational studies allow the inclusion of time scales in the assessment of response to drought (Yuan et al., 2017). Accordingly, remote sensing permits the consideration of time scales as well.

The regional assessment found a noisy relationship between vegetation index anomalies and drought severity indices. This suggests the role of confounding factors, such as the co-occurrence of grazing or mowing and drought, or the influence of other types of disturbances like vole infestation, or the occurrence of plant diseases. During the analysis, the regional assessment assumed constant values of species composition, leaf traits and thus functional diversity, and management practices. Whereas there are expected uncertainties regarding their values across time.

Chapter 3 further explored the influence of management practices on the grassland response to drought with the use of a process-based modelling approach assimilated with Sentinel 2 remote sensing data. It disentangled drought impact from other processes and moved beyond by assessing the resistance and resilience of managed grasslands to drought.

To do so, a simple model, with few parameters to calibrate and few input variables, was required. Such a model, together with satellite data, has already been used to simulate the dynamics of vegetation cover and soil water content in semi-arid tropical grasslands in Australia (Choler et al., 2010). However, it did not incorporate the influence of management or phenological processes which are of great importance in our system under study.

As highlighted in Chapter 1 and demonstrated in Chapter 2, the statistical inference approach was unable to decompose grassland responses into resistance and resilience due to the inherent characteristics of the approach and the absence of chronological trajectory information. The presence of data gaps and low temporal resolutions of satellite observations also contributed to the low accuracy in the determination of resistance and resilience. Thus, the interpretation of the results in Chapter 2 was limited to the overall grassland sensitivity and was unable to account for the different components of drought responses. This is of great importance because nutrient fertilization stimulates grassland resistance and resilience differently (Bharath et al., 2020).

This thesis succeeded in developing a simple process-based model of grassland green leaf area index (LAI) trajectories assimilated with Sentinel 2 time series observations. Climatic variables and

herbage use by grassland paddock management were the inputs of the model, and the maximal potential growth, the maximal amount of soil available water, phenology, and senescence rates were the four main model parameters. The local assessment used this simple model to simulate true climatic conditions (including drought periods) and non-drought conditions. Then it used a log response ratio to obtain both resistance and resilience of mowed and grazed paddocks. Chapter 3 found that both resistance and resilience showed a decreasing trend after a given threshold of drought severity of 80, which corresponds to a drought length longer than 40 days, with a constant modified SPEI of -2.0, or 54 days, with constant modified SPEI of -1.5. There was no significant difference between mowed and grazed paddocks for both the resistance and resilience capacities, but resilience was slightly higher for grazed paddocks than mowed ones. This result contrasts with Chapter 2 where we found that grazing promoted higher sensitivity to drought than mowing and findings from previous field experiments (e.g., Deléglise et al., 2015). Indeed, repeated grazing is expected to impede the storage of carbohydrates in plants and thus decrease the resilience of vegetation after drought (Zwicke et al., 2015; Volaire et al., 2020). Beyond the different approaches for assessing grassland response to drought between field/pot experiments, linear model (Chapter 2), and the simulation protocol (Chapter 3), the unexpected result may arise from the role of patchy grazing that is recognized to increase the spatial heterogeneity of vegetation (Adler et al., 2001; Bloor et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2016). Such spatial heterogeneity can result in higher functional diversity at the pixel/paddock scale (Bloor and Pottier, 2014) and ultimately improve grassland resilience to drought (Barkaoui et al., 2016; Folke et al., 2004; Standish et al., 2014).

Grazing results in a longer accumulation of seeds in the soil due to trampling and distributed open patches from uneven grassland vegetation cover (Jacquemyn et al., 2011; Müller et al., 2014), and consumed seeds by animals may germinate within manure (Gilhaus et al., 2017).

Some studies reported a negative effect of grazing on the soil seed bank (Dutoit and Alard 1995; Loydi et al., 2012, Sternberg et al., 2003). The impact of grazing on seed bank density is unclear and needs further investigations, especially comparisons with different mowing regimes. In conclusion, different processes may lead to greater resilience either under grazing or mowing. Future researches should be set up to disentangle the possible actions of grazing on ecophysiological processes and community assembly with opposite consequences on grassland resilience to drought.

K. Limitations of the thesis

This thesis used satellite image time series for the assessment of grassland sensitivity and response to drought. Unfortunately, satellite-sensor products that offer a long historical collection of observations, such as MODIS and Landsat, lack high spatial, temporal, and spectral resolutions all at once (Appendix A). In the regional assessment, despite the daily revisits of MODIS, it has a low spatial resolution between 250 m to 500 m for seven basic bands related to vegetation properties. Then the high spatial (at most 10 m) and temporal (five days) resolutions of Sentinel 2 were available only at a short temporal range that started on 23 June 2015. Landsat image collection, which covers the year 1985 to 2019 and has a higher spatial resolution of 30 m, was considered in the regional grassland sensitivity to drought assessment despite the lower temporal resolution of 16 days. The difference in resolutions also limited the ability of the thesis to properly compare the used satellite image time series in Chapters 2 (Landsat) and 3 (Sentinel 2).

The relationship between the vegetation index anomalies and drought indices was noisy. Satellitesensor data may be filtered and pre-processed to account for the occurrence of other disturbances linked to ground data. Recent studies have shown that mowing events can be detected for temperate managed grasslands using Sentinel 2 (Andreatta et al., 2022b), combinations of Sentinel 2 and Landsat 8 (Schwieder et al., 2022), and even combinations of optical and microwave satellite data (Lobert et al., 2021). Unfortunately, the detection of grazing rotations with remote sensing is more challenging due to the selective removal of biomass by animals (De Vroey et al., 2022) which results in the heterogeneity of grassland reflectance signals (Lobert et al., 2021). Furthermore, intensive grazing rotations commonly reflect mowing-like reflectance signals (De Vroey et al., 2021). Detailed management data are lacking for large grassland areas and over long periods. Even records of the influence of multiple disturbances with possible interactions (pests, diseases, and fires) are seldom available. This shortfall strongly limits the use of modelling approaches at very large scales. Methods exist for the determination of these specific disturbances, such as pest or plant disease infections (Terentev et al., 2022; Zhang et al., 2019); and fire (Dwyer et al., 2000; Rogers et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2004).

The simplicity of the grassland growth model of Chapter 3 was at the cost of a poor description of the processes influencing grassland dynamics. The model mainly focuses on the influence of soil available water for plants, phenological growth based on climatic variables, and herbage uptake practices. Thus, the model failed to account for soil nutrient cycles, and for the fine-scale dynamics of community composition which influences vegetation regrowth. At best, this model indirectly considered temporal changes of grassland basic properties with the time-varying parameter calibration approach.

The look-up table (LUT) is characterized as a fast, simple, and robust inversion method of radiative transfer models (Darvishzadeh et al., 2008; Weiss et al., 2000). However, the 30,000 random parameter simulations still posed computation challenges with multiple observations and pixels per paddock. Then if higher inversion accuracy is needed, the size of LUT simulations should be increased to 50,000

or more; however, this entails additional computation power (Weiss et al., 2000). Due to this computational concern, only the results from six paddocks, representing the two grassland management treatments, were presented. The lack of significant difference between the grazed and mowed paddocks may be due to the low number of observations.

L. Perspectives

This thesis has provided research avenues that can further expand the understanding of grassland response to drought using remote sensing. From a global point of view, the remote sensing-based assessment of drought impacts on grassland should be conducted to cover other grassland types from all regions of the world. Then the determination of the influence of various combinations of pedoclimatic factors, level of diversity, and management practices will lead to the comparison of results. Then the drivers of grassland response to drought may further be explored with new additional factors. The 29 grassland and local properties considered in this thesis, specifically in Chapter 2, were limited to the data availability and commonly considered vegetation-related diversity metrics and traits. Other traits more related to drought and factors external to the grasslands are to be considered. Finally, the methodological developments for the simple process-based model may take two directions of improvement.

Both the regional grassland sensitivity to drought assessment and process-based modelling assimilated with remote sensing data were driven by data availability. The use of linear models, in the regional assessment, was due to the lack of detailed management data, which hindered the implementation of the process-based model on the regional scale. In addition, the Landsat data, due to the 16-day temporal resolution, may not provide a good fit for the model in such a long time period. Satellite images with higher temporal resolutions may provide solutions, but their use will be dependent on the scale of the study (e.g., MODIS). Except for the detailed management data, the local scale process-based model lacks the characterization of the individual paddocks (i.e., soil and vegetation conditions) preventing the identification of significant drivers to grassland resistance and resilience. Overall, the regional assessment supported the identification of drivers to be included in the local scale process-based model. These drivers were the management practices and water availability in the soil for plants.

For the analysis of the drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought, the influence of management practices is one big challenge due to the diversity of implementation schemes and differences in monitored properties. For example, in Deléglise et al. (2015) the experimental blocks were either grazed six times or mowed three times per growing season. In Bütof et al. (2012), the frequency of pasture was unindicated, despite the three times per season use of meadows, fertilization is applied. In

204

the regional assessment of this thesis, the prominent management practice was considered per grassland parcels. In the local-scale assessment, grazing and mowing were done once or twice per growing season. Then grazing is implemented in the mowed paddocks based on the availability of vegetation biomass. These studies also monitored different properties such as forage production in Deléglise et al. (2015), the biomass growth rate in Bütof et al. (2012), and leaf area index (LAI) and vegetation index sensitivity in this thesis. Consequently, additional studies focusing on the influence of management practices on grassland response to drought are needed to clearly determine the influences of grazing and mowing.

The interactions between drivers should also be studied. The quantification of the cascading effects of drivers can ascertain the overall influence of factors on grassland response to drought. However, both these avenues will require substantial data for fitting more complex statistical models. Other plant traits more related to the response to drought should be prioritized. For example, root traits, such as root surface area and root length, directly influence the amount of water available to the plant.

Grasslands are open systems. Drivers that influence the response to drought are not limited to grasslands and include adjacent systems or features. The dry and warm topographic microclimate improves the stability and vegetation composition of calcareous grasslands in Germany (Mazalla et al., 2022). Ecosystems such as forests and grasslands generate microclimates that mitigate macroclimate warming (Bernath-Plaisted et al., 2023; Davis et al., 2018; De Frenne et al., 2013). Then the edges of ecosystems or ecotones also provide mitigating microclimate conditions (D'Odorico et al., 2013; Süle et al., 2018). Similarly, the proximity to water ponds increases grassland resistance to drought (Chen et al., 2022). Interestingly, consideration of the surrounding systems can enhance the understanding of grassland response to drought.

New developments with remote sensing technologies related to satellite sensors and algorithms (e.g., Cao et al., 2021; Chiarito et al., 2021; Morais et al., 2021) are expected to provide improvements in the quality and accuracy of vegetation monitoring. Currently, existing remote sensing products and techniques, such as SAR images (Abdel-Hamid et al., 2020), fusion of optical image sources (Gao et al., 2006; H. Liu et al., 2021), and merging of SAR and optical data (Potočnik Buhvald et al., 2022; Garioud et al., 2020; Lobert et al., 2021) have been used for grassland monitoring and mapping. Image correction techniques help improve the accuracy of grassland monitoring (Ren et al., 2023). However, these are still unrealized for the assessment of grassland response to drought.

The increasing rate of advancement and number of satellites launched into space was a trend that started as early as the 1980s (Kramer and Cracknell, 2008). New satellite sensors, specifically, the nano- and microsatellites, continue to show advancements for environmental and ecosystem monitoring (Ustin and Middleton, 2021). Potential assessments of grassland response to drought with

a focus on the new and seldomly used satellite sensor products can first validate the technological developments, and produce new results with improved spatial, temporal, and spectral resolutions.

The simple process-based model of Chapter 3 requires additional improvements to represent the dynamics of the potential growth of grasslands (Reyes et al., 2017; Thirel et al., 2015). We can include additional eco-physiological processes to account for the nutrient availability, cycling, and use, which are connected with the water in the plant and soil (Henneron et al., 2019), or include grassland community species diversity dynamics or plant functional groups (Piseddu et al., 2022) to reflect the specific influence of plant strategies or traits on the ecosystem functioning related to growth under drought. Related to the time-varying growth parameter, the changes in the amount of used and stored carbohydrate reserves can be included to accurately simulate the plant regrowth after defoliation or change in seasons (Volaire, 1995; Boschma et al., 2003; Dube and Gwarazimba, 2000). Unfortunately, accounting for the soil-plant interactions and species-specific contributions to growth poses the risk of very complex models that should ideally be avoided to establish model identifiability and simplify the calibration process.

On the other hand, ecological processes have already been accounted for in complex models. This thesis provides value by once again demonstrating the use of satellite data in process-based models. Methods of satellite data assimilation can be either as calibration, forcing, or updating (Dorigo et al., 2007). Remote sensing can serve as an alternative source of inputs for existing models.

M. Recommendations for future studies

The generic term "response" has been used in the majority of the grassland response to drought studies. Fortunately, the selected assessment approaches help in determining how "response" is defined. Van Meerbeek et al. (2021) have positioned resistance, resilience, and recovery as properties of ecological stability. The vegetation index threshold reveals grassland resistance to drought. Year comparison, with some uncertainty, shows either resistance or resilience. The time series analysis, together with the mechanistic modelling, both allow detailed quantification of ecological stability properties. Then the statistical inference is mainly limited to the quantitative response or qualitative sensitivity. I recommend the avoidance of the generic use of "response", especially if the selected approach allows the identification of resistance, resilience, and recovery. This will result in the increased comparability of studies of drought impact across different grassland types.

The spatial and temporal scales of studies and resolutions of data influence the results of the grassland response to drought assessment. Maintaining similar grassland reflectance and drought severity scales and resolutions can help avoid possible noise from mismatches. For instance, a weekly or higher temporal scale of grassland reflectance would provide more observations when paired with

206

drought severity indices modified into a daily time unit. Such grassland observations may be possible under cloud-free conditions or if highly correlated microwave and optical image observations are available. Ultimately, the spatial and temporal scales are crucial in the analysis and interpretation of results in remote sensing and ecological studies (Andreatta et al., 2022a; Gamon et al., 2020; Levin, 1992; Pescador et al., 2021).

In the assessment of grassland resistance, and resilience or recovery to drought using the statistical inference and mechanistic modelling approaches, multiple data sources provide improvements in the interpretation of results. However, this entails challenges in terms of data acquisition and standardization. I recommend the maximization of existing models and data sources in the quantification of drought severity. Similar to Chapter 2, programs and projects should be built on the existing datasets of previous research activities on the same site. Field collection methods should be replicable and standardized to allow the association with long-term satellite reflectance data of grasslands. But we discourage the use of satellite-based assessment of drought using vegetation indices. This generally indicates drought impact on vegetation, rather than actual drought severity.

Finally, this thesis successfully presented the potential of the mechanistic modelling approach for the assessment of grassland resistance and resilience to drought. I recommend the collection of longterm and detailed grassland parcel and environmental data or at least the grassland management data. Then we promote the consideration of parsimony or simplicity of the process-based models to avoid the difficulty of acquiring multiple data associated with the inputs and parameters of complex models but still provide near-accurate simulations. The assessment of grassland response components to drought using process-based models should be as simple as possible to allow focus on the investigations of drivers.

GENERAL FUNDING

The Embassy of France to the Philippines and Micronesia, under the PhilFrance program, provided the stipend to Donald A. Luna (File number: 957025K). Moreover, this research did not receive any additional grants from funding agencies in the commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

Research Acknowledgements

The author acknowledges the Agence Nationale de la Recherche of the French government for the support received through the program "Investissements d'Avenir" (16-IDEX-0001CAP20-25), all the people and funders who were involved in the collection of ground data during the Prairies AOP, ATOUS, AEOLE, and SALAMIX programs and projects, and to the PhilFrance scholarship program. Special appreciation is given to the INRAE AgroeClim service unit and Météo-France for the field and SAFRAN meteorological data access. Lastly, the author expresses his gratitude to the University of the Philippines Los Baños for the approved study leave.

GENERAL APPENDICES

Satellite	Sensor	Duration	Spatial (m)	Temporal (days)	Spectral range (µm)	Spectral bands (count)	Radio- metric (bit)
METOP-A/B	Global Ozone Monitoring Experiment-2 (GOME-2)	2006 to	80000 × 40000	1.5	0.24 to 0.79	15	16
NOAA 6 to 19 of NOAA - POES /	Advanced Very High- Resolution Radiometer (AVHRR)	1979 to 2019	1000	1	0.58 to 12.5	4 to 6	16
NOAA-20	Visible Infrared Imaging Radiometer Suite (VIIRS)	2017 to present	375; 750	1	0.41 to 12.0	22	12
Terra and Aqua	Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS)	2000 to present	250; 500; 1000	1 to 2; 16	0.41 to 14.23	36	12
Landsat 1 to 5	Multispectral Scanner System (MSS)	1972 to 1999	60	16	0.5 to 1.1	4	6
Landsat 4 to 5	Thematic Mapper (TM)	1982 to 2013	30; 120	16	0.45 to 12.5	7	8
Landsat 7	Enhanced Thematic Mapper (ETM) +	1999 to 2022 (science mission)	15; 30; 60	16	0.45 to 12.5	8	9
Landsat 8 and 9	Operational Land Imager (OLI) and Thermal Infrared Sensor (TIRS)	2013 to present	15; 30; 100	16; 8	0.43 to 12.51	11	12
Satellite pour l'Observation de la Terre (SPOT) 1 to 5	High Resolution Visible (HRV); High Resolution in the Visible and Infrared (HRVIR); High Resolution Geometry (HRG)	1986 to 2015	2.5; 10; 20	26	0.48 to 1.75	5	8
SPOT 4 and 5	VEGETATION	1998 - 2014	1 000	26	0.44 to 1.65	4	8
SPOT 6 and 7	New Astrosat Optical Modular Instrument (NAOMI):	2012 and 2014 (launched dates)	1.5; 6	26	0.45 to 0.89	5	12
Sentinel 2A and 2B	Multi-Spectral Imager (MSI)	2015 and 2017 to present	10; 20; 60	5	0.44 to 2.19	13	12
Venµs	VENµS SuperSpectral Camera (VSSC)	2017 to 2020	5	2	0.42 to 0.91	12	10
IKONOS	Multispectral and panchromatic sensor	1999 - 2015	0.82; 3.28	3	0.40 to 0.90	5	16
QuickBird	Multispectral and panchromatic sensor	2001–2015	2.62; 0.65	1 to 3.5	0.45 to 0.90	5	16
WorldView- 1/2/3/4	Multispectral and panchromatic sensor	2007 - present	0.31; 1.24	1	0.45 to 0.90	1.7	11
RapidEye	RapidEye Earth-imaging System	2008 - 2015	5	1	0.44 to 0.85	5	8
Planet	SuperDove or PSB.SD	2016 to 2022	3	1	0.43 to 0.88	3	8

Appendix A. Summary of optical satellite-sensor resolutions.



Appendix B. Distribution of soil units in the Massif central region (ESDAC).

Band Description	Landsat 8 bands	Central Wavelength (nm)	Sentinel 2 bands	Central Wavelength (nm)	VENųS bands	Central Wavelength (nm)
(Atmospheric correction) *					1	415
Coastal	1	443	1	443	2	440
Blue	2	482	2	490	3	490
Green	3	562	3	560	4	555
(Land)*					5	620
(DEM)*					6	620
Red	4	655	4	665	7	667
Red edge			5	705	8	702
Red edge			6	740	9	742
Red edge			7	783	10	782
Near-infrared (NIR)			8	842		
Narrow NIR	5	865	8A	865	11	865
Water Vapor			9	945	12	910
Shortwave infrared (SWIR) Cirrus			10	1,375		
SWIR1	6	1,610	11	1,61		
SWIR2	7	2,200	12	2,190		
Panchromatic	8	590				
Cirrus	9	1,375				
Thermal infrared (TIRS) 1	10	10,800				
TIRS 2	11	12,000				

Appendix C. Summary of the reflectance bands of Landsat 8, Sentinel 2, and VEN₄S. The central wavelengths are the mean of the minimum and maximum band values.

* VENuS band description (https://venus.cnes.fr/en/VENUS/index.html

Index	Formula	Purpose / Description	References
NDVI	(NIR - R) / (NIR + R)	Commonly used for vegetation	Rouse et al., 1974
		biomass (green)	
ARVI	(NIR - [(2 * R) - B]) / (NIR + [(2 * R) - B])	Less sensitive to atmospheric	Kaufman and
DVI	$(\mathbf{NIK} + [(2 * \mathbf{K}) - \mathbf{B}])$ $\mathbf{NID} \mathbf{D}$	Differentiates vegetation and soil	Pichardson and
DVI	NIK – K	Differentiates vegetation and son.	Wiegand 1977
EVI	2.5 * ([NIR - R] /	For canopy conditions in high	Huete et. al., 2002
	[NIR + 6 * R - 7.5 * B + 1])	biomass areas	,
EVI2	2.5 * ([NIR - R] /	EVI without the blue band	Jiang et al., 2008
	[NIR + (2.4 * R) + 1])		
GCI	(NIR / G) - 1	For chlorophyll estimation	Gitelson et al.,
CEM	· * (1 0 25 * ··) [(D 0 125) / (1		2003 Dist. a. 1
GEMI	n * (1 - 0.25 * n) - [(K - 0.125) / (1 - R)]	For vegetation cover; non-linear	Pinty and Verstraete 1992
	where, $n = [2 * (NIR^2 - R^2) + (1.5 * 1.5)]$	Index	verstraete, 1992
	NIR) + $(0.5 * R)$] / (NIR + R + 0.5)		
GNDVI	(NIR - G)] / (NIR + G)	For chlorophyll estimation; NDVI	Gitelson et al.,
		uses the Green instead of Red	1996
CUMI		band	Connecto et el
GVMI	([NIR + 0.1] - [SWIR2 + 0.02]) / ([NIR + 0.1] + [SWIR2 + 0.02])	For vegetation water content	(2002)
IPVI	$\frac{(11111 + 0.11)}{NIR / (NIR + R)}$	For vegetation biomass	Crippen, 1990
MSR	([NIR / R] - 1) / sqrt([NIR / R] + 1)	For biophysical parameters	Chen, 1996
MTVI2	(1.5 * [1.2 * (NIR - G)] - [2.5 * (R - G)])	For green leaf area index (LAI)	Haboudane et al.,
	G)]) / sqrt([(2 * NIR) + 1] ² – [6 *	estimation	2004
NDCVI	NIR - $(5 * \text{sqrt}(R)) - 0.5]$	For concerns datastion	O; at al 2002
NDWI	(SWIKI - K) / (SWIKI + K) (NIR - SWIR1) / (NIR + SWIR1)	For vegetation liquid water	Gao, 1996: Xiao
		content; similar formula to Land	et al., 2004
		Surface Water Index (LSWI)	,
NLI	$(NIR^2 - R) / (NIR^2 + R)$	For vegetation cover; accounts for	Goel and Quin,
		leaf angle distribution	1994
NMDI	(NIR - [SWIR1 - SWIR2]) / (NIR + [SWIP1 - SWIP2])	For soil and vegetation moisture	Wang and Qu,
NDI	$[\mathbf{S} \mathbf{W} \mathbf{K} \mathbf{I} - \mathbf{S} \mathbf{W} \mathbf{K} \mathbf{Z}])$	East along without a status	2007 Eilalla at al. 1005
INKI OSAVI	(G - K) / (G + K) (NIR - R) / (NIR + R + 0.16)	For plant mirogen status	Filelia et al., 1995 Rondeaux et al
OSAVI	$(14113 - 16)^{7}$ $(14113 + 16 + 0.16)^{7}$	soil effect: standardized	1996
		vegetation condition of 0.16	
SAVI	(1 + L) * ([NIR - R] / [NIR + R +	For vegetation health; minimizes	Huete, 1988
	L])	soil effect	
	Vegetation: Low $(L = 1)$		
	High $(L = 0.25)$		
SIPI	(NIR - B) / (NIR + B)	For vegetation phenology (bulk	Penuelas et al
~		carotenoids to chlorophyll ratio)	2011
SLAVI	NIR / (R + SWIR2)	For specific leaf area	Lymburner et al.,
			2000
SKVI or SR	NIK / K	For leaf area index	Jordan, 1969
1 V I	sqrt ($10DV1 + 0.5$)	estimation	Haas, 1982
VARI	(G - R) / (G + R - B)	Less sensitive to atmospheric	Gitelson et al.,
		effects; based on ARVI	2002

Appendix D. Satellite reflectance indices used in the study. Input bands were the blue (B), green (G), red (R), near-infrared (NIR), and shortwave infrared (SWIR) 1 and 2.

GENERAL REFERENCES

- Abdel-Hamid, A., Dubovyk, O., Graw, V., & Greve, K. (2020). Assessing the impact of drought stress on grasslands using multi-temporal SAR data of Sentinel-1: A case study in Eastern Cape, South Africa. European Journal of Remote Sensing, 53(sup2), 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/22797254.2020.1762514
- Abramowitz, M., & Stegun, I.A. (Eds.). (1965). Handbook of Mathematical Functions with Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables. Dover Publications Inc., New York, 1046 p.
- Adler, P., Raff, D., & Lauenroth, W. (2001). The effect of grazing on the spatial heterogeneity of vegetation. Oecologia, 128(4), 465–479. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420100737
- Agreste Auvergne-Rhône-Alpes (2017) : "La première prairie de France : analyse croisée de son évolution depuis 1955", Direction régionale de l'Alimentation, de l'Agriculture et de la Forêt, Analyses, 10, 8 p. https://draaf.auvergne-rhone-alpes.agriculture.gouv.fr/la-premiere-prairie-de-france-analyse-croisee-de-son-evolution-depuis-1955-a2959.html. (accessed 14 December 2022)
- Ali, I., Cawkwell, F., Dwyer, E., Barrett, B., & Green, S. (2016). Satellite remote sensing of grasslands: From observation to management. Journal of Plant Ecology, 9(6), 649–671. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpe/rtw005
- Allen, R., Pereira, L., & Smith, M. (1998). Crop evapotranspiration guidelines for computing crop requirements. FAO Irrig. Drain. Report modeling and application. J. Hydrol. 285. 19-40.
- Alvarez-Vanhard, E., Corpetti, T., & Houet, T. (2021). UAV & satellite synergies for optical remote sensing applications: A literature review. Science of Remote Sensing, 3, 100019. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.srs.2021.100019
- Amani, M., Ghorbanian, A., Ahmadi, S. A., Kakooei, M., Moghimi, A., Mirmazloumi, S. M., Moghaddam, S. H. A., Mahdavi, S., Ghahremanloo, M., Parsian, S., Wu, Q., & Brisco, B. (2020). Google Earth Engine Cloud Computing Platform for Remote Sensing Big Data Applications: A Comprehensive Review. IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Applied Earth Observations and Remote Sensing, 13, 5326–5350. https://doi.org/10.1109/JSTARS.2020.3021052
- Andreatta, D., Gianelle, D., Scotton, M., & Dalponte, M. (2022a). Estimating grassland vegetation cover with remote sensing: A comparison between Landsat-8, Sentinel-2 and PlanetScope imagery. Ecological Indicators, 141, 109102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2022.109102
- Andreatta, D., Gianelle, D., Scotton, M., Vescovo, L., & Dalponte, M. (2022b). Detection of grassland mowing frequency using time series of vegetation indices from Sentinel-2 imagery. GIScience & Remote Sensing, 59(1), 481–500. https://doi.org/10.1080/15481603.2022.2036055
- Atzberger, C., Darvishzadeh, R., Immitzer, M., Schlerf, M., Skidmore, A., & le Maire, G. (2015). Comparative analysis of different retrieval methods for mapping grassland leaf area index using airborne imaging spectroscopy. International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation, 43, 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2015.01.009
- Aybar, C., Wu, Q., Bautista, L., Yali, R., & Barja, A. (2020). rgee: An R package for interacting with Google Earth Engine. Journal of Open Source Software, 5(51), 2272. https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.02272
- Baba, M. W., Gascoin, S., Hagolle, O., Bourgeois, E., Desjardins, C., & Dedieu, G. (2020). Evaluation of Methods for Mapping the Snow Cover Area at High Spatio-Temporal Resolution with VENμS. Remote Sensing, 12(18), 3058. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12183058
- Bai, Y., & Cotrufo, M. F. (2022). Grassland soil carbon sequestration: Current understanding, challenges, and solutions. Science, 377(6606), 603–608. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.abo2380
- Bajgain, R., Xiao, X., Wagle, P., Basara, J., & Zhou, Y. (2015). Sensitivity analysis of vegetation indices to drought over two tallgrass prairie sites. ISPRS J. Photogramm. Remote Sens., 108, 151–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2015.07.004
- Balachowski, J. A., & Volaire, F. A. (2017). Implications of plant functional traits and drought survival strategies for ecological restoration. Journal of Applied Ecology. 55. 10.1111/1365-2664.12979.

- Bandara, J. S., & Cai, Y. (2014). The impact of climate change on food crop productivity, food prices and food security in South Asia. Economic Analysis and Policy, 44(4), 451–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eap.2014.09.005
- Bardgett, R. D., Bullock, J. M., Lavorel, S., Manning, P., Schaffner, U., Ostle, N., Chomel, M., Durigan, G.,
 L. Fry, E., Johnson, D., Lavallee, J. M., Le Provost, G., Luo, S., Png, K., Sankaran, M., Hou, X., Zhou,
 H., Ma, L., Ren, W., ... Shi, H. (2021). Combatting global grassland degradation. Nature Reviews
 Earth & Environment, 2(10), 720–735. https://doi.org/10.1038/s43017-021-00207-2
- Barkaoui, K. (2013). Functional structure and ecohydrology of Mediterranean rangelands along a soil water availability gradient.
- Barkaoui, K., & Volaire, F. (2023). Drought survival and recovery in grasses: Stress intensity and plant–plant interactions impact plant dehydration tolerance. Plant, Cell & Environment, pce.14543. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.14543
- Barkaoui, K., Roumet, C., & Volaire, F. (2016). Mean root trait more than root trait diversity determines drought resilience in native and cultivated Mediterranean grass mixtures. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 231, 122–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2016.06.035
- Bayık, Ç., Topan, H., Özendi, M., Oruç, M., Cam, A., & Abdikan, S. (2016). Geospatial analysis using remote sensing images: case studies of Zonguldak test field. ISPRS - International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, XLI-B1, 435–442. https://doi.org/10.5194/isprsarchives-XLI-B1-435-2016
- Begueria, S., Vicente-Serrano, S.M., Reig, F., Latorre, B., 2014. Standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index (SPEI) revisited: parameter fitting, evapotranspiration models, tools, datasets and drought monitoring. Int. J. Climatol. 34, 3001–3023. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.3887
- Beier, C., Beierkuhnlein, C., Wohlgemuth, T., Penuelas, J., Emmett, B., Körner, C., de Boeck, H., Christensen, J. H., Leuzinger, S., Janssens, I. A., & Hansen, K. (2012). Precipitation manipulation experiments—Challenges and recommendations for the future. Ecology Letters, 15(8), 899–911. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2012.01793.x
- Belward, A. S., & Skøien, J. O. (2015). Who launched what, when and why; trends in global land-cover observation capacity from civilian earth observation satellites. ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing, 103, 115–128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2014.03.009
- Bengtsson, J., Bullock, J. M., Egoh, B., Everson, C., Everson, T., O'Connor, T., O'Farrell, P. J., Smith, H. G., & Lindborg, R. (2019). Grasslands-more important for ecosystem services than you might think. Ecosphere, 10(2), e02582. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2582
- Berdugo, M., Vidiella, B., Solé, R. V., & Maestre, F. T. (2022). Ecological mechanisms underlying aridity thresholds in global drylands. Functional Ecology, 36(1), 4–23. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.13962
- Berger, K., Atzberger, C., Danner, M., D'Urso, G., Mauser, W., Vuolo, F., & Hank, T. (2018). Evaluation of the PROSAIL Model Capabilities for Future Hyperspectral Model Environments: A Review Study. Remote Sensing, 10(2), 85. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10010085
- Bernath-Plaisted, J. S., Ribic, C. A., Hills, W. B., Townsend, P. A., & Zuckerberg, B. (2023). Microclimate complexity in temperate grasslands: Implications for conservation and management under climate change. Environmental Research Letters, 18(6), 064023. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/acd4d3
- Bessin, Z., Dedieu, J.-P., Arnaud, Y., Wagnon, P., Brun, F., Esteves, M., Perry, B., & Matthews, T. (2022). Processing of VENµS Images of High Mountains: A Case Study for Cryospheric and Hydro-Climatic Applications in the Everest Region (Nepal). Remote Sensing, 14(5), 1098. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14051098
- Bharath, S., Borer, E. T., Biederman, L. A., Blumenthal, D. M., Fay, P. A., Gherardi, L. A., Knops, J. M. H., Leakey, A. D. B., Yahdjian, L., & Seabloom, E. W. (2020). Nutrient addition increases grassland sensitivity to droughts. Ecology, 101(5), e02981. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2981
- Binder, S., Isbell, F., Polasky, S., Catford, J. A., & Tilman, D. (2018). Grassland biodiversity can pay. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 115(15), 3876–3881. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1712874115
- Bloor, J. M. G., Tardif, A., & Pottier, J. (2020). Spatial Heterogeneity of Vegetation Structure, Plant N Pools and Soil N Content in Relation to Grassland Management. Agronomy, 10, 716. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10050716
- Bloor, J.M.G. & Pottier, J. (2014). Grazing and spatial heterogeneity: Implications for grassland structure and function. In Grassland Biodiversity and Conservation in a Changing World; Mariotte, P., Kardol, P., Eds.; Nova Science Publishers, Inc.: Hauppage, NY, USA; pp. 135–162.
- Boschma, S. P., Scott, J. M., Hill, M. J., King, J. R., & Lutton, J. J. (2003). Plant reserves of perennial grasses subjected to drought and defoliation stresses on the Northern Tablelands of New South Wales, Australia. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research, 54(8), 819. https://doi.org/10.1071/AR02184
- Burri, S., Niklaus, P. A., Grassow, K., Buchmann, N., & Kahmen, A. (2018). Effects of plant productivity and species richness on the drought response of soil respiration in temperate grasslands. PLOS ONE, 13(12), e0209031. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0209031
- Bütof, A., von Riedmatten, L. R., Dormann, C. F., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Welk, E., & Bruelheide, H. (2012). The responses of grassland plants to experimentally simulated climate change depend on land use and region. Global Change Biology, 18(1), 127–137. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02539.x
- Buttler, A., Mariotte, P., Meisser, M., Guillaume, T., Signarbieux, C., Vitra, A., Preux, S., Mercier, G., Quezada, J., Bragazza, L., & Gavazov, K. (2019). Drought-induced decline of productivity in the dominant grassland species Lolium perenne L. depends on soil type and prevailing climatic conditions. Soil Biology and Biochemistry, 132, 47–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2019.01.026
- Campbell, P. K. E., Middleton, E. M., McMurtrey, J. E., Corp, L. A., & Chappelle, E. W. (2007). Assessment of Vegetation Stress Using Reflectance or Fluorescence Measurements. Journal of Environmental Quality, 36(3), 832–845. https://doi.org/10.2134/jeq2005.0396
- Cao, B., Roujean, J.-L., Gastellu-Etchegorry, J.-P., Liu, Q., Du, Y., Lagouarde, J.-P., Huang, H., Li, H., Bian, Z., Hu, T., Qin, B., Ran, X., & Xiao, Q. (2021). A general framework of kernel-driven modeling in the thermal infrared domain. Remote Sensing of Environment, 252, 112157. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2020.112157
- Cao, S., Zhang, L., He, Y., Zhang, Y., Chen, Y., Yao, S., Yang, W., & Sun, Q. (2022). Effects and contributions of meteorological drought on agricultural drought under different climatic zones and vegetation types in Northwest China. Science of The Total Environment, 821, 153270. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.153270
- Carboni, M., Münkemüller, T., Lavergne, S., Choler, P., Borgy, B., Violle, C., Essl, F., Roquet, C., Munoz, F., DivGrass Consortium, & Thuiller, W. (2016). What it takes to invade grassland ecosystems: Traits, introduction history and filtering processes. Ecology Letters, 19(3), 219–229. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12556
- Cardoso, P., Erwin, T. L., Borges, P. A. V., & New, T. R. (2011). The seven impediments in invertebrate conservation and how to overcome them. Biological Conservation, 144(11), 2647–2655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2011.07.024
- Carrère, P., Seytre, L., Piquet, M., Landrieaux, J., Rivière, J., Chabalier, C., & Orth, D. (2012). Une typologie multifonctionnelle des prairies des systèmes laitiers AOP du Massif central combinant des approches agronomiques et écologiques. 13.
- Carter, G. A. (1993). Responses of leaf spectral reflectance to plant stress. American Journal of Botany, 80(3), 239–243. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1537-2197.1993.tb13796.x
- Ceccato, P., Flasse, S., & Gregoire, J.-M. (2002). Designing a spectral index to estimate vegetation water content from remote sensing data Part 2. Validation and applications. Remote Sensing of Environment, 82, 198–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(02)00036-6
- Chamorro, A., Ivanov, M., Tölle, M. H., Luterbacher, J., & Breuer, L. (2020). Analysis of future changes in meteorological drought patterns in Fulda, Germany. International Journal of Climatology, 40(13), 5515–5526. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.6532
- Chang, J., Ciais, P., Gasser, T., Smith, P., Herrero, M., Havlík, P., Obersteiner, M., Guenet, B., Goll, D. S., Li, W., Naipal, V., Peng, S., Qiu, C., Tian, H., Viovy, N., Yue, C., & Zhu, D. (2021). Climate warming from managed grasslands cancels the cooling effect of carbon sinks in sparsely grazed and natural grasslands. Nature Communications, 12(1), 118. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-20406-7

- Chen, J. M. (1996). Evaluation of Vegetation Indices and a Modified Simple Ratio for Boreal Applications. Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing, 22(3), 229–242. https://doi.org/10.1080/07038992.1996.10855178
- Chen, L., Sofia, G., Qiu, J., Wang, J., & Tarolli, P. (2023). Grassland ecosystems resilience to drought: The role of surface water ponds. Land Degradation & Development, 34(7), 1960–1972. https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.4581
- Cherwin, K., & Knapp, A. (2012). Unexpected patterns of sensitivity to drought in three semi-arid grasslands. Oecologia, 169(3), 845–852. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-011-2235-2
- Chiarito, E., Cigna, F., Cuozzo, G., Fontanelli, G., Mejia Aguilar, A., Paloscia, S., Rossi, M., Santi, E., Tapete, D., & Notarnicola, C. (2021). Biomass retrieval based on genetic algorithm feature selection and support vector regression in Alpine grassland using ground-based hyperspectral and Sentinel-1 SAR data. European Journal of Remote Sensing, 54(1), 209–225. https://doi.org/10.1080/22797254.2021.1901063
- Choler, P., Sea, W., Briggs, P., Raupach, M., & Leuning, R. (2010). A simple ecohydrological model captures essentials of seasonal leaf dynamics in semi-arid tropical grasslands. Biogeosciences Discussions. 7. 10.5194/bgd-6-8661-2009.
- Cinto Mejía, E., & Wetzel, W.C. (2023). The ecological consequences of the timing of extreme climate events. Ecology and Evolution 13. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.9661
- Clarke, B., Otto, F., Stuart-Smith, R., & Harrington, L. (2022). Extreme weather impacts of climate change: An attribution perspective. Environmental Research: Climate, 1(1), 012001. https://doi.org/10.1088/2752-5295/ac6e7d
- Congalton, R. G. (1991). A review of assessing the accuracy of classifications of remotely sensed data. Remote Sensing of Environment, 37(1), 35–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(91)90048-B
- Crippen, R. (1990). Calculating the vegetation index faster. Remote Sensing of Environment, 34(1), 71–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(90)90085-Z
- Crossland, N. O., & La Point, T. W. (1992). The design of mesocosm experiments. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, 11(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.5620110101
- Dai, A. (2011). Drought under global warming: A review. WIREs Climate Change, 2(1), 45–65. https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.81
- Darvishzadeh, R., Skidmore, A., Schlerf, M., & Atzberger, C. (2008). Inversion of a radiative transfer model for estimating vegetation LAI and chlorophyll in a heterogeneous grassland. Remote Sensing of Environment, 112(5), 2592–2604. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2007.12.003
- Davidson, A., Wang, S., & Wilmshurst, J. (2006). Remote sensing of grassland–shrubland vegetation water content in the shortwave domain. International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation, 8(4), 225–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2005.10.002
- Davis, K. T., Dobrowski, S. Z., Holden, Z. A., Higuera, P. E., & Abatzoglou, J. T. (2019). Microclimatic buffering in forests of the future: The role of local water balance. Ecography, 42(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.03836
- Davis, M. B., & Shaw, R. G. (2001). Range Shifts and Adaptive Responses to Quaternary Climate Change. Science, 292(5517), 673–679. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.292.5517.673
- de Bello, F., Lavorel, S., Hallett, L. M., Valencia, E., Garnier, E., Roscher, C., Conti, L., Galland, T., Goberna, M., Májeková, M., Montesinos-Navarro, A., Pausas, J. G., Verdú, M., E-Vojtkó, A., Götzenberger, L., & Lepš, J. (2021). Functional trait effects on ecosystem stability: Assembling the jigsaw puzzle. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 36(9), 822–836. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2021.05.001
- De Boeck, H. J. D. (2008). Biomass production in experimental grasslands of different species richness during three years of climate warming, Biogeosciences, 5, 585–594, https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-5-585-2008, 2008.
- De Boeck, H. J., Bloor, J. M. G., Kreyling, J., Ransijn, J. C. G., Nijs, I., Jentsch, A., & Zeiter, M. (2018). Patterns and drivers of biodiversity-stability relationships under climate extremes. Journal of Ecology, 106(3), 890–902. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12897

- De Boeck, H. J., Vicca, S., Roy, J., Nijs, I., Milcu, A., Kreyling, J., Jentsch, A., Chabbi, A., Campioli, M., Callaghan, T., Beierkuhnlein, C., & Beier, C. (2015). Global Change Experiments: Challenges and Opportunities. BioScience, 65(9), 922–931. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/biv099
- De Frenne, P., Rodríguez-Sánchez, F., Coomes, D. A., Baeten, L., Verstraeten, G., Vellend, M., Bernhardt-Römermann, M., Brown, C. D., Brunet, J., Cornelis, J., Decocq, G. M., Dierschke, H., Eriksson, O., Gilliam, F. S., Hédl, R., Heinken, T., Hermy, M., Hommel, P., Jenkins, M. A., ... Verheyen, K. (2013). Microclimate moderates plant responses to macroclimate warming. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(46), 18561–18565. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1311190110
- De Vroey, M., de Vendictis, L., Zavagli, M., Bontemps, S., Heymans, D., Radoux, J., Koetz, B., & Defourny, P. (2022). Mowing detection using Sentinel-1 and Sentinel-2 time series for large scale grassland monitoring. Remote Sensing of Environment, 280, 113145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2022.113145
- Delagarde, R., Caillat, H., & Fortin, J. (2017). HerbValo, une méthode pour estimer dans chaque parcelle la quantité d'herbe valorisée par les ruminants au pâturage.
- Delagarde, R., Robic, Y., Leurent-Colette, S., & Delaby, L. (2018). HerbValo a method for calculating annual pasture utilisation by dairy cows at paddock level. Grassland Science in Europe, 23, 4.
- Delegido, J., Verrelst, J., Alonso, L., & Moreno, J. (2011). Evaluation of Sentinel-2 Red-Edge Bands for Empirical Estimation of Green LAI and Chlorophyll Content. Sensors, 11(7), 7063–7081. https://doi.org/10.3390/s110707063
- Deléglise, C., Meisser, M., Mosimann, E., Spiegelberger, T., Signarbieux, C., Jeangros, B., & Buttler, A. (2015). Drought-induced shifts in plants traits, yields and nutritive value under realistic grazing and mowing managements in a mountain grassland. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 213, 94–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.07.020
- Deng, L., Peng, C., Kim, D.-G., Li, J., Liu, Y., Hai, X., Liu, Q., Huang, C., Shangguan, Z., & Kuzyakov, Y. (2021). Drought effects on soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics in global natural ecosystems. Earth-Science Reviews, 214, 103501. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earscirev.2020.103501
- Dengler, J., Janišová, M., Török, P., & Wellstein, C. (2014). Biodiversity of Palaearctic grasslands: A synthesis. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 182, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.12.015
- Diaz, S., Cabido, M., & Casanoves, F. (1998). Plant functional traits and environmental filters at a regional scale. Journal of Vegetation Science, 9(1), 113–122. https://doi.org/10.2307/3237229
- Dixon, A. P., Faber-Langendoen, D., Josse, C., Morrison, J., & Loucks, C. J. (2014). Distribution mapping of world grassland types. Journal of Biogeography, 41(11), 2003–2019. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12381
- D'Odorico, P., He, Y., Collins, S., De Wekker, S. F. J., Engel, V., & Fuentes, J. D. (2013). Vegetationmicroclimate feedbacks in woodland-grassland ecotones: Vegetation-microclimate feedbacks. Global Ecology and Biogeography, 22(4), 364–379. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12000
- Donohue, I., Hillebrand, H., Montoya, J. M., Petchey, O. L., Pimm, S. L., Fowler, M. S., Healy, K., Jackson, A. L., Lurgi, M., McClean, D., O'Connor, N. E., O'Gorman, E. J., & Yang, Q. (2016). Navigating the complexity of ecological stability. Ecology Letters, 19(9), 1172–1185. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12648
- Dracup, J. A., Lee, K. S., & Paulson, E. G. (1980). On the definition of droughts. Water Resources Research, 16(2), 297–302. https://doi.org/10.1029/WR016i002p00297
- Drusch, M., & Crewell, S. (2006). Principles of Radiative Transfer. In M. G. Anderson & J. J. McDonnell (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Hydrological Sciences (p. hsa049). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/0470848944.hsa049
- Dube, S., & Gwarazimba, V.E.E. (2000). Effects of selective defoliation and height of defoliation on tiller dynamics and herbage yield of Themeda triandra in a semi-arid rangeland in Zimbabwe. African Journal of Range and Forage Science. 17. 10.2989/10220110009485739.
- Durand, Y., Brun, E., Guyomarc'H, G., Lesaffre, B., & Martin, E. (1993). A meteorological estimation of relevant parameters for snow models. Annals of Glaciology, 18, 65–71. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0260305500011277

- Dutoit, T., & Alard, D. (1995). Permanent seed banks in chalk grassland under various management regimes: their role in the restoration of species-rich plant communities. Biodiversity and conservation, 4, 939-950. doi: 10.1007/BF00058205
- Dwyer, E., Pinnock, S., Gregoire, J.-M., & Pereira, J. M. C. (2000). Global spatial and temporal distribution of vegetation fire as determined from satellite observations. International Journal of Remote Sensing, 21(6–7), 1289–1302. https://doi.org/10.1080/014311600210182
- Earl, H. J. (2003). A precise gravimetric method for simulating drought stress in pot experiments. Crop Science, 43(5), 1868–1873. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2003.1868
- European Soil Data Centre (ESDAC). European Commission, Joint Research Centre. esdac.jrc.ec.europa.eu. (accessed 14 October 2022)
- Fariaszewska, A., Aper, J., Van Huylenbroeck, J., Baert, J., De Riek, J., Staniak, M., & Pecio, Ł. (2017). Mild Drought Stress-Induced Changes in Yield, Physiological Processes and Chemical Composition in Festuca, Lolium and Festulolium. Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science, 203(2), 103–116. https://doi.org/10.1111/jac.12168
- Fauvel, M., Lopes, M., Dubo, T., Rivers-Moore, J., Frison, P.-L., Gross, N., & Ouin, A. (2020). Prediction of plant diversity in grasslands using Sentinel-1 and -2 satellite image time series. Remote Sensing of Environment, 237, 111536. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.111536
- Faye, C. (2022). Comparative Analysis of Meteorological Drought based on the SPI and SPEI Indices. HighTech and Innovation Journal, 3, 15–27. https://doi.org/10.28991/HIJ-SP2022-03-02
- Ferreira, K. R., Queiroz, G. R., Camara, G., Souza, R. C. M., Vinhas, L., Marujo, R. F. B., Simoes, R. E. O., Noronha, C. A. F., Costa, R. W., Arcanjo, J. S., Gomes, V. C. F., & Zaglia, M. C. (2020). Using Remote Sensing Images and Cloud Services on Aws to Improve Land Use and Cover Monitoring. 2020 IEEE Latin American GRSS & ISPRS Remote Sensing Conference (LAGIRS), 558–562. https://doi.org/10.1109/LAGIRS48042.2020.9165649
- Fiala, K., Tůma, I., & Holub, P. (2011). Effect of nitrogen addition and drought on above-ground biomass of expanding tall grasses Calamagrostis epigejos and Arrhenatherum elatius. Biologia, 66(2), 275–281. https://doi.org/10.2478/s11756-011-0001-x
- Filella, I., Serrano, L., Serra, J., & Peñuelas, J. (1995). Evaluating Wheat Nitrogen Status with Canopy Reflectance Indices and Discriminant Analysis. Crop Science, 35(5), 1400–1405. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci1995.0011183X003500050023x
- Finger, R., Gilgen, A. K., Prechsl, U. E., & Buchmann, N. (2013). An economic assessment of drought effects on three grassland systems in Switzerland. Regional Environmental Change, 13(2), 365–374. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10113-012-0346-x
- Folke, C., Carpenter, S., Walker, B., Scheffer, M., Elmqvist, T., Gunderson, L., & Holling, C. S. (2004). Regime Shifts, Resilience, and Biodiversity in Ecosystem Management. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 35(1), 557–581. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.35.021103.105711
- Forte, T. G. W., Carbognani, M., Chiari, G., & Petraglia, A. (2023). Drought Timing Modulates Soil Moisture Thresholds for CO2 Fluxes and Vegetation Responses in an Experimental Alpine Grassland. Ecosystems. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-023-00831-7
- Foschi, P. G. (1994). A geometric approach to a mixed pixel problem: Detecting subpixel woody vegetation. Remote Sensing of Environment, 50(3), 317–327. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(94)90081-7
- Fraser, L. H., Henry, H. A., Carlyle, C. N., White, S. R., Beierkuhnlein, C., Cahill, J. F., Casper, B. B., Cleland, E., Collins, S. L., Dukes, J. S., Knapp, A. K., Lind, E., Long, R., Luo, Y., Reich, P. B., Smith, M. D., Sternberg, M., & Turkington, R. (2013). Coordinated distributed experiments: An emerging tool for testing global hypotheses in ecology and environmental science. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 11(3), 147–155. https://doi.org/10.1890/110279
- Fry, E. L., Wilkinson, A., Johnson, D., Pritchard, W. J., Ostle, N. J., Baggs, E. M., & Bardgett, R. D. (2021). Do soil depth and plant community composition interact to modify the resistance and resilience of grassland ecosystem functioning to drought? Ecology and Evolution, 11(17), 11960–11973. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.7963
- Galliot J.N., Hulin S., Le Hénaff, P.M., Farruggia A., Seytre L., Perera S., Dupic G., Faure P., & Carrère P. (2020). Typologie multifonctionnelle des prairies du Massif central. Edition Sidam-AEOLE, 284 p.

- Gamon, J. A., Wang, R., Gholizadeh, H., Zutta, B., Townsend, P. A., & Cavender-Bares, J. (2020). Consideration of scale in remote sensing of biodiversity. In Remote Sensing of Plant Biodiversity. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-33157-3_16
- Gao, B. (1996). NDWI—A normalized difference water index for remote sensing of vegetation liquid water from space. Remote Sensing of Environment, 58(3), 257–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(96)00067-3
- Gao, J. (2006). Quantification of grassland properties: How it can benefit from geoinformatic technologies? International Journal of Remote Sensing, 27(7), 1351–1365. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160500474357
- Gao, J., Zhang, L., Tang, Z., & Wu, S. (2019). A synthesis of ecosystem aboveground productivity and its process variables under simulated drought stress. Journal of Ecology, 107(6), 2519–2531. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13218
- Garioud, A., Valero, S., Giordano, S., & Mallet, C. (2020). On the joint exploitation of optical and SAR satellite imagery for grassland monitoring. ISPRS - International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences. XLIII-B3-2020. 591-598. 10.5194/isprs-archives-XLIII-B3-2020-591-2020.
- Garnier, E., Cortez, J., Billès, G., Navas, M.-L., Roumet, C., Debussche, M., Laurent, G., Blanchard, A., Aubry, D., Bellmann, A., Neill, C., & Toussaint, J.-P. (2004). Plant functional markers capture ecosystem properties during secondary succession. Ecology, 85(9), 2630–2637. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-0799
- Gherardi, L. A., & Sala, O. E. (2015). Enhanced interannual precipitation variability increases plant functional diversity that in turn ameliorates negative impact on productivity. Ecology Letters, 18(12), 1293–1300. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12523
- Gilhaus, K., Freitag, M., Kunze, S., & Hölzel, N. (2017). High fodder value and feeding likelihood favour endozoochorous plant dispersal. Journal of Vegetation Science, 28(2), 357–367. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvs.12481
- Gitelson, A. A., Gritz, Y., & Merzlyak, M. N. (2003). Relationships between leaf chlorophyll content and spectral reflectance and algorithms for non-destructive chlorophyll assessment in higher plant leaves. Journal of Plant Physiology, 160(3), 271–282. https://doi.org/10.1078/0176-1617-00887
- Gitelson, A. A., Kaufman, Y. J., & Merzlyak, M. N. (1996). Use of a green channel in remote sensing of global vegetation from EOS-MODIS. Remote Sensing of Environment, 58(3), 289–298. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(96)00072-7
- Gitelson, A. A., Kaufman, Y. J., Stark, R., & Rundquist, D. (2002). Novel algorithms for remote estimation of vegetation fraction. Remote Sensing of Environment, 80(1), 76–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(01)00289-9
- Godde, C. M., Boone, R. B., Ash, A. J., Waha, K., Sloat, L. L., Thornton, P. K., & Herrero, M. (2020). Global rangeland production systems and livelihoods at threat under climate change and variability. Environmental Research Letters, 15(4), 044021. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab7395
- Goel, N. S., & Qin, W. (1994). Influences of canopy architecture on relationships between various vegetation indices and LAI and Fpar: A computer simulation. Remote Sensing Reviews, 10(4), 309–347. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757259409532252
- Gong, P., Wang, J., Yu, L., Zhao, Y., Zhao, Y., Liang, L., Niu, Z., Huang, X., Fu, H., Liu, S., Li, C., Li, X., Fu, W., Liu, C., Xu, Y., Wang, X., Cheng, Q., Hu, L., Yao, W., ... Chen, J. (2013). Finer resolution observation and monitoring of global land cover: First mapping results with Landsat TM and ETM+ data. International Journal of Remote Sensing, 34(7), 2607–2654. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2012.748992
- Gorelick, N., Hancher, M., Dixon, M., Ilyushchenko, S., Thau, D., & Moore, R. (2017). Google Earth Engine: Planetary-scale geospatial analysis for everyone. Remote Sensing of Environment, 202, 18–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2017.06.031
- Gorshkov, A., & Gaudemer, Y. (2019). Seismogenic nodes defined with pattern recognition in the French Massif Central. Journal of Iberian Geology, 45(1), 63–72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41513-018-0087-x

- Govender, M., Chetty, K., & Bulcock, H. (2007). A review of hyperspectral remote sensing and its application in vegetation and water resource studies. Water SA, 33(2). https://doi.org/10.4314/wsa.v33i2.49049
- Griffin-Nolan, R. J., Blumenthal, D. M., Collins, S. L., Farkas, T. E., Hoffman, A. M., Mueller, K. E., Ocheltree, T. W., Smith, M. D., Whitney, K. D., & Knapp, A. K. (2019). Shifts in plant functional composition following long-term drought in grasslands. Journal of Ecology, 107(5), 2133–2148. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13252
- Grimm, N. B., Chapin, F. S., Bierwagen, B., Gonzalez, P., Groffman, P. M., Luo, Y., Melton, F., Nadelhoffer, K., Pairis, A., Raymond, P. A., Schimel, J., & Williamson, C. E. (2013). The impacts of climate change on ecosystem structure and function. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 11(9), 474–482. https://doi.org/10.1890/120282
- Grimm, V., & Wissel, C. (1997). Babel, or the ecological stability discussions: An inventory and analysis of terminology and a guide for avoiding confusion. Oecologia, 109(3), 323–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420050090
- Gunderson, L. H. (2000). Ecological Resilience—In Theory and Application. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 3, 425–439.
- Haboudane, D. (2004). Hyperspectral vegetation indices and novel algorithms for predicting green LAI of crop canopies: Modeling and validation in the context of precision agriculture. Remote Sensing of Environment, 90(3), 337–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2003.12.013
- Hagolle, O., Huc, M., Desjardins, C., Auer, S., & Richter, R. (2017). MAJA Algorithm Theoretical Basis Document (Version vol. 1.0). Zenodo. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.1209633. (accessed 04 July 2022)
- Hagolle, O., Huc, M., Pascual, D. V., & Dedieu, G. (2010). A multi-temporal method for cloud detection, applied to FORMOSAT-2, VENµS, LANDSAT and SENTINEL-2 images. Remote Sensing of Environment, 114(8), 1747–1755. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2010.03.002
- Hall, K., Johansson, L. J., Sykes, M. T., Reitalu, T., Larsson, K., & Prentice, H. C. (2010). Inventorying management status and plant species richness in semi-natural grasslands using high spatial resolution imagery. Applied Vegetation Science, 13(2), 221–233. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-109X.2009.01063.x
- Hansen, J., Sato, M., & Ruedy, R. (2012). Perception of climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 109(37). https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1205276109
- Hansen, J., Sato, M., Ruedy, R., Lo, K., Lea, D. W., & Medina-Elizade, M. (2006). Global temperature change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 103(39), 14288–14293. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0606291103
- Hao, Z., & Singh, V. P. (2015). Drought characterization from a multivariate perspective: A review. Journal of Hydrology, 527, 668–678. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2015.05.031
- Hargreaves, G.H. (1975) Moisture Availability and Crop Production. Transactions of the ASAE, 18, 980-984. http://dx.doi.org/10.13031/2013.36722
- Harrison, S., Spasojevic, M. J., & Li, D. (2020). Climate and plant community diversity in space and time. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 117(9), 4464–4470. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1921724117
- Hayes, M. J., Svoboda, M. D., Wardlow, B. D., Anderson, M. C., & Kogan, F. (2012). Drought Monitoring: Historical and Current Perspectives. In: Remote Sensing of Drought: Innovative Monitoring Approaches
- He, L., Li, A., Yin, G., Nan, X., & Bian, J. (2019). Retrieval of Grassland Aboveground Biomass through Inversion of the PROSAIL Model with MODIS Imagery. Remote Sensing, 11(13), 1597. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11131597
- Hernandez, P., & Picon-Cochard, C. (2014). Effects of extreme drought on grasslands Evaluation of the buffering effect of plant diversity using an experimental approach. In : Baumont R. (ed.), Carrère P. (ed.), Jouven M. (ed.), Lombardi G. (ed.), López-Francos A. (ed.), Martin B. (ed.), Peeters A. (ed.), Porqueddu C. (ed.). Forage resources and ecosystem services provided by Mountain and Mediterranean grasslands and rangelands. Zaragoza : CIHEAM / INRA / FAO / VetAgro Sup Clermont-Ferrand /

Montpellier SupAgro, 2014. p. 489-493 (Options Méditerranéennes : Série A. Séminaires Méditerranéens; n. 109)

- Hill, M. J., Ticehurst, C. J., Jong-Sen Lee, Grunes, M. R., Donald, G. E., & Henry, D. (2005). Integration of optical and radar classifications for mapping pasture type in Western Australia. IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, 43(7), 1665–1681. https://doi.org/10.1109/TGRS.2005.846868
- Hohmann, M., Stahl, A., Rudloff, J., Wittkop, B., & Snowdon, R. J. (2016). Not a load of rubbish: Simulated field trials in large-scale containers: Large-container yield phenotyping. Plant, Cell & Environment, 39(9), 2064–2073. https://doi.org/10.1111/pce.12737
- Holling, C.S. (1973). Resilience and Stability of Ecological Systems. Annu. Rev. Ecol. Syst. 4, 1–23. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.es.04.110173.000245
- Holling, C.S. (1996) Engineering Resilience versus Ecological Resilience. In: Schulze, P.E., Ed., Engineering within Ecological Constraints, National Academy Press, Washington DC, 31-43.
- Hoover, D. L., & Rogers, B. M. (2016). Not all droughts are created equal: The impacts of interannual drought pattern and magnitude on grassland carbon cycling. Global Change Biology, 22(5), 1809–1820. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13161
- Hoover, D. L., Knapp, A. K., & Smith, M. D. (2014). Resistance and resilience of a grassland ecosystem to climate extremes. Ecology, 95(9), 2646–2656. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-2186.1
- Hoover, D. L., Wilcox, K. R., & Young, K. E. (2018). Experimental droughts with rainout shelters: A methodological review. Ecosphere, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.2088
- Hortal, J., de Bello, F., Diniz-Filho, J. A. F., Lewinsohn, T. M., Lobo, J. M., & Ladle, R. J. (2015). Seven Shortfalls that Beset Large-Scale Knowledge of Biodiversity. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 46(1), 523–549. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-112414-054400
- Hossain, M. L., & Li, J. (2021). NDVI-based vegetation dynamics and its resistance and resilience to different intensities of climatic events. Global Ecology and Conservation, 30, e01768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2021.e01768
- Houghton, J.T., Jenkins G.J. & Ephraums J.J. (eds). (1990). Climate Change: The IPCC Scientific Assessment. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK
- Huete, A. R. (1988). A soil-adjusted vegetation index (SAVI). Remote Sensing of Environment, 25(3), 295–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(88)90106-X
- Huete, A., Didan, K., Miura, T., Rodriguez, E. P., Gao, X., & Ferreira, L. G. (2002). Overview of the radiometric and biophysical performance of the MODIS vegetation indices. Remote Sensing of Environment, 83(1–2), 195–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(02)00096-2
- Hulin, S., Farruggia, A., Theau, J. P., Cayre, P., Chauvat, S., Pauthenet, Y., Arranz J., M., & Carrere, P. (2019b). ATOUS Vers une approche territoriale de l'autonomie fourragère et des services rendus par les systèmes fourragers à dominante herbagère en production fromagère AOP de Montagne. Innovations Agronomiques 71, 95-108. https://doi.org/10.15454/YNAXSB
- Hulin, S., Galliot, J.-N., Carrère, P., Henaff, P.-M. L., & Bonsacquet, E. (2019a). Les prairies naturelles du Massif central: L'expression d'un terroir au service de produits de qualité. Fourrages, 239, 223–229.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). (2022): Climate Change 2022: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [H.-O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, M. Tignor, E.S. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Craig, S. Langsdorf, S. Löschke, V. Möller, A. Okem, B. Rama (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK and New York, NY, USA, 3056 pp., doi:10.1017/9781009325844.
- Isbell, F., Craven, D., Connolly, J., Loreau, M., Schmid, B., Beierkuhnlein, C., Bezemer, T. M., Bonin, C., Bruelheide, H., de Luca, E., Ebeling, A., Griffin, J. N., Guo, Q., Hautier, Y., Hector, A., Jentsch, A., Kreyling, J., Lanta, V., Manning, P., ... Eisenhauer, N. (2015). Biodiversity increases the resistance of ecosystem productivity to climate extremes. Nature, 526(7574), 574–577. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15374

- Jacquemoud, S. (1993). Inversion of the PROSPECT + SAIL canopy reflectance model from AVIRIS equivalent spectra: Theoretical study. Remote Sensing of Environment, 44(2–3), 281–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(93)90022-P
- Jacquemoud, S. (2000). Comparison of Four Radiative Transfer Models to Simulate Plant Canopies Reflectance Direct and Inverse Mode. Remote Sensing of Environment, 74(3), 471–481. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(00)00139-5
- Jacquemoud, S., & Baret, F. (1990). PROSPECT: A model of leaf optical properties spectra. Remote Sensing of Environment, 34(2), 75–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(90)90100-Z
- Jacquemoud, S., Verhoef, W., Baret, F., Bacour, C., Zarco-Tejada, P. J., Asner, G. P., François, C., & Ustin, S. L. (2009). PROSPECT+SAIL models: A review of use for vegetation characterization. Remote Sensing of Environment, 113, S56–S66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2008.01.026
- Jacquemyn, H., Mechelen, C. V., Brys, R., & Honnay, O. (2011). Management effects on the vegetation and soil seed bank of calcareous grasslands: An 11-year experiment. Biological Conservation, 144(1), 416– 422. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2010.09.020
- Ji, L., & Peters, A. J. (2003). Assessing vegetation response to drought in the northern Great Plains using vegetation and drought indices. Remote Sensing of Environment, 87(1), 85–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(03)00174-3
- Jiang, X., & Wang, L. (2022). Grassland-based ruminant farming systems in China: Potential, challenges and a way forward. Animal Nutrition, 10, 243–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aninu.2022.04.007
- Jiang, Z., Huete, A., Didan, K., & Miura, T. (2008). Development of a two-band enhanced vegetation index without a blue band. Remote Sensing of Environment, 112(10), 3833–3845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2008.06.006
- Jiao, Q., Sun, Q., Zhang, B., Huang, W., Ye, H., Zhang, Z., Zhang, X., & Qian, B. (2021). A Random Forest Algorithm for Retrieving Canopy Chlorophyll Content of Wheat and Soybean Trained with PROSAIL Simulations Using Adjusted Average Leaf Angle. Remote Sensing, 14(1), 98. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14010098
- Joly, D., Brossard, T., Cardot, H., Cavailhes, J., Hilal, M., & Wavresky, P. (2010). Les types de climats en France, une construction spatiale. Cybergeo. https://doi.org/10.4000/cybergeo.23155
- Jones, M. B., & Donnelly, A. (2004). Carbon sequestration in temperate grassland ecosystems and the influence of management, climate and elevated CO 2. New Phytologist, 164(3), 423–439. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01201.x
- Jordan, C. F. (1969). Derivation of Leaf-Area Index from Quality of Light on the Forest Floor. Ecology, 50(4), 663–666. https://doi.org/10.2307/1936256
- Julve, P. (2016). Baseflor. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.3561.5601 (accessed 06 May 2021)
- Karlowsky, S., Augusti, A., Ingrisch, J., Akanda, M. K. U., Bahn, M., & Gleixner, G. (2018). Drought-Induced Accumulation of Root Exudates Supports Post-drought Recovery of Microbes in Mountain Grassland. Frontiers in Plant Science, 9, 1593. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2018.01593
- Karsten, H. D., & MacAdam, J. W. (2001). Effect of Drought on Growth, Carbohydrates, and Soil Water Use by Perennial Ryegrass, Tall Fescue, and White Clover. Crop Science, 41(1), 156–166. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2001.411156x
- Kaufman, Y. J., & Tanre, D. (1992). Atmospherically resistant vegetation index (ARVI) for EOS-MODIS. IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing, 30(2), 261–270. https://doi.org/10.1109/36.134076
- Kchouk, S., Melsen, L. A., Walker, D. W., & van Oel, P. R. (2021). A review of drought indices: Predominance of drivers over impacts and the importance of local context [Preprint]. Risk Assessment, Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies, Socioeconomic and Management Aspects. https://doi.org/10.5194/nhess-2021-152
- Keddy, P.A. (2007). Plants and Vegetation: Origins, Processes, Consequences. Plants and Vegetation: Origins, Processes, Consequences. 1-683. 10.1017/CBO9780511812989.

- Kéfi, S., Domínguez-García, V., Donohue, I., Fontaine, C., Thébault, E., & Dakos, V. (2019). Advancing our understanding of ecological stability. Ecology Letters, 22(9), 1349–1356. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13340
- Klaus, V. H., Friedritz, L., Hamer, U., & Kleinebecker, T. (2020). Drought boosts risk of nitrate leaching from grassland fertilisation. Science of The Total Environment, 726, 137877. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137877
- Klein Goldewijk, K., Van Drecht, G., & Bouwman, A. F. (2007). Mapping contemporary global cropland and grassland distributions on a 5 × 5 minute resolution. Journal of Land Use Science, 2(3), 167–190. https://doi.org/10.1080/17474230701622940
- Knapp, A. K., Carroll, C. J. W., Denton, E. M., La Pierre, K. J., Collins, S. L., & Smith, M. D. (2015). Differential sensitivity to regional-scale drought in six central US grasslands. Oecologia, 177(4), 949– 957. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-015-3233-6
- Knapp, A. K., Ciais, P., & Smith, M. D. (2017). Reconciling inconsistencies in precipitation–productivity relationships: Implications for climate change. New Phytologist, 214(1), 41–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14381
- Knapp, A. K., Hoover, D. L., Wilcox, K. R., Avolio, M. L., Koerner, S. E., La Pierre, K. J., Loik, M. E., Luo, Y., Sala, O. E., & Smith, M. D. (2015). Characterizing differences in precipitation regimes of extreme wet and dry years: Implications for climate change experiments. Global Change Biology, 21(7), 2624– 2633. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12888
- Knapp, A. K., Smith, M. D., Hobbie, S. E., Collins, S. L., Fahey, T. J., Hansen, G. J. A., Landis, D. A., La Pierre, K. J., Melillo, J. M., Seastedt, T. R., Shaver, G. R., & Webster, J. R. (2012). Past, Present, and Future Roles of Long-Term Experiments in the LTER Network. BioScience, 62(4), 377–389. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2012.62.4.9
- Knyazikhin, Y., Marshak, A., & Myneni, R. B. (2005). 3D Radiative Transfer in Vegetation Canopies and Cloud-Vegetation Interaction. In A. Marshak & A. Davis (Eds.), 3D Radiative Transfer in Cloudy Atmospheres (pp. 617–651). Springer-Verlag. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-28519-9_14
- Kolecka, N., Ginzler, C., Pazur, R., Price, B., & Verburg, P. (2018). Regional Scale Mapping of Grassland Mowing Frequency with Sentinel-2 Time Series. Remote Sensing, 10(8), 1221. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10081221
- Kramer, H. J., & Cracknell, A. P. (2008). An overview of small satellites in remote sensing. International Journal of Remote Sensing, 29(15), 4285–4337. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431160801914952
- Kreyling, J., Dengler, J., Walter, J., Velev, N., Ugurlu, E., Sopotlieva, D., Ransijn, J., Picon-Cochard, C., Nijs, I., Hernandez, P., Güler, B., von Gillhaussen, P., De Boeck, H. J., Bloor, J. M. G., Berwaers, S., Beierkuhnlein, C., Arfin Khan, M. A. S., Apostolova, I., Altan, Y., ... Jentsch, A. (2017). Species richness effects on grassland recovery from drought depend on community productivity in a multisite experiment. Ecology Letters, 20(11), 1405–1413. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12848
- Kröel-Dulay, G., Mojzes, A., Szitár, K., Bahn, M., Batáry, P., Beier, C., Bilton, M., De Boeck, H. J., Dukes, J. S., Estiarte, M., Holub, P., Jentsch, A., Schmidt, I. K., Kreyling, J., Reinsch, S., Larsen, K. S., Sternberg, M., Tielbörger, K., Tietema, A., ... Peñuelas, J. (2022). Field experiments underestimate aboveground biomass response to drought. Nature Ecology & Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-022-01685-3
- Kun, R., Babai, D., Csathó, A. I., Vadász, C., Kálmán, N., Máté, A., & Malatinszky, Á. (2021). Simplicity or complexity? Important aspects of high nature value grassland management in nature conservation. Biodiversity and Conservation, 30(12), 3563–3583. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-021-02262-z
- Laviron X. (2022). Search, download and manage remote-sensing data from Theia with R., https://github.com/norival/theiaR. (accessed 20 July 2021).
- Le Hénaff, P.-M., Galliot, J.-N., Le Gloanec, V., & Ragache, Q. (2021). Végétations agropastorales du Massif central—Catalogue phytosociologique. Conservatoire botanique national du Massif central, 531.
- Le Moigne P. (2002). Description de l'analyse des champs de surface sur la France par le système SAFRAN. Note de centre GMME, Météo-France
- Ledger, M. E., Brown, L. E., Edwards, F. K., Hudson, L. N., Milner, A. M., & Woodward, G. (2013). Extreme Climatic Events Alter Aquatic Food Webs. A Synthesis of Evidence from a Mesocosm

Drought Experiment. Advances in Ecological Research, 48. 343 - 395. ISSN 0065-2504. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-417199-2.00006.

- Lee, K., Murray, D., Hughes, D., & Joosen, W. (2010). Extending sensor networks into the Cloud using Amazon Web Services. 2010 IEEE International Conference on Networked Embedded Systems for Enterprise Applications, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1109/NESEA.2010.5678063
- Lee, S.-H., Yoo, S.-H., Choi, J.-Y., & Bae, S. (2017). Assessment of the Impact of Climate Change on Drought Characteristics in the Hwanghae Plain, North Korea Using Time Series SPI and SPEI: 1981– 2100. Water, 9(8), 579. https://doi.org/10.3390/w9080579
- Lei, T., Feng, J., Zheng, C., Li, S., Wang, Y., Wu, Z., Lu, J., Kan, G., Shao, C., Jia, J., & Cheng, H. (2020). Review of drought impacts on carbon cycling in grassland ecosystems. Frontiers of Earth Science, 14(2), 462–478. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11707-019-0778-4
- Lei, T., Pang, Z., Wang, X., Li, L., Fu, J., Kan, G., Zhang, X., Ding, L., Li, J., Huang, S., & Shao, C. (2016). Drought and Carbon Cycling of Grassland Ecosystems under Global Change: A Review. Water, 8(10), 460. https://doi.org/10.3390/w8100460
- Leng, G., Tang, Q., & Rayburg, S. (2015). Climate change impacts on meteorological, agricultural, and hydrological droughts in China. Global and Planetary Change, 126, 23–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloplacha.2015.01.003
- Leng, X., Liu, X., Gao, Y., Liu, Y., Yang, Q., Sun, G., Peng, Y., & Huang, Y. (2020). Drought assessment of southwestern China based on HadGEM2-ES model under representative concentration pathway 4.5 scenario. Nat Hazards 102, 307–334. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11069-020-03928-7
- Leuzinger, S., Fatichi, S., Cusens, J., Körner, C., & Niklaus, P. A. (2015). The 'island effect' in terrestrial global change experiments: A problem with no solution? AoB Plants, 7, plv092. https://doi.org/10.1093/aobpla/plv092
- Leuzinger, S., Luo, Y., Beier, C., Dieleman, W., Vicca, S., & Körner, C. (2011). Do global change experiments overestimate impacts on terrestrial ecosystems? Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 26(5), 236–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.02.011
- Li, Z., Xu, D., & Guo, X. (2014). Remote Sensing of Ecosystem Health: Opportunities, Challenges, and Future Perspectives. Sensors, 14(11), 21117–21139. https://doi.org/10.3390/s141121117
- Litao Wang, Y. Z. (2004). Monitoring for grassland and forest fire danger using remote sensing data. IEEE International IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, 2004. IGARSS '04. Proceedings. 2004, 3, 2095–2098. https://doi.org/10.1109/IGARSS.2004.1370770
- Lobert, F., Holtgrave, A.-K., Schwieder, M., Pause, M., Vogt, J., Gocht, A., & Erasmi, S. (2021). Mowing event detection in permanent grasslands: Systematic evaluation of input features from Sentinel-1, Sentinel-2, and Landsat 8 time series. Remote Sensing of Environment, 267, 112751. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2021.112751
- Loreau, M. (2010). Linking biodiversity and ecosystems: Towards a unifying ecological theory. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 365(1537), 49–60. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2009.0155
- Loreau, M., Barbier, M., Filotas, E., Gravel, D., Isbell, F., Miller, S. J., Montoya, J. M., Wang, S., Aussenac, R., Germain, R., Thompson, P. L., Gonzalez, A., & Dee, L. E. (2021). Biodiversity as insurance: From concept to measurement and application. Biological Reviews, 96(5), 2333–2354. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12756
- Loreau, M., Naeem, S., Inchausti, P., Bengtsson, J., Grime, J. P., Hector, A., Hooper, D. U., Huston, M. A., Raffaelli, D., Schmid, B., Tilman, D., & Wardle, D. A. (2001). Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning: Current Knowledge and Future Challenges. Science, 294(5543), 804–808. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1064088
- Loveland, T. R., Cochrane, M. A., & Henebry, G. M. (2008). Landsat still contributing to environmental research. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 23(4), 182–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2008.01.002
- Loydi, A., Zalba, S. M., & Distel, R. A. (2012). Viable seed banks under grazing and exclosure conditions in montane mesic grasslands of Argentina. Acta Oecologica, 43, 8–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actao.2012.05.002

- Lu, B. & He, Y. (2014). Analyzing a North American prairie wildfire using remote sensing imagery, in: 2014 IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium. Presented at the IGARSS 2014 - 2014 IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, IEEE, Quebec City, QC, pp. 832–835. https://doi.org/10.1109/IGARSS.2014.6946553
- Lütke Schwienhorst, J., Pyrlik, C., Tomberge, A., Fichtner, A., Walmsley, D., von Oheimb, G., & Härdtle, W. (2022). Competitive interactions shape plant responses to nitrogen fertilization and drought: Evidence from a microcosm experiment with Lilium bulbiferum L. and Secale cereale L. Plant Ecology, 223(4), 437–451. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-022-01220-1
- Lymburner, L., Beggs, P., & Jacobson, C. (2000). Estimation of Canopy-Average Surface-Specific Leaf Area Using Landsat TM Data. Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing, 66, 183–191.
- Manea, A., Sloane, D. R., & Leishman, M. R. (2016). Reductions in native grass biomass associated with drought facilitates the invasion of exotic grass into a model grassland system. Oecologia, 181(1), 175– 183. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-016-3553-1
- Marchi, M., Castellanos-Acuña, D., Hamann, A., Wang, T., Ray, D., & Menzel, A. (2020). ClimateEU, scalefree climate normals, historical time series, and future projections for Europe. Scientific Data, 7(1), 428. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-020-00763-0
- Matos, I. S., Menor, I. O., Rifai, S. W., & Rosado, B. H. P. (2020). Deciphering the stability of grassland productivity in response to rainfall manipulation experiments. Global Ecology and Biogeography, 29(3), 558–572. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.13039
- Mazalla, L., Diekmann, M., & Duprè, C. (2022). Microclimate shapes vegetation response to drought in calcareous grasslands. Applied Vegetation Science, 25(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12672
- McCann, K. S. (2000). The diversity–stability debate. Nature, 405(6783), 228–233. https://doi.org/10.1038/35012234
- McDaniel, K. C., & Haas, R. H. (1982). Assessing Mesquite-Grass Vegetation Condition from Landsat. Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing, 48(3), 441–450.
- McKee, T.B., Doesken, N.J., & Kleist, J. (1993). The Relationship of Drought Frequency and Duration to Time Scales. 8th Conference on Applied Climatology, Anaheim, 17-22 January 1993, 179-184.
- Mejía, E.C., & Wetzel, W. C. (2023). The ecological consequences of the timing of extreme climate events. Ecology and Evolution, 13(1). https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.9661
- Miller, J. E. D., Li, D., LaForgia, M., & Harrison, S. (2019). Functional diversity is a passenger but not driver of drought-related plant diversity losses in annual grasslands. Journal of Ecology, 107(5), 2033–2039. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13244
- Mishra, A. K., & Singh, V. P. (2010). A review of drought concepts. Journal of Hydrology, 391(1–2), 202–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhydrol.2010.07.012
- Mishra, A. K., Desai, V. R., & Singh, V. P. (2007). Drought Forecasting Using a Hybrid Stochastic and Neural Network Model. Journal of Hydrologic Engineering, 12(6), 626–638. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)1084-0699(2007)12:6(626)
- Mohammed, G. H., Colombo, R., Middleton, E. M., Rascher, U., van der Tol, C., Nedbal, L., Goulas, Y., Pérez-Priego, O., Damm, A., Meroni, M., Joiner, J., Cogliati, S., Verhoef, W., Malenovský, Z., Gastellu-Etchegorry, J.-P., Miller, J. R., Guanter, L., Moreno, J., Moya, I., ... Zarco-Tejada, P. J. (2019). Remote sensing of solar-induced chlorophyll fluorescence (SIF) in vegetation: 50 years of progress. Remote Sensing of Environment, 231, 111177. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.04.030
- Monteith, J.L. (1965). Evaporation and environment. Symp. Soc. Exp. Biol., 19: 205-234.
- Morais, T. G., Teixeira, R. F. M., Figueiredo, M., & Domingos, T. (2021). The use of machine learning methods to estimate aboveground biomass of grasslands: A review. Ecological Indicators, 130, 108081. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2021.108081
- Mouchet, M. A., Villéger, S., Mason, N. W. H., & Mouillot, D. (2010). Functional diversity measures: An overview of their redundancy and their ability to discriminate community assembly rules: Functional diversity measures. Functional Ecology, 24(4), 867–876. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2010.01695.x

- Mukherjee, S., Mishra, A., & Trenberth, K. E. (2018). Climate Change and Drought: A Perspective on Drought Indices. Current Climate Change Reports, 4(2), 145–163. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40641-018-0098-x
- Müller, J., Heinze, J., Joshi, J., Boch, S., Klaus, V. H., Fischer, M., & Prati, D. (2014). Influence of experimental soil disturbances on the diversity of plants in agricultural grasslands. Journal of Plant Ecology, 7(6), 509–517. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpe/rtt062
- Muluneh, M. G. (2021). Impact of climate change on biodiversity and food security: A global perspective—a review article. Agriculture & Food Security, 10(1), 36. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40066-021-00318-5
- Munjonji, L., Ayisi, K. K., Mudongo, E. I., Mafeo, T. P., Behn, K., Mokoka, M. V., & Linstädter, A. (2020). Disentangling Drought and Grazing Effects on Soil Carbon Stocks and CO2 Fluxes in a Semi-Arid African Savanna. Frontiers in Environmental Science, 8, 590665. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2020.590665
- Niboyet, A., Bardoux, G., Barot, S., & Bloor, J. M. G. (2017). Elevated CO2 mediates the short-term drought recovery of ecosystem function in low-diversity grassland systems. Plant and Soil, 420(1–2), 289–302. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-017-3377-8
- Niu, K., Choler, P., de Bello, F., Mirotchnick, N., Du, G., & Sun, S. (2014). Fertilization decreases species diversity but increases functional diversity: A three-year experiment in a Tibetan alpine meadow. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 182, 106–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.07.015
- O'Mara, F. P. (2012). The role of grasslands in food security and climate change. Annals of Botany, 110(6), 1263–1270. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcs209
- Odum, E. P. (1984). The Mesocosm. BioScience, 34(9), 558–562. https://doi.org/10.2307/1309598
- Ogbaga, C. C., Athar, H.-R., Amir, M., Bano, H., Chater, C. C. C., & Jellason, N. P. (2020). Clarity on frequently asked questions about drought measurements in plant physiology. Scientific African, 8, e00405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sciaf.2020.e00405
- Ojha, S. S., Singh, V., & Roshni, T. (2021). Comparison of Meteorological Drought using SPI and SPEI. Civil Engineering Journal, 7(12), 2130–2149. https://doi.org/10.28991/cej-2021-03091783
- Olthof, I., & King, D. J. (2000). Development of a Forest Health Index Using Multispectral Airborne Digital Camera Imagery. Canadian Journal of Remote Sensing, 26(3), 166–176. https://doi.org/10.1080/07038992.2000.10874767
- Padilla, F. M., Mommer, L., de Caluwe, H., Smit-Tiekstra, A. E., Visser, E. J. W., & de Kroon, H. (2019). Effects of extreme rainfall events are independent of plant species richness in an experimental grassland community. Oecologia, 191(1), 177–190. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-019-04476-z
- Palmer, W.C. (1965). Meteorological drought. Research Paper No. 45. Washington, DC: US Department of Commerce. Weather Bureau 59.
- Panagos, P., Van Liedekerke, M., Borrelli, P., Köninger, J., Ballabio, C., Orgiazzi, A., Lugato, E., Liakos, L., Hervas, J., Jones, A., & Montanarella, L. (2022). European Soil Data Centre 2.0: Soil data and knowledge in support of the EU policies. European Journal of Soil Science, 73(6). https://doi.org/10.1111/ejss.13315
- Parr, C. L., Lehmann, C. E. R., Bond, W. J., Hoffmann, W. A., & Andersen, A. N. (2014). Tropical grassy biomes: Misunderstood, neglected, and under threat. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 29(4), 205–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.02.004
- Pei, Z., Fang, S., Wang, L., & Yang, W. (2020). Comparative Analysis of Drought Indicated by the SPI and SPEI at Various Timescales in Inner Mongolia, China. Water, 12(7), 1925. https://doi.org/10.3390/w12071925
- Pellaton, R., Lellei-Kovács, E., & Báldi, A. (2022). Cultural ecosystem services in European grasslands: A systematic review of threats. Ambio, 51(12), 2462–2477. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-022-01755-7
- Penuelas, J., Garbulsky, M., & Filella, I. (2011). Photochemical reflectance index (PRI) and remote sensing of plant CO2 uptake. New Phytologist, 191, 596–599. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2011.03791.x
- Pescador, D. S., de Bello, F., López-Angulo, J., Valladares, F., & Escudero, A. (2021). Spatial Scale Dependence of Ecological Factors That Regulate Functional and Phylogenetic Assembly in a

Mediterranean High Mountain Grassland. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 9, 622148. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2021.622148

- Petermann, J. S., & Buzhdygan, O. Y. (2021). Grassland biodiversity. Current Biology, 31(19), R1195–R1201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2021.06.060
- Pielke, R. A. (2004). What is Climate Change? Energy & Environment, 15(3), 515–520. https://doi.org/10.1260/0958305041494576
- Pilgrim, E., Macleod, C.J.A., Blackwell, M., Bol, R., Hogan, D., Chadwick, D., Cardenas, L., Misselbrook, T., Haygarth, P., Brazier, R., Hobbs, P., Hodgson, C., Jarvis, S., Dungait, J., Murray, P., Firbank, L. 2010. Interactions Among Agricultural Production and Other Ecosystem Services Delivered from European Temperate Grassland Systems. Advances in Agronomy. 109. 117-154. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385040-9.00004-9.
- Pimm, S. L. (1984). The complexity and stability of ecosystems. Nature, 307(5949), 321–326. https://doi.org/10.1038/307321a0
- Pimm, S. L., Donohue, I., Montoya, J. M., & Loreau, M. (2019). Measuring resilience is essential to understand it. Nature Sustainability, 2(10), 895–897. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0399-7
- Pinty, B., & Verstraete, M. M. (1992). GEMI: A non-linear index to monitor global vegetation from satellites. Vegetatio, 101(1), 15–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00031911
- Piseddu, F., Martin, R., Movedi, E., Louault, F., Confalonieri, R., & Bellocchi, G. (2022). Simulation of Multi-Species Plant Communities in Perturbed and Nutrient-Limited Grasslands: Development of the Growth Model ModVege. Agronomy, 12(10), 2468. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy12102468
- Porporato, A., Laio, F., Ridol, L., & Rodriguez-Iturbe, I. (2001). Plants in water-controlled ecosystems: Active role in hydrologic processes and response to water stress III. Vegetation water stress. Advances in Water Resources. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0309-1708(01)00006-9
- Potočnik Buhvald, A., Račič, M., Immitzer, M., Oštir, K., & Veljanovski, T. (2022). Grassland Use Intensity Classification Using Intra-Annual Sentinel-1 and -2 Time Series and Environmental Variables. Remote Sensing, 14(14), 3387. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14143387
- Prache S. (2017). Exyst SALAMIX sheet . Brochure, produced as part of the Exyst mission (System and Science experiments at INRA) presented at the system experimentation seminar on May 30 and 31 in Poitiers. (accessed 4 April 2022)
- Prache, S., Vazeille, K., Chaya, W., Sepchat, B., Note, P., Sallé, G., Veysset, P., & Benoît, M. (2023). Combining beef cattle and sheep in an organic system. I. Co-benefits for promoting the production of grass-fed meat and strengthening self-sufficiency. Animal, 17(4), 100758. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.animal.2023.100758
- Pulungan, M. A., Suzuki, S., Gavina, M. K. A., Tubay, J. M., Ito, H., Nii, M., Ichinose, G., Okabe, T., Ishida, A., Shiyomi, M., Togashi, T., Yoshimura, J., & Morita, S. (2019). Grazing enhances species diversity in grassland communities. Scientific Reports, 9(1), 11201. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47635-1
- Qi, J., Marsett, R., Heilman, P., Bieden-bender, S., Moran, S., Goodrich, D., & Weltz, M. (2002). RANGES improves satellite-based information and land cover assessments in southwest United States. Eos, Transactions American Geophysical Union, 83(51), 601–612. https://doi.org/10.1029/2002EO000411
- Quantin, P. (2004). Volcanic soils of France. CATENA, 56(1–3), 95–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2003.10.019
- Rahmat, S. N., Jayasuriya, N., & Bhuiyan, M. (2015). Assessing droughts using meteorological drought indices in Victoria, Australia. Hydrology Research, 46(3), 463–476. https://doi.org/10.2166/nh.2014.105
- Ramoelo, A., Dzikiti, S., van Deventer, H., Maherry, A., Cho, M. A., & Gush, M. (2015). Potential to monitor plant stress using remote sensing tools. Journal of Arid Environments, 113, 134–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaridenv.2014.09.003
- Reiné, R., Chocarro, C., & Fillat, F. (2004). Soil seed bank and management regimes of semi-natural mountain meadow communities. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 104(3), 567–575. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2004.01.024

- Reinermann, S., Asam, S., & Kuenzer, C. (2020). Remote Sensing of Grassland Production and Management—A Review. Remote Sensing, 12(12), 1949. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12121949
- Ren, Y., Wen, Q., Xi, F., Ge, X., Yuan, Y., & Hu, B. (2023). Monitoring Grassland Growth Based on Consistency-Corrected Remote Sensing Image. Remote Sensing, 15(8), 2066. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs15082066
- Reyes, J. J., Tague, C. L., Evans, R. D., & Adam, J. C. (2017). Assessing the Impact of Parameter Uncertainty on Modeling Grass Biomass Using a Hybrid Carbon Allocation Strategy: A hybrid carbon allocation strategy. Journal of Advances in Modeling Earth Systems, 9(8), 2968–2992. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017MS001022
- Ribeiro, G. V. T., Teixido, A. L., Barbosa, N. P. U., & Silveira, F. A. O. (2016). Assessing bias and knowledge gaps on seed ecology research: Implications for conservation agenda and policy. Ecological Applications, 26(7), 2033–2043. https://doi.org/10.1890/15-1852.1
- Richardson, A. J., & Wiegand, C. (1977). Distinguishing Vegetation from Soil Background Information. Publication: Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing, 43(12), 1541–1552.
- Rigal, A., Azaïs, J.-M., & Ribes, A. (2019). Estimating daily climatological normals in a changing climate. Climate Dynamics, 53(1–2), 275–286. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-018-4584-6
- Rogers, B. M., Balch, J. K., Goetz, S. J., Lehmann, C. E. R., & Turetsky, M. (2020). Focus on changing fire regimes: Interactions with climate, ecosystems, and society. Environmental Research Letters, 15(3), 030201. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab6d3a
- Rondeaux, G., Steven, M., & Baret, F. (1996). Optimization of soil-adjusted vegetation indices. Remote Sensing of Environment, 55(2), 95–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(95)00186-7
- Rose, L., Coners, H., & Leuschner, C. (2012). Effects of fertilization and cutting frequency on the water balance of a temperate grassland. Ecohydrology, 5(1), 64–72. https://doi.org/10.1002/eco.201
- Rouse, J. J., Haas, R. H., Schell, J., & Deering, D. (1974). Monitoring vegetation systems in the Great Plains with ERTS. NASA. Goddard Space Flight Center 3d ERTS-1 Symp., 1, 309–317.
- Russo, S., Dosio, A., Graversen, R. G., Sillmann, J., Carrao, H., Dunbar, M. B., Singleton, A., Montagna, P., Barbola, P., & Vogt, J. V. (2014). Magnitude of extreme heat waves in present climate and their projection in a warming world. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres, 119(22), 12,500-12,512. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014JD022098
- Salehnia, N., Alizadeh, A., Sanaeinejad, H., Bannayan, M., Zarrin, A., & Hoogenboom, G. (2017). Estimation of meteorological drought indices based on AgMERRA precipitation data and station-observed precipitation data. Journal of Arid Land, 9(6), 797–809. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40333-017-0070-y
- Salehnia, N., Zare, H., Kolsoumi, S., & Bannayan, M. (2018). Predictive value of Keetch-Byram Drought Index for cereal yields in a semi-arid environment. Theoretical and Applied Climatology, 134(3–4), 1005–1014. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-017-2315-2
- Schils, R. L. M., Bufe, C., Rhymer, C. M., Francksen, R. M., Klaus, V. H., Abdalla, M., Milazzo, F., Lellei-Kovács, E., Berge, H. T., Bertora, C., Chodkiewicz, A., Dămătîrcă, C., Feigenwinter, I., Fernández-Rebollo, P., Ghiasi, S., Hejduk, S., Hiron, M., Janicka, M., Pellaton, R., ... Price, J. P. N. (2022).
 Permanent grasslands in Europe: Land use change and intensification decrease their multifunctionality. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 330, 107891. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2022.107891
- Schnabel, F., Liu, X., Kunz, M., Barry, K. E., Bongers, F. J., Bruelheide, H., Fichtner, A., Härdtle, W., Li, S., Pfaff, C.-T., Schmid, B., Schwarz, J. A., Tang, Z., Yang, B., Bauhus, J., von Oheimb, G., Ma, K., & Wirth, C. (2021). Species richness stabilizes productivity via asynchrony and drought-tolerance diversity in a large-scale tree biodiversity experiment. Science Advances, 7(51), eabk1643. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.abk1643
- Schumann, G. J.-P. (2020). Grand Challenges in Microwave Remote Sensing. Frontiers in Remote Sensing, 1, 603650. https://doi.org/10.3389/frsen.2020.603650
- Schwieder, M., Buddeberg, M., Kowalski, K., Pfoch, K., Bartsch, J., Bach, H., Pickert, J., & Hostert, P. (2020). Estimating Grassland Parameters from Sentinel-2: A Model Comparison Study. PFG – Journal of Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Geoinformation Science, 88(5), 379–390. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41064-020-00120-1

- Schwieder, M., Wesemeyer, M., Frantz, D., Pfoch, K., Erasmi, S., Pickert, J., Nendel, C., & Hostert, P. (2022). Mapping grassland mowing events across Germany based on combined Sentinel-2 and Landsat 8 time series. Remote Sensing of Environment, 269, 112795. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2021.112795
- Sepchat, B., Vazeille, K., Troquier, C., Prache, S., Note, P., & D'hour, P. (2020). Evaluation des performances de jeunes bovins croisés finis à l'herbe dans deux systèmes d'élevage de montagne conduits en agriculture biologique. Rencontres Recherches Ruminants, Dec 2020, Paris, France. ffhal-03203322ff
- Skakun, S., Vermote, E., Roger, J.-C., Franch, B., 1 Department of Geographical Sciences, University of Maryland, College Park, MD 20742, USA, & 2 NASA Goddard Space Flight Center Code 619, 8800 Greenbelt Road, Greenbelt, MD 20771, USA. (2017). Combined Use of Landsat-8 and Sentinel-2A Images for Winter Crop Mapping and Winter Wheat Yield Assessment at Regional Scale. AIMS Geosciences, 3(2), 163–186. https://doi.org/10.3934/geosci.2017.2.163
- Skakun, S., Wevers, J., Brockmann, C., Doxani, G., Aleksandrov, M., Batič, M., Frantz, D., Gascon, F.,
 Gómez-Chova, L., Hagolle, O., López-Puigdollers, D., Louis, J., Lubej, M., Mateo-García, G., Osman,
 J., Peressutti, D., Pflug, B., Puc, J., Richter, R., ... Žust, L. (2022). Cloud Mask Intercomparison
 eXercise (CMIX): An evaluation of cloud masking algorithms for Landsat 8 and Sentinel-2. Remote
 Sensing of Environment, 274, 112990. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2022.112990
- Slette, I. J., Post, A. K., Awad, M., Even, T., Punzalan, A., Williams, S., Smith, M. D., & Knapp, A. K. (2019). How ecologists define drought, and why we should do better. Global Change Biology, 25(10), 3193–3200. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14747
- Smith, M. D., La Pierre, K. J., Collins, S. L., Knapp, A. K., Gross, K. L., Barrett, J. E., Frey, S. D., Gough, L., Miller, R. J., Morris, J. T., Rustad, L. E., & Yarie, J. (2015). Global environmental change and the nature of aboveground net primary productivity responses: Insights from long-term experiments. Oecologia, 177(4), 935–947. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-015-3230-9
- Soubrand-Colin, M., Neel, C., Bril, H., Grosbois, C., & Caner, L. (2007). Geochemical behaviour of Ni, Cr, Cu, Zn and Pb in an Andosol–Cambisol climosequence on basaltic rocks in the French Massif Central. Geoderma, 137(3–4), 340–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2006.08.017
- Soubry, I., Doan, T., Chu, T., & Guo, X. (2021). A Systematic Review on the Integration of Remote Sensing and GIS to Forest and Grassland Ecosystem Health Attributes, Indicators, and Measures. Remote Sensing, 13(16), 3262. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13163262
- Soussana, J.-F., Barioni, L. G., Ari, T. B., Conant, R., Gerber, P., Havlik, P., Ickowicz, A., & Howden, M. (2013). Managing Grassland Systems in a Changing Climate: The Search for Practical Solutions.
- Sperry, J. S., & Love, D. M. (2015). What plant hydraulics can tell us about responses to climate-change droughts. New Phytologist, 207(1), 14–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.13354
- Stagge, J. H., Tallaksen, L. M., Gudmundsson, L., Van Loon, A. F., & Stahl, K. (2015). Candidate Distributions for Climatological Drought Indices (SPI and SPEI). International Journal of Climatology, 35(13), 4027–4040. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.4267
- Standish, R. J. (2014). Resilience in ecology: Abstraction, distraction, or where the action is? Biological Conservation, 9.
- Staniak, M., Bojarszczuk, J., Kraska, P., Kwiatkowski, C., & Harasim, E. (2020). Prolonged drought stress induced changes in yield and physiological processes of Trifolium repens and Festulolium braunii. Biologia Plantarum, 64, 701–709. https://doi.org/10.32615/bp.2020.114
- Sternberg, M., Gutman, M., Perevolotsky, A., & Kigel, J. (2003). Effects of grazing on soil seed bank dynamics: An approach with functional groups. Journal of Vegetation Science, 14(3), 375–386. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2003.tb02163.x
- Stewart, R. I. A., Dossena, M., Bohan, D. A., Jeppesen, E., Kordas, R. L., Ledger, M. E., Meerhoff, M., Moss, B., Mulder, C., Shurin, J. B., Suttle, B., Thompson, R., Trimmer, M., & Woodward, G. (2013).
 Mesocosm Experiments as a Tool for Ecological Climate-Change Research. In Advances in Ecological Research (Vol. 48, pp. 71–181). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-417199-2.00002-1
- Strömberg, C. A. E., & Staver, A. C. (2022). The history and challenge of grassy biomes. Science, 377(6606), 592–593. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.add1347

- Summy, K. R., Little, C. R., Mazariegos, R. A., Everitt, J. H., Davis, M. R., French, J. V., & Scott, A. W. (2003). Detecting Stress in Glasshouse Plants Using Color Infrared Imagery: A Potential New Application for Remote Sensing.
- Süle, G., Balogh, J., & Körmöczi, L. (2018). Connections between the microclimate pattern and the vegetation structure in forest-steppe habitat. EGUGA
- Suttie, J. M., Reynolds, S. G., Batello, C., & Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (Eds.). (2005). Grasslands of the world. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations.
- Tarrio, K., Tang, X., Masek, J. G., Claverie, M., Ju, J., Qiu, S., Zhu, Z., & Woodcock, C. E. (2020). Comparison of cloud detection algorithms for Sentinel-2 imagery. Science of Remote Sensing, 2, 100010. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.srs.2020.100010
- Tatem, A., Goetz, S., & Hay, S. (2008). Fifty Years of Earth-observation Satellites. American Scientist, 96(5), 390. https://doi.org/10.1511/2008.74.390
- Terentev, A., Dolzhenko, V., Fedotov, A., & Eremenko, D. (2022). Current State of Hyperspectral Remote Sensing for Early Plant Disease Detection: A Review. Sensors, 22(3), 757. https://doi.org/10.3390/s22030757
- Teuling, A. J., Seneviratne, S. I., Stöckli, R., Reichstein, M., Moors, E., Ciais, P., Luyssaert, S., van den Hurk, B., Ammann, C., Bernhofer, C., Dellwik, E., Gianelle, D., Gielen, B., Grünwald, T., Klumpp, K., Montagnani, L., Moureaux, C., Sottocornola, M., & Wohlfahrt, G. (2010). Contrasting response of European forest and grassland energy exchange to heatwaves. Nature Geoscience, 3(10), 722–727. https://doi.org/10.1038/ngeo950
- Thirel, G., Andréassian, V., Perrin, C., Audouy, J.-N., Berthet, L., Edwards, P., Folton, N., Furusho, C., Kuentz, A., Lerat, J., Lindström, G., Martin, E., Mathevet, T., Merz, R., Parajka, J., Ruelland, D., & Vaze, J. (2015). Hydrology under change: An evaluation protocol to investigate how hydrological models deal with changing catchments. Hydrological Sciences Journal, 60(7–8), 1184–1199. https://doi.org/10.1080/02626667.2014.967248
- Thornthwaite, C.W. (1948). An Approach toward a Rational Classification of Climate. Geographical Review, 38, 55-94.http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/210739
- Thornton, P. K., van de Steeg, J., Notenbaert, A., & Herrero, M. (2009). The impacts of climate change on livestock and livestock systems in developing countries: A review of what we know and what we need to know. Agricultural Systems, 101(3), 113–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agsy.2009.05.002
- Tilman, D., Isbell, F., & Cowles, J. M. (2014). Biodiversity and Ecosystem Functioning. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 45(1), 471–493. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-120213-091917
- Tollerud, H., Brown, J., Loveland, T., Mahmood, R., & Bliss, N. (2018). Drought and Land-Cover Conditions in the Great Plains. In Earth Interactions (Vol. 22, Issue 17, pp. 1–25). Amer Geophysical Union. https://doi.org/10.1175/EI-D-17-0025.1
- Turner, N. C. (2019). Imposing and maintaining soil water deficits in drought studies in pots. Plant and Soil, 439(1–2), 45–55. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-018-3893-1
- Turner, W., Spector, S., Gardiner, N., Fladeland, M., Sterling, E., & Steininger, M. (2003). Remote sensing for biodiversity science and conservation. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 18(6), 306–314. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(03)00070-3
- Upreti, D., Pignatti, S., Pascucci, S., Tolomio, M., Huang, W., & Casa, R. (2020). Bayesian Calibration of the Aquacrop-OS Model for Durum Wheat by Assimilation of Canopy Cover Retrieved from VENµS Satellite Data. Remote Sensing, 12(16), 2666. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12162666
- Ushey, K., Allaire, J., & Tang, Y. (2022). Reticulate: interface to 'Python'. https://rstudio.github.io/reticulate/, https://github.com/rstudio/reticulate. (accessed 10 June 2020).
- Ustin, S. L., & Gamon, J. A. (2010). Remote sensing of plant functional types. New Phytologist, 186(4), 795–816. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2010.03284.x
- Ustin, S. L., & Middleton, E. M. (2021). Current and near-term advances in Earth observation for ecological applications. Ecological Processes, 10(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13717-020-00255-4

- Van Der Putten, W. H. (2012). Climate Change, Aboveground-Belowground Interactions, and Species' Range Shifts. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics, 43(1), 365–383. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110411-160423
- Van Meerbeek, K., Jucker, T., & Svenning, J. (2021). Unifying the concepts of stability and resilience in ecology. Journal of Ecology, 1365-2745.13651. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13651
- van Oijen, M., Bellocchi, G., & Höglind, M. (2018). Effects of Climate Change on Grassland Biodiversity and Productivity: The Need for a Diversity of Models. Agronomy, 8(2), 14. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy8020014
- Vazeille, K., Veysset, P., Note, P., Sepchat, B. Salle, G., Dhour, P., Prache, S., 2018. Interdisciplinary design of low-input grass-fed livestock systems: the example of the SALAMIX system experiment. 24. Rencontres autour des Recherches sur les Ruminants (3R), Paris, France. hal-02734306
- Verhoef, W. (1984). Light scattering by leaf layers with application to canopy reflectance modeling: The SAIL model. Remote Sensing of Environment, 16(2), 125–141. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(84)90057-9
- Verrelst, J., Rivera, G. P., Leonenko, G., Alonso, L., & Moreno, J. (2012). Optimizing LUT-based radiative transfer model inversion for retrieval of biophysical parameters using hyperspectral data. 2012 IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, 7325–7328. https://doi.org/10.1109/IGARSS.2012.6351969
- Verrelst, J., Rivera, J. P., Veroustraete, F., Muñoz-Marí, J., Clevers, J. G. P. W., Camps-Valls, G., & Moreno, J. (2015). Experimental Sentinel-2 LAI estimation using parametric, non-parametric and physical retrieval methods – A comparison. ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing, 108, 260– 272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2015.04.013
- Veysset, P., Prache, S., Vazeille, K., & D'hour. P. (2016). Grassland production systems: combining animal species and crossbreeding to strengthen sustainability ?. 67. Annual meeting of the European Federation of Animal Science EAAP 2016, Belfast, Ireland. 5 p. hal-02739555
- Vicca, S., Gilgen, A. K., Camino Serrano, M., Dreesen, F. E., Dukes, J. S., Estiarte, M., Gray, S. B.,
 Guidolotti, G., Hoeppner, S. S., Leakey, A. D. B., Ogaya, R., Ort, D. R., Ostrogovic, M. Z., Rambal, S.,
 Sardans, J., Schmitt, M., Siebers, M., van der Linden, L., van Straaten, O., & Granier, A. (2012).
 Urgent need for a common metric to make precipitation manipulation experiments comparable. New
 Phytologist, 195(3), 518–522. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8137.2012.04224.x
- Vicente-Serrano, S. M., Beguería, S., & López-Moreno, J. I. (2010). A Multiscalar Drought Index Sensitive to Global Warming: The Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index. Journal of Climate, 23(7), 1696–1718. https://doi.org/10.1175/2009JCLI2909.1
- Villéger, S., Mason, N. W. H., & Mouillot, D. (2008). New multidimensional functional diversity indices for a multifaceted framework in functional ecology. Ecology, 89(8), 2290–2301. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1206.1
- Violle, C., Choler, P., Borgy, B., Garnier, E., Amiaud, B., Debarros, G., Diquelou, S., Gachet, S., Jolivet, C., Kattge, J., Lavorel, S., Lemauviel-Lavenant, S., Loranger, J., Mikolajczak, A., Munoz, F., Olivier, J., & Viovy, N. (2015). Vegetation ecology meets ecosystem science: Permanent grasslands as a functional biogeography case study. Science of The Total Environment, 534, 43–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.03.141
- Violle, C., Navas, M.-L., Vile, D., Kazakou, E., Fortunel, C., Hummel, I., & Garnier, E. (2007). Let the concept of trait be functional! Oikos, 116(5), 882–892. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2007.15559.x
- Vogel, A., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., & Weigelt, A. (2012). Grassland Resistance and Resilience after Drought Depends on Management Intensity and Species Richness. PLoS ONE, 7(5), e36992. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036992
- Volaire, F. (1994). Effects of summer drought and spring defoliation on carbohydrate reserves, persistence and recovery of two populations of cocksfoot (Dactylis glomerata) in a Mediterranean environment. The Journal of Agricultural Science, 122(2), 207–215. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859600087384

- Volaire, F. (1995). Growth, Carbohydrate Reserves and Drought Survival Strategies of Contrasting Dactylis glomerata Populations in a Mediterranean Environment. The Journal of Applied Ecology, 32(1), 56. https://doi.org/10.2307/2404415
- Volaire, F. (2008). Plant traits and functional types to characterise drought survival of pluri-specific perennial herbaceous swards in Mediterranean areas. European Journal of Agronomy, 29(2–3), 116–124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eja.2008.04.008
- Volaire, F. (2018). A unified framework of plant adaptive strategies to drought: Crossing scales and disciplines. Global Change Biology, 24(7), 2929–2938. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14062
- Volaire, F., Morvan-Bertrand, A., Prud'homme, M.-P., Benot, M.-L., Augusti, A., Zwicke, M., Roy, J., Landais, D., & Picon-Cochard, C. (2020). The resilience of perennial grasses under two climate scenarios is correlated with carbohydrate metabolism in meristems. Journal of Experimental Botany, 71(1), 370–385. https://doi.org/10.1093/jxb/erz424
- Volaire, F., Norton, M. R., & Lelièvre, F. (2009). Summer Drought Survival Strategies and Sustainability of Perennial Temperate Forage Grasses in Mediterranean Areas. Crop Science, 49(6), 2386–2392. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci2009.06.0317
- Volaire, F., Seddaiu, G., Ledda, L., & Lelievre, F. (2009). Water deficit and induction of summer dormancy in perennial Mediterranean grasses. Annals of Botany, 103(8), 1337–1346. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcp080
- Vreugdenhil, M., Greimeister-Pfeil, I., Preimesberger, W., Camici, S., Dorigo, W., Enenkel, M., van der Schalie, R., Steele-Dunne, S., & Wagner, W. (2022). Microwave remote sensing for agricultural drought monitoring: Recent developments and challenges. Frontiers in Water, 4, 1045451. https://doi.org/10.3389/frwa.2022.1045451
- Walker, B., Holling, C. S., Carpenter, S. R., & Kinzig, A. P. (2004). Resilience, Adaptability and Transformability in Social-ecological Systems. Ecology and Society, 9(2), art5. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-00650-090205
- Wang, L., & Qu, J. J. (2007). NMDI: A normalized multi-band drought index for monitoring soil and vegetation moisture with satellite remote sensing. Geophysical Research Letters, 34(20), L20405. https://doi.org/10.1029/2007GL031021
- Wang, Q., Shi, P., Lei, T., Geng, G., Liu, J., Mo, X., Li, X., Zhou, H., & Wu, J. (2015). The alleviating trend of drought in the Huang-Huai-Hai Plain of China based on the daily SPEI: The Alleviating Trend of Drought in the Huang-Huai-Hai Plain of China. International Journal of Climatology, 35(13), 3760– 3769. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.4244
- Wang, Z., Ma, Y., Zhang, Y., & Shang, J. (2022). Review of Remote Sensing Applications in Grassland Monitoring. Remote Sensing, 14(12), 2903. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14122903
- Wei, W., Zhang, J., Zhou, L., Xie, B., Zhou, J., & Li, C. (2021). Comparative evaluation of drought indices for monitoring drought based on remote sensing data. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 28(16), 20408–20425. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-12120-0
- Weiss, M., Baret, F., Myneni, R. B., Pragnère, A., & Knyazikhin, Y. (2000). Investigation of a model inversion technique to estimate canopy biophysical variables from spectral and directional reflectance data. Agronomie, 20(1), 3–22. https://doi.org/10.1051/agro:2000105
- Weiss, M., Jacob, F., & Duveiller, G. (2020). Remote sensing for agricultural applications: A meta-review. Remote Sensing of Environment, 236, 111402. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.111402
- Weisser, W. W., Roscher, C., Meyer, S. T., Ebeling, A., Luo, G., Allan, E., Beßler, H., Barnard, R. L., Buchmann, N., Buscot, F., Engels, C., Fischer, C., Fischer, M., Gessler, A., Gleixner, G., Halle, S., Hildebrandt, A., Hillebrand, H., de Kroon, H., ... Eisenhauer, N. (2017). Biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning in a 15-year grassland experiment: Patterns, mechanisms, and open questions. Basic and Applied Ecology, 23, 1–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2017.06.002
- Wilson, J. B., Peet, R. K., Dengler, J., & Pärtel, M. (2012). Plant species richness: The world records. Journal of Vegetation Science, 23(4), 796–802. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1654-1103.2012.01400.x
- World Meteorological Organization (WMO) and Global Water Partnership (GWP). (2016). Handbook of Drought Indicators and Indices (M. Svoboda and B.A. Fuchs). Integrated Drought Management Programme (IDMP), Integrated Drought Management Tools and Guidelines Series 2. Geneva.

- Wu, W. (2014). The Generalized Difference Vegetation Index (GDVI) for Dryland Characterization. Remote Sensing, 6, 1211–1233. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs6021211
- Wulder, M. A., Roy, D. P., Radeloff, V. C., Loveland, T. R., Anderson, M. C., Johnson, D. M., Healey, S., Zhu, Z., Scambos, T. A., Pahlevan, N., Hansen, M., Gorelick, N., Crawford, C. J., Masek, J. G., Hermosilla, T., White, J. C., Belward, A. S., Schaaf, C., Woodcock, C. E., ... Cook, B. D. (2022). Fifty years of Landsat science and impacts. Remote Sensing of Environment, 280, 113195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2022.113195
- Xiao, X., Hollinger, D., Aber, J., Goltz, M., Davidson, E. A., Zhang, Q., & Moore, B. (2004). Satellite-based modeling of gross primary production in an evergreen needleleaf forest. Remote Sensing of Environment, 89(4), 519–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2003.11.008
- Xiong, X., Chang, L., Khalid, M., Zhang, J., & Huang, D. (2018). Alleviation of Drought Stress by Nitrogen Application in Brassica campestris ssp. Chinensis L. Agronomy, 8(5), 66. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy8050066
- Xu, D., & Guo, X. (2015). Some Insights on Grassland Health Assessment Based on Remote Sensing. Sensors, 15(2), 3070–3089. https://doi.org/10.3390/s150203070
- Xu, Y., Dong, K., Jiang, M., Liu, Y., He, L., Wang, J., Zhao, N., & Gao, Y. (2022). Soil moisture and species richness interactively affect multiple ecosystem functions in a microcosm experiment of simulated shrub encroached grasslands. Science of The Total Environment, 803, 149950. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.149950
- Yachi, S., & Loreau, M. (1999). Biodiversity and ecosystem productivity in a fluctuating environment: The insurance hypothesis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 96(4), 1463–1468. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.96.4.1463
- Yang, Y., Chen, R., Han, C., & Liu, Z. (2021). Evaluation of 18 models for calculating potential evapotranspiration in different climatic zones of China. Agricultural Water Management, 244, 106545. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agwat.2020.106545
- Yihdego, Y., Vaheddoost, B., & Al-Weshah, R. A. (2019). Drought indices and indicators revisited. Arabian Journal of Geosciences, 12(3), 69. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12517-019-4237-z
- Yin, C., He, B., Quan, X., & Liao, Z. (2016). Chlorophyll content estimation in arid grasslands from Landsat-8 OLI data. International Journal of Remote Sensing, 37(3), 615–632. https://doi.org/10.1080/01431161.2015.1131867
- Yuan, Z., Jiao, F., Shi, X., Sardans, J., Maestre, F. T., Delgado-Baquerizo, M., Reich, P. B., & Peñuelas, J. (2017). Experimental and observational studies find contrasting responses of soil nutrients to climate change. ELife, 6, e23255. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.23255
- Yvon-Durocher, G., Jones, J. I., Trimmer, M., Woodward, G., & Montoya, J. M. (2010). Warming alters the metabolic balance of ecosystems. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences, 365(1549), 2117–2126. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0038
- Zargar, A., Sadiq, R., Naser, B., & Khan, F. I. (2011). A review of drought indices. Environmental Reviews, 19(NA), 333–349. https://doi.org/10.1139/a11-013
- Zha, Y., Gao, J., Ni, S., Liu, Y., Jiang, J., & Wei, Y. (2003). A spectral reflectance-based approach to quantification of grassland cover from Landsat TM imagery. Remote Sensing of Environment, 87(2–3), 371–375. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2003.05.001
- Zhang, J., Hao, X., Hao, H., Fan, X., & Li, Y. (2021). Climate Change Decreased Net Ecosystem Productivity in the Arid Region of Central Asia. In REMOTE SENSING (Vol. 13, Issue 21). MDPI. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13214449
- Zhang, J., Huang, Y., Pu, R., Gonzalez-Moreno, P., Yuan, L., Wu, K., & Huang, W. (2019). Monitoring plant diseases and pests through remote sensing technology: A review. Computers and Electronics in Agriculture, 165, 104943. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compag.2019.104943
- Zhang, R., Zhao, X., Zuo, X., Degen, A. A., Li, Y., Liu, X., Luo, Y., Qu, H., Lian, J., & Wang, R. (2020). Drought-induced shift from a carbon sink to a carbon source in the grasslands of Inner Mongolia, China. CATENA, 195, 104845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2020.104845

- Zhao, Z., Cai, Y., Fu, M., & Bai, Z. (2008). Response of the soils of different land use types to drought: Ecophysiological characteristics of plants grown on the soils by pot experiment. Ecological Engineering, 34(3), 215–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2008.08.003
- Zhu, Z., Wulder, M. A., Roy, D. P., Woodcock, C. E., Hansen, M. C., Radeloff, V. C., Healey, S. P., Schaaf, C., Hostert, P., Strobl, P., Pekel, J.-F., Lymburner, L., Pahlevan, N., & Scambos, T. A. (2019). Benefits of the free and open Landsat data policy. Remote Sensing of Environment, 224, 382–385. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2019.02.016
- Zisenis, M., Richard, D., Va, D., Hönigová, I., Oušková, V., Hošek, M., Chobot, K., Götzl, M., & Sonderegger, G. (2011). Survey on grassland ecosystem services in the Czech Republic and literature review. ETC/BD Rep. EEA 2011, 4, 22–26.
- Zwicke, M., Alessio, G. A., Thiery, L., & Falcimagne, R. (2013). Lasting effects of climate disturbance on perennial grassland aboveground biomass production under two cutting frequencies. Global Change Biology, 19, 3435–3448. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12317
- Zwicke, M., Picon-Cochard, C., Morvan-Bertrand, A., Prud'homme, M.-P., & Volaire, F. (2015). What functional strategies drive drought survival and recovery of perennial species from upland grassland? Annals of Botany, 116(6), 1001–1015. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcv037

SCIENTIFIC PRODUCTIONS

1. Publication/s

- Luna, D. A., Pottier, J., & Picon-Cochard, C. (2023). Variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought at different timescales using satellite image time series. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology, 331, 109325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2023.109325
- Allart L., Dumont B., Joly F., Mosnier C., Carrère P., Galliot JN, Luna D., Pottier J., Alvarez G., Gross N. (n.d.). Species Richness: A Pivot in the impact of climate and fertilisation on Massif Central grassland multifunctionality. [Submitted to Journal of Applied Ecology]
- 2. Scientific communications
- Luna D., Pottier J. and Picon-Cochard C. (2022, June 26-30). Assessment of grassland sensitivity to drought in the Massif Central region using remote sensing [Paper presentation]. European Grassland Federation 2022 / 29th General Meeting, Caen, France.
- Luna D., Pottier J. and Picon-Cochard C. (2022, May 18). Variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought using satellite reflectance indices [Poster presentation]. 25th Edition of Journées Scientifiques de l'Ecole Doctorale Sciences de la Vie, Santé, Agronomie, Environnement. Clermont-Ferrand, France.
- Luna D., Pottier J. and Picon-Cochard C. (2020, September 17). Variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought using satellite reflectance indices [Poster presentation]. Journée des Doctorants de l'Unité Mixte de Recherche sur les Herbivores. Theix, France.

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325



Variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought at different timescales using satellite image time series

Donald A. Luna, Julien Pottier^{*}, Catherine Picon-Cochard

Université Clermont Auvergne, INRAE, VetAgro Sup, UREP, 63000 Clermont-Ferrand, France

ARTICLE INFO	A B S T R A C T
Keywords: Meteorological drought Remote sensing Time scales Grassland response NDWI GVMI	Drought is expected to increase in frequency and severity with climate change, leading to more intense impacts on grasslands and their associated ecosystem services. Complementary to ground experiments, remote sensing technologies allow for the study of drought impacts with large spatio-temporal coverage in real-life-conditions. We aimed to quantify the variability of grassland sensitivity to drought using a long-term satellite image time series of 394 temperate permanent grassland plots to identify factors influencing these sensitivities. Accordingly, we assessed the slope of the linear relationship between satellite-based vegetation status, using the standardized anomalies of the vegetation indices (VIs), and drought severity, using a modified version of the Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI), from 1985 to 2019. The process was repeated for 24 VIs and five SPEI timescales. We then conducted a linear model selection procedure, using the grassland sensitivity derived from the most responsive VIs (i.e., VIs for which anomalies indicated a tighter linear relationship with the modified SPEI), to identify which grassland properties influenced sensitivity to drought. A total of 29 properties, grouped into pedoclimate, agricultural management, and vegetation diversity factors, were derived from ground measurements. Overall, we demonstrated that the influence of predictors on grassland sensitivity to drought varied across the drought integration timescales. Our results highlighted the significant mitigating effect of soil water holding capacity on sensitivity to drought for short timescales of fewer than 30 days. The date of first herbage use by farmers was positively related to grassland sensitivity to drought thever, for the long timescales of drought integration, such influence was mainly redundant with management (i.e., shared partition of variance) suggesting complex cascading effects between agricultural practices and plant community structure that still need to be addressed comprehensive

1. Introduction

Meteorological droughts – in other words, deficits in the climatic water balance – of varying severity, frequency, and duration affect several components of agroecosystems, with serious consequences for agricultural production and environmental health (Howden et al., 2007). Similar to other agroecosystems, managed grasslands are influenced by drought impacts. The increasing frequency and severity of drought threaten the multiple ecosystem services – provision, regulation, and cultural – provided by grasslands and their associated

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: julien.pottier@inrae.fr (J. Pottier).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2023.109325 Received 17 June 2022; Received in revised form 11 January 2023; Accepted 16 January 2023 Available online 23 January 2023 0168-1923/© 2023 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Abbreviations: ARVI, atmospherically resistant vegetation index; C:N, carbon to nitrogen ratio; CWM, community weighted mean; DIVGRASS, plant functional DIVersity of GRASSlands; DVI, difference vegetation index; EVI, enhanced vegetation index; EVI2, enhanced vegetation index; SVI3, enhanced vegetation index; SVI2, enhanced vegetation index; GAU, global environment monitoring index; GNDVI, green normalized difference vegetation index; GVI1, global vegetation moisture index; ISV1, infrared percentage vegetation index; K₂0, potassium oxide; MSQ, magnesium oxide; MSR, modified simple ratio; MTV12, modified triangular vegetation index; NDVI, normalized difference vegetation index; NDVI, normalized difference vater index; NIR, near infrared; NLI, non-linear index; NMDI, normalized multi-band drought index; NRI, nitrogen reflectance index; OSAVI, optimized soil-adjusted vegetation index; SIPI, structure insensitive pigment index; SLA, specific leaf area; SLAVI, specific leaf area; vegetation index; SOVI, soil organic carbon; SON, soil organic ritrogen; SPEI, standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index; SVAI, siple ratio vegetation index; SVH, soil water holding capacity; SVIR, shortwave infrared; TVI, transformational vegetation index; TWI, terrain wetness index; VARI, visible atmospherically resistant index; VI, vegetation index.

biodiversity (Bengtsson et al., 2019; Chang et al., 2021; Hofer et al., 2016; Zwicke et al., 2013). Grasslands contribute significantly to milk and meat production (O'Mara, 2012) and provide an estimated one billion jobs around the world (Buisson et al., 2022). In addition to provisioning services, grasslands securely store an estimated 30.6% of terrestrial carbon below ground in the roots and soil (Bai and Cotrufo, 2022; Lei et al., 2016) and host a large number of species, some of which are endangered (Dengler et al., 2014). Unfortunately, extreme drought events are well recognized to be detrimental to grassland biodiversity and ecosystem function (Newbold et al., 2016; Strömberg and Staver, 2022). One of the most evident consequences is the reduction of net ecosystem productivity, which reduces agricultural production but also converts grasslands from sinks to sources of carbon (Ciais et al., 2005; Lei et al., 2016; Nawy et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2020).

Knowledge of grassland sensitivity to drought and its determinants has emerged from field experiments and, more recently, from Earth surface observations. Field observations and semi-controlled experiments have provided, thus far, the most comprehensive insights regarding grassland properties that either promote or suppress vegetation sensitivity to drought. The most obvious properties, or drivers, are related to pedoclimatic conditions. Higher sensitivity to drought has been found in grasslands that are topographically exposed to solar radiation (Yang et al., 2020), situated at low elevations (Catorci et al., 2021; Gharun et al., 2020), and found on soils with low water retention capacity (Buttler et al., 2019). Additionally, grassland management practices, which refer to the modalities of fertilizer application and herbage usage by mowing and/or grazing, have been tested partially and sometimes have revealed mixed effects. High fertilizer addition can either increase sensitivity to drought (Bharath et al., 2020; Klaus et al., 2016; Rose et al., 2012) or have no effect (Vogel et al., 2012; Weisser et al., 2017). More frequent mowing events have been related to stronger negative effects of drought (Vogel et al., 2012; Weisser et al., 2017; Zwicke et al., 2013), and grazing has been associated with greater sensitivity to drought than mowing (Deléglise et al., 2015). Finally, experimental studies have further highlighted the mixed influences of grassland diversity. Higher taxonomic or functional diversity has often been associated with lower sensitivity to drought (Grange et al., 2021; Griffin-Nolan et al., 2019; Isbell et al., 2015; Kreyling et al., 2017), but some studies have indicated an opposite effect of species richness (Vogel et al., 2012; Weisser et al., 2017) or the absence of effect (de Boeck et al., 2018). According to these findings from drought experiments conducted in managed grasslands, the properties influencing vegetation sensitivity to water deficit can be categorized into pedoclimatic, management, and biodiversity drivers.

Despite their incontestable scientific value, the results provided by semi-controlled experiments conducted at the field level reveal some limitations. These experiments are, in essence, restricted in their design (e.g., limited combinations of rainfall regimes, levels of diversity, type of soils, etc.) and geographic coverage. These limitations hinder the analysis of complex combinations of potential drivers that prevail in real-life conditions (Fraser et al., 2013; Matos et al., 2020) and prevent the generalization of the results to all biogeographic contexts on Earth. In addition, those experiments usually report limited temporal coverage of grassland responses to drought over one or few successive growing seasons (Hoover and Rogers, 2016). Although coordinated and long-term observations and experiments (Fraser et al., 2013; Knapp et al., 2017a, 2017b; Lemoine et al., 2016) push those limitations, spatially and temporally wider analyses of existent grasslands are needed.

The rapid development of Earth observation techniques tremendously increases both spatial and temporal coverage of agroecosystem monitoring (Ali et al., 2016; Anderson, 2018; Arun Kumar et al., 2021; Reinermann et al., 2020). Therefore, recent studies have assessed the response of natural ecosystems and agricultural lands to drought severity using satellite images at a wide range of spatial scales (Jiao et al., 2019; Maurer et al., 2020; Vicente-Serrano, 2007; Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

Vicente-Serrano et al., 2013). Such assessment is based either on the quantification of the relationship between the local satellite reflectance and climatic variables (Cabello et al., 2012; Graw et al., 2017; Nanzad et al., 2019), or it is based on the satellite product anomalies and the measured standardized drought indices (e.g., Li et al. 2015, 2022, Ye et al. 2020). Consequently, these relationships depict the sensitivity of vegetated surfaces to drought events (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2013). Afterward, remotely sensed sensitivity can be related to geographic variations of a set of environmental parameters, considered to be the hypothetical drivers of vegetation response to drought.

Remote sensing (RS) analyses of drought effects on vegetated surfaces are based on various methodological choices. Regarding drought estimates, studies frequently used the Standardized Precipitation Index (SPI), Standardized Precipitation Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI), and Palmer Drought Severity Index (PDSI). From here, the standardized precipitation indices can be used to determine drought severity at different timescales (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010; Nanzad et al., 2019), but seldom considered in studies (Almeida-Ñauñay et al., 2022; An et al., 2020: Dong et al., 2019: Zhao et al., 2018). Research that considered multiple drought timescales has identified grassland and cultivated vegetation response to drought to be best correlated at a timescale of one to three months (e.g., Almeida-Ñauñay et al. 2022, An et al. 2020, Zhao et al. 2018). However, these studies used monthly meteorological data. Finer climate data resolution, such as weekly or daily, is needed to reveal more accurate impacts of meteorological variations on vegetation property changes (Salehnia et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2015). Regarding RS-based vegetation condition estimates, studies generally used Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) or the Enhanced Vegetation Index (EVI), or their derivatives, such as the Vegetation Condition Index (VCI), and the Vegetation Health Index (VHI; Graw et al., 2017; Kogan et al., 2004; Picoli et al., 2019; Vicente-Serrano, 2007). Aside from these greenness-based satellite proxies, indices related to the hydric status of vegetation, such as the Normalized Difference Water Index (NDWI) or Land Surface Water Index (LSWI), have emerged in other studies (Baigain et al., 2015; Picoli et al., 2019). However, vegetation indices (VI), such as the NDVI, are used to represent multiple vegetation properties and do not always perform well in the assessment of drought when implemented in other ecoregions (Bajgain et al., 2015; Ebrahimi et al., 2010; Maurer et al., 2020). These discrepancies in methodological choices between studies limit the generalization of the published results and their comparison.

Thus far, the RS studies have attempted to identify the drivers of vegetation sensitivity to drought through a focus on specific categories of drivers, namely, the abiotic environment, land management, and vegetation properties, usually in isolation. Some of these categories have been understudied in grasslands. The investigated drivers are in topographic factors for forests and shrublands (Cartwright et al., 2020), and soil properties, such as the soil water holding capacity for different land covers (Ji and Peters 2003; Thoma et al., 2019). Some studies further considered the influence of land use (Burrell et al., 2020; Munson et al., 2016; Tollerud et al., 2020) and, in the case of grasslands, the type of agricultural management (Burrell et al., 2020; Catorci et al., 2021; Graw et al., 2017; Wagle et al., 2019). A final group of studies has highlighted the importance of vegetation cover (De Keersmaecker et al., 2015) and vegetation diversity (De Keersmaecker et al., 2016; van Rooijen et al., 2015) through the lens of taxonomic diversity rather than functional diversity. These studies have contributed to a better understanding of why some types of vegetation are more sensitive to drought than others, although the influence of abiotic factors in grassland deserves more attention. However, an important gap of knowledge remains in the assessment of the relative influences of these different drivers - classified as pedoclimatic, agricultural management, and biodiversity factors at the same time.

In this study, we pursued two main objectives. First, we aimed to quantify the sensitivity of managed grassland to drought at various timescales using satellite-based VI anomalies that were best related to

irregularities of climatic water balance (i.e., SPEI). This was conducted over a 34-year period for a vast geographic region predominantly covered by typical Western European grasslands managed for cattle and sheep breeding. Second, we aimed to assess the relative influence of pedoclimate, agricultural management practices, and vegetation diversity factors on grassland sensitivity to drought. To do so, RS-based assessments of sensitivity to drought were analysed against 29 grassland descriptors measured at the ground level for the 394 vegetation plots of the study area.

2. Material and methods

2.1. Study area

The Massif central is a mountainous region ranging from 300 to 1885 metres above sea level in France. It exhibits four climatic zones: mountainous and semi-continental in the major center areas, with influences of oceanic climate in both the northern and western parts, and of Mediterranean climate near the southeastern part (Joly et al., 2010). The mean annual cumulative precipitation, between 1985 and 2019, was 1067 millimetres (mm) with a standard deviation of 348 mm, while the mean annual temperature was 9.3 °C with a standard deviation of 1.96 °C. The 85,000 square kilometres (km²) region is covered mostly by managed perennial grasslands representing 60% of agricultural areas, which comprise one-third of the French permanent grasslands.

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

Our analyses included a total of 143 grassland parcels. These parcels were homogenous areas of management with heterogeneous vegetation, topography, and soil characteristics. An average of three vegetation plots were distributed within each grassland parcel (minimum of one and maximum of 10 plots). The subsequent analyses, therefore, were based on the 394 vegetation plots distributed among the 143 parcels (Fig. 1). These plots have an average area of 25 square metres (m^2) and range from 2 to 100 m^2 . The sampling design aimed to represent the main types of grassland vegetation within the Massif central region (Galliot et al., 2020; Hulin et al., 2012, 2019; Le Hénaff et al., 2021).

2.2. Data

We collected satellite images and meteorological data from 1985 to 2019 for each of the 394 vegetation plots to quantify the temporal changes in vegetation reflectance and drought severity, respectively. We further characterized the pedoclimate, agricultural management practices, and vegetation diversity of these plots from ground observations collected by several projects implemented in the region during the period of interest.

2.2.1. Drought estimates over the 1985-2019 period

We built the time series of the local climatic water balance, computed as the difference between precipitation and potential evapotranspiration (P-PET), during the 1985–2019 period. To do so, we used



Fig. 1. Distribution of the grassland parcels and vegetation plots in the Massif central region (France). The main map depicts the topographic elevation and relief from a 25 m x 25 m digital elevation model of the Copernicus Land Monitoring Service (http://land.copernicus.eu/pan-european/satellite-derived-products/eu-dem-v1.1/view). The lower right inset map presents the vegetation plots found with a parcel, together with the Landsat 30 m x 30 m pixel grid.

3

the meteorological records from the Système d'Analyse Fournissant des Renseignements Adaptés à la Nivologie (SAFRAN) data for France (Durand et al., 1993). SAFRAN provides daily information on a set of meteorological parameters in NetCDF or as raster with a spatial resolution of 8 km x 8 km. We checked the local uncertainty of the SAFRAN estimates with spatially accurate daily records from a set of 140 local meteorological stations within the Massif central region (Météo-France, 2021). Our comparisons revealed tight linear relationships between the two data sources, validating the use of SAFRAN for assessing local variations of the climatic water balance in the study area (Appendix A).

Modified standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index (SPEI). We then quantified the drought severity with a modified version of SPEI. The original version of this index is based on the long-term time series of the climatic water balance (D_i), which is the difference between the monthly precipitation (P) and potential evapotranspiration (PET) measurements integrated over a given timescale of one, three, six, nine, 12 and 24 months (Beguería et al., 2014; Pei et al., 2020; Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010; Zargar et al., 2011). For example, a seasonal or three-month drought timescale is the integration of D_i at a given month and the two preceding months.

$$D_i = P_i - PET_i \tag{1}$$

where i = month

To compare the surplus and deficit of the water balance between different sites with different climates or dates, the aggregated D_i values are standardized. To do so, the D time series is fitted into a log-logistic distribution using a three-parameter probability distribution function. The probability distribution of D is standardized to obtain the SPEI using the approximation of ADramowitz and Stegun (1965). The statistical distribution seeks to define the normal expectation. Negative SPEI values indicate a deficit of the water balance with respect to normal conditions, while positive values indicate a surplus of precipitation. Since the SPEI is multi-scalar, we could analyse the effect of different types of droughts (Vicente-Serrano et al., 2010) and discriminate between short and frequent water deficits (shortest timescales) and long and infrequent water deficits (longest timescales).

To address our objectives, we modified the classic SPEI in two ways. First, changes in grassland growth and conditions due to drought and precipitation occur at daily temporal scales (Salehnia et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2015). Consequently, the impacts of short-duration droughts (i.e., fewer than 30 days) will not be properly estimated by the monthly

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

classic SPEI, especially when such brief drought events are distributed between two consecutive months. Accordingly, we used daily climate data and integrated for a given day the difference between P and PET over the 15, 30, 60, 90, or 120 preceding days. Second, the small number of D observations can lead to a weak goodness-of-fit in the probability distribution step. In climate studies, the World Meteorological Organization (WMO) recommended a 30-year period of climatic data when establishing climatic normal (Marchi et al., 2020; Rigal et al., 2019). However, the climatic water balance across the years rarely exhibits a good and smooth distribution. Thus, instances with the classic SPEI may result in abrupt changes between months or large differences with two adjacent months. For the modification, encouragement was found from Russo et al. (2014) by defining a new set of data, A₀ in the following:

$$A_d = \bigcup_{y=1985}^{2019} \bigcup_{i=d-15}^{d+15} D_{y,i}$$
(2)

with d, a given day, and $D_{y,i}$, the water balance of day *i* in year *y*. This new set of data A (Eq. (2)) exhibits an increase in the number of observations, which helps improve the goodness-of-fit of the log-logistic distribution used for the standardization procedure of the SPEI.

We demonstrate in Fig. 2 the differences between the classic and modified SPEI using the 2003 and 2018 drought years in Europe (Buras et al., 2020). Both SPEIs were expressed in a one-month or 30-day timescale, and both were based on a 34-year climatic water balance time series within our study site. In relation to the concerns expressed in the previous section, we first revealed a more detailed trajectory of drought severity along the dates of the modified SPEI. By shifting from the use of monthly to daily climatic water balance data, the modified SPEI captured the minor drying and wetting events. Consequently, better transitions between the months were prominent in the modified SPEI as compared to the classic SPEI.

2.2.2. Standardized anomalies of vegetation reflectance over the 1985–2019 period

Similar to the estimation of drought severity with a modified version of the SPEI, we computed the standardized anomalies of local vegetation reflectance indices. We first extracted the reflectance bands of Landsat 4, 5, 7, and 8 over the period of 1985–2019 for each of the 394 vegetation plots from Google Earth Engine (Gorelick et al., 2017) using the reticulate package in R (Ushey et al., 2022). Landsat images offer a sufficiently fine spatial resolution (30 m x 30 m) to account for vegetation heterogeneity – in other words, they discriminate between different



Fig. 2. Comparison of the classic (left) and modified (right) SPEI using the 2003 (top) and 2018 (bottom) drought years in Europe.

vegetation plots within the same parcel, as depicted in Fig. 1), and temporal resolution (16 days) to monitor vegetation reflectance changes over the course of a growing season. These extractions resulted in a mean number of 519 cloud- and snow-free images per vegetation plot.

We then computed the standardized reflectance anomalies of all 24 VIs (Appendix B) related to vegetation properties, such as greenness, cover, moisture-content, and senescence (Bajgain et al., 2015; Davidson et al., 2006; Wu, 2014). Here, we adapted the same standardization procedure of our modified SPEI to quantify the deviation of VIs of a given clear day – in other words, free of clouds or snow cover – to the statistical distribution of VIs of the same day plus the 15 days before and after over the period of 1985–2019. This standardization allowed the spatio-temporal comparisons among plots.

2.2.3. Local properties of the grasslands

The local descriptions of the 394 vegetation plots were inherited from several past projects that collected information on management activities, botanical composition, soil properties, and topographic conditions between 2008 and 2019 (Galliot et al., 2020; Hulin et al., 2019).

Pedoclimate. At the parcel level, the soil properties were assessed with a total of 11 physical and chemical parameters. We considered direct soil measures such as the pH; carbon to nitrogen ratio; concentration of phosphorus, potassium, and magnesium; soil organic carbon; and soil organic nitrogen. We further derived variables that are well-recognized to influence the response of vegetation to meteorological drought. First, we computed the soil water holding capacity (SWHC) from the measured percentage of clay, percentage of sand, and bulk density using a pedotransfer function developed and validated for French soils (Román Dobarco et al., 2019). Second, we derived the aspect (expressed as 0 to 180° from north to south, respectively), elevation (in metres above sea level), and the Terrain Wetness Index (TWI; Beven and Kirkby, 1979; Böhner and Selige, 2006) of the vegetation plots from the 25 m x 25 m spatial resolution digital elevation model from the Copernicus Land Monitoring Service (2016).

Agricultural management. Management information was collected in two phases; the first was in 2008–2009, then in 2016–2017. This information included the amount of nitrogen (N) fertilization, specific dates of use, and type of use. We assumed from field experience and some farmer interviews that these agricultural practices had seen minimal changes over the past 30 years, especially the use of herbage, and, therefore, may be representative of grassland management for the entire period of 1985-2019. We then summarized these data to obtain: (i) the total amount of nitrogen fertilization from the applied organic and inorganic nitrogen, expressed in kg ha^{-1} ; (ii) the average number of uses per year based on the number of grazing rotations and harvesting dates; (iii) the prominent type of use, computed as the difference between the total number of grazing and mowing events for a two-year period, with positive values indicating the predominance of grazing, negative values the predominance of mowing, and zero equal numbers of grazing and mowing events; and (iv) the date of first use expressed in cumulative growing degree days. This was computed as the sum of the growing degree days of the date of first grazing or mowing event recorded for two years of monitoring and then averaged. Expressing the date of first use in thermal time instead of Julian days allowed the comparison between vegetation plots distributed along a large elevation gradient (Perronne et al., 2019), and minimize the effect of between-year variability of meteorological conditions. Indeed, the farmers manage their parcels according to the grass growth which may lead to variation in calendar dates of management events between years but not in cumulative growing degree days, or at least to a lesser extent.

Vegetation diversity. Botanical surveys were conducted at the level of vegetation plots, in which all species were identified, and their local

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

abundances were estimated visually. From these relevés (surveys), we first derived taxonomic diversity indices: species richness, the Shannon diversity index, and Simpson's diversity index. Then, we used a trait database compiled for 1300 plant species of open habitats of the Massif central (Baseflor in Julve, 1998; DIVGRASS in Carboni et al., 2016; Choler et al., 2014), together with the plot botanical records, to assess local functional indices. We considered plant traits associated with growth syndromes (specific leaf area [SLA] and plant height), phenology (first flowering and length of flowering periods in months), and reproductive ability (seed mass). We computed the community weighted mean (CWM) of each trait, which is recognized to be associated with ecosystem functions (Garnier et al., 2004; Grime, 1998) and grassland response to drought (Pérez-Ramos et al., 2012). We further assessed the functional diversity, which has been linked to the ecosystem stability (Hallett et al., 2017), of each vegetation plot. We used the functional dispersion index (Nunes et al., 2017) of each trait, plus a two-dimensional functional space composed of plant height and SLA to summarize plant growth syndromes.

2.3. Statistical analyses

The simplified workflow indicating the various analytical stages needed to quantify grassland sensitivity to drought and to identify its drivers is presented in Fig. 3. It includes variable inputs and the variable selection procedure in the candidate statistical models.

2.3.1. Computing remotely sensed grassland sensitivity to drought

Some studies have used statistical inference methods to relate grassland response with climatic variables (De Keersmaecker et al., 2016; Nanzad et al., 2019; Thoma et al., 2019) or drought severity (Jiao et al., 2019, 2021; Li et al., 2015, 2022; Maurer et al., 2020). Similar to these studies, we assessed the grassland sensitivity to drought as the slope of the linear relationship between the standardized VI anomalies and the modified SPEI (Li et al., 2022). As depicted in Fig. 4, in the case of vegetation insensitive to drought, we expect this slope to be not significantly different from zero and positive in the case of sensitive vegetation to drought. This was done for each of the 394 vegetation plots using time series data in the period 1985–2019 (Appendix C). The slopes per plot were estimated with a mean number of 519 paired values of the standardized VI anomalies and the modified SPEI falling within the growing season from March to November.

The process described above was repeated for the 24 VIs across the five drought timescales, specifically, for 15, 30, 60, 90, and 120 days. We then assessed how the various VIs and drought timescales affected the estimated sensitivities to drought. To do so, we performed a two-way ANOVA with VIs and timescales as factors. The variance of the residuals, therefore, indicates the fluctuation among plots amid the variation due to methodological choices.

The slope of the linear relationship between the standardized VI anomaly and the modified SPEI, used as an estimate of grassland sensitivity to drought, was assigned as the dependent variable in the subsequent analyses that sought to identify the drivers of grassland response to drought.

2.3.2. Statistical modeling of grassland sensitivity to drought

We conducted a linear model selection procedure to quantify the influence of pedoclimatic characteristics, agricultural management, and vegetation diversity on the sensitivity to drought of the 394 vegetation plots. We assigned the grassland sensitivity to drought – in other words, the slope of the linear relationship between the standardized VI anomaly and the modified SPEI – as the response variable and the pedoclimate, management, and diversity factors as the explanatory variables (Fig. 3). We compiled a total of 29 candidate variables (Table 1), all of which were pre-selected based on their biological meaning and possible effect on grassland response to drought, as described in the local properties section (2.2.3). To avoid possible multicollinearity, we first computed

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325



Fig. 3. Simplified workflow for assessing grassland sensitivity and its drivers. Grassland sensitivity to drought, from Objective 1, was used as the response variable for Objective 2. The selected diversity, pedoclimate, and management factors from the respective sub-models served as the explanatory variables.



Fig. 4. Low and high grassland sensitivities to drought for two selected timescales of different sample plots. (The threshold for low sensitivity or insensitivity is 0.1.).

pairs correlation between the 29 variables. For pairs with a Pearson correlation greater than 0.5, which is more conservative than the recommended 0.7 threshold (Graham, 2003), we removed the variable with the less tangible biological meaning. Then, we conducted a two-stage selection procedure to seek the most explanatory model of vegetation plot sensitivity to drought. The first stage entailed selecting sub-models for each of the three categories of explanatory variables, where vegetation plot sensitivities were also used as the response variable. In doing so, we optimized the inclusion of the best predictors in the final model with similar weight between each category. The second stage consisted of selecting the final linear model with all categories of the previously selected predictors. For both stages, we performed backward and forward stepwise selection based on the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC), which aims to maximize the goodness-of-fit of the final model and minimize its complexity (Venables and Ripley, 2002). Such a procedure may lead to competing models, with similar complexity and close explanatory power but a different combination of predictors. These models have differences in AIC of less than 4 (Burnham and Anderson, 2004). Among these models, we selected the ones with the greatest power of prediction to detect all significant drivers. To compare the effect size of various predictors, we computed the beta coefficients from the selected models. Finally, we partitioned the variance explained by pedoclimate, management, and vegetation diversity factors by partial regressions of the final model. The partitions explained by the explanatory categories were assessed with the unbiased adjusted R^2 (Peres-Neto et al., 2006).

Note that these analyses were repeated for the most responsive VIderived sensitivities and at five different timescales of the modified SPEI. Since these analyses were conducted in the linear regression framework, we visually checked for homogeneity of variances and normality of the residuals (Appendix D).

Lastly, all analyses were performed within the R environment (R Core Team, 2021).

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

Table 1

List of the 29 grassland local properties used to predict grassland sensitivity to drought of the vegetation plots distributed in the Massif central region, France.

Туре	Variable	Unit	Definition	Level of measurement
Pedoclimate	SWHC	$\mathrm{cm}^3~\mathrm{cm}^{-3}$	Total water amount that the soil can store for plant use, computed using a pedotransfer function	Parcel*
	C:N	-	Ratio of carbon and nitrogen contents in the soil	Parcel*
	K ₂ 0	% of fine dry soil	Soil potassium content available for plants	Parcel*
	MgO	% of fine dry soil	Soil magnesium content available for plants	Parcel*
	P_2O_5	% of fine dry soil	Soil phosphorus content available for plants	Parcel*
	рН	<u></u>	Acidity or alkalinity of the soil	Parcel*
	SON	%	Nitrogen content available in the soil organic matter	Parcel*
	SOC	%	Carbon content available in the soil organic matter	Parcel*
	TWI	-	Topographic wetness index, this was extracted using the SAGA TWI algorithm in QGIS	Plot**
	North- or south- facing slopes (or aspect)	degree	Azimuth direction of land surface exposure	Plot**
	Altitude	m.a.s.l.	Vertical distance from the Earth's surface to a point of interest	Plot**
Agricultural management	Date of first use	degree	Actual date of first defoliation or harvest; variable expressed in cumulative growing degree days	Parcel***
	Type of use	count	Number of uses as either more grazing (+), more mowing (-), or equal number (zero)	Parcel***
	Mean number of uses	count	Mean of the total number of mowing and grazing dates	Parcel***
	Nitrogen fertilization	g.ha ⁻¹	Total organic and inorganic nitrogen applied in the field	Parcel***
Vegetation diversity	CWM length of flowering	month	Community weighted mean of flowering period duration	Plot****
	CWM first flowering	month	Community weighted mean of start of flowering period	Plot****
	CWM seed mass	mg	Community weighted mean of seed mass	Plot****
	CWM plant height	m	Community weighted mean of plant height	Plot****
	CWM SLA	m ² .kg ⁻¹	Community weighted mean of specific leaf area	Plot****
	Fdis length of flowering	-	Functional dispersion of flowering period duration	Plot****
	Fdis first flowering	-	Functional dispersion of start of flowering duration	Plot****
	Fdis seed mass		Functional dispersion of seed mass	Plot****
	Fdis plant height	-	Functional dispersion of plant height	Plot****
	Fdis SLA	-	Functional dispersion of specific leaf area	Plot****
	Fdis growth	-	Functional dispersion of growth syndromes	Plot****
	Species richness		Number of individual species in a community	Plot****
	Simpson's diversity index	-	Taxonomic measure relative to abundance within a community	Plot****
	Shannon diversity index	-	Taxonomic measure of diversity within a community	Plot****

Data sources are either from.

* field measurements

** European Union Digital Elevation Model

*** farmer interview

**** botanic relevés and trait database

3. Results

3.1. Variations of grassland sensitivity to drought

The estimated grassland sensitivity to drought differed according to multiple sources of variation, which could be decomposed between (i) the influence of the VI being used to assess vegetation reflectance anomalies, (ii) the timescale of computation of the modified SPEI, and (iii) the variability between vegetation plots, in other words, geographic variability. A two-way ANOVA revealed a significant effect of the VI being used (F [24, 49,224] = 2643, p < 0.001) with a sum of squares of 589.46 and a significant effect of the timescale (F [1, 49,224] = 4358, p < 0.001) with a sum of square of 40.5. The sum of squares of the residuals, corresponding to the geographic variation between vegetation plots, was 454.4. From this analysis we can conclude that the VI being used was the most important source of variation of the estimated sensitivities to drought in our study, closely followed by geographic variability, while the timescale was a far less important source of variation.

Among the 24 VIs used to quantify grassland sensitivity to drought, the Normaized Difference Water Index (NDWI) and the Global Vegetation Moisture Index (GVMI) exhibited the highest slopes and goodnessof-fit between the standardized VI anomalies and the modified SPEI (Fig. 5). This indicates that both VIs were the best to reveal vegetation response to variation in the climatic water balance. The slope values between the NDWI and the GVMI were highly correlated (r = 0.98) and ranged between -0.1 and 0.58. However, values between -0.1 and 0.1 were not significantly different from 0. Therefore, slopes below or equal to 0.1 are interpreted as insensitivity to drought. Slope values above 0.1 indicate that negative values of the modified SPEI – in other words, climatic water balance lower than the normal expectation – are associated with negative NDWI or GVMI anomalies – in other words, the NDWI or the GVMI lower than the normal expectation. Therefore, positive slopes above 0.1 are interpreted as a negative response (i.e., sensitivity) of vegetation to drought (Fig. 4). Despite the high responsiveness of the anomalies of these two moisture-based indices with the modified SPEI, their maximum R² values were 0.35.

The vegetation sensitivity to drought, as estimated with the NDWI or the GVMI, varied somewhat between the timescales of calculation of the modified SPEI (Fig. 6). The mean sensitivity increased from 15 to 60 days, and then slightly decreased for 90 and 120 days. Then, the geographic variation of sensitivity to drought (i.e., between vegetation plots) was similar between all timescales with a standard deviation ranging from +/- 0.07 to 0.093.

3.2. Drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought

The best models depicting the effect of the pedoclimatic factors, management, and vegetation diversity on grassland sensitivity to drought estimated either with the NDWI or the GVMI were very close (Appendix E). The obtained R^2 for the NDWI and the GVMI ranged from



Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325



Fig. 5. Comparison of grassland sensitivity to drought estimated from a number of satellite-based VIs. The variability represented by the violin plots includes the fluctuation among the 394 vegetation plots and the five drought timescales. The descriptions of the VIs are available in Appendix B. Grouping labels at the top of the graphs are Tukey test results.

0.35 to 0.62 and 0.37 to 0.59, respectively, depending on the timescale of calculation of the modified SPEI. For both indices, the highest R^2 values were obtained from the short timescales of 30 and 15 days, while R^2 values below 0.5 were obtained for the timescale > 60 days.

Hereinafter, we present the averaged model beta coefficients and averaged variance partitions between the two selected indices in Figs. 7 and 8, respectively. Overall, we found different sets of selected explanatory variables and explanatory powers depending on the timescale of calculation of the modified SPEI.

We distinguished among three groups of predictors based on the beta coefficients across the five timescales. The first group included four variables with similar effects, whatever the timescale considered. The date of first use by farmers had a strong (beta coefficient >0.35) positive effect on grassland sensitivity to drought, with delayed use in the growing season associated with high sensitivity to drought. The type of use – dominance of mowing or grazing – had a moderate and positive effect (0.10 < beta coefficient < 0.35), except for the 15 days timescale. This must be interpreted as a greater sensitivity to drought in grazed than in mown grasslands. The nitrogen fertilization had a moderate but negative or mitigating effect (-0.35 < beta coefficient < -0.10) on sensitivity except for the 120 days timescale. It also exhibited a slightly more negative beta coefficient for the 15 days timescale.

The second group included predictors with a clearly stronger effect at short timescales of 15 and 30 days. The most important in terms of effect size was the SWHC, which exhibited the strongest mitigating effect on grassland sensitivity to drought (-0.58 and -0.56). South-facing slopes, a radiation exposure parameter, had a moderate positive effect (-0.19), while the CWM seed mass had a moderate but negative effect (-0.17 and -0.14) for the short timescales. Finally, the soil content of

MgO had a moderate positive effect (0.25) for the shortest timescale of 15 days and a weak effect (below 0.1) for other timescales.

The third group involved five predictors with higher effects for long timescales. However, these predictors had an overall weak (beta coefficient <|0.10|) to moderate effect on grassland sensitivity. Four of them were descriptors of vegetation diversity. In order of importance, the functional dispersion of growth syndromes (Fdis (growth)), had an increasing but moderate negative effect (-0.35 < beta coefficient <-0.10) on sensitivity as the timescale increased. The CWM SLA had constant weak and negative effects from the 60 to 120 days timescales. The CWM plant height also had a weak negative effect (-0.09) but only for the 120 days timescale, and the Shannon diversity index had a weak positive effect (-0.10) or the 90 and 120 days timescales. The fifth predictor of this group was the TWI with a weak (-0.07) and moderate (-0.14) negative effect on grassland sensitivity for 60 and 120 days timescales, respectively. Finally, the soil pH revealed an opposite weak effect for long timescales.

The highlighted variations in effect size with timescale of the calculation of the SPEI translated into changes in the partitions of variance explained by the pedoclimate, management, and diversity of vegetation plots (Fig. 8; Appendix F). The pure partition of the pedoclimate was the most important for the short timescales of 15 and 30 days with 32.59% and 38.02%, respectively. These led to the higher explanatory power of the final models with 57.57% and 68.69% of the variation of sensitivity to drought explained at the 15 and 30 days timescales, respectively, compared with the 36.06%, 22.21%, and 38.22% explained total variances at the timescales of 60, 90, and 120 days. Other pure partitions did not change noticeably across the five timescales. The pure management effect explained approximately 15%





Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

Fig. 6. Variability of grassland sensitivity to drought, as estimated from the linear relationship between the standardized reflectance anomaly, using the NDWI (top) and the GVMI (bottom), and standardized meteorological water balance index (modified SPEI), compared among the different drought timescales. Variability was measured with the standard deviation (std) among the vegetation plots (n = 394) per timescale computation. Grouping labels at the top of the graphs are Tukey test results.

of the total variance for all timescales. Then the partitions associated with diversity effects summed between 10% and 20% over the timescales but were largely shared with the management effect.

4. Discussion

Using long-term satellite image time series and meteorological data, we demonstrated the significant variability of grassland sensitivity to drought over a vast geographic region dominated by open habitats maintained for cattle and sheep grazing. We further quantified the influence of a set of factors related to the pedoclimate, agricultural management, and vegetation diversity on the assessed vegetation responses. We found that their relative effect and explanatory power varied with the duration and frequency of drought events.

4.1. Quantifying geographic variations of grassland sensitivity to drought

We improved the current satellite-based methods of quantification of vegetation response to drought in two ways. First, we demonstrated, based on the comparison of 24 VIs, that indices accounting for SWIR bands (shortwave infrared bands between 1.57 and 1.65 nanometres (nm) for SWIR1 and between 2.11 and 2.29 nm for SWIR2) outperformed other indices for detecting the effects of meteorological drought on vegetated surfaces. Indeed, indices such as the NDWI and the GVMI were specifically developed for remote sensing of vegetation water content (Ceccato et al., 2002; Gao 1996;) and have an immediate response to moisture changes, while greenness indices – specifically, NDVI – exhibit lagged effects (Liu et al., 2017; Tong et al., 2017) and are not directly related to the hydric status of vegetation, especially during moderate drought intensity (Bajgain et al., 2015; Chandrasekar et al., 2010; Gu et al., 2007). Although many studies have proved the

usefulness of greenness indices such as NDVI (Catorci et al., 2021; De Keersmaecker et al., 2016; Ji and Peters, 2003; Nanzad et al., 2019) or EVI (Cabello et al., 2012; Cartwright et al., 2020; Munson et al., 2016; Zhou et al., 2019), these were outperformed by moisture-based indices in this study. Second, we highlighted the importance of the timescale of calculation of standardized drought severity indices such as the SPEI. The estimated sensitivities differed significantly between timescales ranging from 15 to 120 days. Generally, previous studies have considered only one timescale (Horion et al., 2019; Hossain and Li, 2021; Lu et al., 2021; Ma et al., 2016; Maurer et al., 2020). Other studies that scrutinized multiple timescales considered much coarser ones, than we did, with monthly meteorological data (Almeida-Ñauñay et al., 2022; Li et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2017; Xu et al., 2021).

Despite recent developments, satellite-based assessments of vegetation response to drought may still suffer from a few limitations. First, the relationships between VI anomalies and the modified SPEI were noisy overall. Indeed, anomalies of grassland reflectance may arise from multiple natural phenomena, including pest attacks (e.g., voles increasing bare soil), vegetation diseases, or compositional changes in the vegetation. Anomalies of the climatic water balance index (SPEI) were computed from the SAFRAN data with fine daily temporal resolution but coarse spatial resolution (8 km x 8 km grid). Despite the high correlation with field meteorological stations (Appendix A), our estimates of the modified SPEI still may not fully capture the fine-scale climatic variations, especially in mountainous regions. Second, our procedure for calculating the long-term normal reflectance of each day and each vegetation plot tolerates the 30-day variation of grazing and mowing events between years. We assumed that management practices were closely similar from 1985 to 2019, however, we cannot guarantee that sporadic changes in management over time have not occurred. Further developments may address this issue in two ways: (i) detection



Fig. 7. Beta coefficients of model predictors of grassland sensitivity to drought averaged between the NDWI- and GVMI-based models at different timescales. Negative beta coefficients reduce sensitivity to drought, while positive values increase sensitivity.



Fig. 8. Variance partitioning of the model predictors of grassland sensitivity to drought. The average NDWI- and GVMI-based model values at different time-scales were used. Model predictors were grouped into pedoclimate, management, and diversity categories.

of management events with fine temporal resolution satellite products (e.g., Sentinel 1 and 2; Griffiths et al., 2020; Kolecka et al., 2018; Lobert et al., 2021), despite the fact that the temporal extents of Sentinel images are currently too short – in other words, eight years for Sentinel 1 and seven years for Sentinel 2 – to estimate the normal vegetation reflectance along the growing season, or (ii) precise recording of the daily sequence of practices along the growing season with the help of farmers. Regarding other sources of disturbance, new RS techniques should be developed to better discriminate the spectral signature of drought from other natural or anthropogenic disturbances and stresses (McDowell et al., 2015). Despite these methodological limitations, we argue that our procedure provided at least an unbiased, although noisy, estimate of grassland sensitivity to drought. This allowed us to provide better understanding of its main drivers.

4.2. The strong pedoclimatic influence prevails at short timescales

We revealed the buffering effects of the soil water holding capacity (SWHC; Buttler et al., 2019; Thoma et al., 2019) and topographic exposure to solar radiation (Gharun et al., 2020; Jiao et al., 2021; Yang et al., 2020) on vegetation sensitivity to climatic water balance deficit, as demonstrated by previous studies. Obviously, these were highly expected. However, our findings further indicated that these strong buffering effects hold true only for short and frequent droughts, then completely vanish from the 60 days timescale (Bodner et al., 2015; Finn

et al., 2018). Interestingly, for longer timescales, our results revealed the emerging but moderate role of the TWI. This indicates that large-scale hydrological processes related to land surface topography may relay local pedoclimatic buffers when the water deficit becomes too long, which may have implications for the management of agricultural drains. Indeed, such land preparation either hampers or promotes horizontal movements of water in soils. Depending on the topographic context, the removal of an existing drain or the installation of new ones may thus help mitigate the impact of drought on grasslands.

The influence of soil chemical properties also prevailed for the short timescale. High values of MgO and C:N ratio increased sensitivity to drought, especially for the 15-day timescale, but the MgO influence was still significant for longer timescales. Magnesium limitation is recognized to impede several ecophysiological processes that enhance drought tolerance (Shao et al., 2021; Tränkner and Jaghdani, 2019; Waraich et al., 2011). In this respect our results are contradictory. A first alternative explanation is that the selection of soil magnesium (Mg) concentration in our model does not reflect an effect of this chemical component on vegetation sensitivity to drought but is a consequence of repeated droughts in some of the vegetation plots. Indeed, it has been demonstrated that, under water deficit conditions, Mg accumulates in the soil because of a reduced plant uptake (Sardans et al., 2008). A second alternative explanation is the influence of an unknown factor correlated with soil Mg concentration. The soil C:N ratio response is directly modified by N fertilization (Soussana and Lemaire, 2014), and it is expected to mirror fertilization response to drought sensitivity, but in the opposite way because N is the denominator.

4.3. On the importance of herbage use

The date of first use by farmers was the primary management factor explaining grassland sensitivity to drought for whatever timescale of SPEI considered. This was expressed in thermal time (cumulative growing degree days). Doing so, the date of first use better reflects grassland phenology than calendar dates and allows comparisons among plots located at different altitudes while it minimizes the influence of between-year variation of meteorological conditions. Our results indicated that late agricultural uses during the growing season were associated with higher sensitivity to drought. The effect of the date of first use on grassland sensitivity to drought has not been tested in isolation thus far; instead, it is often mixed with cutting frequency (Zwick et al., 2013). We may still interpret our result in light of the timing of herbage use and the occurrence of droughts during the growing season. The timing of drought occurrence has already been highlighted to play a key role in drought impacts on grasslands (Denton et al., 2017; Edwards and Chapman, 2011; Hahn et al., 2021). Although droughts do not have identical occurrences between years, they often occur in late spring and summer in the Massif central. Thus, late uses are more likely to coincide with strong water deficits. However, it is well recognized that defoliation combined with water stress depletes carbohydrate reserves on which plant regrowth and stress tolerance depend (Kahmen et al., 2005; Volaire et al., 1994) and lessens the maintenance of above-ground productivity (Ma et al., 2020). Additionally, the influence of the date of use of farmers may also arise indirectly from its effect on plant community structure, as we discuss in the next section.

We further found strong evidence of greater sensitivity of vegetation to drought in preferentially grazed paddocks than in preferentially mown ones. It should be noted that usually mown grasslands may be grazed early in spring or during the autumn regrowth. Our results confirm previous findings from grassland experiments (Deléglise et al., 2015). The role of repeated defoliation by grazers along the course of the growing season, compared to sudden cuts, tends to maintain grassland vegetation in the vegetative phase (Bloor et al., 2020; Lei et al., 2016). As a result, plants allocate fixed carbon to leaf regrowth at the expense of carbohydrate storage and root growth necessary to ensure soil water and nutrient uptake, which can reduce their tolerance to drought (Amiard Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

et al., 2003; Frank, 2007; Xu et al., 2013). Nevertheless, further research is needed to determine whether grazing pressure has additive or combined effects on the drought response of grasslands (Ruppert et al., 2015).

4.4. The joint influence of vegetation diversity and agricultural management

Overall, vegetation diversity explained a substantial part of the variance of grassland sensitivity to drought. Several descriptors had weak to moderate individual effects, but once they were summed together, they had substantial effects, especially for longer timescales. Such effects were largely shared with agricultural management. In this respect, we interpret the role of vegetation diversity on grassland sensitivity to drought together with the effect of N fertilization and the date of first use.

Our results suggest a complex cascade of effects involving the influence of N fertilization on vegetation diversity and the influence of vegetation diversity on drought tolerance. We found that the Shannon diversity index increased grassland sensitivity to drought, whereas functional diversity and N fertilization had the opposite effect. Regarding taxonomic diversity and N fertilization, our findings seem to contradict those of several grassland experiments (Kübert et al., 2019; Bharath et al., 2020; Meng et al., 2021). However, N fertilization is also recognized to reduce taxonomic diversity (Humbert et al., 2016; Louault et al., 2017; Niu et al., 2014; Socher et al., 2013) but, at the same time, increase functional diversity of growth syndromes and the CWM SLA (Louault et al., 2017; Niu et al., 2014). Nevertheless, greater functional diversity of growth syndromes may result in greater asynchrony of species responses to drought, which has been related to better grassland resilience (Loreau and de Mazancourt, 2013; Muraina et al., 2021). The role of functional diversity has even been suggested to be more important than the potential effect of taxonomic diversity on grassland stability (Valencia et al., 2020). Therefore, the positive effect of the Shannon diversity index that emerged from our results may be interpreted as a spurious effect. We must warn that this conclusion should be taken with caution for management recommendations. Indeed, the effect of N fertilization in other contexts or at much higher levels of application may reduce species richness to a greater extent and result in a reduction of grassland functional diversity and, ultimately, an increase in grassland sensitivity to drought.

Beyond the direct influence of the date of first use on sensitivity to drought, as discussed in the preceding section, the greater sensitivity of late-use grasslands may also be mediated by changes in vegetation. However, our results do not allow to infer the underlying causal relationships. Delays in mowing or grazing have been demonstrated to increase taxonomic diversity when postponed from early to late spring or summer (Humbert et al., 2012). However, taxonomic diversity had only a weak effect in our study and, thus far, the consequences of delaying mowing or grazing on functional diversity remains unknown. Otherwise, delayed mowing or grazing may favor species with late phenology and reduce light use efficiency (Gaujour et al., 2012), which may result in a lower CWM SLA. This is consistent with our finding that lower drought sensitivity was aspociated with high SLA. However, SLA reduction usually works as a phenotypic adjustment to water stress (Wellstein et al., 2017), which contradicts our results.

Finally, we found that plant communities with heavier seeds were associated with lesser sensitivity to drought. This has already been reported in semi-arid grasslands (Martínez-López et al., 2020) dominated by annual species. Indeed, in stressful conditions, the post-drought establishment and survival of seedlings are more successful for large seeds that contain more reserves. Regeneration in permanent grasslands is mostly clonal and, in normal conditions, depends more on buds than seeds (Benson and Hartnett, 2006). However, in a long-term drought experiment conducted in mountainous grasslands dominated by perennials, Stampfli and Zeiter (2004) found that post-drought vegetation

dynamics were driven largely by recruitment from seeds. We were unable to clearly discriminate how the CWM seed mass was influenced by agricultural practices. Our result highlights the need to conduct new studies on drought mitigation through agricultural management, with an explicit focus on how different practices influence the composition and diversity of the regeneration syndromes of grassland species.

5. Conclusions

Our study revealed high variability of satellite-based vegetation sensitivity to drought, at different timescales, across a wide geographic region dominated by permanent grasslands maintained for cattle and sheep breeding, using moisture-based reflectance indices retrieved from Landsat images. Through the indices, vegetation was most responsive to drought for the 60 and 90 days timescales. We demonstrated that variations of satellite-based sensitivity to drought within and between grassland parcels can be explained by pedoclimatic, agricultural management, and vegetation diversity factors. We underlined that the soil water holding capacity (SWHC) worked logically as a strong buffer for meteorological droughts but only for the shortest time scales of fewer than 30 days. Additionally, agricultural management had also a strong influence, either independent or largely shared with vegetation diversity. This suggests complex indirect effects involving changes in functional composition and diversity of the grassland plant communities. Accordingly, such complexity may be disentangled by future experimental studies focusing on the ecological consequences of the timing of herbage use, tests of interactions between several management practices and analyses of multivariate causal relationships. Finally, better RS-based assessment of vegetation sensitivity to drought is required to discriminate between drought events and other types of disturbances, whether natural or agricultural.

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

Funding

The Embassy of France to the Philippines and Micronesia, under the PhilFrance program, provided the stipend to Donald A. Luna (File number: 957025 K). Moreover, this research did not receive any additional grants from funding agencies in the commercial or not-for-profit sectors.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Data availability

The primary data used in this study can be requested from the AEOLE consortium at sidam@aura.chambagri.fr.

Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the Agence Nationale de la Recherche of the French government for the support received through the program "Investissements d'Avenir" (16-IDEX-0001CAP20-25), all the people and funders who were involved in the collection of ground data during the Prairies AOP, ATOUS, and AEOLE program and projects, and to the PhilFrance scholarship program. Special appreciation is given to INRAE AgroClim service unit and MeteoFrance for the field and SAFRAN meteorological data access. Lastly, the authors express their gratitude to the two anonymous reviewers for taking the time and effort necessary to provide constructive comments and suggestions, which helped us to improve the quality of the manuscript.

Appendices

Appendix A. Precipitation, potential evapotranspiration, and mean temperature correlation between the SAFRAN and field meteorological stations within the Massif central region

Climatic variables	\mathbb{R}^2	Slope	Intercept	
Precipitation (P)	0.80	0.84	0.25 mm	
Potential evapotranspiration (PET)	0.88	0.90	0.24 mm	
Mean temperature	0.96	0.90	−1.33 °C	

Appendix B. Satellite reflectance indices used in the study. Input bands were the blue (B), green (G), red (R), near infrared (NIR), and shortwave infrared (SWIR) 1 and 2

Index	Formula	Purpose / Description	Refs.
NDVI	(NIR - R) / (NIR + R)	Commonly used for vegetation biomass (green)	Rouse et al. (1974)
ARVI	(NIR - [(2 * R) - B]) / (NIR + [(2 * R) - B])	Less sensitive to atmospheric effects compared to NDVI	Kaufman and Tanré (1992)
DVI	NIR – R	Differentiates vegetation and soil.	Richardson and Wiegand (1977)
EVI	2.5 * ([NIR - R] / [NIR + 6 * R - 7.5 * B + 1])	For canopy condition in high biomass areas	Huete et al. (2002)
EVI2	2.5 * ([NIR - R] / [NIR + (2.4 * R) + 1])	EVI without the blue band	Jiang et al. (2008)
GCI	(NIR / G) - 1	For chlorophyll estimation	Gitelson et al. (2003)
GEMI	n * (1 - 0.25 * n) – [(R - 0.125) / (1 - R)] where, $n = [2 * (NIR^2 - R^2) + (1.5 * NIR) + (0.5 * R)] / (NIR + R + 0.5)$	For vegetation cover; non-linear index	Pinty and Verstraete (1992)
			2010 CAL 2017 11 2020

(continued on next page)

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

(continued)			
Index	Formula	Purpose / Description	Refs.
GNDVI	(NIR - G) / (NIR + G)	For chlorophyll estimation; NDVI using the Green instead of Red band	Gitelson et al. (1996)
GVMI	([NIR + 0.1] - [SWIR2 + 0.02]) / ([NIR + 0.1] + [SWIR2 + 0.02])	For vegetation water content	Ceccato et al. (2002)
IPVI	NIR / (NIR + R)	For vegetation biomass	Crippen (1990)
MSR	([NIR / R] - 1) / sqrt([NIR / R] + 1)	For biophysical parameters	Chen (1996)
MTVI2	(1.5 * [1.2 * (NIR - G)] - [2.5 * (R - G)]) / sqrt([(2 * NIR) + 1]2 - [6 * NIR - (5 * sqrt(R)) - 0.5])	For green leaf area index (LAI) estimation	Haboudane et al. (2004)
NDSVI	(SWIR1 - R) / (SWIR1 + R)	For senescence detection	Qi et al. (2002)
NDWI	(NIR - SWIR1) / (NIR + SWIR1)	For vegetation liquid water content; similar formula with Land Surface Water Index (LSWI)	Gao (1996), Xiao et al. (2004)
NLI	$(NIR^2 - R) / (NIR^2 + R)$	For vegetation cover; accounts for leaf angle distribution	Goel and Quin (1994)
NMDI	(NIR - [SWIR1 - SWIR2]) / (NIR + [SWIR1 - SWIR2])	For soil and vegetation moisture	Wang and Qu (2007)
NRI	(G - R) / (G + R)	For plant nitrogen status	Filella et al. (1995)
OSAVI	(NIR - R) / (NIR + R + 0.16)	For vegetation health; minimizes soil effect; standardized vegetation condition of 0.16	Rondeaux et al. (1996)
SAVI	(1 + L) * ([NIR - R] / [NIR + R + L]) Vegetation: Low ($L = 1$) Intermediate ($L = 0.5$) High ($L = 0.25$)	For vegetation health; minimizes soil effect	Huete (1988)
SIPI	(NIR - B) / (NIR + B)	For vegetation phenology (bulk carotenoids to chlorophyll ratio)	Penuelas et al. (2011)
SLAVI	NIR / $(R + SWIR2)$	For specific leaf area	Lymburner et al. (2000)
SRVI or SR	NIR / R	For leaf area index	Jordan (1969)
TVI	sqrt (NDVI + 0.5)	For green leaf area index (LAI) estimation	McDaniel and Haas (1982)
VARI	$(G - R) \neq (G + R - B)$	Less sensitive to atmospheric effects; based on ARVI	Gitelson et al. (2002)





13

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325



Appendix D. Plots for the visual tests of the homogeneity of variances and normality of residuals of the final NDWI- and GVMI-based models

Appendix E. NDWI- and GVMI-based model summaries and beta coefficients

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

Modified SPEI 15 days	NDWI			GVMI		
		11. 10000 • 10000			Second distant	n (hb
Predictors	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)	Beta coefficient	t value	$\Pr(> t)$
Date of first use	0.4391	5.546	0	0.3758	5.344	0
Type of use	0.0989	1.05	0.2956	-	-	-
Mean number of uses	-0.1905	-2.517	0.0131	-0.2872	-3.953	0.0001
SWHC	-0.4728	-6.714	0	-0.6793	-7.757	0
MgO	0.1673	2.188	0.0305	0.3356	4.189	0.0001
C:N	=	1 	-	0.3815	3.859	0.0002
TWI	-0.0576	-0.84	0.4025	-0.0885	-1.291	0.1993
South-facing slope	0.2393	3.562	0.0005	0.2729	3.936	0.0001
CWM (seed mass)	-0.1614	-1.964	0.0518	-0.1932	-2.422	0.0169
CWM (neight)	-0.1173	-1.404	0.1629	-0.1123	-1.36/	0.1/41
Edis (growth)	-0.0782	-1.003	- 0.3177	_0.1011	-1 296	0.1974
Shannon diversity index	-0.1253	-1.522	0.1306	-0.0934	-1.126	0.2625
	R ² :	0.519		R ² :	0.5235	
	Adjusted R ² :	0.4724		Adjusted R ² :	0.4731	
Modified SPEI 30 days	NDWI			GVMI		
Develiation	Bata anofficiant	*		Data anaffiniant	* l	De(> [s])
Predictors	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)
Date of first use	0.4628	6.446	0	0.4442	5.803	0
Type of use	0.221	2.648	0.0091	0.2269	2.434	0.0164
Nitrogen fertilization	-0.1645	-2.285	0.024	-0.177	-2.388	0.0185
Mean number of uses	0.1109	1.618	0.1083	0.0774	1.0/2	0.286
SWIC	-0.5526	-6.639	0 4022	-0.3377	-0.532	0 2044
MgO	0.1144	1.625	0.4032	0.1579	2 174	0.0316
South-facing slope	0.2006	3 373	0.001	0.188	3.058	0.0027
CWM (seed mass)	-0.1538	-2.322	0.0219	-0.1426	-2.079	0.0397
CWM (SLA)	-		-	-0.0841	-1.184	0.2387
Fdis (seed)	-0.1466	-2.49	0.0141	-	-	100
Fdis (growth)	-0.0893	-1.341	0.1825	-0.0613	-0.906	0.3669
Shannon diversity index	-0.0488	-0.684	0.4953	-0.0867	-1.168	0.245
	R ² :	0.62		R ² :	0.5955	
	Adjusted R ² :	0.5833		Adjusted R ² :	0.5563	
Modified SPEI 60 days	NDWI			GVMI		
Predictors	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)
Date of first use	0.3587	3.971	0.0001	0.3748	4.202	0.0001
Type of use	0.1982	1.773	0.0786	0.2625	2.362	0.0197
Nitrogen fertilization	-0.1708	-1.894	0.0605	-0.1732	-1.903	0.0593
pH	0.1435	1.642	0.1031	0.1798	2.141	0.0342
MgO	0.1363	1.667	0.0979	0.1086	1.301	0.1957
C:N	-	-	-	-0.1223	-1.422	0.1575
TWI	-	-	-	-0.1348	-1.821	0.071
CWM (seed mass)	-0.2145	-2.469	0.0149	-0.1494	-1.834	0.069
CWM (SLA)	-0.0817	-0.901	0.3694	-0.1698	-1.868	0.0641
Edis (growth)	-0.1606	-1.819	0.4312	-0.0823	-1.005	- 0.3169
Shannon diversity index	0 1009	1 128	0.2615	0.0499	0.55	0.5836
bhumbh diversity maex	R ² :	0.3709	0.2010	B ² :	0.4039	0.0000
	Adjusted R ² :	0.321		Adjusted R ² :	0.3514	
Modified SPEI 90 days	NDWI	244032000000000000000000000000000000000		GVMI	Nev (21 (21 (21 (21 (21 (21 (21 (21 (21 (21	
			n (lub			n (hh
Predictors	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)
Date of first use	0.394	4.374	0	0.3875	4.311	0
Type of use	0.1533	1.355	0.178	0.2089	1.927	0.0562
Nitrogen fertilization	-0.1206	-1.407	0.1618	-0.1759	-1.94	0.0546
Mean number of uses	-0.0922	-1.016	0.3118	-0.0876	-0.957	0.3405
pH McO	- 0.1079	- 1.962	-	0.0768	0.884	0.3786
TWI	0.1078	1.203	0.2089	-0.119	-1 549	0.2139
CWM (seed mass)	-0.0992	-1.058	0.2922	-	-	-
CWM (height)	-0.1471	-1.547	0.1243	-0.1107	-1.304	0.1946
CWM (SLA)	-0.1027	-1.204	0.2307	-0.1722	-2.004	0.0472
Fdis (growth)	-0.2052	-2.353	0.0202	-0.1495	-1.736	0.0851
Shannon diversity index	0.1652	1.809	0.0729	0.1166	1.25	0.2137
	R ² :	0.3531		R ² :	0.3755	
	Adjusted R ² :	0.3018		Adjusted R ² :	0.3206	
Modified SPEI 120 days	NDWI			GVMI		
Predictors	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)
Date of first use	0.5767	6.859	0	0.5008	5.793	0
Type of use	0.2317	2.272	0.0248	0.2372	2.274	0.0247

(continued on next page)
D.A. Luna et al.

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

Modified SPEI 120 days Predictors	NDWI			GVMI		
	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)
Nitrogen fertilization	-	-	-	-0.1021	-1.168	0.2449
Mean number of uses	-0.0714	-0.807	0.4213	-0.0796	-0.904	0.3676
SWHC	-0.138	-1.807	0.0731	-	-	-
pH	-0.1856	-2.302	0.023	-0.115	-1.376	0.1712
MgO	0.1643	1.975	0.0505	0.123	1.495	0.1374
TWI	-0.1372	-1.815	0.072	-0.1413	-1.908	0.0587
CWM (seed mass)	-0.0859	-0.966	0.3362	-	-	-
CWM (height)	-0.19	-1.943	0.0543	-0.1135	-1.314	0.1913
CWM (firstflow)	0.0899	1.031	0.3046		-	-
Fdis (seed)	-0.0783	-1.058	0.2919	-0.0416	-0.551	0.5828
Fdis (growth)	-0.2099	-2.582	0.011	-0.1531	-1.844	0.0676
Shannon diversity index	0.1714	1.989	0.049	0.113	1.245	0.2154
	R ² :	0.4541		R ² :	0.4285	
	Adjusted R ² :	0.3965		Adjusted R ² :	0.3732	

Appendix F. Variance partitioning of NDWI- and GVMI-based models across timescales



D.A. Luna et al.

References

- Abramowitz, M., Stegun, I.A., 1965. Handbook of Mathematical Functions With Formulas, Graphs, and Mathematical Tables. Dover Publications Inc., New York p. 1046.
- Ali, İ., Cawkwell, F., Dwyer, E., Barrett, B., Green, S., 2016. Satellite remote sensing of grasslands: from observation to management. J. Plant Ecol. 9, 649–671. https://doi. org/10.1093/jpe/rtw005.
- Almeida-Ñauñay, A.F., Villeta, M., Quemada, M., Tarquis, A.M., 2022. Assessment of drought indexes on different time scales: a case in semiarid mediterranean grasslands. Remote Sens. 14, 565. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs14030565.Amiard, V., Morvan-Bertrand, A., Billard, J.P., Huault, C., Keller, F., Prud'homme, M.P.,
- Amiard, V., Morvan-Bertrand, A., Billard, J.P., Huault, C., Keller, F., Prud'homme, M.P., 2003. Fructans, but not the sucrosyl-galactosides, raffinose and loliose, are affected by drought stress in perennial ryegrass. Plant Physiol. 132, 2218–2229. https://doi. org/10.1104/pp.103.022335.
- An, Q., He, H., Nie, Q., Cui, Y., Gao, J., Wei, C., Xie, X., You, J., 2020. Spatial and temporal variations of drought in Inner Mongolia, China. Water 12, 1715. https:// doi.org/10.3390/w12061715.
- Anderson, C.B., 2018. Biodiversity monitoring, earth observations and the ecology of scale. Ecol. Lett. 21, 1572–1585. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13106.
 Arun Kumar, K.C., Reddy, G.P.O., Masilamani, P., Turkar, S.Y., Sandeep, P., 2021.
- Arun Kumar, K.C., Reddy, G.P.O., Masilamani, P., Turkar, S.Y., Sandeep, P., 2021. Integrated drought monitoring index: a tool to monitor agricultural drought by using time-series datasets of space-based earth observation satellites. Adv. Space Res. 67, 298–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.asr.2020.10.003.Bai, Y., Cotrufo, M.F., 2022. Grassland soil carbon sequestration: current understanding,
- Bai, Y., Cotruto, M.F., 2022. Grassland soil carbon sequestration: current understanding, challenges, and solutions. Science 377, 603–608. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. abo2380.
- Bajgain, R., Xiao, X., Wagle, P., Basara, J., Zhou, Y., 2015. Sensitivity analysis of vegetation indices to drought over two tallgrass prairie sites. ISPRS J. Photogramm Remote Sens. 108, 151–160. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2015.07.004.Beguería, S., Vicente-Serrano, S.M., Reig, F., Latorre, B., 2014. Standardized
- Beguería, S., Vicente-Serrano, S.M., Reig, F., Latorre, B., 2014. Standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index (SPEI) revisited: parameter fitting, evapotranspiration models, tools, datasets and drought monitoring. Int. J. Climatol. 34, 3001–3023. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.3887.
- Bengtsson, J., Bullock, J.M., Egoh, B., Everson, C., Everson, T., O'Connor, T., O'Farrell, P. J., Smith, H.G., Lindborg, R., 2019. Grasslands-more important for ecosystem services than you might think. Ecosphere 10, e02582. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ecs2.2582.
- Benson, E.J., Hartnett, D.C., 2006. The role of seed and vegetative reproduction in plant recruitment and demography in Tallgrass Prairie. Plant Ecol. 187, 163–178. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11258-005-0975-y.
- Beven, K.J., Kirkby, M.J., 1979. A physically based, variable contributing area model of basin hydrology /Un modèle à base physique de zone d'appel variable de l'hydrologie du bassin versant. Hydrol. Sci. J. 24, 43–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02626667090491832
- Bharath, S., Borer, E.T., Biederman, L.A., Blumenthal, D.M., Fay, P.A., Gherardi, L.A., Knops, J.M.H., Leakey, A.D.B., Yahdjian, L., Seabloom, E.W., 2020. Nutrient addition increases grassland sensitivity to droughts. Ecology 101, e02981. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2981.
- Bloor, J.M.G., Tardif, A., Pottier, J., 2020. Spatial heterogeneity of vegetation structure, plant N pools and soil N content in relation to Grassland management. Agronomy 10, 716. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10050716.
- Bodner, G., Nakhforoosh, A., Kaul, H.P., 2015. Management of crop water under drought: a review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 35, 401–442. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s13593-015-0283-4.
- Böhner, J., Selige, T., 2006. Spatial prediction of soil attributes using terrain analysis and climate regionalization. In: Böhner, J., McCloy, K.R., Strobl, J. (Eds.), Analysis and Modelling Application. Göttinger Geographische Abhandlungen, pp. 13–27.
- Buras, A., Ramming, A., Zang, C.S., 2020. Quantifying impacts of the drought 2018 on European ecosystems in comparison to 2003. Biogeosciences 17, 1655–1672. https://doi.org/10.5194/baj-71-665-2020.
- Buisson, E., Archibald, S., Fidelis, A., Suding, K.N., 2022. Ancient grasslands guide ambitious goals in grassland restoration. Science 377, 594–598. https://doi.org/ 10.1126/science.abo4605.
- Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R., 2004. Multimodel Inference: understanding AIC and BIC in model selection. Sociol. Methods Res. 33, 261–304. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0049124104268644.
- Burrell, A.L., Evans, J.P., De Kauwe, M.G., 2020. Anthropogenic climate change has driven over 5 million km2 of drylands towards desertification. Nat. Commun. 11, 3853. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17710-7.Buttler, A., Mariotte, P., Meisser, M., Guillaume, T., Signarbieux, C., Vitra, A., Preux, S.,
- Buttler, A., Mariotte, P., Meisser, M., Guillaume, T., Signarbieux, C., Vitra, A., Preux, S., Mercier, G., Quezada, J., Bragazza, L., Gavazov, K., 2019. Prought-induced decline of productivity in the dominant grassland species Lolium perenne L. depends on soil type and prevailing climatic conditions. Soil Biol. Biochem. 132, 47–57. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2019.01.026.
- Gabello, J., Alcaraz-Segura, D., Ferrero, R., Castro, A.J., Liras, E., 2012. The role of vegetation and lithology in the spatial and inter-annual response of EVI to climate in drylands of Southeastern Spain. J. Arid Environ. 79, 76–83. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jaridenv.2011.12.006.
- Carboni, M., Münkemüller, T., Lavergne, S., Choler, P., Borgy, B., Violle, C., Essl, F., Roquet, C., Munoz, F., DivGrass Consortium, Thuiller, W., 2016. What it takes to invade grassland ecosystems: traits, introduction history and filtering processes. Ecol. Lett. 19, 219–229. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12556.
- Cartwright, J.M., Littlefield, C.E., Michalak, J.L., Lawler, J.J., Dobrowski, S.Z., 2020. Topographic, soil, and climate drivers of drought sensitivity in forests and

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

shrublands of the Pacific Northwest, USA. Sci. Rep. 10, 18486. https://doi.org/

- Catorci, A., Lulli, R., Malatesta, L., Tavoloni, M., Tardella, F.M., 2021. How the interplay between management and interannual climatic variability influences the NDVI variation in a sub-Mediterranean pastoral system: insight into sustainable grassland use under climate change. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 314, 107372 https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.agee.2021.107372.
- Coccato, P., Flasse, S., Gregoire, J.M., 2002. Designing a spectral index to estimate vegetation water content from remote sensing data Part 2. Validation and applications. Remote Sens. Environ. 82, 198–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(02)00036-6.
- Chardrasekar, K., Sesha Sai, M.V.R., Roy, P.S., Dwevedi, R.S., 2010. Land Surface Water Index (LSWI) response to rainfall and NDVI using the MODIS Vegetation Index product. Int. J. Remote Sens. 31, 3987–4005. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01431160902575653
- Chang, J., Ciais, P., Gasser, T., Smith, P., Herrero, M., Havlík, P., Obersteiner, M., Guenet, B., Goll, D.S., Li, W., Naipal, V., Peng, S., Qiu, C., Tian, H., Viovy, N., Yue, C., Zhu, D., 2021. Climate warming from managed grasslands cancels the cooling effect of carbon sinks in sparsely grazed and natural grasslands. Nat. Commun. 12, 118. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-20406-7.
- Chen, J.M., 1996. Evaluation of vegetation indices and a modified simple ratio for boreal applications. Can. J. Remote Sens. 22, 229–242. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 070389021106610655178
- 07/036992.1990.10000170.
 Choler, P., Violle, C., Borgy, B., 2014. DIVGRASS. https://www.fondationbiodiversite.fr/ en/the-frb-in-action/programs-and-projects/le-cesab/divgrass/. (accessed 20 October 2021).
- Ciais, Ph., Reichstein, M., Viovy, N., Granier, A., Ogée, J., Allard, V., Aubinet, M., Buchmann, N., Bernhofer, Chr., Carrara, A., Chevallier, F., De Noblet, N., Friend, A. D., Friedlingstein, P., Grünwald, T., Heinesch, B., Keronen, P., Knohl, A., Krinner, G., Loustau, D., Manca, G., Matteucci, G., Miglietta, F., Ourcival, J.M., Papale, D., Pilegaard, K., Rambal, S., Seufert, G., Soussana, J.F., Sanz, M.J., Schulze, E.D., Vesala, T., Valentini, R., 2005. Europe-wide reduction in primary productivity caused by the heat and drought in 2003. Nature 437, 529–533. https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nature03972.
- Crippen, R., 1990. Calculating the vegetation index faster. Remote Sens. Environ. 34, 71–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(90)90085-Z.Davidson, A., Wang, S., Wilmshurst, J., 2006. Remote sensing of grassland-shrubland
- Davidson, A., Wang, S., Wilmshurst, J., 2006. Remote sensing of grassland-shrubland vegetation water content in the shortwave domain. Int. J. Appl. Earth Obs. Geoinf. 8, 225–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jag.2005.10.002.
 De Boeck, H.J., Hiltbrunner, E., Verlinden, M., Bassin, S., Zeiter, M., 2018. Legacy effects
- De Boeck, H.J., Hiltbrunner, E., Verlinden, M., Bassin, S., Zeiter, M., 2018. Legacy effects of climate extremes in alpine grassland. Front. Plant Sci. 9, 1586. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fpls.2018.01586.
 De Keersmaecker, W., Ihermitte, S., Tits, L., Honnay, O., Somers, B., Coppin, P., 2015.
- De Keersmaecker, W., Lhermitte, S., Tits, L., Honnay, O., Somers, B., Coppin, P., 2015. A model quantifying global vegetation resistance and resilience to short-term climate anomalies and their relationship with vegetation cover: global vegetation resistance and resilience. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 24, 539–548. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ech 1279.
- BOILED'S, Contraction Market, N., Van Rooijen, N., Lhermitte, S., Tits, L., Schaminee, J., Coppin, P., Honnay, O., Somers, B., 2016. Species-rich semi-natural grasslands have a higher resistance but a lower resilience than intensively managed agricultural grasslands in response to climate anomalies. J. Appl. Ecol. 53, 430–439. https://doi.org/10.1111/ 1365-2664.12595.
- Deléglise, C., Meisser, M., Mosimann, E., Spiegelberger, T., Signarbieux, C., Jeangros, B., Buttler, A., 2015. Drought-induced shifts in plants traits, yields and nutritive value under realistic grazing and mowing managements in a mountain grassland. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 213, 94–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.07.020.
- Dengler, J., Janišová, M., Török, P., Wellstein, C., 2014. Biodiversity of Palaearctic grasslands: a synthesis. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 182, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/ i.agre.2013.12.015
- Denton, E.M., Dietrich, J.D., Smith, M.D., Knapp, A.K., 2017. Drought timing differentially affects above- and belowground productivity in a mesic grassland. Plant Ecol. 218, 317–328. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-016-0690-x.
- Dong, C., MacDonald, G., Okin, G.S., Gillespie, T.W., 2019. Quantifying drought sensitivity of mediterranean climate vegetation to recent warming: a case study in Southern California. Remote Sens. 11, 2902. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11242902.
- Journett Guinett Guinetta, Reinote Sens. 11, 5902. https://doi.org/10.3390/1511242502. Durand, Y., Brun, E., Guyomarc'H, G., Lesaffre, B., Martin, E., 1993. A meteorological estimation of relevant parameters for snow models. Ann. Glaciol. 18, 65–71. https:// doi.org/10.1012/S2020305500011272
- Borhali, M., Matkan, A., Darvishzadeh, R., 2010. Remote sensing for drought assessment in arid regions (A case study of central part of Iran, "Shirkooh-Yazd. In: Wagner, W., Szekely, B. (Eds.), Proceedings of the ISPRS. Wien, Osterreich. ISPRS, pp. 199–203, 2010 : isprs 1910 –2010 Centenary celebrations : 100 years of ISPRS, Advancing remote sensing science : Symposium technical commission VII, Vol. XXXVIII part 7B, 5-7 July 2010. http://www.isprs.org/proceedings/XXXVIII/part7/
- b/pdf/199 XXXVIII-part/B.pdf.
 Edwards, G.R., Chapman, D.F., 2011. Plant responses to defoliation and relationships with pasture persistence. NZGA Res. Pract. Ser. 15, 39–46. https://doi.org/ 10.33584/rps.15.2011.3207.
- FileJa, I., Serra, J., Serra, J., Peñuelas, J., 1995. Evaluating wheat nitrogen status with canopy reflectance indices and discriminant analysis. Crop Sci. 35, 1400–1405. https://doi.org/10.2135/cropsci1955.0011183/003500050023x.
- Finn, J.A., Suter, M., Haughey, E., Hofer, D., Lüscher, A., 2018. Greater gains in annual yields from increased plant diversity than losses from experimental drought in two temperate grasslands. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 258, 149–153. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.agee.2018.02.014.

D.A. Luna et al

- Frank, D.A., 2007, Drought effects on above- and belowground production of a grazed erate grassland ecosystem. Oecologia 152, 131-139. https://doi.
- Fraser, L.H., Henry, H.A., Carlyle, C.N., White, S.R., Beierkuhnlein, C., Cahill, J.F. Casper, B.B., Cleland, E., Collins, S.L., Dukes, J.S., Knapp, A.K., Lind, E., Long, R., Luo, Y., Reich, P.B., Smith, M.D., Sternberg, M., Turkington, R., 2013. Coordinated distributed experiments: an emerging tool for testing global hypotheses in ecology and environmental science. Front. Ecol. Environ. 11, 147-155. https://doi.org/
- Galliot J.N., Hulin S., Le Hénaff, P.M., Farruggia A., Seytre L., Perera S., Dupic G., Faure P., Carrère P., 2020. Typologie multifonctionnelle des prairies du Massif central. Edition Sidam-AEOLE, 284 p.
- Gao, B., 1996. NDWI-A normalized difference water index for remote sensing of vegetation liquid water from space. Remote Sens. Environ. 58, 257–266. https://doi. org/10.1016/S0034-4257(96)00067-3.
- Garnier, E., Cortez, J., Billès, G., Navas, M.L., Roumet, C., Debussche, M., Laurent, G., Banchard, A., Aubry, D., Bellmann, A., Neill, C., Toussaint, J.P., 2004. Plant functional markers capture ecosystem properties during secondary succession Ecology 85, 2630-2637. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-07
- Gaujour, E., Amiaud, B., Mignolet, C., Plantureux, S., 2012. Factors and processes affecting plant biodiversity in permanent grasslands. A review. Agron. Sustain. Dev. 32, 133–160. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-011-0015-3.
- Gharun, M., Hortnagl, L., Paul-Limoges, E., Ghiasi, S., Feigenwinter, I., Burri, S., Marquardt, K., Etzold, S., Zweifel, R., Eugster, W., Buchmann, N., 2020. Physiological response of Swiss ecosystems to 2018 drought across plant types and elevation, Philos, Trans, R. Soc, B 375, 20190521, https://doi.org/10.10
- Gitelson, A.A., Gritz, Y., Merzlyak, M.N., 2003. Relationships between leaf chlorophyll ntent and spectral reflectance and algorithms for non-destructive chlorophyl assessment in higher plant leaves. J. Plant Physiol. 160, 271-282. https:/
- Gitelson, A.A., Kaufman, Y.J., Merzlyak, M.N., 1996. Use of a green channel in remote sensing of global vegetation from EOS-MODIS. Remote Sens. Environ. 58, 289–298. rg/10.1016/S0034
- Gitelson, A.A., Kaufman, Y.J., Stark, R., Rundquist, D., 2002, Novel algorithms for ternote estimation of vegetation fraction. Remote Sens. Environ. 80, 76–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(01)00289-9.
- Goel, N.S., Qin, W., 1994. Influences of canopy architecture on relationships between various vegetation indices and LAI and Fpar: a computer simulation. Remote Sens. Rev. 10, 309–347. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757259409532252.
- Gorelick, N., Hancher, M., Dixon, M., Ilyushchenko, S., Thau, D., Moore, R., 2017. Google earth engine: planetary-scale geospatial analysis for everyone. Remote Sens. Environ. 202, 18–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2017.06.031.
- Graham, M.H., 2003. Confronting Multicollinearity in Ecological Multiple Regression.
- Ecology 84, 2809–2815. https://doi.org/10.1890/02-3114. Grange, G., Finn, J.A., Brophy, C., 2021. Plant diversity enhanced yield and mitigated
- Grange, G., Fim, Joppy, G., 2021. Frain diversity eminance yield and integreed drought impacts in intensively managed grassland communities. J. Appl. Ecol. 58, 1864–1875. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13894.
 Graw, V., Ghazaryan, G., Dall, K., Gomez, A.D., Abdel-Hamid, A., Jordaan, A., Piroska, R., Post, J., Szarzynski, J., Walz, Y., Dubovyk, O., 2017. Drought dynamics and vegetation productivity in different land management systems of Eastern Cape, South Africa-A Remote Sensing Perspective. Sustainability. https://doi.org/ 10.2300/cms101272 /su9101728
- Griffin-Nolan, R.J., Blumenthal, D.M., Collins, S.L., Farkas, T.E., Hoffman, A.M., Mueller, K.E., Ocheltree, T.W., Smith, M.D., Whitney, K.D., Knapp, A.K., 2019. Shifts in plant functional composition following long-term drought in grasslands. J. Ecol. 107, 2133-2148, https:// //doi.org/10.1111/136 5-2745 132
- Griffiths, P., Nendel, C., Pickert, J., Hostert, P., 2020. Towards national-scale characterization of grassland use intensity from integrated Sentinel-2 and Landsat time series. Remote Sens. Environ. 238, 111124 https://doi.org/10.1016/j

Grime, J.P., 1998. Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: immediate, filter and founder

- effects. J. Ecol. 86, 902–910. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2745.1998.00306.x. Gu, Y., Brown, J.F., Verdin, J.P., Wardlow, B., 2007. A five-year analysis of MODIS NDVI and NDWI for grassland drought assessment over the central Great Plains of the United States. Geophys. Res. Lett. 34, L06407. https://doi.org/10.1029,
- Haboudane, D., 2004. Hyperspectral vegetation indices and novel algorithms for predicting green LAI of crop canopies: modeling and validation in the context of precision agriculture. Remote Sens. Environ. 90, 337–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/
- Hahn, C., Lüscher, A., Ernst-Hasler, S., Suter, M., Kahmen, A., 2021. Timing of drought in the growing season and strong legacy effects determine the annual productivity of temperate grasses in a changing climate. Biogeosciences 18, 585–604. https://doi. 0 5194/bg-18-5
- Hallett, LM, Stein, C., Suding, K.N., 2017. Functional diversity increases ecological stability in a grazed grassland. Oecologia 183, 831–840. https://doi.org/10.100 00442-016-
- Hofer, D., Suter, M., Haughey, E., Finn, J.A., Hoekstra, N.J., Buchmann, N., Lüscher, A., 2016. Yield of temperate forage grassland species is either largely resistant or resilient to experimental summer drought. J. Appl. Ecol. 53, 1023-1034. https://doi. /10.1111/1365-2664.1269
- Hoover, D.L., Rogers, B.M., 2016. Not all droughts are created equal: the impacts of interannual drought pattern and magnitude on grassland carbon cycling. Glob. Chang. Biol. 22, 1809–1820. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13161.

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

- Horion, S., Ivits, E., De Keersmaecker, W., Tagesson, T., Vogt, J., Fensholt, R., 2019. Mapping European ecosystem change types in response to land-use change, extreme climate events, and land degradation. Land Degrad. Dev. 30, 951–963. https://doi
- Hossain, M.L., Li, J., 2021. NDVI-based vegetation dynamics and its resistance and resilience to different intensities of climatic events. Glob. Ecol. Conserv. 30, e01768. doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2021.e01
- Howden, S.M., Soussana, J.F., Tubiello, F.N., Chhetri, N., Dunlop, M., Meinke, H., 2007. Adapting agriculture to climate change. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 104, 19691–19696. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0701890104.
- Huete, A., Didan, K., Miura, T., Rodriguez, E.P., Gao, X., Ferreira, L.G., 2002. Overview of the radiometric and biophysical performance of the MODIS vegetation indices. Remote Sens. Environ. 83, 195-213. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(02)
- Huete, A.R., 1988. A soil-adjusted vegetation index (SAVI). Remote Sens. Environ. 25,
- Huete, A.K., 1988. A soil-adjusted vegetation index (SAVI). Remote Sens. Environ. 25, 295–309. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(88)90106-X.
 Hulin, S., Farruggia, A., Carrère, P., Lacoste, M., Coulon, J.B., 2012. Valorisation de la diversité des prairies au sein des systèmes fourragers : une approche appliquée pour les territoires AOP du Massif Central. Innov. Agron. 25, 71–84.
 Hulin, S., Galliot, J.N., Carrère, P., Henaff, P.M.L., Bonsacquet, E., 2019. Les prairies naturelles du Massif central : l'expression d'un terroir au service de produits de qualité. Fourrages 239, 223–229.
 Humbert J.V., Davaer, L.M., Andrav, A. Arlettaz, P. 2016. Impacts of nitrogen addition
- Humbert, J.V., Dwyer, J.M., Andrey, A., Arlettaz, R., 2016. Impacts of nitrogen addition on plant biodiversity in mountain grasslands depend on dose, application duration and climate: a systematic review. Glob. Chang. Biol. 22, 110–120. https://doi.org/ to.ucm/plantain/doi.org/ to.ucm/plantain/doi.org/ 10 1111/gch 1
- Humbert, J.Y., Pellet, J., Buri, P., Arlettaz, R., 2012. Does delaying the first mowing date benefit biodiversity in meadowland? Environ. Evid. 1, 9. https://doi.org/10.1186/ 382-1-
- Isbell, F., Craven, D., Connolly, J., Loreau, M., Schmid, B., Beierkuhnlein, C., Bezemer, T. M., Bonin, C., Bruelheide, H., de Luca, E., Ebeling, A., Griffin, J.N., Guo, Q., M., Bonn, C., Brueineide, H., de Luca, E., Ebeiling, A., Griffin, J.N., Guo, Q., Hautier, Y., Hector, A., Jentsch, A., Kreyling, J., Lanta, V., Manning, P., Meyer, S.T., Mori, A.S., Naeem, S., Niklaus, P.A., Polley, H.W., Reich, P.B., Roscher, C., Seabloom, E.W., Smith, M.D., Thakur, M.P., Tilman, D., Tracy, B.F., van der Putten, W.H., van Ruijven, J., Weigelt, A., Weisser, W.W., Wilsey, B., Eisenhauer, N., 2015. Biodiversity increases the resistance of ecosystem productivity to climate extremes. Nature 526, 574–577. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15374.
- Ji, L., Peters, A.J., 2003. Assessing vegetation response to drought in the northern Great Plains using vegetation and drought indices. Remote Sens. Environ. 87, 85–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(03)00174-3. Jiang, Z., Huete, A., Didan, K., Miura, T., 2008. Development of a two-band enhanced
- vegetation index without a blue band. Remote Sens. Environ. 112, 3833–3845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2008.06.006.
- Jiao, W., Chang, O., Wang, L., 2019. The sensitivity of satellite solar-induced chlorophyll iorescence to meteorological drought. Earth's Future 7, 558–573. https: 1.1029/2018EF001087.
- Jiao, W., Wang, L., Smith, W.K., Chang, Q., Wang, H., D'Odorico, P., 2021. Observed Jady M., Wang L., Shindi W.K., Chang Q., Wang H., D Gohleo, F., 2021. Observed increasing water constraint on vegetation growth over the last three decades. Nat. Commun. 12, 3777. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-021-24016-9. Joly, D., Brossard, T., Cardot, H., Cavailhes, J., Hilal, M., Wavresky, P., 2010. Les types
- de climats En France, une construction spatiale. Cybergeo. http
- Jordan, C.F., 1969, Derivation of leaf-area index from quality of light on the forest floor. Ecology 50, 663–666. https://doi.org/10.2307/1936256. Kahmen, A., Perner, J., Buchmann, N., 2005. Diversity-dependent productivity
- in seminatural grasslands following climate perturbations. Funct. Ecol. 19, 594–601. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2435.2005.01001.x.
- Kaufman, Y.J., Tanre, D. 1992. Atmospherically resistant vegetation index (ARVI) for EOS-MODIS. IEEE Trans. Geosci. Remote Sens. 30, 261–270. https://doi.org/
- 10.1109/36.1340/6.
 Klaus, V.H., Hölzel, N., Prati, D., Schmitt, B., Schöning, I., Schrumpf, M., Solly, E.F., Hänsel, F., Fischer, M., Kleinebecker, T., 2016. Plant diversity moderates drought stress in grasslands: implications from a large real-world study on 13C natural abundances. Sci. Total Environ. 566-567, 215–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
- Knapp, A.K., Avolio, M.L., Beier, C., Carroll, C.J.W., Collins, S.L., Dukes, J.S., Fraser, L. H., Griffin-Nolan, R.J., Hoover, D.L., Jentsch, A., Loik, M.E., Phillips, R.P., Post, A.K., Sala, O.E., Slette, I.J., Yahdjian, L., Smith, M.D., 2017a. Pushing precipitation to the extremes in distributed experiments: recommendations for simulating wet and dry years. Glob. Chang. Biol. 23, 1774–1782. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13504.
 Knapp, A.K., Clais, P., Smith, M.D., 2017b. Reconciling inconsistencies in
- precipitation-productivity relationships: implications for climate change. New Phytol. 214, 41–47. https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.14381. Kogan, F., Stark, R., Gitelson, A., Jargalsaikhan, L., Dugrajav, C., Tsooj, S., 2004.
- Derivation of pasture biomass in Mongolia from AVHRR-based vegetation health indices. Int. J. Remote Sens. 25, 2889–2896. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 01431160410001697619
- Kolecka, N., Ginzler, C., Pazur, R., Price, B., Verburg, P., 2018. Regional scale mapping of grassland mowing frequency with sentinel-2 time series. Remote Sens. 10, 1221. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs10081221.
- Kreyling, J., Dengler, J., Walter, J., Velev, N., Ugurlu, E., Sopotlieva, D., Ransijn, J., Picon-Cochard, C., Nijs, I., Hernandez, P., Güler, B., von Gillhausen, P., De Boeck, H.J., Bloor, J.M.G., Berwaers, S., Beierkuhnlein, C., Arfin Khan, M.A.S., Apostolova, I., Altan, Y., Zeiter, M., Wellstein, C., Sternberg, M., Stampfli, A. Campetella, G., Bartha, S., Bahn, M., Jentsch, A., 2017. Species richness effects on

D.A. Luna et al.

- grassland recovery from drought depend on community productivity in a multisite experiment. Ecol. Lett. 20, 1405–1413. https://doi.org/10.1111/el.2848. Kübert, A., Götz, M., Kuester, E., Piayda, A., Werner, C., Rothfuss, Y., Dubbert, M., 2019.
- Nitrogen loading enhances stress impact of drought on a semi-natural temperate grassland. Front. Plant Sci. 10, 1051. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2019.01051. Le Hénaff, P.M., Galliot, J.N., Le Gloanec, V., Ragache, Q., 2021. Végétations Agropastorales Du Massif Central-Catalogue Phytosociologique. Conservatoire
- e National du Massif Central, Chay ac-Lafavette
- Lei, T., Pang, Z., Wang, X., Li, L., Fu, J., Kan, G., Zhang, X., Ding, L., Li, J., Huang, S., Shao, C., 2016. Drought and carbon cycling of grassland ecosystems under global change: a review. Water 8, 460. https://doi.org/10.3390/w8100460. bind, S., 2010. Budght and through symmetry grassmal environment ground change: a review. Water 8, 460. https://doi.org/10.3390/w8100460. noine, N.P., Hoffman, A., Felton, A.J., Baur, L., Chaves, F., Gray, J., Yu, Q., Smith, M. D., 2016. Underappreciated problems of low replication in ecological field studies.
- D., 2010. Onetappretated protects of low representation in conservation of the conservation o sensitivity to soil moisture. Nat. Commun. 13, 3959. https://o s41467-022-31667-9. 0/10.1038/
- Li, Z., Zhou, T., Zhao, X., Huang, K., Gao, S., Wu, H., Luo, H., 2015. Assessments of drought impacts on vegetation in China with the optimal time scales of the climatic drought index. Int. J. Environ. Res. 12, 7615–7634. https://doi.org/10.3390/ rph120707615
- Liu, S., Zhang, Y., Cheng, F., Hou, X., Zhao, S., 2017. Response of grassland degradation to drought at different time-scales in Qinghai province: spatio-temporal characteristics, correlation, and implications. Remote Sens. 9, 1329. https://doi.org/ rs912132
- Lobert, F., Holtgrave, A.K., Schwieder, M., Pause, M., Vogt, J., Gocht, A., Erasmi, S 2021. Mowing event detection in permanent grasslands: systematic evaluation of input features from Sentinel-1, Sentinel-2, and Landsat 8 time series. Remote Sens.
- Environ. 267, 112751 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rse.2021.112751. Loreau, M., de Mazancourt, C., 2013. Biodiversity and ecosystem stability: a synthesis of underlying mechanisms. Ecol. Lett. 16, 106-115. https://doi.org/10.1111
- Louault, F., Pottier, J., Note, P., Vile, D., Soussana, J.F., Carrère, P., 2017. Complex plant community responses to modifications of disturbance and nutrient availability in productive permanent grasslands. J. Veg. Sci. 28, 538-549. https://doi.org/ 1111/jvs.12509
- Lu, Z., Peng, S., Slette, I., Cheng, G., Li, X., Chen, A., 2021. Soil moisture seasonality Lu, Z., Ferg, S., offette, I., Cheng, G., Li, A., Chen, A., 2011. Soin mousure seasonarry alters vegetation response to drought in the Mongolian Plateau. Environ. Res. Lett. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abd1a2.
 Lymburner, L., Beggs, P., Jacobson, C., 2000. Estimation of canopy-average surface-
- ecific leaf area using landsat TM Data. Photogramm. Eng. Remote Sens. 66,
- Ma, X., Huete, A., Cleverly, J., Eamus, D., Chevallier, F., Joiner, J., Poulter, B., Zhang, Y., Guanter, L., Meyer, W., Xie, Z., Ponce-Campos, G., 2016. Drought rapidly diminisher the large net CO₂ uptake in 2011 over semi-arid Australia. Sci. Rep. https://doi.org/
- Ma, Z., Chang, S.X., Bork, E.W., Steinaker, D.F., Wilson, S.D., White, S.R., Cahill, J.F., 2020. Climate change and defoliation interact to affect root length across northern temperate grasslands. Funct. Ecol. 34, 2611–2621. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-
- Marchi, M., Castellanos-Acuña, D., Hamann, A., Wang, T., Ray, D., Menzel, A., 2020. ClimateEU, scale-free climate normals, historical time series, and future projections
- ClimateEU, scale-free climate normals, instorcal time series, and luture projections for Europe. Sci. Data 7, 428. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41597-020-00763-0.
 Martínez-López, M., Tinoco-Ojanguren, C., Martorell, C., 2020. Drought tolerance increases with seed size in a semiarid grassland from southern Mexico. Plant Ecol. 221, 989–1003. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-020-01056-7.
 Matos, I.S., Flores, B.M., Hirota, M., Rosado, B.H.P., 2020. Critical transitions in rainfall
- manipulation experiments on grasslands. Ecol. Evol. 10, 2695-2704. https://doi
- Maurer, G.E., Hallmark, A.J., Brown, R.F., Sala, O.E., Collins, S.L., 2020. Sensitivity of primary production to precipitation across the United States. Ecol. Lett. 23, 527-536. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13455. McDaniel, K.C., Haas, R.H., 1982. Assessing m
- Daniel, K.C., Haas, R.H., 1982. Assessing mesquite-grass vegetation condition from landsat. Photogramm. Eng. Remote Sens. 48, 441–450.
- Ianosat. Photogramm. Eng. Itemote Sens. 48, 441–450.
 McDowell, N.G., Coops, N.C., Beck, P.S.A., Chambers, J.Q., Gangodagamage, C., Hicke, J. A., Huang, C., Kennedy, R., Krofcheck, D.J., Litvak, M., Meddens, A.J.H., Muss, J., Negrón-Juarez, R., Peng, C., Schwantes, A.M., Swenson, J.J., Vernon, L.J., Williams, A.P., Xu, C., Zhao, M., Running, S.W., Allen, C.D., 2015. Global satellite monitoring of climate-induced vegetation disturbances. Trends Plant Sci. 20, 114, 120, 2016.
- 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ttplants.2014.10.008.
 Meng, B., Li, J., Maurer, G.E., Zhong, S., Yao, Y., Yang, X., Collins, S.L., Sun, W., 2021.
 Nitrogen addition amplifies the nonlinear drought response of grassland productivity to extended growing-season droughts. Ecology 102. https://doi.org/10.1002/
- Musson, S.M., Long, A.L., Wallace, C.S.A., Webb, R.H., 2016. Cumulative drought and land-use impacts on perennial vegetation across a North American dryland region.
- Appl. Veg. Sci. 19, 430-441. https://doi.org/10.1111/avsc.12228. aina, T.O., Xu, C., Yu, Q., Yang, Y., Jing, M., Jia, X., Jaman, Md.S., Dam, Q., Knapp, A.K., Collins, S.L., Luo, Y., Luo, W., Zuo, X., Xin, X., Han, X., Smith, M.D., Mur 2021. Species asynchrony stabilises productivity under extreme drought across Northern China grasslands. J. Ecol. 109, 1665–1675. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-
- Nagy, Z., Pinter, K., Czobel, S., Balogh, J., Horvath, L., Foti, S., Barcza, Z., Weidinger, T., sintalan, Zs., Dinh, N.Q., Grosz, B., Tuba, Z., 2007. The carbon budget of semi-arid

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

- grassland in a wet and a dry year in Hungary. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. https://doi.
- Nanzad, L., Zhang, J., Tuvdendorj, B., Nabil, M., Zhang, S., Bai, Y., 2019. NDVI anomaly for drought monitoring and its correlation with climate factors over Mongolia from 2000 to 2016. J. Arid Environ. 164, 69-77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j
- Newbold, T., Hudson, L.N., Arnell, A.P., Contu, S., De Palma, A., Ferrier, S., Hill, S.L.L., Hoskins, A.J., Jusenko, I., Phillips, H.R.P., Burton, V.J., Chng, C.W.T., Emerson, S., Gao, D., Pask-Hale, G., Hutton, J., Jung, M., Sanchez-Ortiz, K., Simmons, B.I., Whitmee, S., Zhang, H., Scharlemann, J.P.W., Purvis, A., 2016. Has land use pushed terrestrial biodiversity beyond the planetary bundary? A global assessment. Science 353, 288–291. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aaf2201.Niu, K., Choler, P., de Bello, F., Mirotchnick, N., Du, G., Sun, S., 2014. Fertilization
- decreases species diversity but increases functional diversity: a three-year experiment in a Tibetan alpine meadow. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 182, 106–112. /doi.org/10.1016/j.; ee.2013.07.015
- Nunes, A., Köbel, M., Pinho, P., Matos, P., de Bello, F., Correia, O., Branquinho, C., 2017. Which plant traits respond to aridity? A critical step to assess functional diversity in Mediterranean drylands. Agric. For. Meteorol. 239, 176–184. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/i.agrfc et 201
- O'Mara, F.P., 2012. The role of grasslands in food security and climate change. Ann. Bot. 110, 1263-1270. http: org/10.
- Pei, Z., Fang, S., Wang, L., Yang, W., 2020. Comparative analysis of drought indicated by the SPI and SPEI at various timescales in Inner Mongolia, China. Water 12, 1925. w1207192
- nuelas, J., Garbulsky, M., Filella, I., 2011. Photochemical reflectance index (PRI) and remote sensing of plant CO₂ uptake. New Phytol. 191, 596–599. https:// 10.1111/j.1469-8137.201
- Peres-Neto, P.R., Legendre, P., Dray, S., Borcard, D., 2006. Variation partitioning of species data matrices: estimation and comparison of fractions. Ecology 87, 2614–2625. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2006)87[2614:VPOSDM]2.0.CO;
- Pérez-Ramos, I.M., Roumet, C., Cruz, P., Blanchard, A., Autran, P., Garnier, E., 2012. Evidence for a 'plant community economics spectrum' driven by nutrient and water limitations in a Mediterranean rangeland of southern France. J. Ecol. 100, 1315–1327. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.12000. ronne, R., Amiaud, B., Benquey, G., Bloor, J., Choler, P., Jolivet, C., Violle, C.,
- Pottier, J., 2019. Quelle pertinence du modèle diversité productivé perturbations pour analyser l'influence des pratiques agricoles sur la diversité des prairies permanentes du Massif central ? Fourrages 237, 47–55.
- Picoli, M.C.A., Machado, P.G., Duft, D.G., Scarpare, F.V., Corrêa, S.T.R., Hernandes, T.A D., Rocha, J.V., 2019. Sugarcane drought detection through spectral indices drived modeling by remote-sensing techniques. Model. Earth Syst. Environ. 5, 1679–1688. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40808-019-00619-6.
- Pinty, B., Verstraete, M.M., 1992. GEMI: a non-linear index to monitor global vegetation from satellites. Vegetatio 101, 15–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00031911.
- R Core Team, 2021. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. Rigal, A., Azaïs, J.M., Ribes, A., 2019. Estimating daily climatological normals in a
- changing climate. Clim. Dyn. 53, 275-286. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00382-018-
- Reinermann, S., Asam, S., Kuenzer, C., 2020. Remote sensing of grassland production
- and management-a review. Remote Sens. 12, 1949. https://doi.org/10.3390/ rs12121949 (Basel). Richardson, A.J., Wiegand, C., 1977. Distinguishing Vegetation from Soil Background Information. Photogramm. Eng. Remote Sens. 43, 1541–1552.
- Brown Dobreco, M., Bourennane, H., Arrouays, D., Sabya, N.P.A., Cousin, I., Martin, M. P., 2019. Uncertainty assessment of GlobalSoilMap soil available water capacity products: a French case study. Geoderma 344, 14-30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j
- Rondeaux, G., Steven, M., Baret, F., 1996. Optimization of soil-adjusted vegetation indices. Remote Sens. Environ. 55, 95-107. https://doi.org/10.1016/0034-4257(95)
- Rose, L., Coners, H., Leuschner, C., 2012. Effects of fertilization and cutting frequency on the water balance of a temperate grassland. Ecohydrology 5, 64-72. http 10.1002
- Météo-France, 2021. Météo-France Données publiques. https://donneespubliques.meteof rance.fr/ (accessed 18 March 2021). opean Union, Copernicus Land Monitoring Service, European Environment Agency (EEA), 2016. European Digital Elevation Model (EU-DEM), version 1.1. http://land.
- atellite-derived-products/eu-dem/eu-de m-v1.1/view (accessed 25 April 2021). Julve, P., 1998. Baseflor, index botanique, écologique et chorologique de la flore de
- so-orange.fr/catminat.htm (accessed 06 May France. http://philippe.julve.page 2021)
- Rouse, J.J., Haas, R.H., Schell, J., Deering, D., 1974. Monitoring vegetation systems in the Great Plains with ERTS. NASA. Goddard Space Flight Center 3d ERTS-1 Symp. 1, 309-317
- Ruppert, J.C., Harmoney, K., Henkin, Z., Snyman, H.A., Sternberg, M., Willms, W., Linstädter, A., 2015. Quantifying drylands' drought resistance and recovery: the importance of drought intensity, dominant life history and grazing regime. Glob. Chang. Biol. 21, 1258–1270. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.12777.

D.A. Luna et al

- Russo, S., Dosio, A., Graversen, R.G., Sillmann, J., Carrao, H., Dunbar, M.B., Singleton, A., Montagna, P., Barbola, P., Vogt, J.V., 2014. Magnitude of extreme heat waves in present climate and their projection in a warming world. J. Geophys. Res.
- Atmos. 119, 12500. https://doi.org/10.1002/2014JD022098. -12,512. Armos, 119, 12500, https://doi.org/10.1002/2014J0022098, -12,512.
 Salehnia, N., Zare, H., Kolsoumi, S., Bannayan, M., 2018. Predictive value of Keetch-Byram Drought Index for cereal yields in a semi-arid environment. Theor. Appl. Climatol. 134, 1005–1014. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00704-017-2315-2.
 Sardans, J., Peñuelas, J., Ogaya, R., 2008. Drought's impact on Ca. Fe, Mg. Mo and S concentration and accumulation patterns in the plants and soil of a Mediterranean
- evergreen Quercus ilex forest. Biogeochemistry 87, 49-69. https://doi.org/10.1007/
- s10533-007-9167-2.
 Shao, Y., Li, S., Gao, L., Sun, C., Hu, J., Ullah, A., Gao, J., Li, X., Liu, S., Jiang, D., Cao, W., Tian, Z., Dai, T., 2021. Magnesium application promotes rubisco activation and contributes to high-temperature stress alleviation in wheat during the grain filling. Front. Plant Sci. 12, 675582 https://doi.org/10.3389/fjls.2021.675582.
 Socher, S.A., Prati, D., Boch, S., Müller, J., Baumbach, H., Gockel, S., Hemp, A.,
- Schöning, I., Wells, K., Buscot, F., Kalko, E.K.V., Linsenmair, K.E., Schulze, E.D., Weisser, W.W., Fischer, M., 2013. Interacting effects of fertilization, mowing and grazing on plant species diversity of 1500 grasslands in Germany differ between regions. Basic Appl. Ecol. 14, 126-136. https://doi.org/10.1016/
- Soussana, J.F., Lemaire, G., 2014. Coupling carbon and nitrogen cycles for
- environmentally usinable intensification of grasslands and crop-livestock systems. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 190, 9–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2013.10.012. Stampfli, A., Zeiter, M., 2004. Plant regeneration directs changes in grassland
- composition after extreme drought: a 13-year study in southern Switzerland: plant regeneration directs changes. J. Ecol. 92, 568–576. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0022
- University of the second - Tollerud, H.J., Brown, J.F., Loveland, T.R., 2020. Investigating the effects of land use and land cover on the relationship between moisture and reflectance using landsat time series. Remote Sens. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12121919.
 Tong, S., Bao, Y., Te, R., Ma, Q., Ha, S., Lusi, A., 2017. Analysis of drought characteristics
- in Xilingol grassland of Northern China based on SPEI and its impact on vegetation. Math. Probl. Eng. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/5209173. Tränkner, M., Jamali Jaghdani, S., 2019. Minimum magnesium concentrations for
- photosynthetic efficiency in wheat and sunflower seedlings. Plant Physiol. Biochem 144, 234–243. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plaphy.2019.09.040. Ushey, K., Allaire, J., Tang, Y., 2022. Reticulate: interface to 'Python'. htt
- io/reticulate. (accessed 10 June 2020). Valencia, E., de Bello, F., Galland, T., Adler, P.B., Lepš, J., E-Vojtkó, A., van Klink, R., Carmona, C.P., Danihelka, J., Dengler, J., Eldridge, D.J., Estiarte, M., García-
- González, R., Garnier, E., Gómez-García, D., Harrison, S.P., Herben, T., Ibáñez, R., Jentsch, A., Juergens, N., Kertész, M., Klumpp, K., Louault, F., Marrs, R.H., Ogaya, R., Ónodi, G., Pakeman, R.J., Pardo, I., Pärtel, M., Peco, B., Peñuelas, J., Pywell, R.F., Rueda, M., Schmidt, W., Schmiedel, U., Schuetz, M., Skálová, H., Smilauer, P., Šmilauerová, M., Smit, C., Song, M., Stock, M., Val, J., Vandvik, V., Ward, D., Wesche, K., Wiser, S.K., Woodcock, B.A., Young, T.P., Yu, F.H., Zobel, M., Götzenberger, L., 2020. Synchrony matters more than species richness in plant community stability at a global scale. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 117, 24345–24351. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1920405117.
- Schamine, J. H.J., Somers, B., Honnay, O., 2015. Plant species diversity mediates ecosystem stability of natural dune grasslands in response to drought. Ecosystems 18, 1383–1394. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-015-9905-6.
- Venables, W.N., Ripley, B.D., 2002. Modern Applied Statistics with S, Statistics and Computing. Springer New York, New York, NY. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-5
- Vicente-Serrano, S.M., 2007. Evaluating the impact of drought using remote sensing in a mediterranean, semi-arid region. Nat. Hazards 40, 173–208. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11069-006-0009
- Vicente-Serrano, S.M., Beguería, S., López-Moreno, J.I., 2010, A multiscalar drought index sensitive to global warming: the standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index. J. Clim. 23, 1696-1718. https://doi.org/10.1175/2009JCLI2
- Moreno, J.I., Azorin-Molina, C., Pasho, E., Lorenzo-Lacruz, J., Revuelto, J., Moran-Tejeda, E., Sanchez-Lorenzo, A., 2013. Response of vegetation to drought time-scales

Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 331 (2023) 109325

- across global land biomes, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 110, 52-57, https://doi.org/
- Vogel, A., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Weigelt, A., 2012. Grassland resistance and resilience after drought depends on management intensity and species richness. PLoS One 7, e36992. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036992. Volaire, F., 1994. Effects of summer drought and spring defoliation on carbohydrate
- reserves, persistence, and recovery of two populations of cocksfoot (Dactylis glomerata) in a Mediterranean environment. J. Agric. Sci. 122, 207–215. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0021859600087384.
- Wagle, P., Gowda, P.H., Northup, B.K., Starks, P.J., Neel, J.P.S., 2019. Response of tallgrass prairie to management in the US Southern Great Plains: site descriptions, management practices, and eddy covariance instrumentation for a long-term experiment. Remote Sens. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs11171
- Wang, L., Qu, J.J., 2007. NMDI: a normalized multi-band drought index for monitoring soil and vegetation moisture with satellite remote sensing. Geophys. Res. Lett. 34, L20405. https://doi.org/10.1029/2007GL031021.
- L20405. https://doi.org/10.1029/200/L031021.
 Wang, Q., Shi, P., Lei, T., Geng, G., Liu, J., Mo, X., Li, X., Zhou, H., Wu, J., 2015. The alleviating trend of drought in the Huang-Huai-Hai Plain of China based on the daily SPEI. Int. J. Climatol. 35, 3760–3769. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.4244.
 Waraich, E., Ahmad, R., Ullah, S., Ashraf, M.Y., Ehsanullah, 2011. Role of mineral nutrition in alleviation of drought stress in plants. Aust. J. Crop Sci. 5, 764–777.
 Weisser, W.W., Roscher, C., Meyer, S.T., Ebeling, A., Luo, G., Allan, E., Beßler, H., Besnerd, B. L., Buchernen, N. Darest, E., Ersche, C., Eicher, M.M.
- Isser, W. W., Roscher, C., Meyer, S. I., Ebeling, A., Luo, G., Allah, E., Beller, H., Barnard, R.L., Buchmann, N., Buscot, F., Engels, C., Fischer, C., Fischer, M., Gessler, A., Gleixner, G., Halle, S., Hildebrandt, A., Hillebrand, H., de Kroon, H., Lange, M., Leimer, S., Le Roux, X., Milcu, A., Mommer, L., Niklaus, P.A., Oelmann, Y., Proulx, R., Roy, J., Scherber, C., Scherer-Lorenzen, M., Scheu, S., Tscharntke, T., Wachendorf, M., Wagg, C., Weigelt, A., Wilcke, W., Wirth, C., Schulze, E.D., Schmid, B., Eisenhauer, N., 2017. Biodiversity effects on ecosystem for the Article Press, and Scherberg, Scherberg, Scherer, Scherer, Scherer, Scherer, Scherer, Scherer, Scherberg, - 2473-2481, https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13662,
- 2473–2481. https://doi.org/10.111/gcb.13662.
 Wu, W., 2014. The Generalized Difference Vegetation Index (GDVI) for dryland characterization. Remote Sens. 6, 1211–1233. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs6021211.
 Xiao, X., Hollinger, D., Aber, J., Goltz, M., Davidson, E.A., Zhang, Q., Moore, B., 2004.
 Satellitte-based modeling of gross primary production in an evergreen needleleaf forest. Remote Sens. Environ. 89, 519–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. 03.11.008
- H., Wang, X., Zhao, C., Yang, X., 2021. Assessing the response of vegetation photosynthesis to meteorological drought across northern China. Land Degrad. Dev. 32, 20-34. http s://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.3701
- Xu, X., Sherry, R.A., Niu, S., Li, D., Luo, Y., 2013. Net primary productivity and rain-use efficiency as affected by warming, altered precipitation, and clipping in a mixedgrass prairie. Glob. Chang. Biol. 19, 2753-2764. https://doi.org 10.1111
- Yang, J., El-Kassaby, Y.A., Guan, W., 2020. The effect of slope aspect on vegetation attributes in a mountainous dry valley, Southwest China. Sci. Rep. 10, 16465. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-73496-0.
- Ye, Z.X., Cheng, W.M., Zhao, Z.Q., Guo, J.Y., Yang, Z.X., Wang, R.B., Wang, N., 2020. Spatio-temporal characteristics of drought events and their effects on vegetation: a case study in Southern Tibet, China. Remote Sens. 12, 4174. https://doi
- Zargar, A., Sadiq, R., Naser, B., Khan, F.I., 2011. A review of drought indices. Environ. Rev. 19, 333-349. http
- Rev. 19, 333–349. https://doi.org/10.1139/a11-013.
 Zhang, R., Zhao, X., Zuo, X., Degen, A.A., Li, Y., Liu, X., Luo, Y., Qu, H., Lian, J.,
 Wang, R., 2020. Drought-induced shift from a carbon sink to a carbon source in the grasslands of Inner Mongolia, China. Catena 195, 104845. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.catena.2020.104845.
- Zhao, A., Zhang, A., Cao, S., Liu, X., Liu, J., Cheng, D., 2018. Responses of vegetation productivity to multi-scale drought in Loess Plateau, China. Catena 163, 165-171.
- Zhou, Q., Rover, J., Brown, J., Worstell, B., Howard, D., Wu, Z., Gallant, A. Rundquist, B., Burke, M., 2019. Monitoring landscape dynamics in central U.S. grasslands with harmonized landsat-8 and sentinel-2 time series data. Remote S 11, 328. https:/ oi.org/10.3390/rs1103032
- Zwicke, M., Alessio, G.A., Thiery, L., Falcimagne, R., 2013. Lasting effects of climate disturbance on perennial grassland aboveground biomass production under two cutting frequencies. Glob. Chang. Biol. 19, 3435–3448. https://doi.org/10.1111/ gcb.1231

Assessment of grassland sensitivity to drought in the Massif central region using remote sensing

Luna, D., Pottier, J., Picon-Cochard, C. Université Clermont Auvergne, INRAE - VetAgro Sup, UREP, 63000 Clermont-Ferrand, France

Abstract

Drought is a natural phenomenon that is expected to increase in frequency and duration with climate change, leading to more intense disturbance of ecosystems like grasslands. Moreover, the sensitivity of grasslands to drought is expected to differentiate across wide spatial extents. To assess and explain these sensitivity variations, knowledge of several grasslands and local parameters must be considered. Our study focused on 143 permanent grasslands in the Massif Central Region of Metropolitan France. With the use of satellite remote sensing, we quantified the relationship between vegetation index anomalies and a modified version of the Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (mSPEI) to acquire grassland sensitivity values. The anomalies are estimates of the historic long-term fluctuations of grassland vegetation reflectance to climatic water balance from 1985 to 2019. A model selection procedure was implemented to determine whether the derived sensitivities can be attributed to explanatory variables such as vegetation diversity, pedoclimatic conditions, or management practices. Then a variance partitioning of the included explanatory variables was performed. Our results highlight the key influence of available soil available water capacity and time of first use on grassland sensitivity to drought of the selected parcels in the region, but also of plant functional diversity.

Keywords: drought, mSPEI, grassland response, sensitivity, remote sensing, vegetation index

Introduction

The Intergovernmental Panel for Climate Change has projected an overall increasing trend in the global temperature due to climate change, together with more frequent and longer extreme climatic events (IPCC, 2021). Among these events, droughts have large-scale impacts on ecosystems like grasslands. However, the grassland responses or sensitivities to drought are expected to vary across wide spatial extents depending on the grassland's local properties. A better understanding of grassland drought sensitivity, over large extents outside of controlled experiments, may help promote agricultural practices supporting grassland stability. To do so, remote-sensing technologies offer new opportunities for fine-resolution monitoring of grasslands (Reinermann et al., 2020). This study aims to assess the variability of grassland drought sensitivity, including pedoclimate, biodiversity, and agricultural management.

Materials and methods

We analysed the drought sensitivity of 394 plots from 143 permanent grassland parcels distributed over the Massif central (AOP field surveys, 2008-2019) using satellite-based remote sensing. To do so, we first mapped the severity of drought events from 1985 to 2019, with a modified version of the Standardized Precipitation-Evapotranspiration Index (mSPEI; Beguería, et al. 2010) computed from the daily climatic data provided by the *Système d'Analyse Fournissant des Renseignements Atmosphériques à la Neige* (SAFRAN) meteorological data of France. Then, we derived standardized vegetation index (VI) anomalies over the same period. These anomalies are values of the departure of

VI from their long-term daily mean. The VI time series were calculated from Landsat images from 1985 to 2019. Finally, we quantified grassland drought sensitivity, during the growing season (March to November), as the regression slope between the standardized VI anomalies and mSPEI (Ji and Peters, 2003). From 25 computed VIs and based on a Principal Component Analysis (PCA), we selected the Normalized Multi-band Drought Index (NMDI), which was developed for monitoring soil and vegetation moisture (Wang and Qu 2007). To better understand the drivers of grassland drought sensitivity, we implemented a statistical model selection procedure with drought sensitivity as the response variable. The explanatory variables, derived from the field surveys and the Copernicus Land Monitoring services' high-resolution digital elevation model, pertain to three categories: 1) management practices, 2) vegetation diversity, denoted by the taxonomic and functional indices plus the community weighted mean of traits related to growth, phenology, and reproduction, and 3) pedoclimatic conditions, depicted by soil physical and chemical properties (including soil available water capacity or AWC), terrain wetness index and aspect. Lastly, we performed a variance partitioning of the model explanatory variables to quantify their relative influences.

Results and Discussion

In our study, we found a large variability of satellite-sensed drought sensitivities of the Massif central grasslands (Figure 1) with a 35.62% coefficient of variation. The model selection procedure led to a final sensitivity model with seven explanatory variables and an R-squared of 0.52 (Table 1). According to the variance partitioning (Figure 2), pedoclimatic factors explained the largest part (35%) of variation. From these factors, AWC had a strong negative effect on drought sensitivity. Expectedly, higher soil water retention capacity mitigates meteorological drought. In contrast, a south-facing slope promoted sensitivity most likely due to higher solar radiation exposure (local underestimation of mSPEI) compared to northfacing slopes. Management factors explained 23% of the total variation. From the model, delayed first uses resulted in higher drought sensitivity. Such factor has been understudied so far, hindering a clear



Figure 1. Spatial (top) and statistical (bottom) distributions of drought sensitivities in the Massif central. Sensitivities are the slope of the linear relationship of the standardized (std) VI anomaly and mSPEI.

understanding of its effect on grassland drought sensitivity. Grasslands that were preferentially grazed (type of use) showed higher drought sensitivity in contrast to rather mowed grasslands. This is consistent with the field experiment by Deléglise, et al. (2015), where drought conditions in grazing

Category	Explanatory variable	Beta coefficient	t value	Pr(> t)
Pedoclimate	AWC (topsoil)	-0.5396292	-8.603	2.27e-14
	South-facing slope (aspect)	0.2355297	3.656	0.000372
Management	Time of first use (as GDD)	0.5163540	7.081	8.23e-11
	Type of use (grazing or mowing)	0.2936155	3.812	0.000213
	Mean number of uses	0.1295399	1.853	0.066173
Diversity	Fdis: plant growth form	-0.1600510	-2.379	0.018819
	CWM: plant height	-0.1416316	-1.978	0.050051

Table 1. Final sensitivity model (R-squared is 0. 5242) and variance partitioning results.

plots led to lower annual biomass than in mowing plots. The mean number of uses per year also increased sensitivity. When grasslands are frequently used throughout the growing season, stored

carbohydrates, which are necessary for plant regrowth, may become limited during drought events (Fulkerson and Donaghy, 2001). Our model also underlined the role of diversity (9%), which is mostly shared with the pedoclimatic and management factors. We found that more diverse plant growth strategies promoted lesser drought sensitivity, as already shown in experimental studies (Weisser, et al. 2017). In addition, grassland plots with taller plants, or higher CWM height, exhibited lower drought sensitivity, as confirmed by Nunes, et al. (2017).

Conclusion

Using remote sensing, we assessed drought sensitivities of a wide range of grasslands across the Massif central region. These

sensitivities were highly variable, but the majority of these variabilities could be explained by pedoclimatic, diversity, and management factors. AWC had the largest influence. We also underlined the role of diversity shared with pedoclimate and management on grassland drought sensitivity, which is in line with previous grassland-drought field experiments. We here further assessed the relative importance of these drivers in real agricultural systems.

References

- Beguería, S., Vicente-Serrano, S. M., Reig, F., and Latorre, B. (2014). Standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index (SPEI) revisited: Parameter fitting, evapotranspiration models, tools, datasets and drought monitoring. *International Journal of Climatology.*, 23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.3887</u>
- Deléglise, C., Meisser, M., Mosimann, E., Spiegelberger, T., Signarbieux, C., Jeangros, B., and Buttler, A. (2015). Drought-induced shifts in plants traits, yields and nutritive value under realistic grazing and mowing managements in a mountain grassland. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 213, 94–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.07.020</u>
- Fulkerson, W. and Donaghy, D. (2001). Plant-soluble carbohydrate reserves and senescence Key criteria for developing an effective grazing management system for ryegrass-based pastures: A review. Animal Production Science. 41. 261-275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1071/EA00062</u>.
- IPCC (2021). Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, ... B. Zhou (eds.)]. *Cambridge University Press*. In Press.
- Ji, L. and Peters, A. (2003). Assessing vegetation response to drought in the northern Great Plains using vegetation and drought indices. Remote Sensing of Environment. 87. 85-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0034-4257(03)00174-3</u>
- Nunes, A., Köbel, M., Pinho, P., Matos, P., Bello, F., Correia, O., and Branquinho, C. (2017). Which plant traits respond to aridity? A critical step to assess functional diversity in Mediterranean drylands. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology. 239. 176-184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2017.03.007</u>.
- Pôle Fromager AOP Massif Central. Prairies Naturelles du Massif Central : Plus de 10 ans de co-construction de R&D ! Aurillac, France. <u>http://pole-fromager-aop-mc.org/prairies-du-massif-central/</u>
- Reinermann, S., Asam, S., and Kuenzer, C. (2020). Remote Sensing of Grassland Production and Management—A Review. Remote Sensing, 12(12), 1949. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs12121949
- Wang, L., and Qu, J. J. (2007). NMDI: A normalized multi-band drought index for monitoring soil and vegetation moisture with satellite remote sensing. *Geophysical Research Letters*, 34(20), L20405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2007GL031021</u>
- Weisser, W., Roscher, C., Meyer, S., Ebeling, A., Luo, G., Allan, E., Beßler, H., ... Eisenhauer, N. (2017). Biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning in a 15-year grassland experiment: Patterns, mechanisms, and open questions. Basic and Applied Ecology, 23, 1–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2017.06.002</u>



Figure 2. Variance partitioning of the main variable categories (R package: vegan).

8

8

variance of sensitivity to drought (%)

40

20

15 30 60 90 120 150 180

SPEI timescale (in days)

Figure 5. Variance partitioning summary of predictor types

Vicente Serrano, S. Begueria, S. and López-Moreno, J.L. (2010). A Multiscalar Drought Index Sensitive to Global Warming: The Standardized Precipitation Exeport angulation Index. Journal of Climate. 23, 1696-1718. 10.1175/2009JCII/2909.1.

Explained

Reference:

Management + Pedocl

Management Diversity + Management Diversity Pedoclimate + Diversity

Variability and drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought using satellite spectral indices

Donald LUNA¹, Julien POTTIER¹, & Catherine PICON-COCHARD¹ Université Clermont Auvergne, INRAE, VetAgro Sup, UREP, 63000 Clermont-Ferrand donald.luna@inrae.fr

Context

Methods

Drought is expected to increase in severity and frequency with climate change. This will lead to varying impacts on grasslands within regions and across timescales. Our study aims to (i) quantify the variability of grassland sensitivity to drought, and (ii) identify factors influencing these sensitivities.

We assessed the sensitivity to drought of 394 permanent grassland plots within the Massif Central (Figure 1). In our workflow (Figure 2), grassland sensitivity was determined as the relationship between the standardized anomalies of the satellite-based vegetation indices (VI) and modified Standardized Precipitation - Evapotranspiration Index (SPEI; Vicente-Serrano, et al. 2010). Then we performed a model selection procedure comprising of the sensitivity to drought of the most responsive standardized VI anomaly, together with the pedoclimate, agricultural management, and vegetation diversity factors. We repeated the model selection across seven timescales. Lastly, variance partitioning of all selected models were conducted to determine the influence per factors types.

the Massif Central region

Figure 1. Grassland plots within

(O)

0

ED

2022 3



ii. Drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought *

Results

i. Variability of grassland sensitivity to drought





Figure 4. Beta coefficients of model predictors at different timescales. (value > 0 = increases sensitivity; values < 0 = decreases sensitivity) *Inputs were averaged values of NDWI- and GVMI-based models



- Variability of grassland sensitivity to drought is high and ranged from 23 34% across all timescales .
- Soil water holding capacity (SWHC) has the highest drought mitigating effect at short timescales (15- and 30-days). Wherein, a high SWHC decreases grassland sensitivity to drought.
- Functional diversity of growth syndromes has an increasing mitigating effect as timescale increases.
- Date of first use by farmers has high positive effect across all timescales. Delayed date of first use increases sensitivity.
- · Diversity and management share influence across all timescales, which calls for comprehensive study.
- Drought timescales should be considered when studying drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought.



Conclusions



International Research Centre Sustainable agroecosystems





philfrance scholarships

CAP

INRAe

Donald LUNA^{1,2}, Julien POTTIER¹, and Catherine PICON-COCHARD¹ ¹Unité Mixte de Recherche sur l'Ecosystème Prairial (UREP)

¹Unité Mixte de Recherche sur l'Ecosystème Prairial (UREP) ²UCA - École Doctorale des Sciences de la Vie, Santé, Agronomie, Environnement donald.luna@inrae.fr

Investigating drivers of grassland sensitivity to drought in the Massif Central Region using Remote Sensing



